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FEWmES
Chairman’s Statement

BUSINESS REVIEW

Leveraging the restructuring of the welfare center of Nanhai District,
the Group took over Foshan City Nanhai District Taoyuan Welfare
Center Co, Limited. (“Taoyuan Welfare Center”) and Foshan City
Nanhai District Taoyuan Rehabilitation Hospital Co., Limited.
(“Taoyuan Rehabilitation Hospital”) in mid-May 2021, and Taoyuan
Welfare Center successively took over several public elderly care
institutions sponsored by towns or sub-districts in Xigiao, Dali,
Shishan, Lishui of Nanhai District in the second half of 2022,
significantly boosting the operating income of our elderly care
and wellness business, representing a year-on-year increase of
approximately HK$44,704,000. Meanwhile, our financial leasing
business continued to develop, boosting operating income
by approximately HK$114,341,000. Moreover, following the
completion of the construction, delivery and operation of the first
and second phases of the new energy industrial park in Danzao
Town, Nanhai District, Foshan City, the PRC (“Danzao Industry
Park”), income such as rental income from the industrial park saw
a continuous increase, significantly enhancing the operating income
of our business in property and industrial parks investment by
approximately HK$51,517,000. In addition, the impact on production
by transformation was eliminated after the completion of the
technological transformation of civil explosive business, achieving
a year-on-year increase in our income of this segment by about
HK$54,291,000. For the year ended 31 December 2022, taking
into account other factors, the Group recorded a total income of
approximately HK$246,786,000, representing a substantial increase
of 47.4% compared with that of last year.
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Besides the above year-on-year increase of approximately
HK$42,260,000 in our profit generated from the continuous
development of our financial leasing business, and the enhancement
in profit contribution of approximately HK$26,677,000 following the
continuous increase of rental and other income after the completion
of the construction, delivery and operation of the first and second
phases of the industrial park, our civil explosives business turned
loss into profit and contributed an additional net profit of around
HK$23,930,000, as it did not need to suspend production due
to transformation, and properly used the excess mixed assembly
and detonating cord production capacity to increase income.
In addition, special loss of approximately HK$16,295,000 was
recorded for the decrease in the fair value of financial assets at
fair value through profit or loss last year, as compared with gains
of approximately HK$39,907,000 resulting from the increase in
the fair value of financial assets at fair value through profit or loss
for the year. However, the elderly care and wellness business
turned profit to loss and recorded the decrease of approximately
HK$17,507,000 in operating profits due to the fact that occupancy
rate and outpatient services were affected and the failure to raise
prices as expected on the one hand, and soaring expenditures
such as epidemic prevention and daily operating expenses on the
other. These were caused by repeated COVID-19 outbreaks, during
which time elderly care institutions and rehabilitation hospitals under
our elderly care and wellness business experienced several long-
term closed management. Moreover, the sharp rise in coal and
gas prices during the period resulted in a significant increase in
costs and a decrease in profits for Nanhai Changhai Power Co.,
Ltd. (“Changhai Power”), which is owned as to 31.875% by the
Group, so its profit attributable to the Group decreased substantially
by approximately HK$20,634,000 as compared with that of last
year. Meanwhile, the United States has entered a rate hike cycle,
pushing up interest rates, and the Company increased financing
in line with business development needs resulting in an increase
of approximately HK$24,382,000 in finance costs such as interest
expenses. In addition, as the operating profits of financial leasing,
civil explosives and industrial parks business have risen sharply, the
tax burden has also increased accordingly, resulting in an increase in
income tax expenses of about HK$25,233,000. Taking into account
other factors, the Group recorded a significant increase in profit of
HK$31,937,000 and a net profit of approximately HK$42,824,000 for
the year.
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FEWmES
Chairman’s Statement

ELDERLY CARE AND WELLNESS BUSINESS

The Group will continue to develop a three-tier elderly care system
comprising institutions, communities and households in Nanhai
District. In mid-May last year, the Group took over Taoyuan Welfare
Center and Taoyuan Rehabilitation Hospital by means of entrusted
management. On this basis, we have obtained the Nanhai District
Government’s recognition of and support for the Group’s elderly care
business, further expanded cooperation with various towns/sub-
districts in Nanhai District, and signed agreements with Xigiao Town,
Dali Town, Shishan Town, and Lishui Town of Nanhai District for
entrusted management of public elderly care institutions under their
jurisdictions, whereby Taoyuan Welfare Center has set up branches
to orderly promote the takeover of those institutions. We took
over Luocun Nursing Home in July 2022, and a number of public
elderly care institutions including Xigiao Welfare Center, Dali Nursing
Home, Huangqgi Liangyongzhao Nursing Home, Lishui Elderly
Home (South Part and North Part) and Shishan Nursing Home
(combined with Xiaotang Nursing Home) in October to December,
thereby expanding the number of nursing beds. As a result, the
total number of nursing beds, including those in Taoyuan Welfare
Center and Jiujiang Nursing Home, increased from 1,252 to 2,098,
and the occupancy rate of such beds stood at 83% at the end
of the fourth quarter of 2022. Thanks to the significant expansion
of institutional elderly care services, the operating income from
elderly care and wellness business for the year ended 31 December
2022 increased substantially to approximately HK$122,458,000,
an increase of 57.5% compared with that of last year. However,
in order to cope with repeated COVID-19 outbreaks during the
year, lockdown measures were implemented to protect the safety
and health of nursing personnel and clients, which affected the
occupancy rate and outpatient services. We not only failed to
recruit more elderly as expected to raise the occupancy rate, but
also saw an increase in the check-out rate of self-care elderly due
to the impact of COVID-19 and lockdown measures. As a result,
the average number of people living in Taoyuan Welfare Center this
year was approximately 960 representing an average occupancy
rate of approximately 95%, a slight decline from approximately 98%
as at the end of last year; the average number of people living in
Jiujiang Taoyuan Nursing Home this year was approximately 160,
representing an average occupancy rate of approximately 61%,
which remained basically flat compared with 60% as at the end
of last year. For the year, the average occupancy rates of beds of
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Taoyuan Rehabilitation Hospital and Taoyuan Nursing Home, whose
outpatient services were suspended during lockdown periods, were
83% and 7%, respectively. The progress of community service
projects was also affected to varying degrees due to the impact
of COVID-19. As such, the lingering COVID-19 pandemic not
only affected the operating income from elderly care and wellness
business and made it impossible for us to raise prices as expected,
but also caused a substantial increase in operating costs such
as epidemic prevention and control expenses, compensation for
personnel and daily operating expenses, resulting in a sharp decline
in the operating profit of elderly care and wellness business. For the
year ended 31 December 2022, the segment saw a turnaround from
profit to loss and recorded an operating loss of approximately HK$
14,631,000, which is expected to change for the better in 2023 as
COVID-19 eases.
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Chairman’s Statement
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FEWmES
Chairman’s Statement

In addition, as the buildings and facilities of the elderly care
institutions at town/sub-district level taken over by us have been
used for a long time, some of the facilities and equipment are
outdated, damaged or unsuitable and need to be phased out
and replaced, and the buildings also need to be maintained and
improved. As such, in an ongoing effort to refine the elderly care
environment and facilities, the Group will continue to improve
investment and construction, further upgrade the environment,
improve the facilities and enhance service capabilities. For example,
in order to improve the facilities of Taoyuan Rehabilitation Hospital,
the Group renovated a building with a total GFA of 18,359 square
metres for medical rehabilitation purposes, which is planned to
be completed and undergo acceptance inspection in the first half
of 2023. In order to meet the diverse needs of the elderly, the
Group invested in an elderly apartment project and has obtained a
foundation construction permit for it, the construction of the project
started in September 2022 and is expected to be completed within
about 18 months. Meanwhile, the Group will adjust elderly care
services based on needs, enhance nursing services for the elderly,
and comprehensively improve service quality, so as to make our
elderly care brand bigger and stronger. With Taoyuan Welfare Center
as a role model and Jiujiang Nursing Home as a demonstration
project, the Group will improve the operations management and
elderly care capabilities of public elderly care institutions in towns
and sub-districts, and strengthen talent recruitment and human
resource management, with a view to taking its medical and elderly
care services to a new height. In 2020, Taoyuan Welfare Center
and Jiujiang Nursing Home were rated as a “Five-Star” elderly care
institution and a “Four-Star” one in Guangdong Province respectively,
and such star ratings are valid for three years. The elderly care
institutions managed by the Group will actively participate in the
2023 star rating review of elderly care institutions and make joint
efforts to play a leading and exemplary role in star ratings, in a drive
to promote the quality development of elderly care services of all
elderly care institutions under the Group.
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FINANCIAL LEASING BUSINESS

The financial leasing business mainly provides financial leasing and
related consulting services in China, and its business model is as
follows:

The Group usually enters into a (sale-and-leaseback) financial lease
agreement with clients having assets suitable for financial leasing,
with the client (as the lessee) retaining control over the assets and
the Group (as the lessor) will be secured by having title over the
assets and security interests for the duration of the lease. However,
the Group (as lessor) can also enter into a supply agreement with a
third-party supplier pursuant to which the Group pays the supplier
for the purchase of certain assets selected by the client (as lessee),
in addition to a finance lease agreement pursuant to which the lessor
directly leases the assets to the lessee in return for lease payments
by the lessee (direct leases).

The Group’s main target clients are players in environmental sectors
such as sewage treatment, waste incineration, new energy power
generation, cogeneration, kitchen waste disposal, biogas power
generation, solid waste treatment, etc. With the strategic goal to
become a leading eco-friendly and professional financial leasing
company in China, the Group is deeply engaged in the subsectors
of the municipal environmental protection industry, mainly targets
enterprises that provide municipal environmental services, and plans
to focus on developing municipal environmental projects of state-
owned enterprises (SOEs) in Foshan and quality SOEs in the Greater
Bay Area. The Group vigorously solicits clients through the E20
forum, local environmental associations and other platforms, referrals
from existing clients, referrals from banks and business partners in
the industry, and the management and business personnel’s online
marketing. By 31 December 2022, the Group had transacted with
approximately 48 SOEs and other quality enterprises in Nanhai
District and the Greater Bay Area, including subsidiaries of listed
companies. Of these 48 enterprises, approximately 35 are in the
environmental industry, including about 19 mainly engaged in
sewage treatment and 16 involved in multiple sectors such as waste
incineration, water supply, cogeneration, hazardous waste treatment,
biogas power generation, and sludge and soil treatment. The other
13 enterprises are mainly engaged in other industries such as public
utilities, electromechanical equipment and real estate. The segment’s
operating income for the year increased by 52.9% to approximately
HK$330,485,000, 55.9% of which was contributed by clients in the
environmental industry.
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FEWmES
Chairman’s Statement

In addition, the Group used finance lease receivables as collateral
to raise funds by various means including bank financing and bond
issuance to meet most capital needs of the financial leasing business
(while the remaining needs were met with its own funds), and
continuously diversified financing channels, including but not limited
to equity and debt financing, to enhance the financial strength of the
financial leasing business.

Despite the challenges facing the financial leasing business arising
from intensifying market competition and COVID-19, the Group
upheld the established strategic positioning and business objectives,
sought progress in stability, carried out risk management, and
remained focused on the environmental industry to develop financial
leasing business. We have set up a professional financial leasing
team familiar with the environmental industry to more effectively
conduct risk assessment on environmental clients, control business
risks in line with the Group’s risk appetite, carry out stringent pre-
lease review of financial leasing projects to select the best from
the good, and implement post-lease management and supervision
to reduce the risk of bad debts. Furthermore, we have developed
the following credit risk assessment policy and internal control
measures:

A) Credit risk assessment policy

The Group adopts a hierarchical approach to risk assessment
and strictly reviews potential financial leasing projects to
ensure that the risks involved are in line with the Group’s risk
appetite. The whole process for a project covers (i) the project
establishment and approval process where the project manager
conducts a preliminary risk assessment of the project; (ii) the
investigation and evaluation process where the risk control
manager evaluates the risks of the project and issues a risk
report; (iii) the review and decision-making process, including
a preliminary assessment meeting and a review meeting,
where members of the risk review committee conduct an
overall assessment of the project risks and vote on the project;
(iv) the project implementation process where relevant risk
control personnel participate in project implementation to
prevent operational risks; (v) the loan issuance process where
strict loan approval procedures are adopted to ensure that
suitable conditions for loan issuance are met; (vi) the post-
lease supervision process where project risks are continuously
monitored and assessed; and (vi) the risk warning process
where project alerts with risk signals are flagged and monitored
and response plans are developed in advance.
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B)

During credit risk assessment, the Group will review the
relevant documents of the target client, including but not
limited to its business permit, credit reports, bank statements,
tax payment receipts, financial statements, build-operate-
transfer contracts, environmental impact assessment reports,
subsidy income certificates, project asset evaluation report,
contracts and invoices relating to project assets, and proof of
ownership of the assets mortgaged or pledged for the project.
The factors considered by the Group before entering into a
finance lease include whether the lessee’s cash flow can cover
the credit amount, the future cash flow of the project, the form
and value of security and the amount covered by the collateral,
the lessee’s cost of default, the lessee’s gearing ratio, etc.

Key internal controls and ongoing monitoring of loans

In order to minimize the risk of default on loans, the Group
has developed internal control measures to determine credit
limits, conduct credit review, and monitor the recoverability and
collection of finance lease receivables.

A credit limit is usually determined with reference to, among
others, (a) the value of the leased assets and their current
price; (b) the current price of the client’s pledged assets and
the guarantor’s ability to perform guarantee obligations; and (c)
the lessee’s cash flow and ability to meet its debt obligations.

In terms of credit approval, the risk review committee will
conclude the overall credit arrangement after taking into
account the opinions of the project manager and the risk
control manager at the review meeting.
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In terms of ongoing monitoring procedures, the relevant
business manager of the financial leasing department will
conduct off-site and on-site post-lease inspections on the
lessee and the leased assets from the lease commencement
date to the date of recovering all rents and receivables, then
issue an inspection report to the department head and the
chief risk officer for approval. Once approved, such report
will be forwarded to the post-lease management team of the
risk control department for evaluation. The Group will carry
out: (i) monthly off-site post-lease inspections, including
searching for litigation proceedings involving the lessee or its
controlling shareholders and guarantors, monitoring changes
in its pledged assets, and issuing warnings about any major
risks that may affect the lessee’s ability to make repayments
to the Group; and (i) quarterly on-site post-lease inspections,
including collecting the latest financial statements, credit
reports, environmental inspection reports, bank statements,
invoices and recent photos of the leased assets from the
lessee, and monitoring the changes in the asset-liability
structure of the lessee. The frequency of post-lease inspections
will vary depending on, among others, the risk level determined
during each inspection.
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As to the risk warning process, risk signals are divided
into three levels: general, medium and high risks. Upon the
identification of risk signals in a project, the relevant business
manager will propose preliminary actions and measures in the
inspection report after investigating and evaluating the risk
level. The relevant project manager and risk control personnel
will then determine the risk level and action plan for approval by
the chief risk officer. In addition, the Group will set up a working
group to monitor and follow up on projects with high risk levels.
Depending on the actual situation of the relevant project, the
procedures or measures taken by the Group to address the
risks identified, including the recovery and collection of finance
lease receivables, include but are not limited to: (i) adjusting the
internal quality rating of finance lease receivables; (i) adjusting
the overall credit arrangement; (iii) expediting the lease
arrangement and demanding payment of rent; and (iv) taking
legal action and disposing of pledged or mortgaged assets in
accordance with the law. Risk alerts issued against a client
may subsequently be cancelled if the risk signals identified
are found to be inaccurate or there is no longer a risk to the
Group’s credit assets after further investigation and evaluation.

Thanks to the joint efforts of all employees of the financial
leasing segment in developing quality municipal environmental
services in Nanhai District, Foshan and across the country, the
segment recorded an operating profit of HK$ 127,447,000, a
year-on-year increase of 49.6%.
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INVESTMENTS IN PROPERTIES AND
INDUSTRIAL PARKS

The Group is developing the new energy industrial park in Danzao
Town, Nanhai District, Foshan, the PRC, which includes a production
plant, a pilot plan, a research and development hub and related
supporting facilities. Phase 1 and 2 of the project have been
basically completed, and the production plant and the pilot plant
have been put into operation with a leasable area of approximately
186,000 square metres and 112,000 square metres, respectively.
As at 31 December 2022, their leased areas reached approximately
173,600 square metres and 44,300 square metres, representing
an occupancy rate of approximately 93% and 39%, respectively.
The related supporting facilities have also been completed and
put into use one after another. The related office building has a
leasable area of 11,000 square metres, with 7,000 square metres
leased, representing an occupancy rate of 65%, and the Group
has applied for the acceptance inspection of the related rental
housing project. As the supporting facilities and operation of the
industrial park improve, the park will become more attractive and
competitive. Next, we will continue to step up efforts in attracting
investment from enterprises, promote the facilities completed,
search for customers in the relevant industries, carefully select target
customers and control the customer mix by type, so as to create a
healthier industrial structure of the park and increase the rental and
operating income of the park. Meanwhile, the Group will maintain
good communication with the enterprises in the park, enhance
the service awareness of the Company’s team, strictly supervise
the quality of property management services, and provide these
enterprises with sufficient support and services. For the year ended
31 December 2022, the operating income and operating profit of the
industrial park and property development segment increased year-
on-year by approximately 1.7 times and 6.9 times to approximately
HK$82,301,000 and HK$30,536,000, respectively.
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As some tenants of China Holdings Building terminated their leases
and the properties in Hong Kong remained vacant after the original
tenants chose not to renew their leases upon expiration at the end
of November, the rental income from other properties decreased
year-on-year by 7.5% to approximately HK$10,292,000. Specifically,
the occupancy rate of China Holdings Building dropped from
approximately 98.69% last year to approximately 88.2%, causing
the rental income to decrease by 6.3% from the that of the previous
year to approximately HK$9,774,000. The rental income from
properties in Hong Kong fell by 7.7% from that of the previous year
to approximately HK$518,000.

In terms of property sales, the Group managed to sell the remaining
units of Shantou Commercial Plaza for HK$4,180,000 in cash.
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BIG DATA BUSINESS

The Group will continue to vigorously develop big data business
and promote business development and technology enhancement
with a focus on increasing the scale of market-oriented operations.
Guangdong Sinsing Technology Ltd.*, a wholly-owned subsidiary
of ours, was among the third batch of enterprises passing the
national high-tech enterprise certification this year, and its work
“Code for Success” won the gold medal in the finals of South China
Division of the first National Industrial Internet Identifier Application
Innovation Competition and entered the national finals. Moreover,
the Public Service Platform for Smart and Secure Industrial Parks
in Guangdong-Hong Kong-Macao Greater Bay Area (Nanhai) filed
by the company in collaboration with Foshan Nanhai Institute of
Public Security Technology was selected among the 2021 Industrial
Internet Pilot Demonstration Projects. Thanks to these efforts and
achievements, our corporate image and market competitiveness
have been improving. In terms of technology and industry research,
we successfully obtained two patents, which means that we have
been granted six patents in total. Yet, the existing projects ended
one after another, while new project development progressed slowly
due to repeated COVID-19 outbreaks and the scale of market-
oriented operation remained small. In order to find more excellent
market-oriented operation projects more effectively, increase market-
oriented income and intensify the translation of technologies, after
several rounds of surveys and analysis, we reviewed our resource
advantages and industrial development potential, strategically
determined to focus on developing industrial Internet platform
services, set the strategic objective to become a first-class provider
of industrial Internet platform services in the Guangdong-Hong
Kong-Macao Greater Bay Area, developed the product “Code for
Success” and further refined it based on our experience from the
identifier innovation application competition, further upgraded and
enhance the service performance of enterprise node, and made an
overall revision of the SSP front end of the public service platform. To
date, a total of 2,327 enterprises have connected to the enterprise
node, with the number of identifiers registered and the number of
identifier decoding exceeding 1.3 billion and 548 million, respectively.
We aim at driving the transformation and upgrading of the local
manufacturing industry based on its characteristics and development
needs, so as to develop our big data business into an excellent local
provider of industrial Internet platform services. Although segment’s
operating income for the year decreased substantially by 59.3%
from the figures for the previous year to HK$13,048,000, lower than
expected, the operating profit of approximately HK$7,751,000 was
recorded this year, an increase of 30.2% year-on-yeatr.
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CIVIL EXPLOSIVES BUSINESS

This year, Guangdong Tiannuo Investments Co., Ltd.* (“Tiannuo”)
faced dual pressures. On the one hand, due to a variety of factors,
including repeated COVID-19 outbreaks, property downturn,
reduction of infrastructure projects, and low-price competition from
players in other provinces, the civil explosives market in Guangdong
Province saw a sharp drop in demand, resulting in worse-than-
expected sales. As a result, Tiannuo’s sales volume of emulsion
explosives was only 69.6% of its production capacity. On the other
hand, the substantial increase in the unit prices of raw materials
led to an increase in unit cost. To cope with the headwinds,
Tiannuo strengthened communication with key customers, and
expanded the scope of services to provide one-stop services from
supply guarantee to after-sales service and technical support, so
as to win the trust of customers and enhance customer loyalty.
Moreover, in order to increase sales volume, Tiannuo leveraged its
comprehensive services to seize the market, and increased business
development efforts in Guangxi, Western Guangdong and Eastern
Guangdong to grab market share in and out of Guangdong Province.
In addition to raising product prices in last November in response
to increased costs, we cut procurement costs by changing the
procurement model, and adopted the principle of seeking benefits
from technology by increasing R&D efforts to lower raw material and
energy costs and improve production efficiency while ensuring safety
and quality. We launched a company-wide campaign to reduce
costs and increase efficiency and promoted the idea that every
penny saved is profit, thus integrating cost reduction efforts into the
work of each employee as well as production and daily activities.
Furthermore, we properly used excess mixed assembly and
detonating cord production capacity to increase income. In order to
increase the usage of mixed assembly capacity, we acquired a 51%
stake in Zhaoqing Huaxin Blasting Engineering Co., Ltd. (“Huaxin”)
to expand blasting operations, thus enabling the mixed assembly
capacity to release in blasting operations and generating synergy.
In addition, Tiannuo passed the high-tech enterprise certification in
late 2022, making it entitled to tax credits. After deducting 100%
of R&D expenses, its effective tax rate was reduced by 10%, thus
increasing its net profit. For the year ended 31 December 2022, the
segment not only saw an increase of 38.5% in operating income
to approximately HK$195,138,000, but also recorded an operating
profit of approximately HK$11,882,000 as opposed to a loss for the
previous year.

FEmES
Chairman’s Statement

RABIFmES

ERXERERRLR (X#E) BBREE
BAH —FHERENERMEREERE
EHEZREAIR -EERTIRBVERE MU
EABEIEFRERT ERNREMHE
KREBAE TR HEERENRTAR RXHEL
IEIFEEEHEESEAERMNE.6%; B—
FE o B BB KIS RS 5 B 1 A 1
e Fhitt » RBEBMEFE > NN RETE LB
BB BARGHE KFREIEEBIE
AEMEZE—GERE RINEANET
WEREEME BRMHEE U2 HURBEF
BEmE MAHER -BE - BHRmIERAA
NE>AENFEATIBME TEEFE
BT IHENE REHEE-AERNEF
+—BRIESEREBREH M AIEG M B
BB REEAE S ARBEREBRA > UK
MM BN B MAMERImAOE:
TERBEZE2 MEAR S BETREME
BER A RB TEENE HERBRAKIEW
EEATE EERILTETHNEEER
MEINEZ BRAREAREINS—EE
THEF-EZBINEEEEZAERBTHS ;M
BB ENRAERREREIRRERY
MRz B T E—THEREERZHTA
SE CTHEARRINNEEEMESIRE L
BHERAR (TFEE)) Z251%RERITREIEH
(¥ BREESRETERER LELUERK.
W EEIEBERE ; o T ZFRBE
TEMEMEEDRE ALEFTRREVESR
EZR - MNEtBRIAZEEA100%E » 1 RER
T10% RETEAABFMNEE- HEZS
T IFE+ZRA=1+—HIEFE FERIE
IR AIENN38.5% = 4748 16195,138,0007T
BRI S &S] EA A 1E11,882,0007T 0 HE
AR o

CHINA INVESTMENTS HOLDINGS LIMITED o [ B3 £ B A BR 2 6]

ANNUAL REPORT 2022 44

17



18

FEWmES
Chairman’s Statement

HOTEL BUSINESS

The year 2022 saw the greatest impact on the hotel industry since
the initial COVID-19 outbreak. The Guilin tourism market, which
continued to be affected by repeated COVID-19 outbreaks across
the country and anti-COVID policies such as strict lockdowns, saw
extremely low tourist flows. The package tour market and conference
market were virtually suspended, and the number of individual
tourists also fell sharply compared with that of last year, making
hotel industry players struggle to survive. Guilin Plaza Hotel (“Guilin
Plaza”) took a series of response measures to cope with COVID-19
outbreaks and made efforts to alleviate the impact of COVID-19
on hotel operations. Even though the hotel adjusted its customer
mix using flexible strategies, concentrated on developing individual
customers online and achieved certain results, strictly controlled
expenditures and reduced costs and expenses, its income was
still deeply dented. The occupancy rate dropped substantially by
approximately 15.74% to only approximately 24.67% compared
with that of the same period of last year, while the average room
rate decreased by 10.33% compared with that of the same period
of last year. As a result of these and other factors, the segment’s
operating income decreased significantly by 19.8% to HK$9,730,000
compared with that of the same period of last year, and operating
loss widened by 16.9% to HK$7,507,000 compared with that of the
same period of last year.

PROFIT FROM INVESTMENTS IN AN
ASSOCIATE

Due to the surge in raw coal and gas prices, Changhai Power
suffered a significant increase in cost, which could not be entirely
offset even if the year-on-year unit sale price was higher, resulting in
a significant year-on-year decrease in operating results. Accordingly,
it recorded an operating profit of approximately HK$15,920,000 and
contributed profit of approximately HK$4,727,000, representing a
significant year-on-year decrease of 81.4%.
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FINANCIAL POSITION AND ANALYSIS

As at 31 December 2022, the Group had total assets of
HK$9,069,585,000 (31 December 2021: HK$8,299,701,000),
total liabilities of HK$6,976,800,000 (31 December 2021:
HK$6,107,245,000), a gearing ratio (being total liabilities divided by
total assets) of 76.9% (31 December 2021: 73.6%), net assets of
HK$2,092,785,000 (31 December 2021: HK$2,192,456,000), and
equity per share attributable to owners of the Company of HK59.16
cents (31 December 2021: HK69.45 cents).

The Group had net current assets of HK$7,459,000 (31 December
2021: net current liabilities of HK$48,709,000), a current ratio (being
current assets divided by current liabilities) of approximately 1.00 (31
December 2021: 0.97) and the Group had bank balance and cash of
HK$999,250,000 (31 December 2021: HK$526,837,000), sufficient
for capital requirements for future operation and new projects or
business development of the Group.

PLEDGE OF ASSETS

As at 31 December 2022, properties of the Group for own use and
investment, bank deposits, beneficial interest in a subsidiary held
by the Group and the carrying value of finance lease receivables
amounted to approximately HK$3,803,355,000, with approximately
HK$2,782,574,000 of finance lease receivables pledged to
banks as the security for bank borrowings granted to the Group
(31 December 2021:
investment, bank deposits, beneficial interest in a subsidiary held

properties of the Group for own use and

by the Group and the carrying value of finance lease receivables
amounted to approximately HK$4,073,813,000, with approximately
HK$2,643,168,000 of finance lease receivables pledged to banks).
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FOREIGN EXCHANGE EXPOSURE

The Group’s main operating income and costs are denominated
in RMB. In the business operation of the Group, foreign exchange
fluctuation in income and costs would be mutually offset. However,
as the Hong Kong-based Group has injected a substantial amount
of current borrowings into domestic wholly-owned subsidiaries
in Mainland China and held a huge amount of monetary assets
denominated in RMB, an exchange gain or loss would arise from
the appreciation or depreciation of RMB. It is expected that an
increase or a decrease of approximately HK$2,323,000 in the
Group’s profit for the year would arise if the exchange rate of RMB
to HKD appreciates or depreciates by 5%. Over the few past years,
RMB constantly showed an upward trend and gradually became
stable in the second half of 2008, starting to fluctuate upward and
downward repeatedly. Due to the impact of the Sino-US trade war,
deteriorating Sino-US relations and fluid epidemic dynamics in recent
years, the exchange rate of RMB against USD fluctuated upward and
downward repeatedly within a substantially widened band. While an
exchange gain of approximately HK$389,000 was recorded last year,
the outbreak of the war between Russia and Ukraine early 2022 led
to higher prices in fuel and food, etc. and aggravated inflation across
the globe. The United States formally began its rate hike cycle to
contain escalating inflation, boosting the appeal and relative strength
of USD compared with other currencies. Although the adoption of
pegged exchange rate by Hong Kong would alleviate the pressure
of exchange loss in respect of HKD against USD, it would increase
the risk of exchange loss arising from depreciation of RMB against
HKD, resulting in an exchange loss of approximately HK$6,295,000
instead. Therefore, the Board believes that RMB will be immensely
affected by Sino-US relations, fluid epidemic dynamics, USD rate
hike cycle and evolving war in Ukraine in the short term, the path
of which is hard to predict, but in the long run, it is expected that
RMB will remain stable and will not expose the Group to significant
and long term adverse foreign exchange risk. Accordingly, it is not
necessary for the Group to hedge against foreign exchange risk at
the moment.
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OUTLOOK

Although the Group faces the impact of economic uncertainty
worldwide and in China brought about by fluid epidemic dynamics,
coupled with the outbreak of the war in Ukraine early this year that
has triggered economic sanctions imposed by various countries
on Russia that shook the global economy and created elevated
uncertainty, the Group will continue to rise to the challenge,
proactively adjust its business presence based on market trends and
navigate through adversities. With experience accumulated during
the course of transformation and upgrade over the past years, the
Group will strive to constantly enhance its business activities, and
steadily develop its business in elderly care and wellness, financial
leasing, industrial parks/property investment, big data and civil
explosives. For our elderly care and wellness business, although the
deep impact of the epidemic in 2022 put pressure on our business
results in the short run, we will remain steadfast to focus on the
long-term and extensive development prospects of our elderly
care and wellness business and continue to head towards the
direction of developing a three-tier elderly care and wellness system
comprising institutions, communities and households. The Outline of
the Fourteenth Five-Year Plan for the National Economic and Social
Development and the Long-Range Objectives through the Year 2035
of the People’s Republic of China has put forward a national strategy
in response to population ageing, under this overall backdrop,
Nanhai District attaches great importance to elderly care efforts,
and the establishment and improvement of the elderly care service
system will be the focus. We consider that the Group can ride on the
opportunity to gain the recognition and support of the Nanhai District
Government for the Group’s elderly care business on the back of
taking over the operation of Nanhai District Welfare Center and
Jiujiang Nursing Home last year, and proactively strive to expand its
cooperation with various towns and sub-districts under the Nanhai
District Government. During the year, the Group successfully entered
into entrusted operation agreements with Xigiao Town, Dali Town,
Shishan Town and Lishui Town under the Nanhai District Government
for their respective public elderly care institutions to take over
several public elderly care institutions, resulting in a growing number
of nursing beds. The Group strives to expand its cooperation with
other towns and sub-districts under the Nanhai District Government.
With Nanhai as the core, we can establish our presence in Foshan,
and extend to Guangdong and the Guangdong-Hong Kong-Macao
Greater Bay Area to build a first-rate elderly care and wellness
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industry investment group in the Greater Bay Area. The Group is
also committed to enhancing and improving the quality of elderly
care services through technology and exploring further collaboration
with its big data business to achieve organically integrated synergy.
We can build our Taoyuan elderly care and wellness brand in full
swing to make it a quality mark and an industrial benchmark and
push forward our elderly care and wellness business as the Group’s
principal core business. For our big data business, in addition to
seeking synergistic collaboration with the elderly care and wellness
business, we will proactively consolidate internal resources riding on
our previous experience in business development and accumulated
resources, strive to improve corporate qualifications and merits,
facilitate the transformation and upgrade of the manufacturing
industry in the region in the direction of the industrial Internet
platform and in light of the industry attributes and development
demand of the manufacturing industry in the region, make every
effort to become a first-class industrial Internet platform service
provider in the Guangdong-Hong Kong- Macao Greater Bay Area,
and reverse adverse circumstances and achieve development goals.
For our financial leasing business, despite the challenges brought
about by the increasingly fierce market competition landscape and
challenges, we will focus on the strategic goal of developing it into
a leading domestic professional financial leasing company featuring
environmental protection. We will continue to intensively tap into
segments of the municipal environmental protection industry, make
every effort to overcome challenges and difficulties, step up client
visits, focus on intensive cultivation of core clients, and vigorously
tap into target clients from the club and business school of the
E20 Environment Platform as well as local environmental protection
associations. We will also continue to carry out marketing activities
targeting SOEs, municipal environmental protection authorities,
and green energy projects in Foshan and various regions in China,
selectively developing quality municipal environmental protection
and green energy projects of SOEs in the Greater Bay Area and the
Pan-Pearl River Delta region. We will adhere to the general strategy
of putting stability first and making progress while maintaining
stability when we conduct stringent pre-leasing reviews, select the
best from the good, ensure that the implementation of post-leasing
management and supervision is in place, and implement post-leasing
management assessment to the project level and to the individual
level to ensure that the management of existing projects is timely
and effective and reduce the risk of bad debts. Meanwhile, we will
continue to diversify financing channels, including equity and debt
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financing. We will vigorously promote the issuance of Asset Backed
Security (ABS) and other financing plans to enhance the financial
strength of our financial leasing business to meet the capital needs
for future business development of the Group. For our property and
industrial park business, the Group will continue to develop the new
energy industrial park in Danzao Town, Nanhai District, Foshan City,
the PRC by proactively arranging further preparation work for the
development of the third and fourth phases of the project in addition
to the development of its first and second phases. Meanwhile,
we will intensify promotion efforts in business attraction, in a bid
to successively introduce enterprises into the park, maintain full
communication with settled enterprises, and ensure the quality of
property management services to boost the occupancy rate of the
park, so as to generate stable rental income and related gains for
the Group. For our civil explosives business, Tiannuo will vigorously
unleash excessive mixed assembly production capacity to increase
revenue, and proactively implement reform measures including
enhancement of staff mix and remuneration system to reduce costs
and boost efficiency. Meanwhile, it will continue to push forward
technological innovation and enhance processes and formulae
to achieve greater breakthroughs through boosting efficiency by
technology, so as to substantially improve its future performance
and contribute steady revenue streams to the Group in the future. In
addition, the Group will aggressively explore opportunities to carry
out investment and merger and acquisition of biopharmaceutical and
high-tech enterprises or projects to seek leapfrog development of
the business of the Company, thereby delivering good returns to the
shareholders of the Company.
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China Investments Holdings Limited (the “Company”) puts great
emphasis on corporate governance and is committed to maintaining
the high standard of corporate governance which is reviewed and
strengthened on a continued basis. The board of directors (the
“Board”) and the management of the Company maintains and
enhances the policies and practices of the Company in a timely,
transparent, effective and responsible manner, so as to maintain
good, solid and reasonable corporate governance structure. The
Board believes that the Company and shareholders as a whole can
derive maximum benefits from good corporate governance.

The Company has adopted all the code provisions under the
Corporate Governance Code (the “CG Code”) as set out in Appendix
14 to the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on The Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Listing Rules”) as its own code
on corporate governance.

For the year ended 31 December 2022, the Company has complied
with all code provisions under the CG Code.

PURPOSE, VALUES, STRATEGY AND CULTURE

The core purpose of the Company is to create value for its
shareholders. It strives to become the leading pioneer that is trusted
by its consumers, and a place where its employees are proud to
work for. Its mission is to lead the development of the industry and
set the industry benchmarks. In this connection, it endeavours to
maintain accountability to its employees, consumers, shareholders,
the society, and the environment. These purpose and values shape
the Company’s strategy, which are geared towards building a trusted
and beloved enterprise whereby values for shareholders are created.

The Company’s purpose, values and strategy form the foundations
of the Company’s corporate culture. Its corporate culture is centered
on adherence to high ethical standards and practices, and striving
for sustainable development.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE STRUCTURE

The Company’s corporate governance structure includes the Board
and three committees under the Board, namely audit committee,
remuneration committee and nomination committee. The Board
stipulates the terms of reference of all committees in writing and
specifies clearly the power and responsibilities of the committees.

THE COMPOSITION OF THE BOARD

The Board comprised nine directors, including six executive directors
who have extensive business experience, and three independent
non-executive directors who possess appropriate professional
qualifications. Throughout the year 2022 and up to the date of this
annual report, the composition of the Board is set out below:

Executive Directors

Mr. He Xiangming (Chairman)

Mr. Fu Weigiang (Managing Director)

Mr. You Guang Wu (Director)

Mr. Huang Zhihe (Deputy Managing Director)
Ms. Wang Xin (Deputy Managing Director)

Mr. Cheng Weidong (Deputy Managing Director)

Independent Non-Executive Directors

Mr. Chan Kwok Wai

Mr. Deng Hong Ping

Mr. Peng Xinyu (appointed on 23 June 2022)

Mr. Chen Da Cheng (retired on 23 June 2022)

With effect from 23 June 2022, Mr. Chen Da Cheng (“‘Mr. Chen”)
retired as an independent non-executive Director with effect from
the conclusion of the 2022 annual general meeting. At the same
time, Mr. Chen ceased to act as the chairman and member of
remuneration committee and a member of each of audit committee
and nomination committee of the Company. On the same date, Mr.
Peng Xinyu has been appointed as an independent non-executive
director of the Company, a member of each of the audit committee,
the remuneration committee and the nomination committee.
Also, Mr. Deng Hong Ping was appointed as the chairman of the
remuneration committee.
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Every director has sufficient time and attention to deal with the
affairs of the Group. Each director discloses to the Company for
the number and nature of offices held in public companies or
organizations and other significant commitments every year. The
Board considers the composition of executive and non-executive
directors complies with the Listing Rules requirements and provides
adequate checks and balances to safeguard the interests of
shareholders and the Group.

The independent non-executive directors provide the Group with
diversified experience and expertise. Their suggestions, opinions
and participation in the meetings of the Board and each committee
bring independent opinions, suggestions and judgements on
issues relating to the Group’s strategy, development, operations,
performance, risk control and conflicts of interest, to ensure that the
interests of all shareholders are taken into account.

In accordance with the bye-laws of the Company, subject to
the manner of retirement by rotation of directors as from time to
time prescribed under the Listing Rules and notwithstanding any
contractual or other terms on which any director may be appointed
or engaged, at each annual general meeting one-third of the
directors for the time being (or, if their number is not a multiple of
three (3), the number nearest to but not less than one-third) shall
retire from office by rotation provided that every director (including
those appointed for a specific term) shall be subject to retirement at
least once every three years.

Individual information and responsibilities of all directors are
contained in this annual report on pages 51 to 53.

There are no business, financial, family and other relevant interests
among directors.
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THE OPERATION OF THE BOARD

The Board is principally responsible for establishing the
development direction of the Group, formulating targets and
business development plans, approving major agreements and
matters, monitoring the performance of senior management and
is responsible for corporate governance with a view to increasing
shareholders’ value. Led by the managing director, the management
is responsible for implementing the strategies and plans developed
by the Board. The Board authorizes the management to manage the
day-to-day business operations of the Group. Each committee under
the Board has its own specified terms of reference which clearly
define their powers and responsibilities.

The Company has developed a schedule of matters reserved to the
Board for its decision and has separately identified those functions
reserved to the Board. The Board will review those arrangements on
a regular basis to ensure that the arrangements meet the needs of
the Company.

The Board performs the obligations regarding corporate governance,
including:

1. develop and review the Company’s policies and practices on
corporate governance;

2. review and monitor the training and continuous professional
development of directors and senior management;

3. review and monitor the Company’s policies and practices on
compliance with legal and regulatory requirements;

4. develop, review and monitor the code of conduct and
compliance manual applicable to employees and directors; and

5. review the Company’s compliance with the CG Code and
disclosure in the Corporate Governance Report.

The Board convenes at least four regular meetings each year
(approximately once each quarter) and will convene meetings
when necessary. When a regular board meeting is convened, the
Board papers will be sent to directors for review before the meeting
pursuant to the deadline as required by the Listing Rules and the
code provisions so that directors can keep abreast of the information
to perform their duties and responsibilities.
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All members of the Board have actively participated in the

Company’s Board meetings to discuss the overall strategy and %>

EFETNEERB2EARTINEFTES
SRAEENEERBRAREL -EFE

business of the Group. The Board convened seven meetings in 2022 R _E - " FHAMATtAGZ EFHES
and the attendance of directors is as follows: mAE
Number of
Attendance/
Number of Attendance
Meetings Rate
HERE
Name of Directors EEN4A BITRE HE=R
Executive Directors HITEE
Mr. He Xiangming (Chairman) fAImBBEE (F/E) 7/7 100%
Mr. Fu Weigiang (Managing Director) RERIE (EFEFELE) 7/7 100%
Mr. You Guang Wu (Director) BERLE (BF) 7/7 100%
Mr. Huang Zhihe (Deputy Managing Director) — &% (B FSIFEACHE) 7/7 100%
Ms. Wang Xin (Deputy Managing Director) TR+ (EFEEEAZEE) 7/7 100%
Mr. Cheng Weidong BRRAE 7/7 100%
(Deputy Managing Director) (EFFEATE)
Independent Non-Executive Directors BIUIFHITER
Mr. Chan Kwok Wai ok B8] 128 5 4= 7/7 100%
Mr. Deng Hong Ping R E 7/7 100%
Mr. Peng Xinyu (appointed on 23 June 2022) w#iAa%E (W _E - 4/4 100%
ANEZ+Z=HEZME
Mr. Chen Da Cheng BUEMSTE (W2 3/3 100%
(retired on 23 June 2022) ANAZ+=HEMD
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MECHANISMS TO ENSURE INDEPENDENT
VIEWS

The Board has adopted effective mechanisms to ensure independent
views and input are available to the Board. Subject to approval of
the chairman of the Board, Directors may seek, at the Company’s
expense, independent legal, financial or other professional advices
from advisors independent to those advising the Company as and
when necessary in appropriate circumstances to enable them to
discharge their responsibilities effectively. To ensure independent
views and input are available to the Board, the selection criteria
and process of independent non-executive Directors set out in
the Company’s Nomination Policy and all any requirements on
independent non-executive Directors set out in the Listing Rules
(as amended from time to time) shall form an integral part of this
Mechanism.

The Board will review the implementation and effectiveness of such
mechanisms on an annual basis. The Board considers that the above
mechanisms are effective in ensuring that independent views and
input are provided to the Board.

ROLES AND DUTIES OF CHAIRMAN AND
MANAGING DIRECTOR

The chairman is responsible for the operation of the Board and the
managing director is responsible for managing the operations of
the Group. Their functions have been clearly divided to ensure a
balanced distribution of power and authority so that they will not
concentrate on a single individual. During the year, the chairman
of the Board is Mr. He Xiangming and the managing director of the
Company is Mr. Fu Weigiang. The deputy managing directors of
the Company were Mr. Huang Zhihe, Ms. Wang Xin and Mr. Cheng
Weidong.
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The chairman of the Board is principally responsible for leading
the Board and ensures the Board acts in the best interests of the
Company. The chairman shall ensure the Board operates effectively
and performs its proper duties and discusses all important and
proper matters in a timely manner. The chairman is responsible for
convening board meetings, consulting, determining and approving
the agenda of each board meeting, and ensuring that directors are
provided sufficient information on current matters in a timely manner.
The chairman is also responsible for ensuring that the Company
formulates good corporate governance practice and procedure.

The managing director is principally responsible for the daily
operation and management of the Group’s overall operations
and implementing the Board’s operating strategy and policy
and delegating tasks to all departments for implementation so
as to realize the Board’s objectives and decisions. In addition,
the managing director is also responsible for coordinating close
cooperation among all departments, uniting efforts of staff and
encouraging the initiative of staff so as to ensure smooth and
effective operation of the Company’s operations and systems.

TRAININGS OF DIRECTORS

All newly appointed directors are provided with necessary induction
and information to ensure that he has a proper understanding of the
Company’s operations and businesses as well as his responsibilities
under the relevant statutes, laws, rules and regulations. The
company secretary and representative of auditor update directors
on the latest development and changes regarding the Listing Rules,
accounting standards and other relevant regulatory requirements
from time to time.

In addition, the directors are provided with monthly updates on
the Company’s performance and position to enable the Board as a
whole and each director to discharge their duties.
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All directors are encouraged to participate in continuous professional
development to develop and refresh their knowledge and skills.
According to the records provided by the directors, all directors have
participated in continuous professional development for the year
ended 31 December 2022.

During the year under review, all directors participated in continuous
professional development to update their knowledge and skills by
reading materials relevant to the directors’ duties and responsibilities
and/or their relevant professional and by attending the training
programs arranged by the Company and/or talks and seminars
organised by different professional institutions.

SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS BY DIRECTORS

The Company has adopted the Model Code for Securities
Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers (“the Model Code”) set
out in Appendix 10 to the Listing Rules as the code of conduct
regarding securities transactions by directors. After making specific
enquiries, all directors have confirmed that, in respect of the year
ended 31 December 2022, they have complied with the required
standard as set out in the Model Code.
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AUDIT COMMITTEE

The audit committee comprises three independent non-executive
directors with extensive experience in accounting or legal aspects.
The audit committee is mainly responsible for reviewing the financial
statements, annual reports and accounts and risk management
and internal control systems of the Company, providing advice
to the Board, and making recommendations on the appointment
and remuneration of the auditor of the Company and any matters
related to the termination of appointment. Mr. Chan Kwok Wai is the
chairman of the audit committee and is responsible for reporting the
meeting results and recommendations of the audit committee to the
Board after each meeting.
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In 2022, the audit committee convened two meetings. Membersand R _Z - S > EXRLZESTHIEHEmMR =
their attendance are as follows: HONBERHEEERUT
Number of
Attendance/
Number of Attendance
Meetings Rate
HERE
Name of Members pg=kiA BITRE HE=R
Chan Kwok Wai ek R {22 2/2 100%
(chairman of the audit committee) (BERZEETE)
Deng Hong Ping BRF 2/2 100%
Peng Xinyu (appointed on 23 June 2022) EAGI= (A — 1/1 100%
NAZ+=BEZMT)
Chen Da Cheng (retired on 23 June 2022) MR (R_E - 11 100%

NAZ+=HEMD

During the year, Mr. Chen Da Cheng retired as an independent
non-executive director and ceased to be a member of the audit
committee of the Company with effect from 23 June 2022. On
the same date, Mr. Peng Xinyu appointed as an independent non-
executive director and member of the audit committee of the
Company.
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Tasks undertaken by the audit committee during the year included
reviewing the 2021 audited financial statements and the annual
results announcement, reviewing the interim report and the interim
results announcement for the six months ended 30 June 2022,
considering the accounting standards adopted,
financial reporting, internal control and risk management systems,

reviewing the

reviewing the effectiveness of the Company'’s internal audit function,
reviewing the management letter about audit work of the auditor
submitted to the management and the basis of opinion made by the
auditor in their report, etc.

REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

The remuneration committee comprises three independent non-
executive directors and two executive directors. The remuneration
committee is principally responsible for reviewing remuneration plans
for directors and senior management, making recommendations to
the Board on the remuneration package of executive directors and
senior management, including benefits, pension rights and payment
of compensation. Mr. Deng Hong Ping is the chairman of the
remuneration committee and is responsible for reporting the meeting
results and recommendations of the remuneration committee to the
Board after each meeting.
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In 2022, the remuneration committee convened two meetings. MR _E - F  HNZEGHBETMRE
Members and their attendance are as follows: FHONBRERERWT
Number of
Attendance/
Number of Attendance
Meetings Rate
HERE
Name of Directors EENE4Y BITRH HEE
Deng Hong Ping 7= 2/2 100%
(chairman of the remuneration committee) FWNZE g E/E)

Chan Kwok Wai ek A {2 2/2 100%
Peng Xinyu (appointed on 23 June 2022) B IRt e g = 1/1 100%
Z+=HEZD
He Xiangming GBS 2/2 100%
Fu Weigiang FFER 2/2 100%
Chen Da Cheng (retired on 23 June 2022) RiZER R_E__F ;~NH 1/1 100%
—+=HEMD
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During the year, Mr. Chen Da Cheng retired as an independent non-
executive director and ceased to be a chairman and member of
the remuneration committee of the Company with effect from 23
June 2022. On the same date, Mr. Peng Xinyu appointed as an
independent non-executive director and member of the remuneration
committee of the Company and Mr. Deng Hong Ping appointed as a
chairman of the remuneration committee of the Company.

Tasks undertaken by the remuneration committee during the year
included reviewing the remuneration of Mr. Peng Xinyu, the new
director, determining the performance assessment index of the
directors and senior management and considering the incentive
payment and making recommendations to the Board. The
remuneration committee also ensures that no director or senior
management member determines his/her own remuneration.

REMUNERATION POLICY

The remuneration policy of the Group is to determine the
remuneration based on the responsibilities, qualifications and
In addition, the
Group adopted the share option scheme for a term of 10 years

working performance of staff (including directors).

on 26 April 2013. Since adoption of the share option scheme, the
Group has not granted any share options.

The remuneration of directors is determined with reference to their
functions and responsibilities and the results of the Company in
accordance with the remuneration and performance assessment
programme of directors and senior management which was
approved by the shareholders of the Company at the annual
general meeting held on 25 May 2017. Any director is not allowed
to participate in determining his/her own remuneration. The
remuneration received by directors from the Group during the year is
set out in Note 13 to the financial statements.
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NOMINATION COMMITTEE

The nomination committee comprises two executive directors
and three independent non-executive directors. The nomination
committee is responsible for reviewing the structure,
size, composition and diversity of the Board and making
recommendations on any proposed changes to the Board to
complement the Company’s corporate strategy. It shall consider
the suitability of a candidate to act as a director on the basis of
the candidate’s qualification, experience, integrity and potential
contribution to the Company, and assess the independence of
independent non-executive directors under the requirements set out
in Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules.
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In 2022, the nomination committee convened one meeting, members KN _E - _F 2L EETE R T —X &
and their attendance are as follows: FONBRHEFEERUT
Number of
Attendance/
Number of Attendance
Meetings Rate
HERE
Name of Directors EEN4 BITRE HE=R
He Xiangming GRS 1/1 100%
(chairman of the nomination committee) FEHEEEFE)
Fu Weigiang RF1E5R 1/1 100%
Chan Kwok Wai ek R {2 11 100%
Deng Hong Ping 7= 11 100%
Peng Xinyu (appointed on 23 June 2022) e (WZZE=ZZ - -
NEZ+=HEZMD)
Chen Da Cheng (retired on 23 June 2022) -3 n G ==—— 1/1 100%

ANEZ+Z=HRM
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During the year, Mr. Chen Da Cheng retired as an independent non-
executive director and ceased to be a member of the nomination
committee of the Company with effect from 23 June 2022. On
the same date, Mr. Peng Xinyu appointed as an independent non-
executive director and member of the nomination committee of the
Company.

The work carried out by the nomination committee during the year
included considering and nominating Mr. Peng Xinyu, based on his
education, skills, knowledge and experience, as the new director
of the Company, reviewing the Board structure of the Company,
reviewing and recommending the re-election of the retiring directors
at the annual general meeting, assessing the independence of
independent non-executive directors, considering and reviewing the
Board diversity policy and making recommendations to the Board.

All independent non-executive directors of the Company have
complied with the requirements of the Listing Rules and have
presented annual confirmations of independence issued pursuant
to Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules to the Company. The nomination
committee has assessed their independence and confirms that all
independent non-executive directors are independent parties as
defined in the Listing Rules. Pursuant to the letters of appointment,
the term of office of Mr. Chan Kwok Wai, Mr. Deng Hong Ping and
Mr. Peng Xinyu are until 30 June 2025, 30 June 2023 and 30 June
2024 respectively. They are subject to the retirement by rotation and
re-election requirements of the bye-laws of the Company.
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NOMINATION POLICY

The Board has also adopted a nomination policy (the “Nomination
Policy”) which sets out the selection criteria and procedure of
appointing and re-appointing a director. The selection criteria used
in assessing the suitability of a candidate include, inter alia, such
candidate’s academic background and professional qualifications,
relevant experience in the industry, character and integrity etc. The
procedure of appointing and re-appointing a director is summarised
as follows:—

1. The nomination committee reviews the structure, size and
composition (including the skills, knowledge and experience)
of the Board periodically and make recommendation on any
proposed changes to the Board to complement the Company’s
corporate strategy.

2. When it is necessary to appoint an additional director or fill a
casual vacancy, the nomination committee identifies, selects
and recommends candidates to the Board pursuant to post
nature and the criteria set out in the Nomination Policy.

3. The nomination committee shall submit the candidate’s resume
and recommendation, including terms of appointment, to the
Board for consideration. If the process yields one or more
desirable candidates, the nomination committee shall rank
them by order of preference based on the assessment result
and presents the same together with its recommendation to the
Board for consideration.

4. Based on the recommendation from the nomination committee,
the Board will consider and approve the appointment of new
director(s).

5. Each director shall be subject to retirement by rotation at least
once every three years and shall be eligible for re-election at
the annual general meeting of the year.

6. The nomination committee shall review overall contribution,
performance, professional knowledge and qualifications of the
retiring directors and make recommendations to the Board for
consideration for their re-election.
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BOARD DIVERSITY POLICY

The Company recognises and embraces the benefits of having a
diverse Board. With a view to maintaining competitive advantage, the
Company sees increasing diversity at the Board level as an essential
element. Therefore, the Company adopted the Board diversity policy
(the “Board Diversity Policy”) in 2013. The policy set out that the
nomination committee of the Company reviews and assesses the
composition of the Board, makes recommendations to the Board on
appointment of new directors of the Company, oversees the conduct
of the annual review of the effectiveness of the Board in order to
achieve the objective of Board diversity. In addition, mechanisms
including supervising, reporting and policy reviewing etc. ensure that
the Board Diversity Policy will be implemented effectively.

The nomination committee has reviewed from time to time the
diversity of the Board of the Company to ensure that the policy
will be implemented effectively and considered that there is no
immediate need for setting up the measurable objectives.

The nomination committee monitors the implementation of the Board
Diversity Policy to ensure the effectiveness of the Board Diversity
Policy. The nomination committee reviewed the Nomination Policy
and the Board Diversity Policy, and considered that the said policies
were appropriate and effective.

As at 30 March 2023, the members of the Board consist of eight
male members and one female member. Following the resignation
of Ms. Wang Xin on 1 April 2023 as announced by Company on 3
April 20283, the Company proposed to appoint one female member
as independent non-executive director of the Company at the
forthcoming annual general meeting to achieve gender equality. The
Company will consider to enhance gender diversity in the Board in
terms of gender ratio from time to time. The nomination committee
reviews annually the need for achieving higher gender diversity in the
Group.

CHINA INVESTMENTS HOLDINGS LIMITED v [ 8 3 £ B A B 23 ]
ANNUAL REPORT 2022 4E#

EFEEIIEER

KRB THREBEAERABZTIEEFEREN
B TREEFEEENZ TERMERHR
FEFNEETF -ALEARFIN T —=
FRMEFESEER (EFEEETER
R -HERIBERRLEZETERA KT
HEFGHEM ERAENZENMAESS
REEEFTANMEEEERFETH ®
MEEEFEMEZTENER, IREER
R RERBREBZERT URREST
LT EERAEB MM AT

RYZEEEEMNETRADEFTEZ TIEAFIF
% 5 LUBE fR H R BE B RO T > ReaB A

EmEREEI I EE R

RYZEEEREFEMEZ TICERHIR
TBER UWEREFEMEZ TIEBRITZ
B -RHLZECEERRERERNESRE
EZTEBR TR BZFTHRBEE K
B

RIBZ=ZF=ZRB=+H &EFFREHAN
LEUERER—BREREER B ER
AN _E_=FWNB=HMAM EME L
RIBZ=ZFNB—HEER KARENE
ERFBEAREG LREZZE—BLMERER
RRABDBIUIFRNITES - ARF R AE T
MRLEAI A ERAEETENMRIZTIE U
BRMEANTFE -RULEZEGEFRTEER
ERREERESMNMERZ T



R E WS

Corporate Governance Report

As at 31 December 2022, the Company has 1,189 employees in
total comprising of approximately 676 females and 513 males (a
female-to-male ratio of 1:0.93). The Group when hiring employees
considers a number of factors, including but not limited to gender,
age, cultural and education background, qualification, ethnicity,
professional experience, skills, knowledge and length of service,
and the Group will make sure achieving gender diversity across the
workforce.

DIVIDEND POLICY

The Board has adopted a dividend policy (the “Dividend Policy”)
which does not have any pre-determined dividend payout ratio.
In considering dividend payment, the Board will take into account
factors such as the Group’s expected financial performance,
business conditions and strategies, expected working capital
requirements and future expansion plans, business cycles and other
internal or external factors that may affect the Company’s business
or financial performance and financial position, return and interest
of the shareholders and other factors which the Board considers to
be relevant. The Board will review the Dividend Policy from time to
time and the Dividend Policy does not constitute any commitment or
obligation of the Company to declare dividends.

RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL
CONTROL

The main features of the risk management and internal control
systems of the Group are to provide a clear governance structure,
policies and procedures, as well as reporting mechanism to facilitate
the Group to manage it risks across business operations.

The Group has established a risk management framework,
which consists of the Board, the audit committee and the senior
management of the Company. The Board determines the nature
and extent of risks that shall be taken in achieving the Group’s
strategic objectives, and has the overall responsibility for monitoring
design, implementation and control of the risk management and
internal control systems, so as to ensure the Group has set up and
maintained a suitable and effective risk management and internal
control systems. Such systems are designed to manage rather than
eliminate the risk of failure to achieve business objectives, and can
only provide reasonable and not absolute assurance against material
misstatement or loss.
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The Group has formulated and adopted corporate risk management
policy in providing direction in identifying, evaluating and managing
significant risks. At least on an annual basis, the senior management
identifies risks that would affect the achievement of the Group’s
objectives, and assesses and prioritizes the identified risks according
to a set of standard criteria. Risk mitigation plans and risk owners
are then established for those risks considered to be significant.

The Company has adopted an anti-corruption policy to govern
acceptance of advantages by employees and a whistleblowing policy
to provide guidance to employees and external stakeholders to
report concerns about any suspected or actual improprieties relating
to the Group.

In addition, the Group has established an internal audit function to
assist the Board and the audit committee in ongoing monitoring of
the risk management and internal control systems of the Group,
identify deficiencies in the design and implementation of risk
management and internal controls and recommend proposal for
improvement. Significant risk management and internal control
deficiencies have been reported to the audit committee and the
Board on a timely basis to ensure prompt remediation actions are
taken.

Risk management report and internal control report are submitted to
the audit committee and the Board at least once a year. The Board
has performed annual review on the adequacy of resources, staff
qualifications and experience, training programmes and budget of
the Company’s accounting, internal audit and financial reporting
functions and the effectiveness of the Group’s risk management and
internal control systems, including but not limited to the Group’s
ability to cope with its business transformation and changing external
environment; the scope and quality of management’s review on risk
management and internal control systems; result of internal audit
work; the extent and frequency of communication with the Board in
relation to result of risk and internal control review; significant failures
or weaknesses identified and their related implications; and status of
compliance with the Listing Rules. The Board considers the Group’s
risk management and internal control systems are effective.
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Procedures and internal controls for the handling and
dissemination of inside information

The Company has adopted a policy on disclosure of inside
information which sets out the obligations, guidelines and
procedures for handling and dissemination of inside information.
The Group discloses inside information to the public as soon as
reasonably practicable unless the information falls within any of the
safe harbours as provided in the Securities Future Ordinance. The
Group ensures the information is kept strictly confidential before
the information is fully disclosed to the public, if the Group believes
that the necessary degree of confidentiality cannot be maintained
or that confidentiality may have been breached, the Group would
immediately disclose the information to the public. The Group is
committed to ensure that information contained in announcements
are not false or misleading, or false or misleading through omission
of a material fact in view of presenting information in a clear and
balanced way, which requires equal disclosure of both positive and
negative facts.

COMPANY SECRETARY

The company secretary is Mr. Lo Tai On, who is engaged and
appointed by the Company from an external secretarial services
provider. The primary contact persons with the company secretary
of the Company are Mr. He Xiangming (executive director and
chairman) and Ms. Ella Chong (assistant to the chairman). During the
year, the company secretary of the Company duly complied with the
relevant training requirement under Rule 3.29 of the Listing Rules.

CONSTITUTIONAL DOCUMENTS

During the year under review, there was no change in the Company’s
constitutional documents.

ACCOUNTABILITY AND AUDIT

Directors acknowledge their responsibility in preparing financial
statements of the Group.

The financial department of the Company is managed by a qualified
accountant. With the assistance of the financial department, the
Board will ensure the preparation of the financial statements of the
Group complies with relevant regulations and applicable accounting
standards.
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For the year ended 31 December 2022, the audit fee was
approximately HK$1,900,000 and the non-audit services fee
mainly included services provided as reporting accountants was
approximately HK$100,000.

The statement of reporting responsibility issued by HLM CPA
Limited, the auditor of the Company, in respect of the financial
statements of the Group is set out in the independent auditor’s
report on pages 110 to 125.

COMMUNICATION WITH SHAREHOLDERS

The Company understands the importance of good communication
with shareholders and investors, and recognizes the value of
providing current and relevant information to shareholders and
investors. The Board has established a shareholders’ communication
policy setting out the principles of the Company in relation to
shareholders’ communication, with the objective of ensuring that
both shareholders and investors can obtain the complete, identical
and current information of the Company in a timely manner.

The Company has maintained communication with shareholders
through the annual general meeting or other general meetings and
encourages them to participate in general meetings. Registered
shareholders receive notices of general meetings by post. The notice
of general meeting contains the agenda, the proposed resolutions
and the voting form. Any registered shareholder is entitled to attend
the annual general meeting and special general meetings provided
that their shares must be registered in the register of members.
Shareholders who are unable to attend the general meeting can
fill in the proxy form attached with the notice of general meeting
and return the same to the Company so as to appoint their
representatives or the chairman of the meeting as their proxies.

At the annual general meeting held on 23 June 2022, all the
directors were present to answer questions from the shareholders
and separate resolution in respect of each separate issue was
proposed for shareholders to vote thereon. The Company appointed
branch share registrar of the Company to act as scrutineers and
to ensure votes cast are properly counted and recorded, and
announced the results of the poll on the websites of the Stock
Exchange and the Company in accordance with the bye-laws of the
Company and the Listing Rules.
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SHAREHOLDER’S COMMUNICATION POLICY

The Board has adopted a Shareholder’'s Communication Policy
in 2012 which sets out the Group’s commitment of maintaining
an effective ongoing dialogue with shareholders. In summary,
the Company establishes different communication channels with
shareholders and stakeholders including: (i) provision of printed
or electronic copies of corporate communications; (i) provision of
timely corporate information on the company website; (i) holding of
annual general meetings to provide platform for shareholders to raise
comments and exchange views with the Board; and (iv) arrangement
in serving the shareholders in respect of all share registration
matters. The Board reviewed the validity of implementation of the
Shareholder’'s Communication Policy during the year and considered
that it remained effective in enhancing timely, transparent,
accurate and open communication between the Company and the
shareholders.
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SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS

Procedures for special general meetings requisitioned by the
shareholders

Shareholders holding not less than one-tenth of the paid up capital
of the Company carrying the right of voting at general meetings
of the Company (“Requisitionists”) shall have the right to require
a special general meeting to be called and propose any matter
to be considered at the general meeting of the Company. The
Requisitionists may deposit the written requisition for special general
meeting (which shall specify the full name of the Requisitionists,
the business and proposal to be considered at the general meeting
of the Company, and shall be signed by the Requisitionists) to the
principal place of business of the Company for the attention of
the Board. If within twenty-one days of such deposit, the Board
fails to proceed to convene such meeting in specified days as
provided by the bye-laws of the Company and the Listing Rules,
the Requisitionists themselves may do so in accordance with the
provisions of Section 74(3) of the Companies Act 1981 of Bermuda.

Procedures for shareholders to propose a person for election
as a director

In accordance with the provision 88 of the Company’s bye-laws,
no person other than a director retiring at the meeting shall, unless
recommended by the Board for election, be eligible for election as
a director at any general meeting unless not less than seven (7)
days before the date appointed for the general meeting there shall
have been lodged at the office or at the head office notice in writing
signed by a member (other than the person to be proposed) duly
qualified to attend and vote at the meeting for which such notice
is given of his intention to propose such person for election and
also notice in writing signed by the person to be proposed of his
willingness to be elected provided that the period for lodgment
of the aforesaid notice shall commence no earlier than the day
after the despatch of the notice of the general meeting appointed
for such election and end no later than seven (7) days prior to
the date of such general meeting. For further information, please
refer to the “Procedures for Shareholders to Propose a Person
for Election as a Director” published on the Company’s website at
http://chinainvestments.tonghaiir.com.
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Procedures for shareholders to put forward proposals at
general meetings

Pursuant to the Bermuda Companies Act, either any number of the
registered shareholders holding not less than one-twentieth (5%) of
the paid up capital of the Company carrying the right of voting at
general meetings of the Company (“Proposers”), or not less than one
hundred of such registered shareholders can request the Company
in writing to: (a) give to shareholders of the Company entitled to
receive notice of the next general meeting notice of any resolution
which may properly be moved and is intended to be moved at that
meeting; and (b) circulate to shareholders entitled to have notice of
any general meeting sent to them any statement of not more than
one thousand words with respect to the matter referred to in any
proposed resolution or the business to be dealt with at that meeting.

The requisition signed by all the Proposers may consist of several
documents in like form, each signed by one or more of the
Proposers; and it must be deposited at the principal place of
business of the Company with a sum reasonably sufficient to meet
the Company’s relevant expenses, not less than six weeks before
the meeting in case of a requisition requiring notice of a resolution or
not less than one week before the meeting in the case of any other
requisition. Provided that an annual general meeting is called for a
date six weeks or less after the requisition has been deposited, the
requisition though not deposited within the time required shall be
deemed to have been properly deposited for the purposes thereof.

For any enquiry to the Board, shareholders may put forward a written
enquiry to the Company setting out details of contact (including
name, address, telephone number and email address etc.) by the
following means:

Address: Unit 501, Wing On Plaza, 62 Mody Road,
Tsimshatsui, Kowloon, Hong Kong

Fax No.: 852-23013878

Email: general@cihl.com.hk
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Directors’ Report

The directors present the annual report and the audited financial
statements for the year ended 31 December 2022.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The Company is an investment holding company. The principal
activities of the Company’s principal subsidiaries are set out in Note
42 to the financial statements.

BUSINESS REVIEW

The Group’s fair review of the business during the year and
discussion on the future business development of the Group are
set out in the Chairman’s Statement on pages 4 to 14 of this
annual report. In addition, the discussion on the principal risks
and uncertainties which the Group is exposed to the relationships
with the Group’s suppliers, customers and other stakeholders, the
Group’s environmental policies and performance and compliance
with relevant laws and regulations which have a significant impact
on the Group are set out in below paragraphs and the section on
employees under page 47 of this annual report.

An analysis of the Group’s performance during the year with financial
key performance indicators is set out in the Chairman’s Statement on
pages 4 to 14 of this annual report.

The events significantly affecting the Group that have occurred since
the end of 31 December 2022 and up to the date of this annual
report are set out in Note 44 to the financial statements.

PRINCIPAL RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES

The Group’s financial condition, results of operations, businesses
and prospects would be affected by a number of risks and
uncertainties including business risks, operational risks and financial
management risks.
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Details of financial risk management policies and practices of the
Group is set out in Note 6 to the financial statements.

There may be other risks and uncertainties in addition to those
mentioned above which are not known to the Group or which may
not be material now but could turn out to be material in the future.

RELATIONSHIP WITH SUPPLIERS,
CUSTOMERS AND OTHER STAKEHOLDERS

The Group understands the importance of maintaining a good
relationship with its suppliers and customers to meet its immediate
and long-term goals. The Group continuously enhance relationships
with individual and corporate customers, which enjoys good
relationship with suppliers and customers. During the year of 2022,
there were no material and significant dispute between the Group
and its suppliers and/or customers.

ENVIRONMENTAL POLICIES AND
PERFORMANCE

The Group is committed to the long term sustainability of the
environment and communities in which it operates. Acting in an
environmentally responsible manner, the Group endeavours to
comply with laws and regulations regarding environmental protection
and adopt effective measures to achieve efficient use of resources,
energy saving and waste reduction. Relevant Environmental
management policies and procedures have been formulated in
different segments the Group to manage the use of resources like
water, electricity and various fuel. An environmental, social and
governance report is set out on pages 49 to 109 of this annual

report.

HEGWEE

Directors’ Report

rEBZE
wRMEEG

REREERRRERUNME

PR EHUIR R B SN Al BE G EE M AEE
KAz BB RAEERE HERIARLEBER
BAREBHBAEEKEKRZ EM4 R R A’

BHEE - FERREMFGHEZ
A &

AEETHREHEEELRERFRETRIFRAF
HEINHEHARERHERZEZE A&EE
TEHRARBARRDERZHF HEAR
HEEERERZREFMAGFE- RS-
B AEBARBERE/HER ZBHRE
BERERMYMG -

RIEBERR KRR

FEERIREKERERERMTEZR
HAFET cEENURREEEZ AT
FORNEBETARMBRRZERRER WK
WAMIEREEERAMF A RO K
BEWp R D e AEE R RIRE HE HIRIEEE
HENBRMNER B - BERSERHE
ERERETEE —HERE - HERER
REBHNAFRFI9E109E °

CHINA INVESTMENTS HOLDINGS LIMITED o [ B3 £ B A BR 2 6]

ANNUAL REPORT 2022 44

47



48

HPEEHEE

Directors’ Report

COMPLIANCE WITH LAWS AND
REGULATIONS

The Group’s operations are mainly carried out by the Company’s
subsidiaries established in the mainland China while the Company
itself is incorporated in Bermuda with its shares listed on The Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (“the Stock Exchange”). Our
establishment and operations accordingly shall comply with relevant
laws and regulations in Bermuda, mainland China and Hong Kong.
During the year ended 31 December 2022 and up to the date of
this report, the Group have complied with all the relevant laws and
regulations in the mainland China, Hong Kong and the Bermuda that
have a significant impact on the Group.

RESULTS

The results of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2022
are set out in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income on pages 131 to 133 of this annual report.

INVESTMENT PROPERTIES

The Group revalued all of its investment properties at the year end
date. There was a revaluation deficit of HK$711,000 for the year
ended 31 December 2022 (2021: surplus of HK$16,679,000).
Details of such revaluation are set out in Note 18 to the financial
statements.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of movements during the year of the Group’s property, plant
and equipment are set out in Note 18 to the financial statements.

Particulars regarding the Group’s major properties are set out on
pages 311 to 316 of this annual report.

SHARE CAPITAL

Details of movements during the year in the share capital of the
Company are set out in Note 33 to the financial statements.
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During the year, neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries
purchased, sold or redeemed any of the Company’s listed securities.

RESERVES

Details of movements in the reserves of the Group and of the
Company during the year are set out in consolidated statement
of changes in equity on pages 131 and 132 and Note 45 to the
consolidated financial statements.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES OF THE
COMPANY

As at 31 December 2022, the Company had no reserves available
for cash distribution and/or distribution in specie, except that under
the laws of Bermuda, the Company’s share premium account, in the
amount of approximately HK$725,199,000, may be distributed in the
form of fully paid bonus shares.

DIRECTORS

The directors of the Company during the year and up to the date of
this report are:

Executive Directors

Mr. He Xiangming (Chairman)

Mr. Fu Weigiang (Managing Director)

Mr. You Guang Wu (Director)

Mr. Huang Zhihe (Deputy Managing Director)
Ms. Wang Xin (Deputy Managing Director)

Mr. Cheng Weidong (Deputy Managing Director)

Independent Non-Executive Directors

Mr. Chan Kwok Wai

Mr. Deng Hong Ping

Mr. Peng Xinyu (appointed on 23 June 2022)

Mr. Chen Da Cheng (retired on 23 June 2022)
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Mr. Chen Da Cheng retired as an independent non-executive
director and Mr. Peng Xinyu had been appointed as an independent
non-executive director of the Company both with effect from the
conclusion of the 2022 annual general meeting. Subsequent to the
date of this report, Mr. Huang Zhihe, Ms. Wang Xin and Mr. Cheng
Weidong had tendered their resignation as executive directors of the
Company and remains as deputy general managers of the Company
with effect from 1 April 2023.

Pursuant to the bye-laws of the Company, Mr. He Xiangming and
Mr. Deng Hong Ping, being the directors longest in office since their
last re-election, will retire by rotation from office at the forthcoming
annual general meeting. Mr. He Xiangming, (except Mr. Deng Hong
Ping due to his retirement as mentioned below), being eligible, will
offer himself for re-election.

Mr. Deng Hong Ping will retire by rotation and not offer himself for
re-election at the forthcoming annual general meeting due to his
personal business commitments, and accordingly, he will retire
as independent non-executive director at the conclusion of the
forthcoming annual general meeting and upon his retirement, he
will cease to be the chairman and member of the remuneration
committee and the member of each of the audit committee and
the nomination committee with effect from the conclusion of the
forthcoming annual general meeting.

No director proposed for re-election at the forthcoming annual
general meeting has a service contract which is not determinable by
the Group within one year without payment of compensation (other
than statutory compensation).

Pursuant to the letters of appointment, the terms of office of Mr.
Chan Kwok Wai, Mr. Deng Hong Ping and Mr. Peng Xinyu are until
30 June 2025, 30 June 2023 and 30 June 2024, respectively.

As recommended by the nomination committee, the Board proposes
to appoint Mr. Shi Xuguang as a non-executive director and Ms. Lin
Junxian as an independent non-executive director and will submit
the proposal to the shareholders for approval at the forthcoming
annual general meeting.
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BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS AND
SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Executive Directors

He Xiangming, aged 56, was appointed as an executive director
and chairman of the Board of the Company on 23 July 2014. Mr.
He is the chairman of the nomination committee, a member of the
remuneration committee of the Company, the chairman of the board
of directors of Guilin Plaza*, Canton Greengold Financial Leasing
Ltd.*, Guangdong Sinsing Technology Ltd.*, Guangdong Tiannuo
Investments Co., Ltd.* and Guangdong Taoyuan Comprehensive
Health Operation Co., Ltd* and a director in a number of subsidiaries
of the Company. Mr. He holds a master degree in Geography from
South China Normal University. He has extensive experience in
business management and environmental public utilities. Mr. He is
also a vice chairman of Nanhai Listing Promotion Association*. Prior
to joining the Company, Mr. He was the chairman of Grandblue
Environment Co., Ltd. (a company listed on the Shanghai Stock
Exchange).

Mr. FU Weiqiang, aged 44, was appointed as an executive
director, the managing director of the Company and member of the
nomination committee and remuneration committee of the Company
on 1 October 2021 and is a director in a number of subsidiaries of
the Company. He holds a master degree in public administration
from Wuhan University and a bachelor of science degree in
economic geography and urban and rural planning from Sun Yat-
sen University. He has extensive experience in industrial planning,
resource development and integration, organization reform and
corporate operation and management. Prior to joining the Company,
Mr. Fu worked in several government departments in Nanhai District
Foshan City, including the deputy officer of Land Reserve Centre of
Nanhai* (/8 & Lt # &4 & .0) and the deputy director of the State-
owned Assets Supervision and Administrative Bureau of Nanhai
District, Foshan City* (LU E S EHBEEELEEEIER).
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You Guang Wu, aged 58, was appointed as independent
non-executive director of the Company on 22 September 2004
until 6 April 2006 when he was redesignated as vice chairman of
the board and executive director of the Company. On 26 February
2009, Mr. You was appointed as the chairman of the board and on
23 July 2014 resigned as the chairman of the board. Mr. You is now
an executive director of the Company, the managing director and
legal representative of Canton Greengold Financial Leasing Ltd.*
and a director in a number of subsidiaries of the Company. Mr. You
is a senior accountant in the PRC. He holds a master degree in
economics. He has accumulated extensive experience in investment,
financing and financial management.

Huang Zhihe, aged 54, was appointed as an executive director and
the deputy managing director of the Company on 5 August 2013.
Mr. Huang is also the managing director and legal representative of
Guangdong Sinsing Technology Ltd.* and a director in a number of
subsidiaries of the Company. Mr. Huang holds a bachelor degree in
industrial management and engineering and a master of business
administration from South China University of Technology. He has
extensive experience of investment and development in real estate
and management in hotel industry.

Wang Xin, aged 51, was appointed as an executive director and
the deputy managing director of the Company on 1 May 2014 and
is also the chairman and legal representative of Guangdong Sino
Rock Tyco Construction Co., Ltd.*
subsidiaries of the Company. Ms. Wang holds a master degree in
economics from Jiangxi University of Finance and Economics. She
has extensive experience in corporate business operation, strategic
financial planning and management, team building and management
innovation.

and a director in a number of

Cheng Weidong, aged 52, was appointed as an executive
director and the deputy managing director of the Company on 1
January 2021. Mr. Cheng is also the managing director and legal
representative of Guangdong Taoyuan Comprehensive Health
Operation Co., Ltd.* and a director in a number of subsidiaries of
the Company. He holds a degree in economic management from the
Party School of the Guangdong Provincial Committee of Communist
Party of China. He has extensive experience in corporate investment
and development planning. Prior to joining the Company, he worked
as the chief officer of the Planning and Development Division of
the State-owned Assets Supervision and Administrative Bureau of
Nanhai District, Foshan City*.
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Independent Non-Executive Directors

Chan Kwok Wai, aged 64, was appointed as an independent
non-executive director of the Company on 22 September 2004
and is the chairman of the audit committee and a member of the
nomination committee and the remuneration committee of the
Company. Mr. Chan holds a bachelor degree in Accounting and
Commerce, and is member of the CPA Australia and a member of
Hong Kong Securities Institute. He has over 30 years of experience
in the finance and accounting industry. Mr. Chan is also currently
independent non-executive director of 3 other listed public
companies in Hong Kong, namely Chinese Estates Holdings Limited,
Tern Properties Company Limited and National Electronics Holdings
Limited.

Deng Hong Ping, aged 49, was appointed as an independent
non-executive director of the Company on 6 April 2006 and is the
chairman of the remuneration committee and a member of the
audit committee and the nomination committee of the Company.
Mr. Deng holds a Bachelor Degree in marine engineering of the
Ocean University of China in Guangdong and graduated in master
of economics and legal studies of Huazhong University of Science
and Technology. Mr. Deng is a practicing lawyer in the PRC and an
arbitrator of Foshan Arbitration Commission and he has accumulated
extensive experience in legal sectors, particularly in enterprises
mergers and acquisition and debt reorganization.

Peng Xinyu, aged 58, was appointed as an independent non-
executive director of the Company on 23 June 2022 and is a
member of the audit committee, the nomination committee and
the remuneration committee of the Company. Mr. Peng holds a
doctoral degree in Science from Sun Yat-sen University and is a
professor at the School of Business Administration of South China
University of Technology. He has a solid theoretical foundation and
rich practical experience in economics, investment and financing,
financial management and enterprise management. He had served
as the person in charge of investment and financial management,
chief economist, general manager and independent director of
several companies, and has rich experience in corporate mergers
and acquisitions and investment.

Note: The Group’s businesses are under the direct responsibility of the above
executive directors who are the senior management of the Company.
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DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN TRANSACTIONS,
ARRANGEMENTS OR CONTRACTS

No other transactions, arrangements or contracts of significance
to which the Company or any of its subsidiaries was a party and in
which a director of the Company had a material interest, whether
directly or indirectly, subsisted at the end of the year or at any time
during the year.

DIRECTORS’ INTEREST IN SHARES,
UNDERLYING SHARES AND DEBENTURES

As at 31 December 2022, the interest of the Company’s directors
in the shares, underlying shares and debentures of the Company or
any of its associated corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of
the Securities and Futures Ordinance (the “SFQ”)), as recorded in
the register required to be kept by the Company under Section 352
of the SFO or as otherwise notified to the Company and the Stock
Exchange pursuant to the Model Code for Securities Transactions by
Directors of Listed Issuers (the “Model Code”) set out in Appendix 10
to the Listing Rules were as follows:
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Long positions in the shares of the Company REATRBNETFE
Approximate
percentage
of total
issued shares
Number of as at
Nature of ordinary 31 December
Name of director Capacity Interest shares held 2022
RZEZZ
+-B=+—H
FiF HEEBEHT
BEENS 5145 e ZiERHE B zEAL
He Xiangming Beneficial owner Personal 1,441,000 0.08%
fal A BR BEm#EA A & A
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Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2022, none of the
directors or chief executive of the Company had any interest or short
positions in any shares or underlying shares or interest in debentures
of the Company or any of its associated corporations (within the
meaning of Part XV of the SFO) which were required to be notified to
the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8
of Part XV of the SFO (including interest or short positions which they
were taken or deemed to have under such provisions of the SFO),
or which were required, pursuant to Section 352 of the SFO, to be
entered in the register referred to therein, or which were required,
pursuant to the Model Code, to be notified to the Company and the
Stock Exchange.

SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS

As at 31 December 2022, according to the register of substantial
shareholders maintained by the Company pursuant to Section 336
of the SFO, the persons who were interested in 5% or more in the
shares and underlying shares of the Company are as follows:
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Approximate

Number of percentage
shares/ of total issued
underlying shares as at
Name shares  Capacity 31 December 2022
NZB__%F
+=B=+-—H
13,/ WILREBET
2L HEARNEE &) Bz E Rt
Glories Holdings (HK) Limited 1,441,439,842 Beneficial owner 84.18%
EE % (58) BRAT é%o}\e; BmAERA
AL
Prize Rich Inc. 1,441,439,842 Corporate interest 84.18%
(Note) AEEm@m
(FFEH)
Guangdong Nanhai Holding Group Co., Ltd.* 1,441,439,842  Corporate interest 84.18%
EREETERERFRAF (Note) AEHm@m
FIEEREESERRERRAR) (FFEH)
Note: These 1,441,439,842 shares/underlying shares are held by Prize Rich  MizE : % %1,441,439,842/ 8B 15 /1B 5

Inc., which is wholly-owned by Guangdong Nanhai Holding Group
Co., Ltd.* (BHmEEZEKREEABRAT). On 25 July 2022, Prize Rich
Inc. agreed to transfer 1,222,713,527 shares and HK$166,232,000
convertible bonds (with underlying shares of 218,726,315) to its
wholly-owned subsidiary, Glories Holdings (HK) Limited, pursuant to
the equity and convertible bonds transfer agreement.

Save as disclosed above, no other parties were recorded in the
register as having an interest in 5% or more of the issued share

capital of the Company.

*

For identification purpose only

J5EPrize Rich Inc.iEA BB EER
/!?’“Hxﬁlﬁﬁﬁﬁjiéﬁﬁﬁ A E
——HFtB”+HH"Prize Rich Inc.[A
ERERELRITMRESESEHAESE
1,222,713,527 i B& 19 K A& 166,232,000
T AR E S (EE[F218,726,3158% HE R
) FEZEWBABEEFE (FE)
BRAR-C
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CONNECTED TRANSACTION

There were no connected transactions which need to be disclosed
as connected transactions pursuant to Chapter 14A of the Listing
Rules during the year.

ADVANCES TO ENTITIES

During the year and up to the date of this report, in the course of
financial leasing business, the Group advanced to the following
lessees (the “Debtor Group”), namely Foshan City Nanhai District
Guangfo Trade Town Development Co., Ltd.* (L =5 & E @
mEHZEREAAT), Foshan City Nanhai District Yanbu Land
Resources Development Ltd.* (LT /& & 84 + &R
‘AF]), Foshan City Nanhai District Dali Town Yuansheng Water
Treatment Co., Ltd.* (LR BE XEEREKEEBRAR),
Foshan City Nanhai Hengyuan Property Management Co., Ltd.* ({#
LR EERYEEEAR/AT)and Foshan City Nanhai District
Dali Agricultural Machinery Co.* (LU EBE XEREEBAR),
which are ultimately controlled by the Urban and Rural Coordination
Bureau of Dali Town, Nanhai District, Foshan City. As at the date
of this report, the aggregate outstanding balance of the relevant
advances made by the Group to them exceeds 8% under the assets
ratio under Rule 14.07(1) of the Listing Rules, information as required
under Rule 13.15 of the Listing Rules are summarized as followings:

On 23 January 2019, Greengold Leasing entered into a finance lease
with the party of the Debtors Group to acquire the ownership of the
assets from the party of the Debtors Group for a consideration of
RMB60,000,000 (equivalent to approximately HK$69,300,000) which
would be leased back to the party of the Debtors Group for its own
use and possession for a term of 5 years. The finance lease was
secured by guarantee. The average interest rate was with reference
to the lending and interest rate environment (including the prime
lending rate 4.31% as at the date of the finance lease published by
the National Interbank Funding Center). As at 31 December 2022,
there was an outstanding balance of approximately HK$21,444,000.
Further details of the finance lease are set out in the Company’s
announcement dated 25 January 2019.

On 21 February 2019, Greengold Leasing entered into a finance
lease with the party of the Debtors Group to acquire the ownership
of the assets from the party of the Debtors Group for a consideration
of RMB140,000,000 (equivalent to approximately HK$163,660,000)
which would be leased back to the party of the Debtors Group
for its own use and possession for a term of 5 years. The finance
lease was secured by guarantee. The average interest rate was with
reference to the lending and interest rate environment (including
the prime lending rate 4.31% as at the date of the finance lease
published by the National Interbank Funding Center). As at 31
December 2022, there was an outstanding balance of approximately
HK$47,916,000. Further details of the finance lease are set out in
the Company’s announcement dated 21 February 2019.
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On 6 January, 2020, Greengold Leasing entered into a finance lease
with the party of the Debtors Group to acquire the ownership of the
assets from the party of the Debtors Group for a consideration of
RMB50,000,000 (equivalent to approximately HK$55,750,000) which
would be leased back to the party of the Debtors Group for its own
use and possession for a term of 5 years. The finance lease was
secured by guarantee. The average interest rate was with reference
to the lending and interest rate environment (including the prime
lending rate 4.15% as at the date of the finance lease published by
the National Interbank Funding Center). As at 31 December 2022,
there was an outstanding balance of approximately HK$26,295,000.
Further details of the finance lease are set out in the Company’s
announcement dated 8 January 2020.

On 2 July 2020, Greengold Leasing entered into a finance lease
with the party of the Debtors Group to acquire the ownership of the
assets from the party of the Debtors Group for a consideration of
RMB30,000,000 (equivalent to approximately HK$32,910,000) which
would be leased back to the party of the Debtors Group for its own
use and possession for a term of 5 years. The finance lease was
secured by guarantee. The average interest rate was with reference
to the lending and interest rate environment (including the prime
lending rate 3.85% as at the date of the finance lease published by
the National Interbank Funding Center). As at 31 December 2022,
there was an outstanding balance of approximately HK$19,476,000.
Further details of the finance lease are set out in the Company’s
announcement dated 3 July 2020.

On 7 December 2020, Greengold Leasing entered into a finance
lease with the party of the Debtors Group to acquire the ownership
of the assets from the party of the Debtors Group for a consideration
of RMB50,000,000 (equivalent to approximately HK$59,300,000)
which would be leased back to the party of the Debtors Group
for its own use and possession for a term of 5 years. The finance
lease was secured by guarantee. The average interest rate was with
reference to the lending and interest rate environment (including
the prime lending rate 3.85% as at the date of the finance lease
published by the National Interbank Funding Center). As at 31
December 2022, there was an outstanding balance of approximately
HK$39,465,000. Further details of the finance lease are set out in
the Company’s announcement dated 8 December 2020.

On 29 January 2021, Greengold Leasing entered into a finance lease
with the party of the Debtors Group to acquire the ownership of the
assets from the party of the Debtors Group for a consideration of
RMB20,000,000 (equivalent to approximately HK$24,120,000) which
would be leased back to the party of the Debtors Group for its own
use and possession for a term of 5 years. The finance lease was
secured by guarantee. The average interest rate was with reference
to the lending and interest rate environment (including the prime
lending rate 3.85% as at the date of the finance lease published by
the National Interbank Funding Center). As at 31 December 2022,
there was an outstanding balance of approximately HK$16,683,000.
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On 23 August 2021, Greengold Leasing entered into a finance lease
with the party of the Debtors Group to acquire the ownership of the
assets from the party of the Debtors Group for a consideration of
RMB50,000,000 (equivalent to approximately HK$60,100,000) which
would be leased back to the party of the Debtors Group for its own
use and possession for a term of 5 years. The finance lease was
secured by guarantee. The average interest rate was with reference
to the lending and interest rate environment (including the prime
lending rate 3.85% as at the date of the finance lease published by
the National Interbank Funding Center). As at 31 December 2022,
there was an outstanding balance of approximately HK$46,364,000.
Further details of the finance lease are set out in the Company’s
announcement dated 25 August 2021.

On 29 October 2021, Greengold Leasing entered into finance leases
with the party of the Debtors Group to acquire the ownership of the
assets from the party of the Debtors Group for a consideration of
RMB280,000,000 (equivalent to approximately HK$340,760,000)
which would be leased back to the party of the Debtors Group for
its own use and possession for a term of 5 years. The finance leases
were secured by guarantee and pledges. The average interest rate
was with reference to the lending and interest rate environment
(including the prime lending rate 3.85% as at the date of the finance
lease published by the National Interbank Funding Center). As at 31
December 2022, there was an outstanding balance of approximately
HK$264,583,000. Further details of the finance lease are set out in
the Company’s announcement dated 29 October 2021.

On 24 January 2022, Greengold Leasing entered into finance leases
with the party of the Debtors Group to acquire the ownership of the
assets from the party of the Debtors Group for a consideration of
RMB125,000,000 (equivalent to approximately HK$153,500,000)
which would be leased back to the party of the Debtors Group for its
own use and possession for a term of 5 years. The average interest
rate was with reference to the lending and interest rate environment
(including the prime lending rate 3.70% as at the date of the finance
lease published by the National Interbank Funding Center). As at 31
December 2022, there was an outstanding balance of approximately
HK$126,087,000. Further details of the finance lease are set out in
the Company’s announcement dated 24 January 2022,
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On 16 February 2022, Greengold Leasing entered into a finance
lease with the party of the Debtors Group to acquire the ownership
of the assets from the party of the Debtors Group for a consideration
of RMB95,000,000 (equivalent to approximately HK$116,945,000)
which would be leased back to the party of the Debtors Group for its
own use and possession for a term of 5 years. The average interest
rate was with reference to the lending and interest rate environment
(including the prime lending rate 3.70% as at the date of the finance
lease published by the National Interbank Funding Center). As at 31
December 2022, there was an outstanding balance of approximately
HK$95,929,000. Further details of the finance lease are set out in
the Company’s announcement dated 17 February 2022.

On 2 June 2022, Greengold Leasing entered into a finance lease
with the Lessees to acquire the ownership of the assets from the
Lessees for a consideration of RMB100,000,000 (equivalent to
approximately HK$117,200,000) which would be leased back to the
Lessees for its own use and possession for a term of 5 years. The
finance lease was secured by pledge of shares. The average interest
rate was with reference to the lending and interest rate environment
(including the prime lending rate 3.70% as at the date of the finance
lease published by the National Interbank Funding Center). As at 31
December, 2022, there was an outstanding balance of approximately
HK$107,141,000. Further details of the finance lease are set out in
the Company’s announcement dated 2 June, 2022.

On 12 August 2022, Greengold Leasing entered into a finance
lease with the Lessees to acquire the ownership of the assets from
the Lessees for a consideration of RMB50,000,000 (equivalent to
approximately HK$58,100,000) which would be leased back to the
Lessees for its own use and possession for a term of 5 years. The
finance lease was secured by pledge of shares. The average interest
rate was with reference to the lending and interest rate environment
(including the prime lending rate 3.70% as at the date of the finance
lease published by the National Interbank Funding Center). As at 31
December 2022, there was an outstanding balance of approximately
HK$54,580,000. Further details of the finance lease are set out in
the Company’s announcement dated 12 August 2022.
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RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

Details of the related party transactions are set out in Note 40 to the
financial statements. Those related party transactions constituted
exempt connected transactions under the Listing Rules.

SHARE OPTION SCHEME

A share option scheme was adopted by shareholders of the
Company at the annual general meeting held on 26 April 2013 (the
“Share Option Scheme”). The Share Option Scheme is for a term
of 10 years from the date of adoption. No option has been granted
since the adoption of the Share Option Scheme.

The purpose of the Share Option Scheme is to provide the Group
with a flexible means of giving incentive to, rewarding, remunerating,
compensating and/or providing benefits to the participants for their
contribution or future contribution to the Group and to strengthen
the long-term relationships that the participants may have with the
Group.

For details of terms of the Share Option Scheme, please refer to
Note 34 to the financial statements.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF THE
COMPANY'’S LISTED SHARES

During the year, neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries have
purchased, sold or redeemed any of the Company’s listed shares.

PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on the information that is publicly available to the Company
and within the knowledge of the directors as at the date of this
report, there is sufficient public float of not less than 25% of the
Company’s issued shares as required under the Listing Rules of the
Stock Exchange.

CHARITABLE DONATIONS

During the year, charitable donation amounting to HK$292,079 was
made within the Group (2021: HK$15,360).
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MAJOR SUPPLIERS AND CUSTOMERS

During the year, the largest supplier accounted for 7% of the Group’s
purchases and the five largest suppliers accounted for 15% of the
Group’s total purchases. The largest customer accounted for 19%
of the Group’s turnover and the five largest customers accounted for
29% of the Group’s total turnover.

None of the directors, their associates or any shareholders (which
to the knowledge of the directors owns more than 5% of the
Company’s share capital) has an interest in the Group’s five largest
suppliers and customers.

EMPLOYEES

The total number of employees of the Group is approximately
1,189 (2021: 946). The remuneration of the employees of the
Group is determined on the basis of performance and responsibility
of the employees. The Group provides education allowances to
the employees. The Group also provides internal training to its
employees to enable them to achieve self-improvement and to
enhance their job related skills. The Group also operates a share
option scheme, under which qualified employees may exercise their
options at an agreed price to subscribe for shares of the Company.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the Company’s
bye-laws, or the laws of Bermuda, which would oblige the Company
to offer new shares on a pro-rata basis to existing shareholders.
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PERMITTED INDEMNITY

The Company’s bye-laws provided that the directors for the time
being of the Company shall be indemnified and secured harmless
out of the assets and profit of the Company from and against all
actions, costs, charges, losses, damages and expenses which they
or any of them, shall or may incur or sustain by reason of any act
done, concurred in or omitted in or about the execution of their
duty or supposed duty in their respective offices or trusts, except
such (if any) as they shall incur or sustain through their own fraud or
dishonesty.

The Company has taken out insurance against the liability and costs
associated with defending any proceedings which may be brought
against directors of the Company.

EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENTS

Save for the convertible notes and share option scheme as disclosed
in notes 31 and 34 to the financial statements, no equity-linked
agreements were entered into by the Company during the year
ended 31 December 2022.

AUDITOR

The consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31
December 2022 were audited by HLM CPA Limited who will retire
and seek for re-election at the forthcoming annual general meeting.

On behalf of the Board
China Investments Holdings Limited

He Xiangming
Chairman

Hong Kong, 30 March 2023

*

For identification purpose only
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ABOUT THE GROUP

Aiming to promote the long-term sustainable development of its
business, China Investments Holdings Limited (the “Company”)
and its subsidiaries (the “Group”, “we”, “our” or “us”) have been
striving to continuously optimize various businesses of the Group
and actively invest in high-growth industries in the People’s Republic
of China (the “PRC”) to gradually achieve the goal of enhancing
and maintaining stable shareholder returns. The Group’s diversified

businesses cover:

(i) Financial leasing business: By comprehensively building
the core competitiveness of financial leasing in environmental
protection segment, the Group will strive to develop into a first-
class environmental-friendly and professional financial leasing
company in the PRC;

(i)  Wellness elderly care business: The Group will continue to
head toward the direction of developing a three-tier elderly care
system comprising institutions, communities and households
in Nanhai District, advance the premium elderly care services
“integrating medical and care services” and endeavour to forge
the “Taoyuan” elderly care brand into an industry model;

(i) Big data business: By taking advantages of the opportunities
arising from the new smart city construction plan in Nanhai
District, the Group will continue its research and development
efforts in the big data industry projects, leverage market
forces in technological research and development, strive to
imporve corporate qualifications and merits. We will focus on
the business strategic direction of developing the industrial
Internet platform business, and make every effort to become
a first-class industrial Internet platform service provider in the
Guangdong-Hong Kong-Macao Greater Bay Area.

(v) Property and industrial park investment business: The
Group is striving to develop the industrial park in Danzao Town,
Nanhai District, Foshan City, which is designed to house the
main and spare production plants, pilot base, research and
development centre and ancillary facilities for new energy
vehicles;

(v) Hotel business: The Group operates the Guilin Plaza
Hotel located in Qixing District, Guilin City, Guangxi Zhuang
Autonomous Region, providing thoughtful accommodation
services for travellers; and
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(vij Civil explosives (“Civil explosives”) business: The
Group is actively implementing technological upgrade and
transformation projects and cost reduction reform measures,
striving to explore domestic civil explosives manufacturing and
distribution business.

ABOUT THIS REPORT

This Environmental, Social and Governance Report (the “ESG
Report”) outlines the Group’s overall environmental, social and
governance (“ESG”) performance, risks, strategies, measures and
commitments.

Reporting Period

Unless otherwise stated, the ESG Report covers the period from
1 January 2022 to 31 December 2022 (the “Reporting Period” or
“2022%).

Reporting Scope

The ESG Report covers all the Group’s continuing operations
included in the annual report (excluding those with less revenue
share and less environmental impact). In addition to our Nanhai
headquarters, Hong Kong office and hotel business, this report will
also obtain key performance indicator (“KPI”) data from the operation
of our financial leasing business, wellness elderly care business, big
data business, property and industrial park investment business and
civil explosives business. With the Group’s data collection system
growing more mature and after we increase our efforts in sustainable
development, we will continue to expand the scope of disclosure in
the future.

Reporting Framework

The ESG Report was prepared in accordance with the
Environmental, Social and Governance Reporting Guide (the “ESG
Reporting Guide”) set out in Appendix 27 to the Rules Governing the
Listing of Securities on the Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited
(the “Stock Exchange”). For the corporate governance structure and
other relevant information of the Group, please refer to the Corporate
Governance Report on pages 24 to 45 of this annual report.
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During the preparation of the ESG Report, the Group adopted
the following reporting principles as set out in the aforesaid ESG
Reporting Guide:

Materiality: During the Reporting Period, the Group conducted
materiality assessment to identify material issues, and regarded
the identified material issues as the focus of preparation of its
ESG Report. The materiality of the issues has been reviewed and
confirmed by the board of directors (the “Board”) and the ESG
working group (the “Working Group”). For further details, please refer
to the sections headed “Stakeholder Engagement” and “Materiality
Assessment”.

Quantitative: The criteria and methods used to calculate the KPI
data and the applicable assumptions have been supplemented in the
notes.

Consistency: Unless otherwise stated, the ESG Report has been
prepared using the same methods as that of the previous year
for comparison purpose. If there is any change in the scope
of disclosure, data collection system and calculation method
which may affect the comparison with the previous reports, the
corresponding data will be explained.
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CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT

Dear stakeholders,

On behalf of the Board, | am pleased to present the ESG Report
to demonstrate the Group’s commitment to continuously improving
ESG performance in the following five areas: corporate governance,
environmental protection, employment practice, operating practice
and community engagement.

Over the recent years, the PRC government has been committed
to promoting the transformation of the green economy, and has
implemented the goal of “carbon peaking by 2030 and carbon
neutrality by 2060” to promote the development of clean energy. The
Group is committed to following the pace of national development
and moving towards a sustainable business model so as to help
promote sustainable development. The Group will capitalize on
opportunities of developing green bond projects to gain investment
returns, continue to develop its financial leasing business, firmly
follow the path of professional development in green environmental
protection, and always stay focused on municipal environmental
protection fields such as solid waste treatment, sewage treatment,
and biogas power generation. In response to the national energy
transformation and development, we will continue to carry out
photovoltaic power generation projects and turn to use energy-
saving lighting in various business segments to improve energy
efficiency. The Group’s big data business will also continue to
explore and research the open Internet of Things platform as the
core, targeting at smart medical, smart energy and other fields for
business expansion and development of related project products, so
as to provide enterprises with solutions to improve energy efficiency.

In recent years, people from all walks of life have been attaching
increasingly great importance to the sustainable development and
social responsibility of enterprises, which should incorporate ESG
factors into their core decisions during their business operations. The
Group also strives to develop sustainable development approach
and a sound governance structure to effectively manage ESG issues
related to the Group. The Board is required to assess the potential
impact of ESG issues on the Group’s overall strategy, formulate ESG
management approach and strategies, and monitor the Group’s ESG
issues. Information on the Group’s ESG governance structure is set
out in the section headed “ESG Governance Structure”.
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In order to identify and prioritize material ESG issues that have
relatively significant impact on our operations and our stakeholders,
we continuously communicate with our internal and external
stakeholders. The Board has appointed the Working Group to
conduct materiality assessment. Information on stakeholder
engagement channels and materiality assessment that has been
conducted by the Group are set out in the sections headed
“Stakeholder Engagement” and “Materiality Assessment”
respectively. In order to develop a deeper understanding of
stakeholders’ expectations for the sustainable development of
the Group, the Group will further strengthen communication
with stakeholders, and formulate relevant policies and measures
with reference to their opinions to enhance the Group’s ESG
performance.

As a company that honors its corporate social responsibility, the
Group recognizes the importance of reducing its impact on the
environment. In order to fulfill the Group’s commitment to corporate
social responsibility and to allow the Group’s stakeholders to
better understand the Group’s continuous improvement in ESG
performance, the Group has decided to formulate quantifiable
environmental targets in response to the national vision of carbon
neutrality so as to enhance corporate reputation. To this end, the
Group has proactively implemented the principles of sustainable
development and adopted relevant measures at the operational level.
To ensure the effective implementation of these measures, the Board
has appointed the Working Group to collect relevant ESG data, track
and review our performance, and assess the Group’s progress in
achieving relevant goals.

Finally, on behalf of the Board and management team of the
Group, | would like to express my sincere gratitude to our valued
stakeholders for their continued support and to our employees
for their valuable contributions to the development of the Group.
Looking ahead, the Group will continue to integrate ESG concepts
into its business strategy and management system, stay committed
as a responsible enterprise, operate its business in a more
responsible and sustainable manner, create sustainable value for its
shareholders and pursue a sustainable future.

He Xiangming
Chairman
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ESG GOVERNANCE STRUCTURE

The Group has developed an ESG governance structure to ensure
that ESG governance is in line with our business strategy and
integrate ESG management into our business operations and
decision-making process.

The Board assumes overall responsibility for the Group’s ESG issues
and is required to formulate ESG management approach, strategies,
priorities and objectives. In order to better manage the Group’s ESG
performance, related issues and potential risks, the Board regularly
assesses and determines the Group’s ESG risks and opportunities,
and reviews its performance and progress in relation to ESG-related
goals. The Board is also responsible for ensuring the effectiveness
of risk management and internal control systems, and approving the
information to be disclosed in the ESG Report.

In order to systematically manage ESG issues under the
authorization of the Board, the Group has established the Working
Group, which is comprised of core members from different
departments, aiming to assist the Board in oversight of ESG issues.
The Working Group is responsible for collecting and analyzing ESG
data, monitoring and evaluating the Group’s ESG performance,
following up and reviewing the progress of achieving the Group’s
ESG-related goals, ensuring compliance with ESG-related laws and
regulations, assisting in materiality assessment and preparing the
ESG Report. The Working Group regularly schedules meetings to
assess the effectiveness of existing policies and procedures, and
develop appropriate solutions to improve the overall performance of
ESG policies. The Working Group is required to report to the Board
on a regular basis to assist in the assessment and identification
of the Group’s ESG risks and opportunities, and to ensure the
implementation and effectiveness of the risk management and
internal control systems.

CHINA INVESTMENTS HOLDINGS LIMITED v [ 8 3 £ B A B 23 ]
ANNUAL REPORT 2022 4E#

ESGEARIB

FEBEEHEESGE BRE » LUEIRESGE
RERFINEBRBEFRRT -2 LFESGE
ERMAZHMANEBEERRRBIEET

EFEHAEBMNESGREREERS T
I FHFIESGEE S # ~ R BRKER-
AT EETEMEERERNESGHEN®
R HEBENBETRR  EFEEHTGE
KiEE R EBMESGREEMKE > WRESG
HEERBRSERENER -EFTTEE
EREAREERANBEZERFNERE I
B AESCGRENHIRBEER -

MTHEEFINRETHESGEEET A
MEE REBMAL T TE/NE - TENE
MARBSPINZ O EER ERBES
EHESGEEMEE TR NEFEEENRE
MO FESGHIE ~ BRI MT L AEEBIESG
KB RERRN AEBMESGIHR B RE
B~ HERETESGHERBIERNER 15815
REZMENE > UWREHEESGRE « TE/N
MEERZHER STRRTHERNER
WEMM TREBENERSE  URS
ESGERMEREN - TR NERERRE
EEER WG R H B AEEESGE K
Fe 1385 > b FE AR L B 5 T e PR BB A ) R AR Y
BB -



BUS ~ e E R ETRES

Environmental, Social and Governance Report

STAKEHOLDER ENGAGEMENT

As a responsible enterprise, while actively developing business and
improving profitability, the Group also attaches great importance
to the relationship with stakeholders and their feedback on
our business and ESG issues, so as to proactively balance the
interests of all parties and promote the sustainable development of
enterprises. To fully understand, respond to and address the core
concerns of different stakeholders, we have been working with key
stakeholders, including but not limited to senior management and
the Board, shareholders and investors, employees, customers,
suppliers, the government and regulators, as well as the public, non-
governmental organizations (“NGOs”) and the media to maintain
regular and close communication.

We incorporate stakeholders’ expectations into our operations and
ESG strategies by employing the diverse collaboration approaches
and communication channels as shown in the table below.

Stakeholder
HihE

Communication channel
BEEREE

FhESH

FERFA—REEENEE FEBERE
EB RABMNENZE THEEBERER
PEZENBAGERESEMEFRESGER
WREER  UEBFHI DM@ REDE
FUFEBEER - HE2E TR LDEREESR
ERFPDENZOR I RA—BELZETER
nE BREEFTRERNEREEERESF S
REKRKREE BB -ZFF  H#HE® B X
BEEWRE URAT  FFHFHE (3FBA
W) REREFER KRBT EE-

BRERTRATHNZTIEEFEARAKRER
REZFARFHENHETARMANEE
KESGEREEE o

Expectation

HAZE

Senior management and the Board ° Board meetings

° Compliance-based operation

SREEEMRESS EEEEE BRRE
° Daily communication and ° Economic performance
reporting BBmRIR
HEBBRER e To improve risk management and
internal control
CERBEERANIEEIE
Shareholders and investors ° Annual general meetings and ° Financial results
REBEREEE other general meetings R
REBFEFAGREMBREAE o  Corporate transparency
o Financial reports, BEFHE

announcements, circulars and e

other public information

MBERE 2G5 -BEF

NEERS)

To improve risk management and
internal control
TERREERNEEE
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Stakeholder

Communication channel

Expectation

HihE BERE HAE
Employees ° Regular job performance ° Career development
=] assessment BERRE
EHR TERIRTA e Competitive salary and benefits
e Training and seminars SNyl e
BN g e Equal opportunity for
advancement
TEEAERS
° Healthy and safe working
environment
BREZE2WNIIFRIERE
Customers ° Customer hotline and email o To provide quality products and
=R RS BEE services
REEENERRRE
o To protect customers’ interests
REE R @
° To protect customer privacy
IREEE FRETA
o Compliance-based operation
SREE
Suppliers ° Supplier performance o Fair and open sourcing
HAEm assessment REMABRE
1 & 75 R IR A e Responsible supply chain
° Phone and email management
B R B EEENHEREIER
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FinE

BUS ~ e E R ETRES

Environmental, Social and Governance Report

Communication channel

Expectation

HAE

Government and regulatory bodies

B R B e AR

The public, NGOs and the media
DT I B R R

To participate in improvement
plans organized by industry and
local government regulators
SEITE M TR EEPIAE
BBy C =t 8l

ESG reports

ESGH#R &

Charitable activities and
donations
BEEHRIBR

Compliance-based operation
BREE

Risk management
mEEE
Tax payment

To implement green
management
BiTHBRE

To provide employment
opportunities
REMERS

To support public welfare
TRRMEE

Open and transparent
information
REAZERAER
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MATERIALITY ASSESSMENT

To better understand the opinions and expectations of stakeholders
on the Group’s ESG performance, we have adopted a systematic
approach to conduct annual materiality assessment. With reference
to the Group’s business development strategies and industry
practices, the Group has identified and confirmed a list of material
ESG issues, which covers the following five major areas: corporate
governance, environmental protection, employment practice,
operational practice and community investment. The Group
prepared a questionnaire according to the list, and invited relevant
stakeholders to rate potential material issues based on the influence
of ESG issues on the stakeholders and the significance of impact on
the economy, environment and society. We analyzed the results of
the questionnaire and formulated a materiality matrix. The materiality
matrix and identified material issues are reviewed and confirmed by
the Board and Working Group and disclosed in the ESG Report.
During the Reporting Period, the Group’s materiality matrix is as

EEHRTE

mEBARTHRHNERNAEBZESGRIRH
BERAPE RPRBERGNS ZETE
EEEUNETF- AEESEAERER
LRRBEATEERH > Hp A FESBEARESG
BEBE HERELAHEE: bXEBER IR
BRE-EREM EEBRKHEERE &
EEZRFERUEEHE  UBFEBT
PERBESGRBRFDENT ERHEHK
BEARBNMUHENREGE HETEKRE
BETHR RANEERENERETSH
MILGERESHEE - E2MEEKREH
MEAZBESTEHEFIRIMFENEERR
FESY > W ARESGER & F K BE o 7 ¥R 5 HF
B> AEBNEZMHEREBWNMT !

follows:
High Materiality Matrix
2 EEMERE
Product quality and safety
1]
c management Integrity construction -
(] O e T o pe . Data protection and
7 EnEERZEHEE 0
8 = = FRERS cybersecurity
a PR REEERS
2
5
o
$ e Supply chain management
£ g {HpEsEEE Corporate social
& iﬁ responsibility
B X . EMEEE
<a Employment practice
0~ =)
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report

A. ENVIRONMENTAL

A1l.

Emissions

The Group has always attached great importance
to environmental protection, with particular focus on
reducing exhaust gas and greenhouse gas (“GHG”)
emissions, improving resource utilization efficiency and
waste management. For the hotel business, the Group
has formulated policies including the Environmental
Quality Management System ((IRIZBEEEBIEFIE)), the
Detailed Implementation Rules for Energy Conservation
and Environmental Protection ((ETREIRREHMAND))
and the Code of Practice for Energy Conservation and
Environmental Protection ((Ei#IAEIREAIRIZRETE))
to standardize the implementation of our environmental
protection-related work. The Group will continue to
improve the environmental protection management
system for each business segment, aiming to minimize
the pollution and environmental damage caused by our
daily business operations.

The Group strictly abides by environmental protection
laws and regulations, including but not limited to the
Environmental Protection Law of the People’s Republic
of China ((FEAREMEIRIZEREL)), the Water
Pollution Prevention and Control Law of the People’s
Republic of China ((FEARZMEKSEEAEZE))
and the Law of the People’s Republic of China on the
Prevention and Control of Environmental Pollution by
Solid Waste ((FZE AR HEMEEfEREEY) 5 FIRE A
7%)) in the PRC, and the Air Pollution Control Ordinance
and the Waste Disposal Ordinance in Hong Kong.
During the Reporting Period, there was no incident of
non-compliance with the relevant local environmental
laws and regulations relating to exhaust gas and GHG
emissions, discharges of pollutants into water and land
and generation of hazardous or non-hazardous wastes
that have a significant impact on the Group.

A. IRiE

A1,

213, €Y/
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Exhaust Gas Emissions

The Group’s exhaust gas emissions are mainly derived
from diesel and unleaded petrol consumed by vehicles,
and liquefied natural gas (“LNG”) consumed by boilers
used for heating and heat preservation of raw materials in
civil explosives business. In order to reduce the impact on
the environment, the Group will, taking 2021 as the base
year, reduce the total exhaust gas emission intensity by
5% in the next five years, and actively take the following
emission reduction measures:

The boiler has been installed with a flue gas
purification device which has been tested and
certified by the environmental protection department
to minimize the emission of harmful gases;

The fuel used in boilers has been changed from
diesel to cleaner LNG to reduce exhaust gas
emissions;

The exhaust gas emissions from the boiler has
also been tested by the environmental protection
department, and the emission index conforms to the
requirements of the applicable laws and regulations;

All vehicles in the hotel business use high-efficiency
fuel detergents to save fuel consumption; and

Vehicles are maintained and repaired on a regular
basis to prevent excessive exhaust gas emissions
due to damaged parts and other reasons, and
substandard trucks are phased out according to
regional emission policies.
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The Group’s exhaust gas emissions performance is AEBENERRBERKRIBHF RN
summarized as follows: T

Type of exhaust gas? Unit 2022 2021
EE m g $E° =R i —E”C —EZ—fF
Nitrogen oxides (NOx) tonnes 362.16 362.82
e (NOx) i

Sulphur oxides (SOx) tonnes 0.02 0.01
a1t (SOx) 7

Particulate matter (PM) tonnes 0.67 0.63
TR (PM) i

Notes: st

The calculation method of exhaust gas emissions and the BERBEM T E A A RAERBER A
related emission factors were based on, including but not AED2BEEERRN B ZATE
limited to, “How to Prepare an ESG Report — Appendix 2: i H (IR ZEFHESGIRE — M — ©
Reporting Guidance on Environmental KPIs” issued by the Stock RIGERRANIEIRERIES D UARF
Exchange and the “4430 Industrial Boiler (Heat Supply) Industry EAREMEEBRIEBRMEMBN
Coefficients Handbook” ({4430 %3581E (B HHE) T2 A2 F (4430 2£BIE G OHEE) T£ &
1)) recently issued by the Ministry of Ecology and Environment HFM) -

of the People’s Republic of China.
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GHG Emissions

The Group’s GHG emissions are mainly derived from
the direct GHG emissions (scope 1) caused by the
consumption of diesel and petrol in vehicles and the
consumption of LNG and natural gas in boilers, and the
indirect GHG emissions caused by purchased electricity
(scope 2). In response to the national carbon neutrality
goal, the Group will, taking 2021 as the base year,
reduce the total GHG emission intensity by 5% in the
next five years, and plans to increase the green area
of its operating locations through afforestation. For the
aforesaid emission sources, we will strive to reduce our
carbon footprint through the following measures:

o Adopting emission reduction measures on vehicles
and boilers, the relevant measures of which are
described in the section headed “Exhaust Gas
Emissions” of this aspect;

° Adopting electricity-saving measures, the relevant
measures of which are described in the section
headed “Energy Management” section of Aspect
A2; and

o Staying committed to educating and training
employees on the aforesaid environmental policies,
and encouraging them to put forward feasible
suggestions to continuously improve energy
conservation and emission reduction.

The Group’s total GHG emissions decreased significantly
from approximately 8,402.78 tCO2e in 2021 to
approximately 8,173.76 tCOz2e in 2022. Such decrease
was due to the fact that the operation was affected during
the pandemic.
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The Group’s GHG emissions performance is summarized

REE ~ the BRI

Environmental, Social and Governance Report

FEEBEEREFBRERIL

as follows: mr
Indicator® Unit 2022 2021
L B 1 ot el T —F
Scope 1 — Direct GHG emissions tCO2e 2,164.41 2,059.51
HE——BEAEREIK M —EIERE =
e Diesel consumption tCO2e 1,242.80 1,106.28
o SHUHFE WE—EEREE
e Petrol consumption tCO2e 112.58 115.10
o HIHFE R ICREE
e | NG and natural gas consumption  tCOze 809.03 838.13
o BIERARMKIARIEFE M —EIERE =
Scope 2 — Energy indirect GHG tCO2e 6,009.36 6,3438.27
emissions

#HEZ -EREERERBIIN MR ICREE
e Purchased electricity tCO2e 6,009.36 6,343.27
° SNEEET M —EIERE =
Total GHG emissions (Scopes 1 and 2) tCO:ze 8,173.76 8,402.78
BRERBIHREEZ (EE—KI) W —EEREE
Total GHG emissions intensity tCO2e/HKS$ million 10.65 16.13

revenue*
RERBHREERE MR ICREE

HEEEE WA

GHG emission data is presented in terms of carbon
dioxide equivalent and are based on, but not limited to,
the “2006 Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change
(“IPCC”) Guidelines for National Greenhouse Gas
Inventories”, the “Global Warming Potential Values” from
the “IPCC Fifth Assessment Report” in 2014, “How to
prepare an ESG Report — Appendix II: Reporting Guidance
on Environmental KPIs” issued by the Stock Exchange, the
“2021 Sustainability Report” published by the CLP Power
Hong Kong Limited and 2019 baseline emission factors for
the regional power grid in the PRC for emission reduction
project issued by the Ministry of Ecology and Environment
of the People’s Republic of China.

During the Reporting Period, the Group’s revenue
amounted approximately HK$767.63 million. This data is
also used to calculate other intensity data.

et

3. AHRERBHEHEMTE_STL
FEEEY U2 RBEEEBT
R RFHNERIEE
{EEMZEg (NPCCJ) B
BERRBBEIER) IPCCZE
—HF PR (F L RETER
YA T2 R AEE) B
Qﬁﬁéﬂ‘ﬁﬁ BY (0] ZE IR 1R ~ £
REABRE - IR
%ﬁi%ﬁ?ﬂa@‘ili%ﬁa%\» i
BEHEBARRBEMI(CZE
“—FURBERRE)URT
EANRAEME AL BRI A EM
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Waste Water Discharges

During the Reporting Period, the Group’s property and
industrial park investment business produced a total of
185,030 m® (2021: 105,469 m?®) of waste water, all of
which was recycled by the municipality in a centralized
manner. To ensure compliance with discharge standards,
industrial waste water discharged by its industrial
tenants shall pass an environmental impact assessment
before being discharged and recycled. Industrial waste
water generated by the civil explosives business is
also required to be filtered by biological substances
before being discharged to the public sewage pipe
network. Waste water discharged from other business
segments is directly discharged to the public sewage
pipe network and piped to the waste water treatment
plant for treatment. Water consumption of these
segments represents the waste water discharged.
Water consumption data and related water targets and
measures are described in the section headed “Water
Management” Aspect A2.

Waste Management

Hazardous waste

The Group’s wellness elderly care business produces
medical waste, which will be temporarily stored in
government hospitals or directly disposed of by qualified
medical waste disposal companies. As the civil explosives
business involves production activities, hazardous wastes
are inevitably produced in its operation process, such as
waste barrels, waste motor oil, used car battery, etc. In
order to reduce hazardous waste discharge, the Group
will, taking 2021 as the base year, reduce the emission
intensity of hazardous wastes by 5% in the next five
years. The Group is committed to waste management,
and stipulates that the hazardous waste produced
shall not be discharged, disposed or transferred at
will, and shall be disposed of by government-approved
and qualified waste recyclers to comply with relevant
environmental laws and regulations.
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The Group’s hazardous waste discharge performance is
summarized as follows:

BUS ~ e E R ETRES

Environmental, Social and Governance Report

FEBENEESBERYHFBRER
manE

Type of waste Unit 2022 2021
EEEZY 4R B i T —TZ—f
Total hazardous wastes tonnes 11.61 23.02
BEEEEYER 14
e Medical waste tonnes 10.74 11.56
o BIEEEY A
e \Waste barrels tonnes - 10.84
* BEEAR MR
e Waste motor oll tonnes 0.80 0.50
o BBFREEIEH U
e Used car battery tonnes - 0.06
s BREEEEM MA
e Waste lamps tonnes 0.02 0.03
. BFIBE 45
e Waste ink cartridges tonnes 0.04 0.02
s BEER i
e Waste battery tonnes 0.01 0.01
e EEEEM MR
Total hazardous waste intensity tonnes/HK$ million

revenue 0.02 0.04
EEBEEMEERE Mg A EEWA
Non-hazardous wastes HEBEEY

The non-hazardous wastes produced during the
operation of each business segment of the Group are
mainly general domestic waste, kitchen waste and paper.
Food waste is derived from restaurants and canteens
operated by our property and industrial park investment
business, wellness elderly care business, hotel business
and other businesses. In addition, the transport fleet
for the civil explosives business also produces a small
amount of used vehicle tires. In order to reduce non-
hazardous waste discharge, the Group will, taking 2021
as the base year, reduce the emission intensity of non-
hazardous wastes by 5% in the next five years. During the
year, the civil explosives business ceased the usage of
the waste barrels and resulting in a drop of 50% waste.

FEBBEBRREEBRERFR
EENESERYEITER—RE
ENIR S B AR R AL SR o EFBR 2R B
RYMENEXERE - KEERSR
E BEEXBEENERK
RE - FRILLUN RIBEHEH B
BT BEELEVEERBEERK-
RBLESBERYER ~&E
HEUAE_—FEEEF R
RROFABRBESERDIHFN
ERESN - FFEE REXHC
EREERERREYRBERLD
50% °
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The Group has formulated the Implementation Plan for
Domestic Waste Diversion, Classification and Reduction
(EFBHIRDRDEREEN S E)), which refines the
implementation measures for domestic waste diversion,
classification and reduction, regulates, improves, and
urges and guides various business segments to carry out
domestic waste classification and recycling. The Group
has also been committed to developing paperless office
and endeavouring to save paper by encouraging double-
sided printing. Waste paper is delivered to environmental
recycling companies for disposal.

For the non-hazardous waste produced in the operation
process, we also maintain a garbage chamber for our
hotel business that meets the National Standard of the
People’s Republic of China on the Classification and
Accreditation for Star-rated Tourism Hotels ({fZE A
REMBIBERRERBEREZROE DEFTED). All
non-hazardous wastes are recycled and disposed of
by government-designated environmental and health
administrative authorities. The food waste produced
is mainly used as animal feed and compost to reduce
the impact on the surrounding environment. For the
hotel business, we have actively implemented various
measures including reducing consumables for guests,
reducing the amount of packaging and not providing
disposable tableware. By internally employing a method
of hierarchical utilisation of food raw materials and
providing catering customers with packaging and
wine storage services, the hotel also minimized the
consumption of food raw materials and significantly
reduced the production of food waste and other wastes.

The food waste of the Group canteens is collected and
provided to the local food waste processing department
as resource for the production of hyhogen.
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report

The main non-hazardous waste discharge performance of

BUS ~ e E R ETRES

FEENETEZEZEEVIRE

the Group is summarized as follows: BB -
Type of waste® Unit 2022 2021
i3 EVIR B —E-C —E-—F
Total non-hazardous wastes tonnes 99.61 120.45
mEEEYES 145
e (General waste tonnes 45.86 53.43
o —AIIIR i
e Kitchen waste tonnes 45.04 58.31
o EFER i
e Paper tonnes 4.21 4.51
o IR i
e Used vehicle tires tonnes 4.50 4.20
s BRAEERR it
Total non-hazardous waste intensity tonnes/HK$ million

revenue 0.13 0.23
BEBEYMEERE M A EE WA
Note: L
5. The disclosed figures do not include non-hazardous waste 5. HREEEHE FIEEZH

from the hotel business due to lack of confirmed data.
According to the Group’s estimation, when the occupancy
rate of the hotel reaches 50%, approximately 18.00 tonnes
of general waste and 12.00 tonnes of kitchen waste will
be produced annually. When the data collection system
becomes completer and more mature, the Group will
further expand the relevant disclosure scope.

6. During the year, owing to the impact of the pandemic on
the Hotel business and resulting in a decrease in general
waste and kitchen waste by 14% and 23% respectively.

FAECQEBEXEBEESE
E o AEBMGHBEERE
50%BF S F g ELE18.00M—
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A2.

Use of Resources

Environmental protection and resource conservation
are important responsibilities of the Group. The Group
actively promotes the effective use of resources, and
monitors the potential impact that its business operations
brought to the environment. As stated in Aspect A1,
the Group has formulated relevant environmental
management policies and procedures to manage the use
of water, electricity, diesel, petrol, LNG and natural gas.

Energy Management

In daily production and operation, the Group’s
energy consumption mainly includes diesel and
petrol consumption of vehicles, LNG and natural gas
consumption of boilers, and electricity consumption in
our operations. In addition to the energy-saving measures
for vehicles and boilers mentioned in the section headed
“Exhaust Gas Emissions” in Aspect A1, the Group has
also made efforts to reduce electricity usage. The Group
will, using 2021 as the base year, reduce the total energy
consumption intensity by 5% in the next five years, and
plan to promote the replacement of natural gas boiler fuel
with electricity in the civil explosives business, and the
construction of photovoltaic power generation system
on roof for the wellness elderly care business in the next
seven years. In order to reduce energy consumption,
the Group has taken energy-saving measures in each
business segment:

CHINA INVESTMENTS HOLDINGS LIMITED v [ 8 3 £ B A B 23 ]
ANNUAL REPORT 2022 4E#

A2.

BREA

RERBENHDNERNDEAERE
ERE -AEBRENUEBESHE N
ERERASTE HAUBERED
EEHREHRNEETRZE W
AMEE R AEE B HIEH
RIFEEMEBNBRNER &
KB EOH S U RIERAR
RRAREEREHETEER

BEREE

AHREEEER ~EBEME
FOHFEE B R EWMAYE N A TH
HFE SBIERRIER AR KRR
RHFE U EBREB-RTINE
EHATHR TEERFEBL — B PR By
ERIE & 8808 B B BEFE R ob
AEETEEDRMDENER-
FEEREU_S_—FFEEE
FoRARROLFERFEBIERFE
ERES% WEBIERKELF
R EERBEBUENEARR
ARMERR AR K BREER
BRBENXAREERLERERER -
mBLERER AEEERS
FHRIRREEN SEFE I



BUS ~ e E R ETRES

Environmental, Social and Governance Report

Actively carrying out renewable energy projects.
Specifically, the property and industrial park
investment business has installed photovoltaic
power generation system in its industrial parks and
during the year totally generated electricity 2,213.09
MWh (2021: 1,383.15 MWh), in which 81% is
for the usage of industrial parks and the excess
was sold to China Southern Power Grid. We have
installed solar street lights at suitable locations for
our wellness elderly care business, and established
a solar hot water function system to reduce power
consumption for the hotel business;

Increasing the use of new energy-saving lighting
sources such as LED lights to extend the service life
of equipment and reduce resource consumption;

Employing computer monitoring technology to
automatically track major energy-consuming
equipment, and intelligently adjusting settings
according to seasons and changes in indoor and
outdoor temperatures; and

Endeavouring to strengthen energy-saving
promotion and training, and post energy-saving
signs in conspicuous places to enhance the
environmental protection awareness of our hotel
guests, property tenants and employees.
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For the Reporting Period, the Group’s indirect energy
consumption decreased significantly from approximately
7,892.81 MWh' in 2021 to approximately 7,476.97 MWh
in 2022.

The Group’s energy consumption performance is
summarized as follows:

REHBREHE AEENE
EEREEER _T_—£48
7,892 81K R THREZZE
FEH7,476.97IKE S o

75 B B BE R OH B R IR B A 1
e

Type of energy Unit 2022 2021
RETREE R B —E-C T —F
Direct energy consumption’ MWh 9,451.35 9,046.88
ERERERE JEFLBF
e Diesel MWh 5,089.67 4,482.24
o SH JK R B
e Petrol MWHh 410.28 419.48
e SH JEFLBF
e | NG and natural gas MWh 4,001.40 4,145.16
o BIERARMKAR JK BB
Indirect energy consumption MWh 7,476.97 7,892.81
e RHFE JKELBF
e Purchased electricity MWh 7,476.97 7,892.81
o SMNEEEE JKE B
Total energy consumption MWh 16,928.32 16,939.69
HWEERFEE JEELBF
Total energy consumption intensity MWh/HKS$ million

revenue 22.05 32.52
WEEREERE JKEREBEBEERA
Note: B
7. The unit conversion method of energy consumption data 7. BERHFESIEMNEMNIRE HE

is based on the “Energy Statistic Manual” issued by the
International Energy Agency.
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Water Management

Based on the geographical location of the Group’s
operating premises, we have not encountered any issues
in sourcing water that is fit for purpose. To reduce water
consumption, the Group will, using 2021 as the base
year, reduce the total water consumption intensity by
5% in the next five years. In addition to the waste water
recycling measures described in the section headed
“Waste Water Discharge” at Aspect A1, the Group has
also actively adopted water control measures in various
business segments:

o All guest rooms in our hotel business use water-
saving toilets that meet the water efficiency level 1
standard to guide guests to reduce waste;

° Cotton fabrics are changed only as requested by
hotel guests to reduce the number of washes;

° Hotel employees are encouraged to save water in
their daily lives and install smart sensor water-saving
systems in employee bathrooms;

° A large amount of water mist from the cooling tower
of the hotel building is recycled to greatly reduce the
loss of water mist;

° Water leak inspection is carried out on a regular
basis, and water consumption is controlled by
installing separate water meters and establishing
a water consumption ledger for measurement and
assessment; and

° We endeavour to strengthen energy-saving
promotion and training, and post water-saving signs
in conspicuous places to enhance the environmental
protection awareness of our hotel guests, property
tenants and employees.
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The Group’s total water consumption for the year is
approximately 421,152.00 m® (2021: to approximately
392,275.00 md).

The Group’s greenhouse energy consumption
performance is summarized as follows:

TEBRBLXREEEEKEN
421,152,001 5K (ZE - —% .
#9392,275.001L 5 3K) ©

AEBEIREEROHERFMHL
mr

Water consumption Unit 2022 2021
=PI3 =R i —E-C —EZ—fF
Total water consumption m? 421,152.00 392,275.00
HWFEKE RV

Total water consumption intensity m3/HK$ million revenue 548.64 753.14
MIEKERE MHKSBEEERA

Use of Packaging Materials B EER

The Group’s civil explosives business uses packaging
materials to seal and protect products, which are mainly
composite membrane and cartons. The Group will strive
to optimize the packaging method and select the most
suitable and efficient packaging materials, aiming to
reduce the use of packaging materials. No packaging
materials are used for our other businesses as they are
non-productive.

The Group’s packaging materials consumption
performance is summarized as follows:

AEERIBLE S EHQEME
EHRREES HIBAES
BREE AEEERNELE
£r% BEBRABERFEOE
WHBME SR B MR
BofE R o R R A T
EECEG ELREAEEE
A o

FEBENBEMERRERL
LI

Packaging materials Unit 2022 2021
BEME B == —EZ—F
Total packaging materials consumption tonnes 978.48 689.81
BEMBBGERE NiA
e Composite membrane tonnes 517.08 87.14
s EERE U
e Cartons tonnes 461.40 602.67
o MRFE W
Total packaging materials consumption tonnes/HK$ million 1.27 1.32

intensity revenue

BEMHBEREZE g B EBIA
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The Environment and Natural Resources

The Group is committed to the practice of corporate
social responsibility and sustainable development,
and strives to mitigate the potential impact on the
environment. The Group has implemented the relevant
environmental protection policies mentioned in the
aforesaid sections, and is committed to reducing
consumption of natural resources and implementing
effective environmental management in pursuit of best
industry practices, so as to ensure that it strictly complies
with all relevant laws and regulations.

Corporate Green Development

As the PRC government continues to strengthen
its support for green finance, big data and other
businesses, the Group has also made great efforts
to formulate strategic plans for related businesses
to help promote sustainable development. In terms
of its financial leasing business, the Group will firmly
follow the path of professional development in green
environmental protection, and always stay focused on
municipal environmental protection fields such as solid
waste treatment, sewage treatment, and biogas power
generation and obtains a green rating. The Group’s big
data business will also continue to explore and research
the open Internet of Things platform as the core, targeting
at smart medical, smart energy and other fields for
business expansion and development of related project
products, thereby offering solutions to improve energy
efficiency.

A3. IRERXAER

FEERHEBEEHAEEEU
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A4.

Strengthened Environmental Awareness

The Group is committed to building an “energy-saving
enterprise”, putting the concepts of cleaner production
and green operation into practice in various business
segments to sharpen its survival and competitive edges.
The Group has effectively strengthened its environmental
protection efforts internally. In addition to strictly requiring
employees to implement the environmental protection
measures set by the Group, it also actively enhances
employees’ environmental protection awareness by
distributing relevant environmental protection information
such as green office and operation to employees,
thereby effectively improving its environmental protection
standard. In addition, the Group is also committed to
promoting the concept of environmental protection and
plans to carry out diversified environmental protection
promotion activities to encourage hotel guests, property
and industrial park tenants and suppliers to participate in
environmental protection work and reduce the impact on
the environment and natural resources.

Climate Change

The escalating risks and challenges posed by climate
change to the global economy may also have a negative
impact on the Group’s business. Therefore, the Group
recognizes the importance of identifying and mitigating
any significant impacts of climate change. The Group
has initially incorporated climate risk into its Enterprise
Risk Management System ({{bERE[EEEHIE)) and
related work procedures, and will hold meetings in various
business segments to discuss relevant issues, so as to
improve climate risk identification and management and
capitalize on relevant opportunities. In accordance with the
international recommendations of the Taskforce on Climate-
related Financial Disclosures (“TCFD”) established by the
Financial Stability Board, the management of the Group
has assessed and recognized climate-related risks and
corresponding opportunities that have an impact on the
Group’s business. With reference to the risk classification
of TCFD, the Group has identified climate-related risks and
corresponding management measures as follows:
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Physical Risk

The Group’s business is mainly located in Guangdong,
Guangxi and Hong Kong, and may be subject to
extreme weather events such as heavy rain, floods and
typhoons. The increasing frequency and severity of such
events may increase the risk of power outages, supply
chain disruptions, and damage to buildings such as
hotels, factories and properties. This could disrupt the
Group’s operations, resulting in reduced revenue as well
as property damage and increased costs to repair or
restore damaged premises. We are also aware that these
incidents may endanger the safety of our employees.
As a countermeasure, the Group has formulated special
work arrangements for extreme weather in the Corporate
Governance and Staff Code ((EEAKRETSTE])),
and will closely monitor the latest weather news and
suggestions issued by the local government to formulate
contingency plans to ensure that all personnel are
prepared to deal with such extreme weather conditions,
aiming at reducing or avoiding losses and ensuring the
health and safety of employees when extreme weather
hits the Group’s premises.

HEAR

K%%?‘IEEE‘E%\EE
RER HAEEBXERR M
K FU_L£$TI%9E—L$T TE
BEEHHNEXRBERER M
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Transition Risk

In order to achieve sustainable development, local
governments have successively enacted climate-related
legislation or tightened regulations to support the global
decarbonization vision. For instance, over the recent
years, the PRC government has been committed to
promoting the transformation of the green economy,
and has implemented the goal of “carbon peaking by
2030 and carbon neutrality by 2060” to promote the
development of clean energy. In response to such policy
changes, we may need to change our operating practices
and move towards a sustainable business model, which
may result in increased operating costs. The Group will
capitalize on opportunities of developing green bond
projects to gain investment returns, continue to develop
its financial leasing business, firmly focus on the field
of green environmental protection, and enhance its
corporate reputation. In response to energy transition, the
Group will also continue to carry out photovoltaic power
generation projects and replace energy-saving lighting in
various business segments to improve energy efficiency
and reduce operating costs.

In addition, the Stock Exchange also requires listed
companies to strengthen climate-related disclosures in
their ESG reports, which may increase related compliance
costs. Failure to meet climate change compliance
requirements may expose the Group to the risk of claims
and litigation, which may result in a possible loss of
corporate reputation. The Group will regularly monitor
existing and emerging climate-related trends, policies and
regulations to avoid reputation risk due to slow response.
The Group will continue to evaluate the effectiveness of
the Group’s actions on climate change and enhance its
ability to address climate-related issues.
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B. SOCIAL

B1.

Employment

The Group has formulated policies including the
Corporate Governance and Staff Code (Tt EARET
<FHJY), the Administrative Measures for Recruitment and
Employment ((REEE25% B EIRHE)), the Administrative
Measures for Staff Onboarding, Resignation and
Redesignation” (ET ABEBEEHESIER L)) to
regulate employment-related issues to ensure that all
terms and procedures for formulation and release comply
with relevant regulatory requirements. The Group has also
established a labour union for its employees and issued
the Employee Handbook to provide employees with clear
guidance on employment issues, respect and safeguard
the legitimate rights and interests of each employee, and
facilitate bilateral communication. We are also committed
to improving our employment system to attract, cultivate
and retain employees while adhering to a people-oriented
governance approach.

The Group has complied with all laws and regulations
related to remuneration and dismissal, recruitment
and promotion, working hours, rest periods, equal
opportunity, diversity, anti-discrimination and other
benefits and welfare, including but not limited to the
Labour Contract Law of the People’s Republic of China
(FREAREMESE S EEIE)) and the Labour Contract
Law of the People’s Republic of China ((FZE A RHEFE
84 EE)) in the PRC, the Employment Ordinance in
Hong Kong, etc.

B. 11g
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As at 31 December 2022, the Group had a total of 1,189
(2021: 905) full-time employees and had no part-time
employees, within the reporting scope. The breakdown is

BE_ T __F#+_-_B=+—
H &Zx&EBEHE1,180% (Z=
T —fF 0468 EHEE BT

as follows: EBES MEI2WT :
2022 2021
—E- B —F
Number of Number of
employees Percentage employees Percentage
BE A BALE BE A¥ BALE
By gender LUt R & 5
Male B4 513 43% 435 46%
Female 7% 676 57% 511 54%
By age group UUEE AR 2 5
<30 <30 204 17% 137 14%
30-50 30-50 709 60% 653 69%
> 50 >50 276 23% 156 17%
By geographical region L& &) 5>
The PRC A P 1,183 99% 939 99%
Hong Kong 5 6 1% 7 1%
Recruitment, Remuneration, Promotion and B FrBl - EFA R

Dismissal

The Group is committed to recruiting outstanding talents
by offering competitive salaries and benefits as well as
promotion opportunities. We adhere to the principle of
fairness, impartiality and openness in equal employment,
recruit sufficient talent reserves for all business segments
of the Group and enhance business competitiveness. The
Group calculates salaries for employees based on their
attendance, overtime, allowances, position levels, etc.,
and pay salaries on time every month. Depending on the
performance assessment for employees, the Group also
adjusts their remuneration, pays performance-based bonus
and provides promotion opportunities. The Group reviews
employees’ remuneration packages on a regular basis
to ensure that they receive the rewards they deserve. In
addition, the Group complies with employment-related laws
and regulations. If an employee needs to be dismissed, we
will give a notice periods and reasonable compensation to
the dismissed employee in accordance with the relevant
procedures and ensure smooth job handover.
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During the Reporting Period, the employee turnover rate®
of the Group was approximately 12% (2021: 9%), with
breakdown as follows:

RBEHB ZEBNEER
LT B12% (B —4F .
9%) > HB|HumF .

Employee turnover Rate®

BB RAKLE=:R.
2022 2021
—E-C —E-—fF
By gender LR & 5
Male B 6% 7%
Female pegis 16% 11%
By age group LU AR 2 5
< 30 <30 19% 9%
30-50 30-50 4% 8%
> 50 >50 18% 13%
By geographical region LUt & &l 3
The PRC R P 3 9% 9%
Hong Kong &5 31% 13%
Notes: st
8.  Total employee turnover rate is calculated by dividing the 8 MEEBMAXESHBREHRMBE
total number of employees leaving employment during the B EE AR URE A&
Reporting Period by the average number of employees at AN FHEEAHGTE-

the beginning and the end of the Reporting Period.

9. The employee turnover rate for each category is calculated
by dividing the number of employees leaving employment
in the category during the Reporting Period by the average
number of employees in the category at the beginning and
the end of the Reporting Period.

9. BEHNEERRXERRS
B ZE R R B R B A BUR
DR & B e B R sz 48 Bl BY F
HREEAHGE
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Other Benefits and Welfare

In addition to basic remuneration and bonus, the
Group also provides thoughtful and comprehensive
employee benefits. The Group effectively safeguards the
legitimate rights and interests of workers in accordance
with the requirements of laws and regulations, and
clearly regulates the management of working hours,
attendance and rest. Employees are entitled to paid
annual leave, personal leave, sick leave, marriage leave,
maternity leave, bereavement leave, etc. The Group
also provides employees with mandatory provident
fund, pension, medical insurance, accident insurance,
education allowance and other benefits. The Group
make contributions to the “five insurances and one
housing fund” for employees in the PRC according to
law, namely retirement insurance, medical insurance,
unemployment insurance, work-related injury insurance,
maternity insurance and housing provident fund and
annuity plan is implemented in qualified departments and
companies in PRC, to ensure that employees enjoy social
insurance benefits. In order to enhance employees’ sense
of belonging to the Group, the Group organizes various
activities for employees every year, including ball games
and outdoor activities. The Group has also established
an employee incentive scheme to motivate employees
and reward employees who have made outstanding
contributions to the Group.

Equal Opportunity, Diversity and Anti-Discrimination

The Group recognizes the value of a diverse and
professional workforce and is committed to creating and
maintaining an inclusive and collaborative workplace
culture where everyone can develop their strengths. The
Group is committed to providing equal opportunities for
all employees in all aspects of employment, and to ensure
that employees are free from discrimination or physical
and verbal harassment in the recruitment process and
working environment due to their social status such as
ethnicity, race, nationality, gender, religion, age, sexual
orientation, political affiliation, marital status, etc. To
ensure fair and equal protection for all employees, the
Group does not tolerate any form of workplace sexual
harassment or bullying.
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Health and Safety

The Group is committed to fulfilling its responsibility for
work safety and establishing a long-term mechanism for
work safety to prevent and reduce work-related accidents
and protect the life and property safety of its employees.
We strictly abide by the relevant laws and regulations
such as the Safety Production Law of the People’s
Republic of China (FREAREMEZZEEE)), the
Interim Provisions on the Investigation and Control of
Safety Accidents of the People’s Republic of China ({Z
HESHEBHEREEITHRE)) and the Law of
the PRC on the Prevention and Control of Occupational
Diseases ({FFZE AR HEFMEBZEMKFAE)) in the PRC,
and the Occupational Safety and Health Ordinance in
Hong Kong. Over the past three years (including the
Reporting Period), the Group has not recorded any major
safety incidents and work-related fatalities. During the
Reporting Period, the Group also did not record any
working days lost due to work-related injuries. The Group
also did not identify any material violation of relevant local
laws and regulations in respect of health and safety.

B2.

BEEZE
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Occupational Health and Safety

For the civil explosives business involving high-risk
production, the Group has formulated the Safety
Production Management System ((ZZ2 4% EEEH
E)) and the Administrative Measures for Work Safety
Accident Emergency Response Plan ((AEZ 2 Ei
FEZFEZEIEHIE)) in accordance with the aforesaid
laws and regulations, which are used to regulate various
requirements for work safety and emergency rescue of
safety-related accidents, so that emergency rescue are
implemented in a prompt, effective and orderly manner
after an accident occurs. The general management
department of the Group is responsible for the daily
management of production, and has established a work
safety leading group to supervise the daily management
of work safety and govern the Group’s work safety
inspection and rectification of potential accident hazards.
We will also invite professional third-party consultants
to conduct inspections on safety and fire protection
issues, and timely rectify, follow up and supervise hidden
hazards. The office of safety committee supervises,
inspects and assesses the implementation of the
Group’s work safety management system, and collects,
summarizes and archives the safety production inspection
data. The Group has also set up a preparation team to
conduct a comprehensive analysis of the risk factors
faced by the Group, determine the type of accidents
and degree of harm that may occur, and formulate
corresponding preventive and emergency measures
according to the source of danger and the degree of
harm caused by the accident.
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In order to enhance employees’ safety awareness,
the Group holds fire evacuation drills and organizes
emergency drills for fires, explosions, floods and
production accidents in a regular manner to enhance
employees’ ability to cope with disasters. The Group
has also formulated the Safety Education and Training
System (Z2HBFEIHIE)) and holds regular work
safety meetings. By educating employees with safety
technical knowledge and management knowledge and
analyzing accident cases, we enable employees to
master theoretical knowledge of safety and improve their
practical safety operation ability. We also employ various
channels including publicity posters, slogans, educational
videos and organizing safety knowledge contests and
safe operation skill competitions to improve employees
safety awareness and implement our work safety policy.
The Group’s hotel business also regularly provides
professional health checks for employees to prevent
occupational diseases and protect the health and safety
of employees.
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Response Measures for COVID-19 Pandemic

In response to COVID-19 outbreaks, the Group has
formulated the Emergency Work Plan for Pneumonia
Infected by Novel Coronavirus ({7 E 5 ik 7 &5 B 22 B9 B
KL EMBAIESZ)) in accordance with the notice of
the General Office of the National Health Commission
on the Diagnosis and Prevention and Control Plan for
the Pneumonia Infected by Novel Coronavirus ({H
AR RERENMRZEMPBIELE)). We have
established an pandemic prevention and control leading
group to strictly implement various pandemic prevention
and control measures, which effectively improved the
pandemic prevention and control capabilities of each
business segment. The Group regularly disinfects its
business premises; requires employees to wear masks in
the office area; recommends employees to be vaccinated
against COVID-19; requires personnel entering and
exiting our premises to take temperature measurements
and check health codes; and provide adequate anti-
pandemic items and equipment. During the peak period
of the pandemic, the Group had implemented work-from-
home arrangements and required employees to submit
test reports. We will also organize publicity training on
pandemic prevention and control knowledge to remind
employees to pay attention to personal hygiene and
social distancing so as to ensure employees’ health and
safe conditions and control the risk of the pandemic.
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Training and Skills Development

The Group invests sufficient resources in staff
training and development, and strives to enhance the
competitiveness, professionalism and ethical standards
of its staff. All new employees must participate in the
training on industry knowledge, health and safety
and work skills. In addition, we continuously conduct
professional knowledge and skills training for employees
under the guidance of the Annual Employee Training
Outline ((FEBTHEIIAA)) each year to develop
employees’ good professionalism and enable them to
stay competitive in order to fulfil their responsibilities,
striving to achieve the highest standards of service.

Training Programs

The Group’s training program are designed mainly to
meet the different needs of employees at all levels and
types, and enhance employees’ professional quality,
professional knowledge and competence. The Group will
arrange training plans for each department according
to business needs. For example, in terms of human
resources, our training programs cover courses such as
special training on personnel selection and recruitment,
human resources forums and recruitment skills; in terms
of finance, our training programs cover courses related
to budget management, budget control and application
of tax planning strategies, with a view to strengthening
employees’ knowledge and skills in relevant business
areas. We also strongly encourage the management
to participate in training programs relating to business
and public speaking, so as to continuously improve the
ability of the Group’s management to deliver speeches
in external communication. Meanwhile, they are also
encouraged to participate in training programs on
investment study, financial management, etc. to help
them cope with challenges at work.
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REREHE AEBRRZIRE
BN 5H98% (ZE - —14F
95%) s BREESTMZIINTI
RO A1 700K (2T Z—
F 1 11.65/05) 1M KRB 548
MBI ZIREB DRSS
12 B 58 i 32 3l B9 F 39 B B BR AR U0
category is as follows: T

During the Reporting Period, the percentage of the
Group’s total employees' trained was approximately 98%
(2021: 95%), and the average training hours completed
per employee' was approximately 11.70 hours (2021:
11.65 hours). The breakdown of the percentage of
employees trained and the average training hours
completed per employee by gender and employee

Percentage of trained
employees'?
ZillEEBESLL™

Average training hours'

TR

2022 2021 2022 2021

g - ZEZZC e —%F
By gender LUt R &) 5
Male B4 43% 46% 20.02 17.99
Female pegc 57% 54% 9.08 6.28
By employee category  LU{ESEHIEI 5
Senior management BREERE 2% 2% 23.75 20.90
Mid-level management ik EIEE 5% 8% 21.97 20.74
General staff Z@ET 93% 90% 13.93 10.77
Notes: BeE
10. The percentage of total employees trained is calculated by 10. BZIEEENLEERREREH

dividing the total number of employees trained during the BRZIEEABSFUEER

Reporting Period by the total number of employees as at HHRAREANEGIE -
the end of the Reporting Period.
11. The average training hours completed per employee is 1. BHEEEMZTINFHEFH

calculated by dividing the total number of training hours
during the Reporting Period by the total number of
employees at the end of the Reporting Period.

The percentage of employees trained for each category
is calculated by dividing the number of employees trained
for that category during the Reporting Period by the total
number of employees trained during the Reporting Period.

The average training hours completed by each category of
employees is calculated by dividing the total training hours
of that category of employees during the Reporting Period
by the number of employees in that category at the end of
the Reporting Period.
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Labour Standards

The Group strictly abides by the Labour and Social
Security Inspection Regulation ((¥ B1{RE B2 & H)) and
the Provisions on Prohibition of Child Labour ({Z£ 1E{EF
FETHED) in the PRC and the Employment Ordinance
in Hong Kong to prevent any employment of child labour
and forced labour. During the Reporting Period, the
Group did not identify any major violations of laws and
regulations in respect of prevention of child labour and
forced labour, and has successfully passed the annual
audit of the labour inspection by government departments
over the years.

Prohibition of Child Labour and Forced Labour

The Group has detailed all recruitment procedures and
requirements in the Corporate Governance and Staff
Code ({bXEBEAKRETISFA)) and the Administrative
Measures for Recruitment and Employment ({335 Ei%
FAEEHE)). New employees are required to provide
the personal information required in the Employment
Notice ((BE2AERE)) during their onboarding process,
which will be strictly reviewed by recruiters, including ID
cards, household registration, etc. In addition, the Group
has established internal personnel file management
procedures to conduct regular review and inspection
to prevent any employment of child labour. When any
irregularities are identified, the Group will immediately
carry out investigations and impose punishment.
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BS5.

In addition, employees of the Group work overtime on
a voluntary basis. Relevant working hours and overtime
regulations have also been specified in the Corporate
Governance and Staff Code (& AR ETFA)) and
the Employee Handbook in order to avoid violations of
labour standards and effectively safeguard the rights and
interests of employees. The Group prohibits any form of
forced labour, slavery and labour trafficking. If any form
of forced labour is identified, the Group will immediately
carry out investigations and stop the employment of
forced labour. If necessary, the Group will further improve
the labour mechanism for violations.

Supply Chain Management

The Group has established a series of strict and
standardized supply chain management procedures
with reference to relevant laws and regulations such as
the Law of the People’s Republic of China on Tenders
and Bids ((PZEARIMBEBFRKERE)), and has
implemented the following practices regarding supplier
engagement for all suppliers. During the Reporting
Period, the Group had a total of 362 suppliers (2021: 273
suppliers), all of which were located in the PRC.
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Procurement Mechanism

Each business segment of the Group is required to
adopt strict procurement control measures to ensure
that the suppliers it employs meet the standards in
terms of quality and safety, environmental protection,
labour practices and business ethics. Specifically, the
bidding procedures for relevant engineering construction
projects shall be implemented in accordance with the
management and control requirements specified in the
Guidelines for Integrity Risk Prevention and Control ({B&
BRI ZETEFS51)). The Group is required to conduct
a detailed review of the technical and qualification
documents of the relevant suppliers to ensure the
quality safety and compliance of the suppliers. The
hotel business has also formulated the Procurement
Department Management Regulations ({fREEEEEIE
T )) to standardize the procurement process and
standards. The Group’s food suppliers are required to
provide the inspection and quarantine certificate issued
by the government’s health and pandemic prevention
authorities, and the materials and supplies provided by
other suppliers shall also obtain national quality and
safety certification. Our big data business is also required
to select suitable suppliers based on their security level
and reliability to ensure the security and quality of data
systems.

The Group is committed to supporting the local economy
by prioritizing the procurement from local suppliers
to reduce its carbon footprint during transportation.
The Group also gives priority to suppliers with
environmental certifications or those who can provide
environmentally friendly products and services during
the selection process. In addition, the Group monitor the
procurement activities that employees are responsible
for in accordance with the Guidelines for Integrity Risk
Prevention and Control ((E&EZERBHIETEFS3])), and
strictly prohibit suppliers from obtaining procurement
contracts or cooperative relationships through any form
of benefit transfer or gift. If any serious violation of laws
and regulations is identified, the Group will terminate
contract with such supplier. The Group will monitor
the procurement mechanism regularly to ensure its
effectiveness.
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B6.

Supply Chain Environmental and Social Risk
Management

To manage potential environmental and social risks in the
supply chain and ensure the overall quality of suppliers,
we continuously monitor and assess whether suppliers
can meet the contract and specification requirements.
Such assessment includes qualification certification
review, project site inspection, notification inspection,
rectification review, etc. The Group puts in place a strict
receipt inspection system to ensure the quality and
safety of all raw materials, supplies and services we
purchase. We establish supplier credit files according to
the assessment results and provide rectification opinions
and requirements to suppliers as needed, thus striving to
establish a good working relationship with suppliers and
minimize potential environmental and social risks in the
supply chain.

Product Responsibility

The Group believes that the quality of products and
services is a key factor for an enterprise to maintain its
core competence. In order to effectively improve the
quality of products and services and safeguard the rights
and interests of customers, we have formulated and
implemented standardized management procedures for
the quality of products and services, and actively maintain
communication with customers to understand and meet
customers’ needs and expectations, and to promote the

future development of the Group.
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We strictly abide by relevant laws and regulations,
including but not limited to the Law of the People’s
Republic of China on the Protection of Consumer Rights
and Interests ((PEARHMBEHEEZRD(REL)),
the Advertising Law of the People’s Republic of China
(PEARLMBEESE)), the Interim Measures for
the Administration of Internet Advertisement (¢E Bf#48 &=
EEEEITHE)) and the Product Quality Law of the
People’s Republic of China (FTEARANEERES
7£)in the PRC, Trade Descriptions Ordinance in Hong
Kong and other relevant consumer protection laws and
regulations. During the Reporting Period, the Group did
not identify any material violation of laws and regulations
in respect of product and service quality, nor did it have
any products that needed to be recalled for safety and
health reasons.

Quality Control

The Group’s civil explosives business has passed the ISO
9002 quality management system certification, as well as
GB/T 19001, GB/T 24001 and GB/T 28001 management
system certification in respect of quality, environment,
occupational health and safety, and has prepared a series
of documentation in respect of quality control procedures
for production. The Group is committed to maintaining
quality control of its production processes and finished
products, identifying non-conforming products and any
non-compliance with quality and safety requirements,
in order to eliminate potential risks and ensure product
quality and safety. In addition, the Group also strictly
manages the quality of suppliers of food, medicine and
supplies, requires suppliers to obtain relevant qualification
certificates and provide certification documents to ensure
that the products they provide meet the Group’s quality
and safety requirements and standards.
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In order to maintain high service quality, all business
segments of the Group have implemented quality
management measures to track customer needs
so as to improve customer satisfaction. The Group
arranges industry knowledge and job skills training for
newly recruited employees, and sets out employee
responsibilities, conduct requirements and management
procedures relating to customer communication in
the Employee Handbook. For the hotel business, the
Group has also formulated the Environmental Quality
Management System ((IRIEEEZEIEHEZR)), which sets
out the written procedures of each department regarding
the operation of guest rooms, catering and front desk
services, so as to maintain the hygiene of guest rooms
and ensure the provision of professional services. In order
to continuously improve its service quality, the Group
has also established a complaint handling mechanism.
If any complaints are received, the Group is required
to conduct detailed investigations, actively supervise
the complaint handling process, and coordinate and
communicate with all parties involved in a timely manner.
We endeavour to understand the facts of each customer
complaint and review and improve our procedures where
necessary. If there is a loss to the customer, such loss
will be fully compensated in a reasonable manner. During
the Reporting Period, the Group has not received any
major complaints about products and services, and
customer satisfaction has reached its expected target.
During the Reporting Period, the Group’s wellness elderly
care business has been certified by the Nanhai District
Office of the Leading Group for the Standardization
of Basic Public Service Standardization for the Elderly
(BB eBEEALRHERBRECEEAMTIEE
E/\MEIRAE) as the “National Basic Public Service
Standardization Pilot Project for the Elderly in Nanhai —
Benchmark Demonstration Unit”. The Group will continue
to improve service quality to meet customers’ needs and
expectations.
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Customer Privacy Protection

The Group has established a stringent privacy protection
policy in the Corporate Governance and Staff Code ({1t
¥EABKRETISE])) and the Employee Handbook,
and strives to protect the personal data and information
security of all stakeholders in accordance with
internationally recognized standards. In order to protect
the personal data and information of our customers
and business partners, the Group has implemented
high security and confidentiality standards in the
collection, processing, use, disclosure and daily record
management. Employees are required to undertake to
keep all personal information confidential and not disclose
the same to third parties without authorization.

In terms of industrial Internet data security, the Group’s
big data business has passed ISO27000 information
security management system certification and third-party
testing and auditing, which meet the required security
level of protection. During the Reporting Period, the
public service platform of the Guangdong-Hong Kong-
Macao Greater Bay Area (Nanhai) Intelligent Security
Industrial Park of the Group’s big data business was
successfully selected into the Industrial Internet Pilot
Demonstration Project List for 2021 ({2021F T %5
B/ & IE B % 8) by the Ministry of Industry
and Information Technology of the People’s Republic
of China. The second-level node of Industrial Internet
Identification Resolution (Foshan) (T2 B 5 48412 55 iR 4
(ffL)) constructed and operated by the Group was
also granted the first “Internet Domain Name Registration
Service Agency” license for the second-level node
industrial Internet identification resolution in the PRC by
the Guangdong Communications Administration. Taking
the pilot demonstration as an opportunity, the Group’s big
data business will continue to maintain data security and
the high level of service to promote the comprehensive
development of industrial Internet security and innovative
applications of the industrial Internet.
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Intellectual Property Rights

We believe that intellectual property is critical to our
success. We rely primarily on the laws and regulations
relating to trademark and trade secret as well as the
contractual commitments made by our employees
and third parties in respect of confidentiality and non-
competition to protect our intellectual property. As of
31 December 2022, the Group’s big data business
registered a total of 6 patents, 13 software copyrights,
3 standards and 1 thesis. During the Reporting Period,
we were not aware that the Group had infringed any
intellectual property rights of any third party or that any
third party had infringed any intellectual property rights of
the Group which could materially and adversely affect our
business operations, nor were we aware of any disputes
concerning intellectual property rights with third parties.
The Group will continue to monitor to ensure that its
intellectual property rights are not infringed.

Advertising and Labelling

The Group is only engaged in limited advertising
campaigns and therefore does not involve significant
advertising-related risks. Nonetheless, for the marketing
of products and services, we strictly regulate and inspect
the promotion of all products and services to ensure that
relevant work follows applicable laws and regulations
relating to promotion and labelling. Such marketing
and promotion shall accurately reflect the quality and
effectiveness of the Group’s products and services.
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Anti-corruption

The Group believes that an integrity corporate culture is
the key to our continued success. Therefore, we attach
great importance to our anti-corruption efforts and
system construction, and resolutely put an end to any
corrupt behaviour. The Group strictly abides by applicable
laws and regulations including the Company Law of the
People’s Republic of China (F#E ARFXMEIATE))
and the Anti-Money Laundering Law of the People’s
Republic of China in the PRC as well as the Prevention
of Bribery Ordinance in Hong Kong. During the Reporting
Period, the Group did not identify any material violations
of laws and regulations on the prevention of bribery,
extortion, fraud and money laundering, nor did it have any
concluded cases of corruption litigation.

Combating Corruption and Upholding Integrity

The Group adopts a “zero-tolerance” attitude towards
any bribery, fraud and money laundering. The Group
stipulates relevant prevention and control measures and
mechanisms in the Guidelines for Integrity Risk Prevention
and Control ((EEZREMHETIEIESID), and has
established the Leading Group for Prevention of Integrity
Risk to focus on all-round integrity risk investigation and
control efforts in its key areas, key links and important
positions such as investment decision-making, financial
management, bidding, equipment procurement,
personnel selection and employment, engineering
construction, etc., striving to create an integrity working
environment and build an integrity, open and transparent
corporate culture.
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The Group conducts extensive and in-depth promotion
and education through, amongst others, theoretical
seminars and cultural activities, stays committed to
creating a good atmosphere of “advocating integrity
and avoiding corruption” within the enterprise, and
strengthens employees’ ideological and moral standards
and awareness of integrity. During the year, the directors
and employees of the Group received approximately
272 and 2,222 hours (2021: approximately 507 and
3,120 hours) of anti-corruption training, respectively. The
training content covers education on party constitution,
party rules and discipline, education on integrity system
and terms, watching anti-corruption feature programs,
etc., aiming at familiarizing them with their corresponding
roles and responsibilities in anti-corruption and business
ethics.

Whistle-blowing Mechanism

The Group attaches great importance to the integrity
and honesty of its employees. The Group has formulated
the Management System for the Prevention, Complaint
and Reporting of Integrity Risk ((B&EZEBREW FEH &
SREBMEBEEHE)) to encourage employees to report
any corruption or fraud incidents. The Group has set up,
amongst others, whistle-blowing hotlines, whistle-blowing
mailboxes and whistle-blowing emails, and designated
personnel are responsible for regular preliminary review
and verification of whistle-blowing content, collection of
relevant materials, and the final decision as to whether to
file a case and report the same to the leading group. The
Group reviews the effectiveness of this whistle-blowing
mechanism on a regular basis to prevent any corruption
within the Group and prevent the improper infringement
of interests, so as to ensure the sound and stable
development of the Group.
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B8. Community Investment

While pursuing business development, the Group is
also committed to serving the community. We have
formulated relevant internal guidelines to arrange for the
Group’s employees to participate in various activities
such as charitable public welfare and social services,
and encourage and support our employees to devote
themselves to volunteering services in their spare time.
We hope that our employees can contribute to the
community in person by participating in community
activities, so as to enhance employees’ caring awareness,
cultivate employees’ sense of social responsibility and
contribute to building a better community.

Corporate Social Responsibility

Adhering to the spirit of good corporate citizenship, the
Group actively participates in various poverty alleviation
fund-raising, volunteering and community activities,
aiming at promoting social harmony. During the Reporting
Period, the Group participated in the following community
activities:

° Fund-raising exercises for poverty alleviation:
The Group has actively responded to the “Foshan
Nanhai District Charity Association-East-Western
Cooperating Pairing and Assisting Campaign”
and “Zhaoqing City Gaoyao District Association
holds the Auti-pandemic Love Donation” and other
charitable fund-raising exercises organized by the
Charity Association of Nanhai District, Foshan City,
with a total donation of approximately RMB274,460.

° Anti-pandemic volunteering service: The Group
has established the “China Investments Volunteering
Service Team” to provide approximately 480 (2021:
200 hours) hours of anti-pandemic support in
Nanhai District to help the PRC fight the pandemic.
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. Elderly care activities: As for its wellness elderly . REMREE . AEEAE
care business, the Group is also committed to BEEEEBRNBIEREHEEE
caring for the elderly in the communities where HMEBFIENMTERE BT
it operates. In addition to organising condolence BEMERENEEREEMN
activities for the disabled during festivals, it also VEEN TREHI A & N605E A
regularly provides medical and support services FTEERHEEZ ZEAR
such as free clinics, free hairdressing, and free BT ERBELTIERR
health checks for the elderly over the age of 60 in 5o
the district.
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HLM CPA LIMITED

Certified Public Accountants

Rooms 1501-8, 15th Floor, Tai Yau Building,

181 Johnston Road, Wanchai, Hong Kong

W AT L8195 KA KIE1581501-8%
Tel ®E: (852) 3103 6980

Fax % & : (852) 3104 0170

E-mail & #: info@hlm.com.hk

TO THE MEMBERS OF
CHINA INVESTMENTS HOLDINGS LIMITED
FERRXZERERAT

(Incorporated in Bermuda with limited liability)
OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of China
Investments Holdings Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries
(collectively referred to as “the Group”) set out on pages 131 to 309,
which comprise the consolidated statement of financial position as
at 31 December 2022, consolidated statement of profit or loss and
other comprehensive income, consolidated statement of changes in
equity and consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then
ended, and notes to the consolidated financial statements, including
a summary of significant accounting policies.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and
fair view of the consolidated financial position of the Group as at 31
December 2022, and of its consolidated financial performance and
its consolidated cash flows for the year then ended in accordance
with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs”) issued by
the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA”)
and have been properly prepared in compliance with the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards
on Auditing (“HKSAs”) issued by the HKICPA. Our responsibilities
under those standards are further described in the Auditor’s
Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial
Statements section of our report. We are independent of the Group
in accordance with the HKICPA's Code of Ethics for Professional
Accountants (“the Code”), and we have fulfilled our other ethical
responsibilities in accordance with the Code. We believe that the
audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to
provide a basis for our opinion.
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional
judgement, were of most significance in our audit of the consolidated
financial statements of the current year. These matters were
addressed in the context of our audit of the consolidated financial
statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we

do not provide a separate opinion on these matters.

Impairment of finance lease receivables

PR EFER

MRBH EEARMNE LA A
PG EMBERETRESNEE RN
BRERGAYBRIABLEEER

WWERER MAEMIEEFREFLEXRT
Bo
MRBEAEE  MEHERKRZHE

Refer to Notes 5 and 25 to the consolidated financial statements.

We identified the impairment of the Group’s finance lease receivables
as a key audit matter due to its significance to the consolidated
financial statements, and the use of judgement by the management
in evaluating the recoverability of finance lease receivables.

The carrying amount of finance lease receivables is
HK$3,951,900,000 as at 31 December 2022 (2021:
HK$3,230,407,000), which contributed to approximately 44% to the
total assets (2021: 39%). In determining the impairment for finance
lease receivables, the management considers the credit worthiness,
past collection history, subsequent settlement of each finance lease
customer, and also relevant deposits received, value of leased
assets pledged and of the guarantees. As at 31 December 2022, the
Group recognised an allowance for expected credit losses (“ECL”) of
HK$60,528,000 (2021: HK$28,058,000).

As set out in Notes 5 and 25 to the consolidated financial
statements, management measures ECL for finance lease receivable
by using a provision matrix. In determining the impairment of finance
lease receivable, the management considers internal credit rating
which reflect shared credit risk characteristics, historical past due
information and lessees’ creditworthiness for different groupings of
finance lease receivable as parameters of the ECL models.
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (Continued)

How we addressed the key audit matter

A= EIE &

BRANEANARERAREASTE

Our procedures in relation to the estimated impairment of finance
lease receivables included:

- understanding of the key controls over the granting of the
finance leases and management’s impairment assessment in
relation to the recoverability of finance lease receivables;

- confirming the finance lease receivables balances by sending
audit confirmations on a sample basis;

- evaluating the appropriateness of the ECL provisioning
methodology for finance lease receivables based on current
economic conditions and forward-looking information;

- assessing the credit profiles of the related borrowers based
on the external evidence and factors to determine the internal
credit ratings;

- evaluating the reasonableness of management’s determination
of the estimated loss rates based on internal credit ratings;

- checking the mathematical calculation and basis of impairment
loss recognised under the ECL model; and

- evaluating the disclosures regarding the impairment
assessment of finance lease receivables in Notes 5 and 25 to
the consolidated financial statements.

Based on available evidence, we found the assumptions adopted
in relation to the impairment assessments to be supportable and
reasonable.
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (Continued)

Impairment of trade receivables

A= EIE &

B EE  BWIRNRZEIE

Refer to Notes 5 and 27 to the consolidated financial statements.

We identified the impairment of the Group’s trade receivables as a
key audit matter due to plenty of different kinds of trade receivables
and the use of a significant management judgement in evaluating the
allowance for ECL assessment of trade receivables under the ECL
model.

The Group had trade receivables of approximately HK$79,097,000
(2021: HK$46,833,000), including loss allowance for ECL of
approximately HK$971,000 (2021: HK$762,000). In determining
the impairment for trade receivables, the management performed
periodic assessment on the recoverability of the trade receivables
and the sufficiency of loss allowance for ECL based on information
including credit profile of different customers, aging of the trade
receivables, historical settlement records, subsequent settlement
status, expected timing and amount of realisation of outstanding
balances, and ongoing business relationships with the relevant
customers. Management also considered forward-looking
information that may impact the customers’ ability to repay the
outstanding balances in order to estimate the ECL for the allowance
for ECL assessment.
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (Continued)

How we addressed the key audit matter

NI AZ B S

A= EIE &

B EE  BWIRNRZEIE

Our procedures in relation to the estimated impairment of trade
receivables included:

- obtaining an understanding of and assessing the design and
implementation of management’s key internal controls relating
to credit control, debt collection and estimation of ECL;

- checking, on a sample basis, the age profile of the trade
receivables as at 31 December 2022 to the underlying financial
records and post year end settlements to bank receipts;

- inquiring of management for the status of each of the material
trade receivables past due as at year end and corroborating
explanations from management with supporting evidence,
such as understanding ongoing business relationship with the
customers based on trade records, checking historical and
subsequent settlement records of and other correspondence
with the customers;

- evaluating the appropriateness of the ECL provisioning
methodology of trade receivables and evaluating the
reasonableness of management’s assumptions, including both
historical and forward-looking information, used to determine
the ECL;

- checking the mathematical calculation and basis of impairment
loss recognised under the ECL model; and

- evaluating the disclosures regarding the impairment
assessment of trade receivables in Notes 5 and 27 to the
consolidated financial statements.

Based on available evidence, we found the assumptions adopted
in relation to the impairment assessments to be supportable and
reasonable.
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (Continued)

Valuation of investment properties and
PRC hotel properties

A= EIE &

MBEAEER  REVERPEBENEDN
fhfE

Refer to Notes 17 and 18 to the consolidated financial statements

We identified the valuation of the Group’s investment properties
and PRC hotel properties are significant to our audit because
the determination of fair value of hotel properties and investment
properties is based on several key inputs that require significant
management judgments, assumptions, estimations and other inputs.

Management has estimated the fair value of the Group’s
the investment properties and the PRC hotel properties are
HK$1,066,266,000 (2021: HK$774,554,000) and HK$100,000,000
(2021: HK$110,000,000) respectively as at 31 December 2022.

How we addressed the key audit matter
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RANBANARERARENEE

Our procedures in relation to the management’s valuation of
investment properties and PRC hotel properties included:

- assessing the valuation methodologies used by the external
valuer;

- assessing the methodologies used and the appropriateness of
the key assumptions based on our knowledge of the business
and industry;

- evaluating the independent external valuer's competences,
capabilities and objectively; and

- considering the appropriateness of the resale values estimated
by the external valuer based on the recent transaction price in
the PRC and Hong Kong’s property industry.

Based on available evidence we found management’s assumptions
in relation to the valuation are reasonable.
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (Continued)

Revenue recognition

FEEFE =

RS E St EIE | W sl

Refer to Note 6 to the consolidated financial statements.

The Group’s revenue amounted to approximately HK$767,632,000
(2021: HK$520,846,000),
customers recognised at a point in time amounted to approximately
HK$359,460,000 (2021: HK$255,948,000) and revenue from
contracts with customers recognised over time amounted to
approximately HK$100,138,000 (2021: HK$72,898,000), arising on
big data business, civil explosives business, financial leasing, hotel

of which revenue from contracts with

operation, industrial parks and property development, property
investments and wellness elderly care business. The Group adopted
HKFRS 15 to consider the revenue recognition. The management
required to make significant judgements and estimations. The
significance of the amount of revenue, the diversification of the
sources of revenue, and the extensive adoption of HKFRS 15 made

us identify revenue recognition as a key audit matter.
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (Continued)

How we addressed the key audit matter

A= EIE &

BRANEANARERAREASTE

Our procedures in relation to revenue recognition included:

- evaluating the design, implementation and operating
effectiveness of key internal controls over the existence,
accuracy and timing of revenue recognition;

- obtaining the ledgers and selecting samples to review
whether the management had made correct judgements
on identifying the contract, identifying single performance
obligation, determining the transaction price and other aspects.
Recalculating the accuracy of the progress of performance of
the contracts;

- selecting samples of the contracts and inspecting the original
contracts, evaluating whether the management had made
reasonable estimates on transaction price (estimated total
revenues), obtaining evidence to confirm the degree of
completion of related service and comparing with the progress
of performance recorded in the Group’s ledger.

We found that the amount and the timing of the revenue recorded
were supported by the available evidence.
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (Continued)

Accounting for interests in an associate

A= EIE &

RREFEE  MEARNEGZ G5 EIE

Refer to Note 20 to the consolidated financial statements.

The Group’s associate operate in the PRC. The Group’s share
of profit of an associate for the year ended 31 December 2022
and the Group’s interests in an associate at that date are
HK$4,727,000 (2021: HK$25,361,000) and HK$517,219,000 (2021:
HK$556,026,000) respectively, which are significant in the context of
the Group’s consolidated financial statements.

The financial information of an associate is prepared in accordance
with the prevailing accounting standards in the PRC which may differ
in certain respects from HKFRSs

Converting the financial information of these entities into HKFRSs
for the purpose of equity accounting involves management making
a number of manual adjustments some of which are complex in
nature.

We identified the accounting for interests in an associate in the
PRC as a key audit matter because of the material impact that
these entities have on the consolidated financial statements and
also because of the complex nature of certain adjustments made by
management which we consider increases the inherent risk of error.
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (Continued)

How we addressed the key audit matter

A= EIE &

BRANEANARERAREASTE

Our procedures to assess the accuracy of the accounting for
interests in an associate included:

- performing an audit of the consolidated financial statements of
the PRC based associate, Nanhai Changhai Power Company
Limited*, in accordance with the requirements of HKSAs;

- evaluating significant manual adjustments made in respect of
an associate to convert their financial information into HKFRSs
by comparing the adjustments to underlying documentation
or by re-performing the calculations on which the adjustments
were based; and

- assessing whether the financial information of an associate
after the adjustments made by management was prepared in
accordance with the Group’s accounting policies.

We found management’s accounting for an associate after the
adjustments is supportable and reasonable based on available
evidence.

* For identification purpose only
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (Continued)

Impairment assessment of goodwill

A= EIE &

BB R | mENHEN G

Refer to Note 19 to the consolidated financial statements.

On 24 August 2020, the Group had completed acquisition of an
additional 2% equity interest in Guangdong Tiannuo Investments
Co., Limited (“Tiannuo”) in accordance with the terms of acquisition
agreement. Upon completion of the acquisition, the shareholding
of the Group in Tiannuo will be changed from 49% to 51% and the
Group had control over Tiannuo.

Goodwill acquired through business combinations has been
allocated to the cash-generating units (the “CGUs”) of the subsidiary
acquired in the current year for impairment testing. Management is
required to assess at the end of each reporting period whether there
is any indicator that goodwill may be impaired.

How we addressed the key audit matter
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Our procedures in relation to impairment assessment on goodwill
included:

- Assessing management’s determination of the Group’s cash
generating units based on our understanding of the nature of
the business and the economic environment in which the cash
generating units operate.

- Based on our knowledge of the business and industry,
challenging the reasonableness of the underlying key
assumptions and data used in the cash flow forecasts
(including revenue growth rate, operating profit, and discount
rate used).

Based on our procedures described, we found the estimations
of management in relation to goodwill are supported by plausible
evidence.
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (Continued)

Valuation of financial assets at fair value through profit or loss
(“FVTPL”)

A= EIE @)

MBEAFE  RAAEHAREZE
MEENGE

Refer to Note 21 to the consolidated financial statements.

The Group has invested in certain financial assets at FVTPL with fair
value of HK$91,875,000 (2021: HK$63,055,000) as at 31 December
2022.

These investments were all measured at fair value using level 3
inputs which were not based on active market prices, nor based on
observable market data.

Management assessed and measured the fair value of FVTPL using
particular valuation techniques, with assistance from an external
appraisal firm. The valuation process was highly judgmental due
to its reliance on management’s assumptions such as discount
rate, volatility and probability weighting, liquidation and redemption
scenarios, etc.

The determination of the model adopted and key inputs required
management’s significant judgment or estimation. The prescribed
value of the FVTPL is significant to the financial statements. In view
of this we have identified this as a key audit matter.

CHINA INVESTMENTS HOLDINGS LIMITED v [ 8 3 £ B A B 23 ]
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Independent Auditor’s Report

KEY AUDIT MATTERS (Continued)

How we addressed the key audit matter

FARETEIE @

BRANEANARERAREASTE

Our procedures in relation to the valuation of financial assets at
FVTPL included:

- Understanding and evaluating the internal controls relating
to management’s model used, development of significant
assumptions and estimates, and major data inputs related to
the fair value measurement;

- Obtained the calculation of fair value estimation of financial
assets at FVTPL, evaluating the appropriateness of the model
used and testing the accuracy of the calculation;

- Evaluating the independent external appraisal firm’s
competence, capability and objectivity;

- Assessing the appropriateness of the methodologies and key
assumptions adopted by management including expected
revenue growth rates, expected profit margins, discounted
rates and volatility and reconciling the input data of expected
revenue growth rates and expected profit margins to
management’s forecast of future profits, strategic plans and
business data.

Based on available evidence we found management’s assumptions
in relation to the valuation are reasonable.
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Independent Auditor’s Report

OTHER INFORMATION

The directors (the “Directors”) of the Company are responsible
for the other information. The other information comprises the
information included in the annual report, but does not include the
consolidated financial statements and our auditor’s report thereon
(“Other information”).

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover
the other information and we do not express any form of assurance
conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements,
our responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so,
consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with
the consolidated financial statements or our knowledge obtained in
the audit or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If, based
on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material
misstatement of this other information, we are required to report that
fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS AND
THOSE CHARGED WITH GOVERNANCE
FOR THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

The Directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of
the consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view in
accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA and the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for such
internal control as the directors determine is necessary to enable the
preparation of consolidated financial statements that are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.
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Independent Auditor’s Report

RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS AND
THOSE CHARGED WITH GOVERNANCE
FOR THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS (continueqd)

In preparing, the consolidated financial statements, the directors are
responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue as a going
concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern
and using the going concern basis of accounting unless the directors
either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or have
no realistic alternative but to do so.

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the
Group’s financial reporting process.

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether
the consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue
an auditor’s report that includes our opinion solely to you, as a body,
in accordance with section 90 of the Bermuda Companies Act, and
for no other purpose. We do not assume responsibilities towards or
accept liabilities to any other person for the contents of this report.

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a
guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs will
always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements
can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if,
individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected
to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of
these consolidated financial statements.
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS (Continued)

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise
professional judgement and maintain professional skepticism
throughout the audit. We also:

- Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or
error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to
those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not
detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher
than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion,
forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the
override of internal control.

- Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the
audit in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate
in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an
opinion on the effectiveness of the Group’s internal control.

- Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used
and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and related
disclosure made by the directors.
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Independent Auditor’s Report

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS (Continued)

- Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the
going concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit
evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related
to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the
Group’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude
that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw
attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the
consolidated financial statements or, if such disclosures are
inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based
on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s
report. However, future events or conditions may cause the
Group to cease to continue as a going concern.

- Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the
consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures,
and whether the consolidated financial statements represent
the underlying transactions and events in a manner that
achieves fair presentation.

Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial
information of the entities or business activities within the Group to
express an opinion on the consolidated financial statements. We are
responsible for the direction, supervision and performance of the
group audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding,
among other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit
and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in
internal control that we identify during our audit.
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS (Continued)

We also provide those charged with governance with a statement
that we have complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding
independence, and to communicate with them all relationships
and other matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our
independence, and where applicable, related safeguards.

From the matters communicated with those charged with
governance, we determine those matters that were of most
significance in the audit of the consolidated financial statements
of the current period and are therefore the key audit matters.
We describe these matters in our auditor’s report unless law or
regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or when, in
extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter should not
be communicated in our report because the adverse consequences
of doing so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public
interest benefits of such communication.

HLM CPA Limited

Certified Public Accountants

Ng Fai Fiona

Practicing Certificate Number PO4986
Hong Kong, 30 March 2023
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HAth i s 2%
Consolidated Staterment of Profit or I oss and Other Comprehenswe Income

(E_E__"F+_HB=+—HIE For the year ended 31 December 2022

2022 2021
—_E=E_"__ —ET—F
NOTES HK$’000 HK$'000
B 5 BETT BT
Continuing operations TIRISE T ETE
Revenue A 6 767,632 520,846
Cost of sales and services tHE KR ARFE A A (477,590) (315,608)
Gross profit EH 290,042 205,238
Other operating income H &= WA 8 149,336 124,611
Selling and distribution costs HE RDHEES (11,732) (9,278)
Administrative expenses THFEZ (220,011) (200,244)
Share of profit of an associate FE(EE = A B B F 20 4,727 25,361
(Decrease)/increase in fair value of KEMEZ ARE
investment properties CRib) /180 17 (711) 16,679
Increase/(decrease) in fair value of financial st ABHE Z SRBEEZ
assets at fair value through profit or loss A &M, Cel L 21 39,907 (16,295)
Impairment loss on property held for sale & &Y% > FHEE L = (1,900)
Allowance for expected credit losses on  FhE TR & FEU R 2 FEHA
finance lease receivables EEREEE 25 (35,669) (9,847)
Finance costs M= 9 (131,447) (107,065)
Profit before taxation IR AT & T 84,442 27,260
Income tax expense TSR~ 10 (41,615) (16,382)
Profit for the year from continuing FEREZARTFERF]
operations 42,827 10,878
Discontinued operation BERIERE 7 #EK
(Loss)/profit for the year from discontinued B4R IE4&&& 2 #5352
operation AEE (B8 BF 1 (3 9
Profit for the year TEEREF 12 42,824 10,887
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SrerfB tm by HA 2 T i 2 5%
Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income

HE_Z__"HF+"_H=+—HIt Forthe year ended 31 December 2022

2022 2021
—_E=E_"__ —ET—F
NOTE HK$’000 HK$'000
B 5 AT T BT
Other comprehensive (expense)/ HEtzm X I
income, net of income tax o PRIf B
Items that will not be reclassified to profit T @EFFIEEIEwm 2
or loss: EH
(Deficit)/surplus on revaluation of hotel BIEYIEE M ORE)
properties /B (4,884) 111
Items that may be reclassified BIRE B 7B E R m 2
subsequently to profit or l0ss: EH
Exchange differences arising on MBI EBREE
translation of foreign operations Z OB A EE (187,623) 66,828
Share of exchange differences of an FEAL B A B I
associate =% 20 (43,534) 18,284
Other comprehensive (expense)/income  FEHM2®E %),/
for the year, net of income tax W g > APRFTIERR (236,041) 85,223
Total comprehensive (expense)/income EE2@E GIX) WG
for the year 4BzE (193,217) 96,110
Profit/(loss) for the year FERM (5B
attributable to: B
Owners of the Company KRBVEBR A (21,535) (15,500)
Non-controlling interests JEFERE R 64,359 26,387
42,824 10,887
Total comprehensive (expense)/ FE2E FAX) W=
income attributable to: R
Owners of the Company ZiN/NETEZF =N (176,294) 42,322
Non-controlling interests JEERER (16,923) 53,788
(193,217) 96,110
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Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income

BE_Z__F+_"_H=+—HI1t For the year ended 31 December 2022

2022 2021
NOTE HK$’000 HK$'000
B 5% BT BT
Loss per share SRE51E 16
From continuing and discontinued FERERBARIERE
operations EF3
Basic BN (HK1.26 cents) (HK0.91 cents)
(7 #1.2611) (& 150.911)
Diluted #E (HK1.26 cents) (HKO0.91 cents)
(#151.261L) (B #£0.911L)
From continuing operations FERE T ER
Basic =N (HK1.26 cents) (HK0.91 cents)
(F¥51.261L) (B1£0.9110)
Diluted e (HK1.26 cents) (HK0.91 cents)
(F#1.2611) (& 1£0.9111)
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position
NI _F+_"_H=+—H Asat 31 December 2022

134

2022 2021
—E_C T4
NOTES HK$’000 HK$’000
B 5E BT T BT 7T
Non-current assets EREEE
Investment properties SE=LY/ES 17 1,066,266 774,554
Property, plant and equipment ME--BRErRE 18 1,188,457 1,419,433
Goodwill EES 19 127,284 136,530
Interests in an associate =Nk i 20 517,219 556,026
Financial assets at fair value BAREBEFAEBRZSE
through profit or loss EE 21 91,875 8,187
Finance lease receivables MEEEEWR 25 2,884,042 2,453,338
Rental deposits MERE 5,668 5,855
Right-of-use assets FREEE 22 906,186 1,016,208
Deferred tax assets RERIBE E 32 15,132 7,014
Deductible value added tax RN ER 26 - 56,100
6,802,129 6,433,245
Current assets ﬁ@]ﬁé
Properties held for sale EYE 23 - 4,600
Inventories T'_ 5 24 8,769 9,900
Financial assets at fair value BARES AER
through profit or loss THEE 21 - 54,868
Finance lease receivables MEEEEWE 25 1,067,858 777,069
Trade and other receivables FE LAt BR = R EL fih FE U
FRIB 27 166,623 143,764
Pledged bank deposits BEIRIFRITER 28 24,956 349,418
Cash and bank balances IR & K IR1T4E R 28 999,250 526,837
2,267,456 1,866,456
Current liabilities RENBE
Trade and other payables JE {5 BR R B LA FE A
FRIB 29 215,913 175,787
Tax payables FEMNTIR & 27,384 21,893
Deferred tax liabilities RERIBEE(E 32 38,757 43,073
Deposits received from customers BEFREE 2,715 11,626
Lease liabilities HEaE 22 51,910 52,708
Borrowings (= 30 1,923,318 1,610,078
2,259,997 1,915,165
Net current assets/(liabilities) REBEE (AR FE 7,459 (48,709)
Total assets less current liabilities mEERREERE 6,809,588 6,384,536
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position
WIE-__F+"A=+—H Asat 31 December 2022

2022 2021
—=E-= =B
NOTES HK$’000 HK$’'000
B 5E BT BT
Capital and reserves B% s Re {4 4
Share capital (&N 33 171,233 171,233
Reserves ] 841,798 1,018,056
Equity attributable to owners TATHEE AELER
of the Company 1,013,031 1,189,289
Non-controlling interests JEIER S 36 1,079,754 1,003,167
Total equity g R 2,092,785 2,192,456
Non-current liabilities ETREEE
Borrowings B 30 3,167,523 2,626,041
Convertible notes AR ER 31 143,833 132,644
Deferred income i S Y 3 35 215,049 214,154
Deferred tax liabilities LR IBE(E 32 14,896 15,162
Deposits received from customers BWEFEE 164,778 120,999
Lease liabilities HEaR® 22 1,010,724 1,083,080
4,716,803 4,192,080
6,809,588 6,384,536

The consolidated financial statements on pages 131 to 309 were
approved and authorised for issue by the Board of Directors on 30

March 2023 and are signed on its behalf by:

HE XIANGMING
Al ER
Director

EF

FU WEIQIANG
SEEL

Director

EF

FI1G1EEFI9BZHFREEN =
T DEZRZtTHEESSHLEREET
BOoTHUTEERAREE

CHINA INVESTMENTS HOLDINGS LIMITED o [ B3 £ B A BR 2 6]
ANNUAL REPORT 2022 44

135



n‘7r (&) %A%Ebié

Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity

HE_Z -+ "B =+—HLILEE Forthe year ended 31 December 2022

Attributable to owners of the Company

FAREA ARk ER
Hotel
property Convertible Non-
Share Share  Statutory Other revaluation  Exchange notes equity ~ Capital ~ Retained controlling Total
capital premium® reserve® reserve® reserve®  reserve® reserve®  reserve® earnings Total interests equity
ik
BENE RERE

kE  RMEEN ZEARN HtHEN BEHEE" EREE  BE ESEE REEY @it FERED  EERE
HK$'000  HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000  HK$'000 HK$000 HK$'000 HKS'000 HK$'000 HK$'000  HKS$'000
ATn ANTn A%Tn AETrn EETn BNt BNt AETn ANTn AETn A%Tn AT

THE GROUP K£RF
At 1 January 2022 RZEZ"E-A-H 171,233 725,199 175,961 8,927 53,014 5,252 56,616 2,570 (9,483) 1,189,289 1,003,167 2,192,456
(Loss)/profit for the year REE (58) /B - - - - - - - - (21585 (21,535 64,359 42,824
Other comprehensive (expense)/ FEEMZE @R/
income for the year Wi
- Deficit on revaluation of hotel —BENEERHE
properties - - - - (4,884) - - - - (4,884) - (4,884)
- Release of revaluation reserve of  —BIEEER
hotel properties BERE - - - - (2,465 - - - 2,465 - - -
- Exchange differences arising on -REENEBREE
translation of foreign operations ZHNEER - - - - - (106,341) - - - (106,341)  (81,282) (187,629)
- Share of exchange differences of ~ —FE{SBEAF
an associate (Note 20) SMNEZE (HzR20) - - - - - (43,534) - - - (43,534 - (43534
Other comprehensive (expense)/ FEEMZE @R/
income! for the year W . - - - (739 (149875) . - 2465 (154759) (81,282 (236,041)
Total comprehensive (expense)/ FERRE R/
income for the year WA . - - - (739 (149875) . - (19070) (176294) (16928 (193:217)
Acquisition of a subsidiary WE-BNEAT - - - - - - - - - - 6,922 6,922
Capital injection from non-controlling ~ FEER R FE
interests - - - - - - - - - - 115402 115,402
Dividend paid to non-controlling HIFERERSAZRE
interests - - - - - - - - - - (28814)  (28,814)
Transfer 5 - - 2,332 - - 2,606 - (2,570) (2,332) 36 - 36
At 31 December 2022 RIEZZ
+ZB=+-H 171,233 725,199 178,293 8,927 45,665  (142,017) 56,616 - (30,885) 1,013,031 1,079,754 2,092,785
* [tem that will not be reclassified to profit or loss * TEEMPEEER2EE

A For the nature and purposes of reserves, please refer to Note 45 to the A MHEEZEEREN F2RAMBRERWE
financial statements. 450
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity

HE_Z-__F+"B=+—HLLEE Forthe year ended 31 December 2022

Attributable to owners of the Company

RARER bR
Hotel
property Convertible Non-
Share Share  Statutory Other revaluation  Exchange notes equity Capital  Retained controling Total
capital  premiumA  reserveM  reserve  reserve™™  reserve  reserveM  reserve®  earnings Total interests equity
EENE THREE
RE  RiVEEN AEABN EtEE BREHEEY ELHREBN REEE EXEE RBEN B EEREE  ERAE
HK$'000  HK$'000  HKS'000  HKS'000  HK$'000 HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000 HKE000 HK$'000  HK$'000  HKS'000
ARTn BEETn A¥Trn A¥Tn BTr  BTrn EETn B%Tn BT B¥Tn BETn EETx
THE GROUP sE@
At 1 January 2021 RZB--E-A-H 171,233 725199 163,374 8,927 55,364 (652,459) 56,616 - 16,143 1,144,397 843935 1,988,332
(Loss)/profit for the year REE (BB /B - - - - - - - - (155000 (155000 26,387 10,887
Other comprehensive (expense)/ EEEMEE B/
income for the year Wi
- Surplus on revaluation of hotel - BENESERE
properties - - - - 1 - - - - 111 - 111
- Release of revaluation reserve of  —TBIEEER
hotel properties GEED - - - - (2,461) - - - 2,461 - - -
- Exchange differences arisingon ~~ —#RE 5 £HEEL
translation of foreign operations NEER - - - - - 39,427 - - - 39427 27,401 66,828
- Share of exchange differences of ~ —[EfSBEAT
an associate (Note 20) SMEZE (Wzk20) - - - - - 18,284 - - - 18,284 - 18,284
Other comprehensive (expense)/ EEEMZE B/
income/ for the year W& - - - - (2,350) 57,711 - - 2,461 57,822 27,401 85,223
Total comprehensive (expense)/ EEERE R/
income for the year Dt - - - - (2,350) 57,711 - - (13,039) 42,322 53,788 96,110
Capital injection from non-controlling ~ FE&R R FE
interests - - - - - - - 2,570 - 2570 129,095 131,665
Dividend paid to non-controling BIFEREES RS
interests - - - - - - - - - - (23651  (28,651)
Transfer to statutory reserve ey N - - 12587 - - - - - (1258) - - -
At 31 December 2021 RIBZ-F
+-B=1+-H 171,233 725199 175,961 8,927 53,014 5,252 56,616 2,570 (9,483) 1,189,289 1,003,167 2,192,456
* [tem that will not be reclassified to profit or loss * TEEMPEEER BB

A

For the nature and purposes of reserves, please refer to Note 45 to the A

financial statements.

MHEEZEEREN F2RAMBRERWE
450
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Consolhidated Statement of Cash Flows

BE_Z__F+_"_H=+—HIEEE For the year ended 31 December 2022

2022 2021
=S BT £
NOTES HK$’000 HK$’000
B 5 BT BT
Operating activities KSR
Profit for the year KEERF 42,824 10,887
Adjustments for: LU TIEEEHAE
Bank interest income RITH E WA (10,966) (7,736)
Finance costs s W 131,447 107,065
Income tax expense Fri8fmE sz 10 41,615 16,382
Decrease/(increase) in fair value of KBEMEZ ANE
investment properties b () 17 711 (16,679)
(Increase)/decrease in fair value of FAERZEMEE
financial assets at fair value through ZARE EMm
profit or loss MRS (39,907) 16,295
Interest income from financial leasing KEREHEENFE
A 6 (229,180) (153,327)
Effective interest income from rental KEHEREZER
deposits FEUWA 8 (278) (271)
Share of profit of an associate FEEHE AT RF 20 (4,727) (25,361)
Net loss on disposal of property, plant HEVE BEX
and equipment Rt BIEFEE 12 3,098 8,999
Gain on disposal of financial assets at HERARERFTA
fair value through profit or loss BREMEEZ
Y 5 8 (3,922) -
Depreciation of property, plant and L EN Y=Y SE
equipment e 18 45,036 37,011
Depreciation of right-of-use assets FTREEERE 22 32,212 33,459
Dividend income from financial assets at @A AT AEE
fair value through profit or loss TEMEEZRE
PN 8 (580) (959)
Allowance for expected credit losses on  EWEEF 2 FTEHAE &
trade receivables B IEEE 27 276 499
Allowance for expected credit losses RS FARAEE
written back on trade receivables 518 55 > [ 27 = (5)
Allowance for expected credit losses on  BIEH SRR Z
finance lease receivables JEHREERIEHRE 25 35,669 9,847
Allowance for expected credit losses on  HfthFE UL IE > FEHA
other receivables EEEBEE 12 2,329 -
Impairment loss on properties FEYMEZBERKX
held for sale 12 - 1,900
Net exchange loss/(gain) EREL ()
RER 12 6,295 (389)

CHINA INVESTMENTS HOLDINGS LIMITED b 2 8L 3% £ B 45 BR 23 5]

ANNUAL REPORT 2022 4E#



OB ER
Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

BE_Z__F+_H=+—HIEEE For the year ended 31 December 2022

2022 2021
=S BT £
NOTES HK$’000 HK$’000
B 5 BT BT
Operating cash flow before movements in & EE & & Al 2 K&
working capital BERE 51,952 37,617
Decrease/(increase) in inventories BEERL (g 368 (4,388)
Decrease in properties held for sale FEMERD 4,600 -
Increase in rental deposits in respect of FREESEZHERS
right-of-use assets 10 - (2,650)
Increase in finance lease receivables R E RS E WIS 0 (1,037,645) (1,373,051)
Decrease/(increase) in trade and other FE AT BR 3 e L fih FE LU R
receivables L () 45,850 (34,876)
Increase in trade and other payables FE AT BR FR R ELfih & (T 78
TEIE N 14,072 64,268
Increase in deferred income 41 3IE WA 2 1 0 18,123 126,822
Increase in deposits received from B EFEEIEN
customers 34,868 54,285
Cash used in operations KEMHIRE (867,812) (1,131,973)
Interest income from financial leasing BEWREREREN
received FIB WA 236,900 159,849
PRC tax paid B RERE (44,712) (35,526)
Net cash used in operating activities & ;FHZIRERH
B (675,624) (1,007,650)
Investing activities KREES
Purchase of property, plant and equipment BEY) ¥ M E K &ZH 18 (277,676) (601,533)
Increase in time deposits with more than R EFEARZIEARBB=
three months to maturity when placed 8B 2z € HEFEIE N (139,652) -
Dividend received from financial assets at BUWIZA MBI AER
fair value through profit or loss JEMEEZ
i8S 8 580 959
Dividend received from an associate BUCREHRE AT Z
RE - 16,376
Net cash inflow of acquisition of a W EE—RFAE 2
subsidiary 4 H A 513 _
Proceeds from disposal of financial assets HEZANEF ABHE
at fair value through profit or loss ZEMEEZFIEN
I8 8,693 -
Uplift/(placement) of pledged bank EEFIRITTERIRER
deposits C3i9) 324,462 (323,950)
Interest received 2 B 10,966 7,736
Net proceeds from disposal of property,  HEYE -HEKZE
plant and equipment BIFTS I8 F 28 661 70
Net cash used in investing activities B&EFHNZHEAH
B (71,453) (900,342)
CHINA INVESTMENTS HOLDINGS LIVITED th BB #2117 24 ) 139
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OB ER
Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

BE_Z__F+_"_H=+—HIEEE For the year ended 31 December 2022

2022 2021
=S BT £
NOTES HK$’000 HK$’000
B 5 BT BT
Financing activities FLEEE
Capital injection from non-controlling JFERERTE
interests 115,402 131,665
Dividend paid to non-controlling interests A JEERER (TS (28,814) (23,651)
Payment of handling fee BENFEE (3,350) -
Payment of loan arrangement fee ENERZHE - (3,202)
Interest paid on borrowings B ERF B 28(b) (50,038) (31,933)
Interest paid on convertible notes BN ABREEENE 31 (3,325) (3,325)
Repayment of borrowings BEEMN 28(b) (2,382,794) (788,833)
Payments of lease liabilities HESEMIRIE 22 (38,168) (48,515)
Proceeds from borrowings BEMEMRIE 28(b) 3,532,239 2,380,354
Net cash generated from financing RBEEENZIRERA
activities B 1,141,152 1,612,560
Net increase/(decrease) in cash and bank IR& RIRITAERIEM,
balances CRZL) 358 394,075 (295,432)
Cash and bank balances at 1 January R—B—HBZREK
RIT4EER 526,837 798,263
Effect of foreign exchange rates changes [EXREH) > 2 & (61,314) 24,006
Cash and bank balances at BW+ZHB=+—HZ2ZR
31 December ERIBITHEER 859,598 526,837
Analysis of the balances of cash and R&KiRITERDTE
bank balances, being: LTIEEMARN :
Cash and bank balances RERVITEER 999,250 526,837
Less: Time deposits with maturity dates & : ZIEA R BB =@
over three months BZEHER (139,652) -
859,598 526,837
CHINA INVESTMENTS HOLDINGS LIMITED +f[8 B PR 77 B 43 1)
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
HE_Z-__F+"B=+—HLLEE Forthe year ended 31 December 2022

GENERAL

The Company is incorporated in Bermuda as an exempted
company with limited liability and its shares are listed on the
main board of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the
“Stock Exchange”). Its immediate holding company is Glories
Holdings (HK) Limited, which was incorporated in the Hong
Kong Special Administrative Region of the People’s Republic
of China (“Hong Kong”) and the ultimate holding company
is Guangdong Nanhai Holding Group Co., Limited (formerly
known as Guangdong Nanhai Holding Investment Co.,
Limited), which was incorporated in the People’s Republic of
China (“the PRC”). The addresses of the registered office and
principal place of business of the Company are disclosed in the
“Corporate Information” section of the annual report.

During the year, the principal activities of the Group are big
data business, civil explosives, property development and
investment, financial leasing, hotel operation, investment
holding and wellness elderly care business. The principal
activities of the Company and its subsidiaries (the “Group”) are
described in Note 41.

T-Box® business was discontinued on 1 July 2020. Details of
which are set out in Note 11.

Functional and presentation currency

ltems included in the financial statements of each of the
Group’s entities are measured using the currency of the primary
economic environment in which the entity operates (“the
functional currency”). The consolidated financial statements
are presented in Hong Kong dollars (“HK$”), which is the
Company’s functional and the Group’s presentation currency.

b

ARBIRBREAMAILIAERR
BERAR ERMNEBMERZE
[RAT (THEAZFR)) EfR EH-HE#R
ERAFDBNPEAARKENEERR
BIITH&E (T8 ) sEfa i 2 B &g %
(BB) BERABDKRARKERAT R
PR EARAME (THEL) 5 Mz
ZERmEBZERERARAT (FIHEE
RRBERREARAR) - A REHH
R3S RR K = 2 M BE R UL IS 4R
TRBE RN EMD IR EE -

NEERB AEBZ T BEXBE AR
BEB - ERABEFRER REHEE-
BERE - EXBERMEER -MER
B AREEZXEBREREER KA
BIREWB AR (TAEE) 2 EEZE
BEERMEE41

T-BOXCEHK TN _E-_ZTE+H—H
BIE- B IBEI M EE11 0

MEERZINEE

AERRNZERBNVBFREAMHEER
DREAZEREEMENIEZLEIR
BARERNER ((ThEEERK)) FTE 47
BMBRERTILUBE (T8 258
BAAERRNMEERREEENZE
G-
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
HE_Z -+ "B =+—HLILEE Forthe year ended 31 December 2022

APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED
HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”)

In the current year, the Group has applied the following

amendments to HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA which are or

have become effective for the Group’s financial year beginning

on 1 January 2022:

HKFRSs (Amendments) Annual Improvements to HKFRSs
2018-2020 cycle

HKFRS 3 (Amendments) Reference to the Conceptual
Framework

HKAS 16 (Amendments) Property, Plant and Equipment:
Proceeds before Intended Use

HKAS 37 (Amendments) Onerous Contracts — Cost of
Fulfilling a Contract

Accounting Guideline 5

(Revised)

Merger Accounting for Common
Control Combinations

The adoption of the revised HKFRSs has no material effect
on the Group’s financial performance and positions for the
current or prior accounting period. Accordingly, no prior period
adjustment is required.

CHINA INVESTMENTS HOLDINGS LIMITED v [ 8 3 £ B A B 23 ]
ANNUAL REPORT 2022 4E#
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APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED
HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”) (continued)

The Group has not early applied the following new and
amendments to HKFRSs that have been issued but are not
yet effective. The Directors of the Group anticipate that the
application of these new and amendments to HKFRSs will have
no material impact on the results and the financial position of
the Group.

HKFRS 10 and HKAS 28
(Amendments)

Sale or Contribution of Assets
between an Investor and
Associate or Joint Venture?®

HKFRS 16 (Amendments) Lease Liability in a Sale and
Leaseback?

HKFRS 17 Insurance Contracts and related
Amendments’

HKAS 1 (Amendments) Classification of Liabilities as
Current or Non-current and
Related Amendments to
Hong Kong Interpretation 5
(2020)?

HKAS 1 (Amendments) Non-current Liabilities with
Covenants?

HKAS 1 (Amendments)
and HKFRS Practice
Statement 2

HKAS 8 (Amendments)

Disclosure of Accounting Policies!

Definition of Accounting
Estimates’

HKAS 12 (Amendments) Deferred Tax related to Assets and
Liabilities arising from a Single

Transaction'

e A5 AR B e

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
HE_Z-__F+"B=+—HLLEE Forthe year ended 31 December 2022

FE R #hs] R AR5 B BRI 55
HEEA ((ERMBHREE

I

) @

EETERREFHRMUTERBERR
EROMET REEITERYH RS2

e
4 {5

AEEEERE - EALEHITR
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EBZEERVBRIEREFEKR

B2 488
=

ERPBREENSEI0% REELEARELE

KREBG TR F285E

FEEREZRE

(CE) WEEHE
HEAS
EEMBREENEI6% ERMEDAEAR®
(CE)
EBUBREER RIBEH RAAREST
E179
BEBGHERE1R HEBEDEAREBN
(CH) FERBREBR
T 555 2 HERIME
(B
ERGHERE1R Mi#E R IER
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e A5 AR B

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
HE_Z -+ "B =+—HLILEE Forthe year ended 31 December 2022

APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED
HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”) (continued)

! Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January

2023.

2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January
2024.

3 Effective date to be determined.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Statement of compliance

These consolidated financial statements have been prepared in
accordance with all applicable Hong Kong Financial Reporting
Standards (“HKFRSs”), the collective term which includes
all applicable individual Hong Kong Financial Reporting
Standards, Hong Kong Accounting Standards (“HKASs”) and
Interpretations issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified
Public Accountants (“HKICPA”). In addition, the consolidated
financial statements include applicable disclosures required
by the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities (the “Listing
Rules”) on the Stock Exchange and by the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance (“CO”").

Basis of preparation

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared on
the historical cost basis except for certain properties, financial
instruments that are measured at fair values and assets held
for sales that are measured at fair value less costs to sell as
explained in the accounting policies below. Historical cost are
generally based on the fair value of the consideration given in
exchange for assets.

CHINA INVESTMENTS HOLDINGS LIMITED v [ 8 3 £ B A B 23 ]
ANNUAL REPORT 2022 4E#

FER T REEIE:TE BT
REER (IEEMBRGE
A1) )

! RIZEZ=F—-—A—BxZBRRN
FEHRBEN-

2 RIZZMFE-—B—BHZ2BRRN
FEHRBEN-

s HWRFET 2 B

EEGHER
HREH

REMBRERNDBEBESESMAE
(TEBGEEIAE)) MBZFAEER
BERAUBREERN ((EBMBREE
Al BEMBEBEAZERNEBYHR
SEABBEHERRFIEER UL
SR EMBREREAMIAES L
mRA (TEMRA) REBREEA
(TABMEG) RMEMNBRKEEE-

REMBRROCEELMEERERR
HETHMEREMIENAABHE
BRoN > 0 FE AT P 8 2 & 5t R R #E
BeEEMA—RIBBEEBEBEERGH
WREBZAREFTE-



e A5 AR B e

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
HE_Z-__F+"B=+—HLLEE Forthe year ended 31 December 2022

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Fair Value

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset
or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between
market participants at the measurement date, regardless of
whether that price is directly observable or estimated using
another valuation technique. In estimating the fair value
of an asset or a liability, the Group takes into account the
characteristics of the asset or liability if market participants
would take those characteristics into account when pricing
the asset or liability at the measurement date. Fair value for
measurement and/or disclosure purposes in these consolidated
financial statements is determined on such a basis, except for
share-based payment transactions that are within the scope of
HKFRS 2 Share-based Payment, leasing transactions that are
within the scope of HKFRS 16 Leases, and measurements that
have some similarities to fair value but are not fair value, such
as net realisable value in HKAS 2 Inventories or value in use in
HKAS 36 /Impairment of Assets.

A fair value measurement of a non-financial asset takes into
account a market participant’s ability to generate economic
benefits by using the asset in its highest and best use or by
selling it to another market participant that would use the asset
in its highest and best use.

For financial instruments and investment properties which
are transacted at fair value and a valuation technique that
unobservable inputs is to be used to measure fair value in
subsequent periods, the valuation technique is calibrated so
that at initial recognition the results of the valuation technique
equals the transaction price.

3.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

B

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Fair Value (Continued)

In addition, for financial reporting purposes, fair value
measurements are categorised into Level 1, 2 or 3 based on
the degree to which the inputs to the fair value measurements
are observable and the significance of the inputs to the fair
value measurement in its entirety, which are described as
follows:

o Level 1 inputs are quoted prices (unadjusted) in active
markets for identical assets or liabilities that the entity can
access at the measurement date;

° Level 2 inputs are inputs, other than quoted prices
included within Level 1, that are observable for the asset
or liability, either directly or indirectly; and

o Level 3 inputs are unobservable inputs for the asset or
liability.

Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements incorporate the financial

statements of the Company and entities (including structured

entities) controlled by the Company and its subsidiaries.

Control is achieved when the Company:

° has power over the investee;

o is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its
involvement with the investee; and

o has the ability to use its power to affect its returns.

The Group reassesses whether or not it controls an investee if

facts and circumstances indicate that there are changes to one
or more of the three elements of control listed above.

CHINA INVESTMENTS HOLDINGS LIMITED v [ 8 3 £ B A B 23 ]
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
HE_Z-__F+"B=+—HLLEE Forthe year ended 31 December 2022

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Basis of consolidation (Continued)

When the Group has less than a majority of the voting rights
of an investee, it has power over the investee when the voting
rights are sufficient to give it the practical ability to direct
the relevant activities of the investee unilaterally. The Group
considers all relevant facts and circumstances in assessing
whether or not the Group’s voting rights in an investee are
sufficient to give it power, including:

° the size of the Group’s holding of voting rights relative
to the size and dispersion of holdings of the other vote
holders;

° potential voting rights held by the Group, other vote
holders or other parties;

° rights arising from other contractual arrangements; and

o any additional facts and circumstances that indicate that
the Group has, or does not have, the current ability to
direct the relevant activities at the time that decisions
need to be made, including voting patterns at previous
shareholders’ meetings.

Consolidation of a subsidiary begins when the Group obtains
control over the subsidiary and ceases when the Group loses
control of the subsidiary. Specifically, income and expenses
of a subsidiary acquired or disposed of during the year are
included in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and
other comprehensive income from the date the Group gains
control until the date when the Group ceases to control the
subsidiary.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

B

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Basis of consolidation (Continued)

Profit or loss and each item of other comprehensive income
are attributed to the owners of the Company and to the
non-controlling interests. Total comprehensive income of
subsidiaries is attributed to the owners of the Company and
to the non-controlling interests even if this results in the
noncontrolling interests having a deficit balance.

Where necessary, adjustments are made to the financial
statements of subsidiaries to bring their accounting policies to
be in line with those used by other members of the Group.

All intra-group transactions, balances, income and expenses
have been eliminated on consolidation.

Non-controlling interests in subsidiaries are presented
separately from the Group’s equity therein, which represent
present ownership interests entitling their holders to a
proportionate share of net assets of the relevant subsidiaries
upon liguidation.

CHINA INVESTMENTS HOLDINGS LIMITED v [ 8 3 £ B A B 23 ]
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
HE_Z-__F+"B=+—HLLEE Forthe year ended 31 December 2022

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Changes in the Group’s interests in existing subsidiaries

Changes in the Group’s interests in subsidiaries that do not
result in the Group losing control over the subsidiaries are
accounted for as equity transactions. The carrying amounts
of the Group’s relevant components of equity and the
noncontrolling interests are adjusted to reflect the changes in
their relative interests in the subsidiaries, including re-attribution
of relevant reserves between the Group and the non-controlling
interests according to the Group’s and the non-controlling
interests’ proportionate interests.

Any difference between the amount by which the noncontrolling
interests are adjusted, and the fair value of the consideration
paid or received is recognised directly in equity and attributed
to owners of the Company.

When the Group loses control of a subsidiary, the assets and
liabilities of that subsidiary and non-controlling interests (if any)
are derecognised. A gain or loss is recognised in profit or loss
and is calculated as the difference between (i) the aggregate of
the fair value of the consideration received and the fair value of
any retained interest and (ii) the carrying amount of the assets
(including goodwill), and liabilities of the subsidiary attributable
to the owners of the Company. All amounts previously
recognised in other comprehensive income in relation to that
subsidiary are accounted for as if the Group had directly
disposed of the related assets or liabilities of the subsidiary (i.e.
reclassified to profit or loss or transferred to another category
of equity as specified/permitted by applicable HKFRSs). The
fair value of any investment retained in the former subsidiary
at the date when control is lost is regarded as the fair value
on initial recognition for subsequent accounting under HKFRS
9 Financial Instruments or, when applicable, the cost on initial
recognition of an investment in an associate or a joint venture.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

B

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Business combination

Acquisition of business, other than business combination
under common control, are accounted for using the acquisition
method. The consideration transferred in a business
combination is measured at fair value, which is calculated
as the sum of the acquisition-date fair values of the assets
transferred by the Group, liabilities incurred by the Group to
the former owners of the acquiree and the equity interests
issued by the Group in exchange for control of the acquiree.
Acquisition-related costs are generally recognised in profit or
loss as incurred.

At the acquisition date, the identifiable assets acquired and
the liabilities assumed are recognised at their fair value, except
that:

° deferred tax assets or liabilities, and assets or liabilities
related to employee benefit arrangements are recognised
and measured in accordance with HKAS 12 /ncome
Taxes and HKAS 19 Employee Benefits respectively;

o liabilities or equity instruments related to share-based
payment arrangements of the acquiree or share-based
payment arrangements of the Group entered into to
replace share-based payment arrangements of the
acquiree are measured in accordance with HKFRS 2
Share-based Payment at the acquisition date;

° assets (or disposal groups) that are classified as held for
sale in accordance with HKFRS 5 Non-current Assets
Held for Sale and Discontinued Operations are measured
in accordance with that standard; and
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
HE_Z-__F+"B=+—HLLEE Forthe year ended 31 December 2022

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Business combination (Continued)

o lease liabilities are recognised and measured at the
present value of the remaining lease payments (as defined
in HKFRS 16 Leases) as if the acquired leases were
new leases at the acquisition date, except for leases for
which (a) the lease term ends within 12 months of the
acquisition date; or (b) the underlying asset is of low
value. Right-of-use assets are recognised and measured
at the same amount as the relevant lease liabilities,
adjusted to reflect favourable or unfavourable terms of the
lease when compared with market terms.

Goodwill is measured as the excess of the sum of the
consideration transferred, the amount of any non-controlling
interests in the acquiree, and the fair value if the acquirer’s
previously held equity interest in the acquiree (if any) over the
net amount of the acquisition-date amounts of the identifiable
assets acquired and the liabilities assumed as at acquisition
date. If, after the reassessment, the net of the acquisition-
date amounts of the identifiable assets acquired and liabilities
assumed exceeds the sum of the consideration transferred,
the amount of any non-controlling interests in the acquiree and
the fair value of the acquirer’s previously held interest in the
acquiree (if any), the excess is recognised immediately in profit
or loss as a bargain purchase gain.

Non-controlling interests that are present ownership interests
and entitle their holders to a proportionate share of the relevant
subsidiary’s net assets in the event of liquidation may be
initially measured either at fair value or at the non-controlling
interest’s proportionate share of the recognised amounts of the
acquiree’s identifiable net assets. The choice of measurement
basis is made on a transaction-by-transaction basis. Other
types of non-controlling interests are measured at fair value.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

B

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Business combination (Continued)

When the consideration transferred by the Group in a business
combination includes a contingent consideration arrangement,
the contingent consideration is measured at its acquisition-
date fair value and included as part of the consideration
transferred in a business combination. Changes in the fair value
of the contingent consideration that qualify as measurement
period adjustments are adjusted retrospectively. Measurement
period adjustments are adjustments that arise from additional
information obtained during the “measurement period” (which
cannot exceed one year from the acquisition date) about facts
and circumstances that existed at the acquisition date.

The subsequent accounting for the contingent consideration
that do not qualify as measurement period adjustments
depends on how the contingent consideration is classified.
Contingent consideration that is classified as equity is not
remeasured at subsequent reporting dates and its subsequent
settlement is accounted for within equity. Contingent
consideration that is classified as an asset or a liability is
remeasured to fair value at subsequent reporting dates with the
corresponding gain or loss being recognised in profit or loss.

When a business combination is achieved in stages, the
Group’s previously held equity interest in the acquiree is
remeasured to its acquisition-date fair value and the resulting
gain or loss, if any, is recognised in profit or loss or other
comprehensive income, as appropriate. Amounts arising from
the interests in the acquiree prior to the acquisition date that
have previously been recognised in other comprehensive
income and measured under HKFRS 9 Financial Instruments/
HKAS 39 Financial Instruments would be accounted for on the
same basis as would be required if the Group had disposed
directly of the previously held equity interest.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
HE_Z-__F+"B=+—HLLEE Forthe year ended 31 December 2022

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Business combination (Continued)

If the initial accounting for a business combination is
incomplete by the end of the reporting period in which the
combination occurs, the Group reports provisional amounts
for the items for which the accounting is incomplete. Those
provisional amounts are adjusted retrospectively during the
measurement period, or additional assets or liabilities are
recognised, to reflect new information obtained about facts
and circumstances that existed at the acquisition date that, if
known, would have affected the amounts recognised at that
date.

Investments in subsidiaries

Investments in subsidiaries are included in the Company’s
statement of financial position at cost less any identified
impairment loss.

Goodwill

Goodwill arising on an acquisition of a business is carried at
cost as established at the date of acquisition of the business
less accumulated impairment losses, if any.

For purposes of impairment testing, goodwill is allocated to
each of the Group’s cash generating units (or group of cash-
generating units) that is expected to benefit from the synergies
of the combination, which represent the lowest level at which
the goodwill is monitored for internal management purposes
and not larger than an operating segment.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

B

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Goodwill (Continueq)

A cash-generating unit (or group of cash-generating units) to
which goodwill has been allocated is tested for impairment
annually or more frequently when there is indication that the
unit may be impaired. For goodwill arising on an acquisition
in a reporting period, the cash-generating unit (or group of
cash-generating units) to which goodwill has been allocated is
tested for impairment before the end of that reporting period.
If the recoverable amount is less than its carrying amount, the
impairment loss is allocated first to reduce the carrying amount
of any goodwill and then to the other assets on a pro-rata
basis based on the carrying amount of each asset in the unit
(or group of cash-generating units). Any impairment loss for
goodwill is recognised directly in profit or loss. An impairment
loss recognised for goodwill is not reversed in subsequent
periods.

On disposal of the relevant cash-generating unit or any of
the cash-generating unit within the group of cash-generating
units, the attributable amount of goodwill is included in the
determination of the amount of profit or loss on disposal.
When the Group disposes of an operation within the cash-
generating unit (or a cash-generating unit within a group of
cash-generating units), the amount of goodwill disposed of is
measured on the basis of the relative values of the operation
(or the cash-generating unit) disposed of and the portion of the
cash-generating unit (or the group of cash-generating units)
retained.

The Group’s policy for goodwill is described in note 19.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
HE_Z-__F+"B=+—HLLEE Forthe year ended 31 December 2022

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Investments in an associate

An associate is an entity over which the Group has significant
influence. Significant influence is the power to participate in the
financial and operating policy decisions of the investee but is
not control over those policies.

The results and assets and liabilities of an associates is
incorporated in these consolidated financial statements using
the equity method of accounting, except when the investment,
or a portion thereof, is classified as held for sale, in which case
it is or the portion so classified is accounted for in accordance
with HKFRS 5 Non-current Assets Held for Sale and
Discontinued Operations. Any retained portion of an investment
in an associate that has not been classified as held for sale
continues to be accounted for using the equity method. The
financial statements of an associate used for equity accounting
purposes are prepared using uniform accounting policies as
those of the Group for like transactions and events in similar
circumstances. Under the equity method, an investment in an
associate is initially recognised in the consolidated statement of
financial position at cost and adjusted thereafter to recognise
the Group’s share of the profit or loss and other comprehensive
income of the associate.

When the Group’s share of losses in an associate equals
or exceeds its interest in an associate, including any other
unsecured receivables, the Group does not recognise further
losses, unless it has incurred legal or constructive obligations
or made payments on behalf of the associate.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

B

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Investments in an associate (Continued)

An investment in an associate is accounted for using the equity
method from the date on which the investee becomes an
associate. On acquisition of the investment in an associate, any
excess of the cost of the investment over the Group’s share of
the net fair value of the identifiable assets and liabilities of the
investee is recognised as goodwill, which is included within
the carrying amount of the investment. Any excess of the
Group’s share of the net fair value of the identifiable assets and
liabilities over the cost of the investment, after reassessment, is
recognised immediately in profit or loss in the period in which
the investment is acquired.

The Group assesses whether there is an objective evidence
that the interest in an associate may be impaired. When any
objective evidence exists, the entire carrying amount of the
investment (including goodwill) is tested for impairment in
accordance with HKAS 36 Impairment of Assets as a single
asset by comparing its recoverable amount (higher of value in
use and fair value less costs to sell) with its carrying amount,
Any impairment loss recognised forms part of the carrying
amount of the investment. Any reversal of that impairment
loss is recognised in accordance with HKAS 36 to the extent
that the recoverable amount of the investment subsequently
increases.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
HE_Z-__F+"B=+—HLLEE Forthe year ended 31 December 2022

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Investments an associate (Continued)

When the Group ceases to have significant influence over an
associate, it is accounted for as a disposal of the entire interest
in the investee with a resulting gain or loss being recognised
in profit or loss. When the Group retains an interest in the
former associate and the retained interest is a financial asset,
the Group measures the retained interest at fair value at that
date and the fair value is regarded as its fair value on initial
recognition within the scope of HKFRS 9 Financial Instruments/
HKAS 39 Financial Instruments. The difference between the
carrying amount of the associate at the date the equity method
was discontinued, and the fair value of any retained interest
and any proceeds from disposing the relevant interest in the
associate is included in the determination of the gain or loss
on disposal of the associate. In addition, the Group accounts
for all amounts previously recognised in other comprehensive
income in relation to that associate on the same basis as
would be required if that associate had directly disposed of
the related assets or liabilities. Therefore, if a gain or loss
previously recognised in other comprehensive income by that
associate would be reclassified to profit or loss on the disposal
of the related assets or liabilities, the Group reclassifies the
gain or loss from equity to profit or loss (as a reclassification
adjustment) when the equity method is discontinued.

When the Group reduces its ownership interest in an associate
but the Group continues to use the equity method, the Group
reclassifies to profit or loss the proportion of the gain or loss
that had previously been recognised in other comprehensive
income relating to that reduction in ownership interest if that
gain or loss would be reclassified to profit or loss on the
disposal of the related assets or liabilities.

When a group entity transacts with an associate of the
Group (such as a sale or contribution of assets), profits and
losses resulting from the transactions with the associate are
recognised in the Group’s consolidated financial statements
only to the extent of the interests in the associate that are not
related to the Group.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

B

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Investment properties

Investment properties are properties held to earn rentals and/or
for capital appreciation (including property under construction
for such purposes). Investment properties are measured initially
at cost, including transaction costs. Subsequent to initial
recognition, investment properties are measured at fair value.
Gains and losses arising from changes in the fair value of
investment properties are included in profit or loss in the period
in which they arise.

An investment property is derecognised upon disposal or
when the investment property is permanently withdrawn
from use and no future economic benefits are expected from
the disposal. Any gain or loss arising on derecognition of
the property (calculated as the difference between the net
disposal proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset) is
included in profit or loss in the period in which the property is
derecognised.

Property, plant and equipment

i. Hotel properties

Hotel properties are stated at revalued amounts, being
fair value at the date of revaluation less subsequent
accumulated depreciation and any subsequent
impairment loss. Fair value is determined with reference
to appraisals by external professional valuers with
sufficient regularity to ensure that the carrying amount
does not differ materially from that which would be
determined using fair value at the end of the reporting
period. Any accumulated depreciation at the date of
revaluation is eliminated against the gross carrying
amount of the asset and the net amount is restated to
the revalued amount of the asset. All other property,
plant and equipment are stated at acquisition cost less
accumulated depreciation and accumulated impairment
loss.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
HE_Z-__F+"B=+—HLLEE Forthe year ended 31 December 2022

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Property, plant and equipment (Continued)

i.

ii.

Hotel properties (Continued)

Any surplus arising on revaluation of hotel properties
are recognised in other comprehensive income and
are accumulated in the properties revaluation reserve
in equity, unless the carrying amount of that asset has
previously suffered a revaluation decrease or impairment
loss. To the extent that any decrease has previously
been recognised in profit or loss, a revaluation increase
is credited to profit or loss with the remaining part of
the increase dealt with in other comprehensive income.
A decrease in net carrying amount of hotel properties
arising on revaluations or impairment testing is recognised
in other comprehensive income to the extent of the
revaluation surplus in the properties revaluation reserve
relating to the same asset and the remaining decrease is
recognised in profit or loss.

Property, plant and equipment (other than Hotel
properties)

Property, plant and equipment (other than hotel
properties) are stated at cost less subsequent
accumulated depreciation and accumulated impairment
losses.

Depreciation is provided to write off the cost of items
of property, plant and equipment (other than hotel
properties) over their estimated useful lives and after
taking into account their estimated residual value, using
the straight-line method, at the following rates per
annum:

2% to 10%
10% to 30%

Land and buildings

Furniture, equipment and leasehold
improvements

10% to 30%

15% to 30%

Plant and machinery
Motor vehicles
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Property, plant and equipment (Continued)

ii.

Construction in progress

Construction in progress represents property, plant and
equipment in the course of construction for production or
for own use purposes. Construction in progress is carried
at cost less any recognised impairment loss. Construction
in progress is classified to the appropriate category of
property, plant and equipment when it is completed and
ready for intended use. Depreciation of these assets, on
the same basis as other property assets, commences
when the assets are ready for their intended use.

The gain or loss arising on the disposal or retirement of
an asset is determined as the difference between the sale
proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset and is
recognised in the profit and loss.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
HE_Z-__F+"B=+—HLLEE Forthe year ended 31 December 2022

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Impairment of tangible and right-of-use assets other than
goodwill

At the end of each reporting period, the Group reviews the
carrying amounts of its tangible and right-of-use assets to
determine whether there is any indication that these assets
have suffered an impairment loss. If any such indication exists,
the recoverable amount of the asset is estimated in order to
determine the extent of the impairment loss. When it is not
possible to estimate the recoverable amount of an individual
asset, the Group estimates the recoverable amount of the
cash-generating unit to which the asset belongs. When a
reasonable and consistent basis of allocation can be identified,
corporate assets are also allocated to individual cash-
generating units, or otherwise they are allocated to the smallest
group of cash-generating units for which a reasonable and
consistent allocation basis can be identified.

Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less costs
of disposal and value in use. In assessing value in use, the
estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present
value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market
assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific
to the asset for which the estimates of future cash flows have

not been adjusted.

If the recoverable amount of an asset is estimated to be less
than its carrying amount, the carrying amount of the asset
is reduced to its recoverable amount. An impairment loss is
recognised immediately in profit or loss.

Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the carrying
amount of the asset is increased to the revised estimate of
its recoverable amount, but so that the increased carrying
amount does not exceed the carrying amount that would have
been determined had no impairment loss been recognised for
the asset in prior years. A reversal of an impairment loss is
recognised immediately in profit or loss.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

B

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Properties held for sale

Properties held for sale are stated at the lower of cost and net
realisable value.

Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable
value. Costs of inventories are determined on weighted average
method. Net realisable value represents the estimated selling
price for inventories less all estimated costs of completion and
costs necessary to make the sale.

Financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised when a
group entity becomes a party to the contractual provisions of
the instrument. All regular way purchases or sales of financial
assets are recognised and derecognised on a trade date basis.
Regular way purchases or sales are purchases or sales of
financial assets that require delivery of assets within the time
frame established by regulation or convention in the market
place.

Financial assets and financial liabilities are initially measured at
fair value except for trade receivables arising from contracts
with customers which are initially measured in accordance
with HKFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers.
Transaction costs that are directly attributable to the acquisition
or issue of financial assets and financial liabilities (other than
financial assets or financial liabilities at fair value through profit
or loss (“FVTPL”) are added to or deducted from the fair value
of the financial assets or financial liabilities, as appropriate,
on initial recognition. Transaction costs that are directly
attributable to the acquisition of financial assets and financial
liabilities at FVTPL are recognised immediately in profit or loss.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
HE_Z-__F+"B=+—HLLEE Forthe year ended 31 December 2022

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

The effective interest method is a method of calculating the
amortised cost of a financial asset or financial liability and
of allocating interest income and interest expense over the
relevant period. The effective interest rate is the rate that
exactly discounts estimated future cash receipts and payments
(including all fees and points paid or received that form an
integral part of the effective interest rate, transaction costs
and other premiums or discounts) through the expected life of
the financial asset or financial liability, or, where appropriate, a
shorter period, to the net carrying amount on initial recognition.

Interest income which are derived from the Group’s ordinary
course of business are presented as revenue.

Financial assets

Classification and subsequent measurement of financial assets

Financial assets that meet the following conditions are
subsequently measured at amortised cost:

o the financial asset is held within a business model whose
objective is to collect contractual cash flows; and

o the contractual terms give rise on specified dates to cash
flows that are solely payments of principal and interest on
the principal amount outstanding.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 3. EETHEER &

(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continueqd)

Classification and subsequent measurement of financial assets
(Continued)

Financial assets that meet the following conditions
are subsequently measured at fair value through other
comprehensive income (“FVTOCI”):

° the financial asset is held within a business model whose
objective is achieved by both collecting contractual cash
flows and selling; and

° the contractual terms give rise on specified dates to cash
flows that are solely payments of principal and interest on
the principal amount outstanding.

All other financial assets are subsequently measured at FVTPL,
except that at the date of initial application/initial recognition
of a financial asset the Group may irrevocably elect to present
subsequent changes in fair value of an equity investment in
other comprehensive income if that equity investment is neither
held for trading nor contingent consideration recognised by an
acquirer in a business combination to which HKFRS 3 Business
Combinations applies.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
HE_Z-__F+"B=+—HLLEE Forthe year ended 31 December 2022

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 3.

(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Classification and subsequent measurement of financial assets
(Continued)

A financial asset is held for trading if:

o it has been acquired principally for the purpose of selling
in the near term; or

° on initial recognition it is a part of a portfolio of identified
financial instruments that the Group manages together
and has a recent actual pattern of short-term profit-
taking; or

° it is a derivative that is not designated and effective as a
hedging instrument.

Amortised cost and interest income

Interest income is recognised using the effective interest
method for financial assets measured subsequently
at amortised cost and debt instruments/receivables
subsequently measured at FVTOCI. Interest income
is calculated by applying the effective interest rate to
the gross carrying amount of a financial asset, except
for financial assets that have subsequently become
creditimpaired (see below). For financial assets that have
subsequently become credit-impaired, interest income
is recognised by applying the effective interest rate to
the amortised cost of the financial asset from the next
reporting period. If the credit risk on the credit-impaired
financial instrument improves so that the financial asset is
no longer credit-impaired, interest income is recognised
by applying the effective interest rate to the gross carrying
amount of the financial asset from the beginning of the
reporting period following the determination that the asset
is no longer credit impaired.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 3. EETHEER &

(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Classification and subsequent measurement of financial assets
(Continued)

ii. Financial assets at FVTPL

Financial assets that do not meet the criteria for being
measured at amortised cost or FVTOCI or designated as
FVTOCI are measured at FVTPL.

Financial assets at FVTPL are measured at fair value at
the end of each reporting period, with any fair value gains
or losses recognised in profit or loss. The net gain or loss
recognised in profit or loss excludes any interest earned
on the financial asset.

Impairment of financial assets

The Group performs impairment assessment under expected
credit loss (“ECL”) model on financial assets (including trade
receivables and finance lease receivables) which are subject to
impairment under HKFRS 9 Financial Instruments. The amount
of ECL is updated at each reporting date to reflect changes in
credit risk since initial recognition.

Lifetime ECL represents the ECL that will result from all
possible default events over the expected life of the relevant
instrument. In contrast, twelve-month ECL represents the
portion of lifetime ECL that is expected to result from default
events that are possible within 12 months after the reporting
date. Assessment are done based on the Group’s historical
credit loss experience, adjusted for factors that are specific to
the debtors, general economic conditions and an assessment
of both the current conditions at the reporting date as well as
the forecast of future conditions.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
HE_Z-__F+"B=+—HLLEE Forthe year ended 31 December 2022

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)
Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

The Group always recognises lifetime ECL for trade receivables
and finance lease receivables. The ECL on these assets are
assessed individually for debtors with significant balances
and/or collectively using a provision matrix with appropriate
groupings.

For all other instruments, the Group measures the loss
allowance equal to twelve-month ECL, unless when there has
been a significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition,
the Group recognises lifetime ECL. The assessment of whether
lifetime ECL should be recognised is based on significant
increases in the likelihood or risk of a default occurring since
initial recognition.

According to the changes of credit risk of financial instruments
since the initial recognition, the Group calculates the ECL by
three stages:

° Stage 1: The financial instruments without significant
increases in credit risk after initial recognition are included
in Stage 1 to calculate their impairment allowance at an
amount equivalent to the ECL of the financial instruments
for the next 12 months;

° Stage 2: Financial instruments that have had a significant
increase in credit risk since initial recognition but have no
objective evidence of impairment are included in Stage 2,
with their impairment allowance measured at an amount
equivalent to the ECL over the lifetime of the financial
instruments;

° Stage 3: Financial assets with objective evidence of
impairment at the financial reporting date are included
in Stage 3, with their impairment allowance measured at
the amount equivalent to the ECL over the lifetime of the
financial instruments.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
HE_Z -+ "B =+—HLILEE Forthe year ended 31 December 2022

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continueqd)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

Significant increase in credit risk

In assessing whether the credit risk has increased
significantly since initial recognition, the Group compares
the risk of a default occurring on the financial instrument
as at the reporting date with the risk of a default
occurring on the financial instrument as at the date of
initial recognition. In making this assessment, the Group
considers both quantitative and qualitative information
that is reasonable and supportable, including historical
experience and forward-looking information that is
available without undue cost or effort.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
HE_Z-__F+"B=+—HLLEE Forthe year ended 31 December 2022

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continueqd)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

Significant increase in credit risk (Continued)

In particular, the following information is taken into
account when assessing whether credit risk has
increased significantly.

- an actual or expected significant deterioration in the
financial instrument’s external (if available) or internal
credit rating;

- significant deterioration in external market indicators
of credit risk, e.g. a significant increase in the
credit spread, the credit default swap prices for the
debtor;

- existing or forecast adverse changes in business,
financial or economic conditions that are expected
to cause a significant decrease in the debtor’s ability
to meet its debt obligations;

- an actual or expected significant deterioration in the
operating results of the debtor;

- an actual or expected significant adverse change
in the regulatory, economic, or technological
environment of the debtor that results in a significant
decrease in the debtor’s ability to meet its debt
obligations.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 3. EEGFEE @
(Continued)
Financial instruments (Continued) ERMIA =
Financial assets (Continued) THEE (B
Impairment of financial assets (Continued) THEERE (&

Significant increase in credit risk (Continued)

Irrespective of the outcome of the above assessment,
the Group presumes that the credit risk has increased
significantly since initial recognition when contractual
payments are more than 90 days past due, unless the
Group has reasonable and supportable information that
demonstrates otherwise.

Despite the aforegoing, the Group assumes that the
credit risk on a debt instrument has not increased
significantly since initial recognition if the debt instrument
is determined to have low credit risk at the reporting date.
A debt instrument is determined to have low credit risk if
(i) it has a low risk of default, (i) the borrower has a strong
capacity to meet its contractual cash flow obligations in
the near term and (iii) adverse changes in economic and
business conditions in the longer term may, but will not
necessarily, reduce the ability of the borrower to fulfil its
contractual cash flow obligations. The Group considers
a debt instrument to have low credit risk when it has an
internal of “investment grade” as per globally understood
definitions.

The Group regularly monitors the effectiveness of
the criteria used to identify whether there has been a
significant increase in credit risk and revises them as
appropriate to ensure that the criteria are capable of
identifying significant increase in credit risk before the
amount becomes past due.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 3. EETHEER &

(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

EWMIA (&

Financial assets (Continued) THEE B
Impairment of financial assets (Continued) THEERNE (B
ii.  Credit-impaired financial assets i. EERETHEE

A financial asset is credit-impaired when one or more EREHETHEENGERKIR
events of default that have a detrimental impact on EREEETHEEN —FHD
the estimated future cash flows of that financial asset REHZE ZEMBEEMNHIR
have occurred. Evidence that a financial asset is credit- EERE-sMEEEERERN
impaired includes observable data about the following BEEEUTEHNTEZH
events: %

(a) significant financial difficulty of the issuer or the (a) FETATEBERAHBREKRG
borrower; B ;

(b) a breach of contract, such as a default or past due (o) EBH WMERBEMTSAEASE
event; (&

(c) the lender(s) of the borrower, for economic or () EBRANERAHREMER
contractual reasons relating to the borrower’s AR ERARNKSEN S
financial difficulty, having granted to the borrower a HWEE> MAERAETE
concession(s) that the lender(s) would not otherwise FANBRFEEENEE ;
consider;

(d) it is becoming probable that the borrower will enter (d) EBRATEmEEEREREM
bankruptcy or other financial reorganisation; or M ER ; 3

(e) the disappearance of an active market for that () HHRMBANHEERZEH
financial asset because of financial difficulties. BEXREGEMSE
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
HE_Z -+ "B =+—HLILEE Forthe year ended 31 December 2022

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continueqd)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)
ii.  Measurement and recognition of ECL

The measurement of ECL is a function of the Probability
of Default (PD), Loss Given Default (LGD) (i.e. the
magnitude of the loss if there is a default) and exposure at
default. The assessment of the PD and LGD is based on
historical data adjusted by forward-looking information.
Estimation of ECL reflects an unbiased and probability-
weighted amount that is determined with the respective
risks of default occurring as the weights.

Generally, the ECL is the difference between a contractual
cash flows that are due to the Group in accordance with
the contract and the cash flows that the Group expects
to receive, discounted at the effective interest rate
determined at initial recognition.

Where ECL is measured on a collective basis or cater for
cases where evidence at the individual instruments level
may not yet be available, the financial instruments are
grouped on the following basis:

o Past-due status; and
° Nature, size and industry of debtors.
The grouping is regularly reviewed by management to

ensure the constituents of each group continue to share
similar credit risk characteristics.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
HE_Z-__F+"B=+—HLLEE Forthe year ended 31 December 2022

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continueqd)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

ii.  Measurement and recognition of ECL (Continued)

Interest income is calculated based on the gross carrying
amount of the financial asset unless the financial asset
is credit impaired, in which case interest income is
calculated based on amortised cost of the financial asset.

The Group recognises an impairment gain or loss in profit
or loss for all financial instruments by adjusting their
carrying amount, with the exception of trade receivables
from hotel operation and finance lease receivables where
the corresponding adjustment is recognised through a
loss allowance account.

Derecognition

The Group derecognises a financial asset when the contractual
rights to the cash flows from the financial asset expire, or it
transfers the rights to receive the contractual cash flows in a
transaction in which substantially all of the risks and rewards
of ownership of the financial asset are transferred and the
transfer meets the criteria for derecognition in accordance with
HKFRS 9 Financial Instruments or in which the Group neither
transfers nor retains substantially all of the risks and rewards of
ownership and it does not retain control of the financial asset.

The Group enters into transactions whereby it transfers assets
recognised on its consolidated statement of financial position,
but retains either all or substantially all of the risks and rewards
of the transferred assets. In such cases, the transferred assets
are not derecognised.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 3. EETHEER &

(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continueqd)

Derecognition (Continued)

On derecognition of a financial asset, except for a financial
asset that is classified as FVTOCI, the difference between
the asset’s carrying amount and the sum of the consideration
received and the cumulative gain or loss that had been
recognised directly in equity is recognised in profit or loss.

Financial liabilities and equity instruments

Classification as debt or equity

Financial liabilities and equity instruments issued by a group
entity are classified according to the substance of the
contractual arrangements entered into and the definitions of a
financial liability and an equity instrument.

Convertible notes

The component parts of the compound instruments
(convertible notes) issued by the Company are classified
separately as financial liabilities and equity in accordance
with the substance of the contractual arrangements and the
definitions of a financial liability and an equity instrument.
Conversion option that will be settled by the exchange of a
fixed amount of cash or another financial asset for a fixed
amount of cash or another financial asset for a fixed number of
the Company’s own equity instruments is an equity instrument.

At the date of issue, the fair value of the liability component
(including any embedded non-equity derivatives features) is
estimated by measuring the fair value of similar liability that
does not have an associated equity component.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
HE_Z-__F+"B=+—HLLEE Forthe year ended 31 December 2022

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial liabilities and equity instruments (Continueq)

Convertible notes (Continued)

The conversion option classified as equity is determined
by deducting the amount of the liability component from
the fair value of the compound instrument as a whole. This
is recognised and included in equity, net of income tax
effects, and is not subsequently remeasured. In addition, the
conversion option classified as equity will remain in equity until
the conversion option is exercised, in which case, the balance
recognised in equity will be transferred to share premium.
When the conversion option remains unexercised at the
maturity date of the convertible notes, the balance recognised
in equity will be transferred to retained profits. No gain or loss
is recognised in profit or loss upon conversion or expiration of
the conversion option.

Transaction costs that relate to the issue of the convertible
notes are allocated to the liability and equity components in
proportion to the allocation of the gross proceeds. Transaction
costs relating to the equity components are recognised directly
in equity. Transaction costs relating to the liability component
are included in the carrying amount of the liability component
and are amortised over the lives of the convertible notes using
the effective interest method.

Other financial liabilities
Other financial liabilities (including borrowings) are subsequently
measured at amortised cost using the effective interest

method.

Interest expense is recognised on an effective interest basis
other than financial liabilities classified as at FVTPL.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
HE_Z -+ "B =+—HLILEE Forthe year ended 31 December 2022

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 3. GEHHER &

(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Other financial liabilities (Continued)

Derecognition

The Group derecognises financial liabilities when, and only
when the obligation specified in the relevant contract is
discharged, cancelled or expires. The difference between the
carrying amount of the financial liability derecognised and the
consideration paid or payable is recognised in profit or loss.

Provisions

Provisions are recognised when the Group has a present
legal or constructive obligation as a result of a past event,
and it is probable that the Group will be required to settle
that obligation. Provisions are measured at the Directors’ best
estimate of the expenditure required to settle the obligation
at the end of each reporting period, and are discounted to
present value where the effect is material.

Revenue recognition

Revenue is measured at the fair value of the consideration
received or receivable and represents amounts receivable for
goods and services provided in the normal course of business,
net of discounts and sales related taxes.

Revenue is recognised either at a point in time or over time,
when (or as) the Group satisfies performance obligations by
transferring the promised goods or services to its customers.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Revenue recognition (Continued)

Further details of the Group’s revenue and other income
recognition policies are as follows:

(i)

(i)

(iii)

Logistics income from civil explosives business,
operating income from big data business, industrial
parks and property development, wellness elderly
care business, other income from hotel operation
and sales of emulsion explosives

Logistics income from civil explosives business, operating
income from big data business, industrial parks and
property development, wellness elderly care business,
other income from hotel operation and sales of emulsion
explosives involve income generated from sales of goods
or providing services. Income generated from sales of
goods is recognised when goods are delivered and title
has passed, while income generated from providing
services is recognised when the relevant services are
rendered.

Income on explosives engineering from civil
explosives business, service income from

hotel operation, industrial parks and property
development and wellness elderly care business

Income on explosives engineering from civil explosives
business, service income from hotel operation, industrial
parks and property development and wellness elderly
care business are recognised on a straight-line basis over
the scheduled period of services.

Construction of platform regarding big data
business

Revenue from construction of platform is recognised
progressively over the contract period based on the
stage of completion method. The progress towards
completion of the construction of platform is measured
based on output method, which is to recognise revenue
on the basis of direct measurements of the value of the
outputs transferred to the customer to date relative to the
remaining outputs promised under the contract, that best
depict the Group’s performance in transferring control of

platform.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
HE_Z-__F+"B=+—HLLEE Forthe year ended 31 December 2022
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Revenue recognition (Continued)

(iv)

v)

(vi)

Technical service income from big data business

Technical service income from big data business
includes income generated from providing business IT
management, design, implementation and technical
support services. It is under fixed-price contracts and
recognised in the accounting period in which the services
are rendered. For fixed-price contracts, revenue is
recognised based on the actual service provided to the
end of the reporting period as a proportion of the total
services to be provided because the customer receives

and uses the benefits simultaneously.

Where the service contracts include multiple performance
obligations, the transaction price will be allocated to each
performance obligation based on the stand-alone selling
price.

Interest income from financial leasing

Interest income from financial leasing including handling
fees (if any) represents interest income from financial
leasing business, is allocated to accounting periods so as
to reflect a constant periodic rate of return on the Group’s
net investment outstanding in respect of the leases.

Consultancy service income from financial leasing

Consultancy service income from financial leasing is
recognised when the services are rendered.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
HE_Z-__F+"B=+—HLLEE Forthe year ended 31 December 2022

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Revenue recognition (Continued)
(vii) Rental income

Rental income arising from properties let under operating
leases is recognised on a straight-line basis over the
periods of the respective leases.

(viii) Interest income

Interest income from a financial asset is accrued on a
time basis, by reference to the principal outstanding and
at the effective interest rate applicable.

(ix) Dividend income

Dividend income from investment is recognised when
the shareholders’ rights to receive payment have
been established (provided that it is probable that the
economic benefits will flow to the Group and the amount
of revenue can be measured reliably).

Contract liabilities represent the Group’s obligation to transfer
services to a customer for which the Group has received
consideration (or an amount of consideration is due) from the
customer. If the considerations (including advances received
from customers) exceeds the revenue recognised to date
under the output method then the Group recognises a contract
liability for the difference.
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B

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Government grants

Government grants are not recognised until there is reasonable
assurance that the Group will comply with the conditions
attaching to them and that the grants will be received.

Government grants are recognised in profit or loss on
a systematic basis over the periods in which the Group
recognises as expenses the related costs for which the
grants are intended to compensate. Specifically, government
grants whose primary condition is that the Group should
purchase, construct or otherwise acquire non-current assets
are recognised as deferred income or a deduction from the
carrying amount of the relevant asset in the consolidated
statement of position and transferred to profit or loss on a
systematic and rational basis over the useful lives of the related
assets.

Government grants related to income that are receivables as
compensation for expenses or losses already incurred or for
the purpose of giving immediate financial support to the Group
with no future related costs are recognised in profit or loss
in the period in which they become receivable. Government
grants relating to compensation of expenses are deducted from
the related expenses, other government grants are presented
under “other income”.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
HE_Z-__F+"B=+—HLLEE Forthe year ended 31 December 2022

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Taxation

Income tax expense represents the sum of the tax currently
payable and deferred tax.

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for the year.
Taxable profit differs from profit/loss before tax as reported
in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income because it excludes items of income
or expense that are taxable or deductible in other years, and it
further excludes items that are never taxable or deductible. The
Group’s liability for current tax is calculated using tax rates that
have been enacted or substantively enacted at the end of each
reporting period.

Deferred tax is recognised on differences between the
carrying amounts of assets and liabilities in the consolidated
financial statements and the corresponding tax base used
in the computation of taxable profit. Deferred tax liabilities
are generally recognised for all taxable temporary differences
and deferred tax assets are recognised to the extent that it
is probable that taxable profits will be available against which
deductible temporary differences can be utilised. Such assets
and liabilities are not recognised if the temporary difference
arises from goodwill or from the initial recognition (other than
in a business combination) of other assets and liabilities in
a transaction that affects neither the taxable profit nor the
accounting profit.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

B

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Taxation (Continued)

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable temporary
differences arising on investments in subsidiaries and an
associate, and interests in joint arrangement, except where the
Group is able to control the reversal of the temporary difference
and it is probable that the temporary difference will not
reverse in the foreseeable future. Deferred tax assets arising
from deductible temporary differences associated with such
investments and interests are only recognised to the extent that
it is probable that there will be sufficient taxable profits against
which to utilise the benefits of the temporary differences and
they are expected to reverse in the foreseeable future.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at the
end of each reporting period and reduced to the extent that
it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profits will be
available to allow all or part of the asset to be recovered.

Deferred tax is calculated at the tax rates that are expected
to apply in the period when the liability is settled or the asset
realised, based on tax rate (and tax laws) that have been
enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the reporting
period.

The measurement of deferred tax liabilities and assets reflects
the tax consequences that would follow from the manner in
which the Group expects, at the end of the reporting period,
to recover or settle the carrying amount of its assets and
liabilities.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
HE_Z-__F+"B=+—HLLEE Forthe year ended 31 December 2022

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Taxation (Continued)

For the purposes of measuring deferred tax liabilities or
deferred tax assets for investment properties that are measured
using the fair value model, the carrying amounts of such
properties are presumed to be recovered entirely through
sale, unless the presumption is rebutted. The presumption is
rebutted when the investment property is depreciable and is
held within a business model whose objective is to consume
substantially all of the economic benefits embodied in the

investment property over time, rather than through sale.

For the purposes of measuring deferred tax for leasing
transactions in which the Group recognises the right-of-
use assets and the related lease liabilities, the Group first
determines whether the tax deductions are attributable to the
right-of-use assets or the lease liabilities.

For leasing transactions in which the tax deductions are
attributable to the lease liabilities, the Group applies HKAS 12
Income Taxes requirements to right-of-use assets and lease
liabilities separately. Temporary differences on initial recognition
and over the lease terms of the relevant right-of-use assets
and lease liabilities are not recognised due to application of the
initial recognition exemption.

Current and deferred tax are recognised in profit or loss,
except when they relate to items that are recognised in other
comprehensive income or directly in equity, in which case,
the current and deferred tax are also recognised in other
comprehensive income or directly in equity respectively. Where
current tax or deferred tax arises from the initial accounting
for a business combination, the tax effect is included in the
accounting for the business combination.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

B

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition,
construction or production of qualifying assets, which are
assets that necessarily take a substantial period of time to get
ready for their intended use or sale, are added to the cost of
those assets, until such time as the assets are substantially
ready for their intended use or sale.

Any specific borrowing that remain outstanding after the
related asset is ready for its intended use or sale is included
in the general borrowing pool for calculation of capitalisation
rate on general borrowings. Investment income earned on
the temporary investment of specific borrowings pending
their expenditure on qualifying assets is deducted from the
borrowing costs eligible for capitalisation.

All other borrowing costs are recognised in profit or loss in the
period in which they are incurred.

Retirement benefits scheme

Payments to defined contribution retirement benefit plans,
including the Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme (the “MPF
Scheme”), Occupational Retirement Scheme Ordinance
(“ORSO Scheme”) and state-managed retirement benefit
scheme are charged as an expense when employees have
rendered service entitling them to the contributions.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
HE_Z-__F+"B=+—HLLEE Forthe year ended 31 December 2022

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Leases

At inception of a contract, the Group assesses whether the
contract is, or contains, a lease. A contract is, or contains,
a lease if the contract conveys the right to control the use
of an identified asset for a period of time in exchange for
consideration.

For a contract that is, or contains, a lease, the Group accounts
for each lease component within the contract as a lease
separately from non-lease components of the contract.

The Group determines the lease term as the non-cancellable
period of a lease, together with both:

i) periods covered by an option to extend the lease if the
lessee is reasonably certain to exercise that option; and

ii) periods covered by an option to terminate the lease if the
lessee is reasonably certain not to exercise that option.

In assessing whether a lessee is reasonably certain to exercise
an option to extend a lease, or not to exercise an option to
terminate a lease, the Group considers all relevant facts and
circumstances that create an economic incentive for the lessee
to exercise the option to extend the lease, or not to exercise
the option to terminate the lease. The Group revises the lease
term if there is a change in the non-cancellable period of a
lease.

Leases are classified as finance leases whenever the terms of
the leases transfer substantially all the risks and rewards of
ownership to lessee. All other leases are classified as operating
leases.
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Rental income from operating leases is recognised in the
consolidated income statement on a straight-line basis over
the term of the relevant lease. Initial direct costs incurred in
negotiating and arranging an operating lease are added to
the carrying amount of the leased asset and recognised as an
expense on a straight-line basis over the lease term.

Finance leases

Leases that transfer substantially all the rewards and risks of
ownership of assets to the Group, other than legal title, are
accounted for as finance leases. At the inception of a finance
lease, the cost of the leased asset is capitalised at the present
value of the minimum lease payments and recorded together
with the obligation, excluding the interest element, to reflect the
purchase and financing.

When the Group is a lessor under finance leases, an amount
representing the minimum lease payment receivables and initial
direct costs is included in the statement of financial position
as finance lease receivables. Any unguaranteed residual value
is also recognised at the inception of the lease. The difference
between the sum of the minimum lease payment receivables,
initial direct costs, the unguaranteed residual value and their
present value is recognised as unearned finance income.
Unearned finance income is recognised over the period of the
lease using the effective interest rate method.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Leases (Continued)

The Group as lessee

For a contract that contains a lease component and one or
more additional lease or non-lease components, the Group
allocates the consideration in the contract to each lease
component on the basis of the relative stand-alone price of the
lease component and the aggregate stand-alone price of the
non-lease components.

The non-lease components are accounted for in accordance
with the Group’s policies.

For determination of the lease term, the Group reassesses
whether it is reasonably certain to exercise an extension
option, or not to exercise a termination option, upon the
occurrence of either a significant event or a significant change
in circumstances that:

) is within the control of the Group; and

ii) affects whether the Group is reasonably certain to
exercise an option not previously included in its
determination of the lease term, or not to exercise an
option previously included in its determination of the lease
term.

At the commencement date, the Group recognises a right-of-
use asset and a lease liability under the lease contract.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 3. EETHEER &

(Continued)

Leases (Continued)

The Group as lessee (Continued)

Leases liability

Lease liability is initially recognised at the present value of
the lease payments that are not paid at the commencement
date. The lease payments are discounted using the interest
rate implicit in the lease, if that rate can be readily determined.
If that rate cannot be readily determined, the Group uses its
incremental borrowing rate.

After initial recognition, the lease liability is measured by (a)
increasing the carrying amount to reflect interest on the lease
liability; (b) reducing the carrying amount to reflect the lease
payments made; and (c) remeasuring the carrying amount to
reflect any reassessment or lease modifications or to reflect
revised in-substance fixed lease payments.

Where, (a) there is a change in the lease term as a result of
reassessment of certainty to exercise an extension option,
or not to exercise a termination option as discussed above;
or (b) there is a change in the assessment of an option to
purchase the underlying asset, assessed considering the
events and circumstances in the context of a purchase option,
the Group remeasures the lease liability to reflect changes to
lease payments by discounting the revised lease payments
using a revised discount rate. The Group determines the
revised discount rate as the interest rate implicit in the lease
for the remainder of the lease term, if that rate can be readily
determined, or the incremental borrowing rate at the date of
reassessment, if the interest rate implicit in the lease cannot be
readily determined.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Leases (Continued)

The Group as lessee (Continued)

Leases liability (Continued)

Where, (a) there is a change in the amounts expected to be
payable under a residual value guarantee; or (b) there is a
change in future lease payments resulting from a change in an
index or a rate used to determine those payments, including
a change to reflect changes in market rental rates following a
market rent review, the Group remeasures the lease liability by
discounting the revised lease payments using an unchanged
discount rate, unless the change in lease payments results
from a change in floating interest rates. In such case, the
Group uses a revised discount rate that reflects changes in the
interest rate.

The Group recognises the amount of the re-measurement of
lease liability as an adjustment to the right-of-use asset. Where
the carrying amount of the right-of-use asset is reduced to zero
and there is a further reduction in the measurement of the lease
liability, the Group recognises any remaining amount of the
remeasurement in profit or loss.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 3. EETHEER &

(Continued)

Leases (Continued)

The Group as lessee (Continued)

Leases liability (Continued)

The Group accounts for a lease modification as a separate
lease if both:

o the modification increases the scope of the lease by
adding the right to use one or more underlying assets;
and

o the consideration for the lease increases by an amount
commensurate with the stand-alone price for the
increase in scope and any appropriate adjustments to
that standalone price to reflect the circumstances of the
particular contract.

Lease modifications that are not accounted for as a separate
lease, the Group, at the effective date of the lease modification:
(a) allocates the consideration in the modified contract; (b)
determines the lease term of the modified lease; and (c)
remeasures the lease liability by discounting the revised lease
payments using a revised discount rate.

The revised discount rate is determined as the interest rate
implicit in the lease for the remainder of the lease term, if that
rate can be readily determined, or the lessee’s incremental
borrowing rate at the effective date of the modification, if the
interest rate implicit in the lease cannot be readily determined.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 3.

(Continued)

Leases (Continued)

The Group as lessee (Continued)

Right-of-use assets

The right-of-use asset is initially recognised at cost comprising:

i) amount of the initial measurement of the lease liability;

ii) any lease payments made at or before the commencement
date, less any lease incentives received;

i) any initial direct costs incurred by the Group; and

iv) an estimate of costs to be incurred by the Group in
dismantling and removing the underlying asset, restoring
the site on which it is located or restoring the underlying
asset to the condition required by the terms and
conditions of the lease. These costs are recognised as
part of the cost of right-of-use asset when the Group
incurs an obligation for these costs. The obligation for
these costs are incurred either at the commencement
date or as a consequence of having used the underlying
asset during a particular period.

After initial recognition, a lessee shall measure the right-of-
use asset at cost less any accumulated depreciation and
any accumulated impairment losses and adjusted for any
remeasurement of the lease liability.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 3. EETHEER &

(Continued)

Leases (Continued)

The Group as lessee (Continued)

Right-of-use assets (Continued)

Right-of-use assets in which the Group is reasonably certain
to obtain ownership of the underlying leased assets at the end
of the lease term are depreciated from commencement date
to the end of the useful life. Otherwise, right-of-use assets
are depreciated on a straight-line basis over the shorter of its
estimated useful life and the lease term.

Refundable rental deposits

Refundable rental deposits paid are accounted under HKFRS
9 Financial Instruments and initially measured at fair value.
Adjustments to fair value at initial recognition are considered as
additional lease payments and included in the cost of right-of-
use assets.

Short-term leases and leases of low-value assets

The Group applies the short-term lease recognition exemption
to leases of motor vehicles and offices that have a lease term
of 12 months or less from the commencement date and do
not contain a purchase option. It also applies the recognition
exemption for lease of low-value assets. Lease payments
on short-term leases and leases of low-value assets are
recognised as expense on a straight-line basis or another
systematic basis over the lease term.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Foreign currencies

In preparing the financial statements of each individual group
entity, transactions in currencies other than the functional
currency of that entity (foreign currencies) are recorded in the
respective functional currency (i.e. the currency of the primary
economic environment in which the entity operates) at the rates
of exchanges prevailing on the dates of the transactions. At
the end of the reporting period, monetary items denominated
in foreign currencies are re-translated at the rates prevailing
at that date. Non-monetary items carried at fair value that are
denominated in foreign currencies are re-translated at the rates
prevailing on the date when the fair value was determined.
Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of historical
cost in a foreign currency are not re-translated.

Exchange differences arising on the settlement of monetary
items, and on the translation of monetary items, are recognised
in profit or loss in the period in which they arise, except for
exchange differences arising on a monetary item that forms
part of the Group’s net investment in a foreign operation, in
which case, such exchange differences are recognised in
equity in the consolidated financial statements. Exchange
differences arising on the re-translation of non-monetary
items carried at fair value are included in profit or loss for the
period except for differences arising on the retranslation of
non-monetary items in respect of which gains and losses are
recognised directly in equity, in which cases, the exchange
differences are also recognised directly in equity.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Foreign currencies (Continued)

For the purposes of presenting the consolidated financial
statements, the assets and liabilities of the Group’s foreign
operations are translated into the presentation currency of
the Group (i.e. Hong Kong dollars) at the rate of exchange
prevailing at the end of each reporting period, and their income
and expenses are translated at the average exchange rates for
the year, unless exchange rates fluctuate significantly during
the period, in which case, the exchange rates prevailing at the
dates of transactions are used. Exchange differences arising,
if any, are recognised as a separate component of equity (the
exchange reserve). Such exchange differences are recognised
in profit or loss in the period in which the foreign operation is
disposed of.

On the disposal of a foreign operation (i.e. a disposal of the
Group’s entire interest in a foreign operation, or a disposal
involving loss of control over a subsidiary that includes a
foreign operation, or a partial disposal of an interest in an
associate that includes a foreign operation of which the
retained interest becomes a financial asset), all of the exchange
differences accumulated in equity in respect of that operation
attributable to the owners of the Company are reclassified to
profit or loss.

In addition, in relation to a partial disposal of a subsidiary
that includes a foreign operation that does not result in the
Group losing control over the subsidiary, the proportionate
share of accumulated exchange differences are re-attributed
to noncontrolling interests and are not recognised in profit or
loss. For all other partial disposals (i.e. partial disposals of
an associate that do not result in the Group losing significant
influence), the proportionate share of the accumulated
exchange differences is reclassified to profit or loss.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Foreign currencies (Continued)

Goodwill and fair value adjustments on identifiable assets
acquired arising on an acquisition of a foreign operation on
or after 1 January 2005 are treated as assets and liabilities of
that foreign operation and translated at the rate of exchange
prevailing at the end of the reporting period. Exchange
differences arising are recognised in the exchange reserve.

Related parties

A party is considered to be related to the Group if:

(@) the party is a person or a close member of that person’s

family and that person:

(i) has control or joint control over the Group;

(i) has significant influence over the Group; or

(i) is a member of the key management personnel of
the Group or of a parent of the Group; or

(b) the party is an entity where any of the following conditions
applies:

(i) the entity and the Group are members of the same
group;

(i)  one entity is an associate or joint venture of the
other entity (or of a parent, subsidiary or fellow
subsidiary of the other entity);

(i)  the entity and the Group are joint ventures of the
same third party;
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Related parties (Continueq)

(b)  the party is an entity where any of the following conditions
applies: (Continued)

(iv) one entity is a joint venture of a third entity and the
other entity is an associate of the third entity;

(v)  the entity is a post-employment benefit plan for the
benefit of employees of either the Group or an entity
related the Group;

(vi) the entity is controlled or jointly controlled by a
person identified in (a);

(vi) a person identified in (a)(i) has significant influence
over the entity or is a member of the key
management personnel of the entity (or of a parent
of the entity); and

(viii) the entity, or any member of a group of which it is a
part, provides key management personnel services
to the reporting entity or to the parent of the
reporting entity.

Close family members of an individual are those family
members who may be expected to influence, or be influenced

by, that individual in their dealings with the entity, and include:

(@) that person’s children and spouse or domestic partner;

(b)  children of that person’s spouse or domestic partner; and

(c) dependents of that person or that person’s spouse or
domestic partner.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents represent cash at bank and on
hand, time deposits with banks and other financial institutions,
and short-term liquid investments which are readily convertible
into known amounts of cash and subject to an insignificant
risk of change in value, having been within three months of
maturity at acquisition. For the purpose of the consolidated
statement of cash flows, bank overdrafts or bank loans, if
any, which are repayable on demand and form an integral part
of an enterprise’'s cash managements are also included as
component of cash and cash equivalents.

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGMENTS
AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY

In the application of the Group’s accounting policies, which
are described in Note 3, management is required to make
judgements, estimates and assumptions about the carrying
amounts of assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent
from other sources. The estimates and underlying assumptions
are based on historical experience and other factors that are
considered to be relevant. Actual results may differ from these
estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on
an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are
recognised in the period in which the estimate is revised if the
revision affects only that period, or in the period of the revision
and future periods if the revision affects both current and future
periods.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

B

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGMENTS
AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY (continued)

Critical judgements in applying accounting policies

The following are the critical judgements, apart from those
involving estimations, that management has made in the
process of applying the Group’s accounting policies and that
have the most significant effect on the amounts recognised in
the consolidated financial statements.

Deferred taxation on investment properties

For the purpose of measuring deferred tax liabilities or deferred
tax assets arising from investment properties that are measured
using the fair value model, the Directors have reviewed that
Group’s investment properties portfolios and concluded
that the Group’s investment properties are not held under a
business model whose objective is to consume substantially
all of the economic benefits embodied in the investment
properties over time, rather than through sale. Therefore,
in measuring the Group’s deferred taxation on investment
properties, the Directors have determined that the presumption
that the carrying amounts of investment properties measured
using the fair value model are recovered entirely through sale is
not rebutted. Moreover, the fair value of the Group’s investment
properties is lower than acquisition cost. As a result, the Group
has not recognised any deferred taxes on change in fair value
of investment properties as the Group is not subject to any
incomes taxes on disposal of its investment properties.

Deferred taxation on hotel properties

By comparing the initial cost and the revaluated value of PRC
hotel properties of the Group, the Directors considered that
no capital gain is generated and does not constitute a timing
difference and do not expect there will be any tax liabilities.
Therefore, deferred tax has not been recognised in respect of
the valuation surplus relating to hotel properties.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
HE_Z-__F+"B=+—HLLEE Forthe year ended 31 December 2022

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGMENTS
AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY (continued)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty

The following are the key assumptions concerning the future,
and other key sources of estimation uncertainty at the end
of the reporting period that have a significant risk of causing
a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and
liabilities within the next financial year.

Estimated the useful lives of property, plant and
equipment

The Group determines the estimated useful lives and related
depreciation charges for its property, plant and equipment. This
estimate is based on the historical experience of the actual
useful lives of property, plant and equipment of similar nature
and functions. Management will revise the depreciation charge
where useful lives are different to previously estimated, or will
write off or write down technically obsolete or non-strategic
assets that have been abandoned or sold.

Estimated impairment of property, plant and equipment
and right-of-use assets

Property, plant and equipment and right-of-use assets
are reviewed for impairment when events or changes in
circumstances indicate that the carrying amount of the assets
exceeds its recoverable amount. The recoverable amount is
determined with reference to the higher of fair value of the
property, plant and equipment and right-of-use assets less
costs to sell or the value-in-use calculations. An impairment
loss is measured as the difference between the asset’s carrying
amount and the recoverable amount. Where the recoverable
amount is less than the carrying amount, an impairment loss
may arise. As at 31 December 2022, the Group reported no
impairment loss for property, plant and equipment and right-of-
use assets (2021: Nil).
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

B

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGMENTS
AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY (Continuead)

Estimation of fair value of the Group’s other assets and
liabilities

Some of the Group’s assets and liabilities are measured at fair
value for financial reporting purposes.

In estimating the fair value of an asset or a liability, the Group
uses market-observable data to the extent it is available. Where
Level 1 inputs are not available, the Group engages third
party qualified valuers to perform the valuation. The qualified
external valuers establish the appropriate valuation techniques
and inputs to the model. The Financial Controller reports the
qualified external valuers’ findings to the board of Directors
of the Company every semi-annually to explain the cause of
fluctuations in the fair value of the assets and liabilities.

The Group uses valuation techniques that include inputs that
are not based on observable market data to estimate the fair
value of certain types of financial instruments. Notes 5, 17 and
18 provide detailed information about the valuation techniques,
inputs and key assumptions used in the determination of the
fair value of various assets and liabilities.

Estimation of fair value of the Group’s investment
properties and hotel properties

The Group’s properties were revalued as at 31 December 2022
based on appraised market value by independent professional
valuers. Such valuations were based on certain assumptions,
which are subject to uncertainty and might materially differ
from the actual results. In making the estimate of fair value, the
Group considers information from current prices in an active
market for similar properties in the same location and condition
and uses assumptions that are mainly based on market
conditions existing at the end of each reporting period.

The carrying amount of investment properties and hotel
properties at 31 December 2022 was HK$1,066,266,000 and
HK$100,000,000 respectively (2021: HK$774,554,000 and
HK$110,000,000).
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
HE_Z-__F+"B=+—HLLEE Forthe year ended 31 December 2022

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGMENTS
AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY (continued)

Estimated impairment of trade receivables and finance
lease receivables

The management of the Group estimates the amount of
impairment loss allowance for trade receivables and finance
lease receivables by assessing the ECL, which requires the use
of estimates and judgements. Assessing the ECL requires the
use of a provision matrix based on the Group’s historical credit
loss experience, general conditions, internal credit ratings and
an assessment of both the current conditions at the reporting
date as well as the forecast of future conditions. The allowance
of ECL is sensitive to changes in estimates.

The information about the ECL and the Group’s impairment
loss allowance regarding trade receivables and finance lease
receivables are disclosed in Notes 5, 25 and 27.

Deferred tax asset arising from allowance for ECL on
finance lease receivables

The realisability of the deferred tax asset mainly depends on
the Group’s assessment of ECL of finance lease receivables.

In cases where the actual assessment of ECL is less or more
than expected, or change in facts and circumstances which
result in revision of ECL assessment, a material reversal or
further recognition of deferred tax assets may arise, which
would be recognised in profit or loss for the period in which
such a reversal or further recognition takes place.

As at 31 December 2022, a deferred tax asset of
HK$15,132,000 (2021: HK$7,014,000) arising from allowance
for ECL on finance lease receivables has been recognised in
the consolidated statement of financial position. Details of the
deferred tax asset are disclosed in Note 32.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

B

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGMENTS
AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY (continued)

Leases - Estimating the incremental borrowing rate

The Group cannot readily determine the interest rate implicit in
a lease, therefore, it uses its incremental borrowing rate (“IBR”)
to measure lease liabilities. The IBR is the rate of interest that
the Group would have to pay to borrow over a similar term, and
with a similar security, the funds necessary to obtain an asset
of a similar value to the right-of-use asset in a similar economic
environment. The IBR therefore reflects what the Group “would
have to pay”, which requires estimation when no observable
rates are available (such as for subsidiaries that do not enter
into financing transactions) or when it needs to be adjusted
to reflect the terms and conditions of the lease (for example,
when leases are not in the subsidiary’s functional currency).
The Group estimates the IBR using observable inputs (such as
market interest rates) when available and is required to make
certain entity-specific estimates.

Estimated impairment of goodwill

Determining whether goodwill is impaired requires an
estimation of the recoverable amount of the cash-generating
unit (or group of cash-generating units) to which goodwill
has been allocated, which is the higher of the value in use or
fair value less costs of disposal. The value in use calculation
requires the Group to estimate the future cash flows expected
to arise from the cash-generating unit (or group of cash-
generating units) and a suitable discount rate in order to
calculate the present value. Where the actual future cash flows
are less than expected, or changes in facts and circumstances
which results in downward revision of future cash flows or
upward revision of discount rate, a material impairment loss or
further impairment loss may arise.

As at 31 December 2022, the carrying amount of goodwill
is HK$127,284,000 (2021: HK$136,530,000), (net of
accumulated impairment loss of HK$NIl (2021: HK$Nil). Details
of the recoverable amount calculation are disclosed in Note 19.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
HE_Z-__F+"B=+—HLLEE Forthe year ended 31 December 2022

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

The Group’s businesses are principally conducted in the
PRC and Hong Kong and accordingly are subject to special
considerations and several risks.

Foreign Exchange Exposure

Majority of the Group’s operating income and costs are
denominated in RMB. In the business operation of the Group,
foreign exchange fluctuation of income and costs would be
mutually offset. However, as the Hong Kong-based Group
has invested substantial borrowings into domestic wholly
owned subsidiaries in the PRC whilst owning substantial RMB
denominated monetary assets, an exchange gain or loss will be
recorded due to the appreciation or depreciation of RMB. The
Management expected that RMB will be immensely affected by
deterioration of Sino-US relations, COVID-19 pandemic, USD
interest rate hike cycle and developments of the Ukraine war
in the short term, therefore the trend of RMB is unforeseeable
in the short term. In the long run, RMB’s exchange rate will not
fluctuate drastically and will not bring material adverse foreign
exchange risk on the Group. Therefore, the Group currently
does not have any specific foreign exchange risk hedging need
for this matter.

Besides, parts of the Group’s bank balances and borrowings
are denominated in US dollars. The sensitivity of fluctuation
in US dollars exchange rate is considered insignificant as the
Hong Kong dollars are pegged to US dollars based on The
Linked Exchange Rate System.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
HE_Z -+ "B =+—HLILEE Forthe year ended 31 December 2022

5. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued) 5.

Foreign Exchange Exposure (Continued)

The carrying amount of the Group’s foreign currency
denominated monetary assets and monetary liabilities at the
end of the reporting period are as follows:

MBERER @
SMEE BB (42
RE|ER > AEEUSMEHER S

BEEEREGENREEDNT

At 31 December

®w+—B=+—H

2022 2021
s BT —F
HK$’000 HK$’000
BT BT T

Assets BE
Denominated in Renminbi NG 5,119,565 4,292,747
Denominated in US dollars EEE 15,050 12,051
5,134,615 4,304,798

Liabilities =R
Denominated in Renminbi AR 4,857,099 3,949,071
Denominated in US dollars ETHEH 703,094 666,669
5,560,193 4,615,740

The following shows the sensitivity analysis of a 5% increase/
decrease in RMB against the Hong Kong dollars. The sensitivity
analysis includes only RMB denominated monetary items and
adjusts their translation at the year and for a 5% change in
RMB dollars rates. If there is a 5% increase/decrease in RMB
exchange rate against the Hong Kong dollar, the effect in the
profit for the year is as follows:

TERERTARBERBEHE EZHES%
BBRE DT - ZBRE DT EREU
ARBHENEREE  REKABA
REEXZFHNMABRBRE - HAR
WRBBHEZES% AHFER
HmRIFEWT

At 31 December

®W+=ZB=+—H
2022 2021
—ZE_C —E £
HK$’000 HK$’000
BT T BT T
Increase/decrease in profit or loss for the year EEIBZEE M, /D 2,323 5,214
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
HE_Z-__F+"B=+—HLLEE Forthe year ended 31 December 2022

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)

Capital risk management

The Group’s objectives when managing capital are to safeguard
the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern in order
to provide returns for equity holders and benefits for other
stakeholders and to maintain an optimal capital structure
to reduce the cost of capital. In order to maintain or adjust
the capital structure, the Group may adjust the amount of
dividends paid to equity holders, return capital to equity
holders, issue new shares or sell assets to reduce debt.

The capital structure of the Group consists of debt (which
includes borrowings and convertible notes) and equity
attributable to owners of the Company (comprising issued
share capital, share premium, reserves and retained earnings).

The Directors of the Company review the capital structure on a
semi-annual basis. As part of this review, the Directors consider
the cost of capital and will balance its overall capital structure
through issue of new shares as well as the issue of new debt or
the redemption of existing debt.

The Directors monitor capital on the basis of gearing ratio. This
ratio is calculated based on total debts dividend by equity plus
total debts. Total debts is calculated as total interest-bearing
borrowings and debt component of convertible bonds.

5.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
HE_Z -+ "B =+—HLILEE Forthe year ended 31 December 2022

5. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued) 5. MBRAKERE #=

Capital risk management (Continued) BERBER (&)
The gearing ratio at the end of the reporting period was as RRESAR EEAGBLERNT :
follows:
2022 2021
—E_C —E—fF
HK$’000 HK$’000
AET T AT T
Total debts (Note 1) eEEEE (1) 5,234,674 4,368,763
Equity (Note 2) #m (MEE2) 1,013,031 1,189,289
Equity and total debts AN KRB EREE 6,247,705 5,558,052
Gearing ratio EEBRALX 84% 79%
Notes: B 5E -
1) Total debts comprises of total interest-bearing borrowings, 1) EBEMEaEL B S HhiEE, 26 E

including long-term and short-term borrowings, and debt
component of convertible notes as detailed in Notes 30 and 31

RAKEREMRURIBREKEEENES
BE D Z 5¥ 1B 0 B E B MY 5E30 ) MY 5

respectively.
310

2) Equity includes all capital and reserves attributable to owners of 2) HEEEAANTEE AESFREE &

the Company. e ftit o
Interest rate risk FIESET
The Group’s fair value interest rate risk relates primarily to AEEA NEHZER T E B TEHA
floating interest rate from borrowings (see Note 30 for details ROEESEE (ZREESTHEERE
of these borrowings). The Group currently does not use any MiZE30) o 2t @ B Fi I \1E B[ 67
derivative contracts to hedge its exposure to fair value interest A TEAYETEHEY A AEHX
rate risk. However, the management will consider hedging Ak AT SEBYNEEERHEE
significant interest rate exposure should the need arise. $13h 8 AR R @ B o
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FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued) 5.

Interest rate risk (Continued)

The Group’s cash flow interest rate risk mainly arises from
the Group’s RMB denominated borrowings. It is the Group’s
policy to keep its borrowings at floating rate of interest so as to
minimise the fair value interest rate risk.

The Group’s main interest rate risk arises from borrowings with
variable rates, which expose the Group to cash flow interest
rate risk. The Group manages its interest rate risk by having a
balanced portfolio of fixed and variable rate borrowings.

The exposure of the Group’s borrowings to interest rate
changes at the end of the reporting period are as follows:

MBERER @
FIEAB (&

rEBZESRAENERRR  TE2XKE8
AEBUARBSHEZEE FEEZ
BRAREERFLUEBNERETE U
RADENRRERRERE -

e PEF-PIES S Ll
THEZER B EREAEBEE
RenBNEAR A EBEBESE
R TR RERN L EES TR
R B o

NEBBHRNREHARATENXEH
BRI

2022 % of total 2021 % of total

HK$’000 borrowings HK$’'000 borrowings

—ECCE AN “ET-F ThE™M

AT BEENL BETT REBEDLE

Variable rate borrowings EE-HIESEEN 2,244,296 44% 2,726,132 64%
Fixed rate borrowings ElEFEER 2,846,545 56% 1,509,987 36%
5,090,841 100% 4,236,119 100%

An analysis by maturities is provided in liquidity risk
management below. The percentage of total borrowings shows
the proportion of borrowings that are currently at variable rates
in relation to the total amount of borrowings.

BIHE A BN T ABAREIE
BHBBE S LIS B AR RFIE
BIERIEERGENT HLE o
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5. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued) 5. HHERAMEIR 2

Interest rate risk (Continued)

Interest rate sensitivity analysis

The sensitivity analysis below have been determined based
on the exposure to interest rates for borrowings at the end
of the reporting period. The analysis is prepared assuming
the borrowings outstanding at the end of the reporting period
were outstanding for the whole year. A 50 basis points (2021:
50 basis points) increase or decrease in interest rate is used
when reporting interest rate risk internally to key management
personnel and represents management’s assessment of the
reasonably possible change in interest rates.

If interest rates had been 50 basis points (2021: 50 basis
points) higher/lower and all other variables were held constant,
the Group’s post-tax profit for the year ended 31 December
2022 would decrease/increase by HK$11,221,000 (2021:
profit decrease/increase by HK$13,631,000). This is mainly
attributable to the Group’s exposure to interest rates on its
variable rate borrowings.

Liquidity risk management

Ultimate responsibility for liquidity risk management rest with
the board of Directors. In the management of the liquidity risk,
the Group monitors and maintains a level of cash and cash
equivalents deemed adequate by the management to finance
the Group’s operations and mitigate the effects of fluctuations
in cash flows. The management monitors the utilisation of bank
borrowings and ensures compliance with loan covenants.

CHINA INVESTMENTS HOLDINGS LIMITED v [ 8 3 £ B A B 23 ]
ANNUAL REPORT 2022 4E#

MERER (&

FIE R E DT

UTHRESMBERESRREH
KEENFERERET > DFHERER
BEHAEERBEBEEDNAKRES
MiFER - BEEAANTETEEEAEREF
2 BB B > 5% PR A I8 00 3R D 50E B
(ZE-—F 508 RKEXEEE

MEFELF TH0EH (CT-—
FIS0EM MABHEMEBEERTT
gl AERHEE_S-__F+°8
=t+—HEFEZRREBARLD
HNAE11,221,00070 (ZE - —£F
BRRL B INAER13,631,0007T)
AAREEAREIEEERZTMERR
Frig%g o

RBEERBEE

EXEEgnnEcEAREERKAESR
AN BEERBECRARMS  ~EH
EEREFEEREAEHNESR
REEBYKT > UL T REBAVEE
WRERERERPNTE-EERET
EEERNERBER URERETE

=+ 77 2
ek o



e A5 AR B e

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
HE-S-—Et-A=t - ALEE

For the year ended 31 December 2022

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued) 5. HHERKRER »
Liquidity risk management (Continued) REBEEREKRER (&
The table below analyses the Group’s financial liabilities into AEBZEMEBERERN T ZEHH
relevant maturity groupings based on the remaining period REPRREESNEBBEAHEERH
at the end of the reporting period to the contractual maturity PEETRDM -MTIRZEREHIRE
date. The amounts disclosed in the table are the contractual BHRITBZ2IVESENEWE
undiscounted cash flows:
2022
ot Janf
Weighted Total Total
average On Within Over  undiscounted carrying
interest rate demand 1 year 1-3 years 3-5 years 5 years cash flows amount
i RERRE
TR = EEX —EHR —-E=F —EIE AENE MEEE IREE
% HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BETR AR AR AR BAETR BETR BETR
Trade and other payables BRI R
B 3E - 215913 - = = = 215,913 126,548
Borrowings &3 4.84% 868,077 1,312,184 2,299,658 491,224 676,694 5,647,837 5,000,841
Lease liabilities HEEE 5% - 51,910 104,311 111,428 1,924,037 2,191,686 1,062,634
Convertible notes issued on RIB-NE
23 May 2019 EA-+=H
BT
THRES 10.64% - 12,419 153,813 = = 166,232 143,833
1,083,990 1,376,513 2,557,782 602,652 2,600,731 8,221,668 6,423,856
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December 2022 are included in the “on demand” time band
in the above table. The carrying amount of the borrowings
amounted to approximately HK$799,124,000 (2021:
HK$741,705,000) as at 31 December 2022. Taking into
account the Group’s financial position and assets pledged
for the borrowings, the Directors did not believe that it was
probable that the lenders would exercise the discretionary
rights to demand immediate payments. The Directors believed
that the borrowings would be repaid in accordance with the
repayment schedules set out in the loans agreements. The
total cash outflows for the principals and interests of the
borrowings amounted to approximately HK$868,077,000
(2021: HK$756,979,000). Details of which are set out in the
table below:

5. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued) 5. MERKRERE ®
Liquidity risk management (Continued) REBEEREKRER (&
2021
&
Weighted Total Total
average On Within Over  undiscounted carrying
interest rate demand 1 year 1-3 years 3-5 years 5 years cash flows amount
mi FUERRE
FRI= EEX —ENR —EZF —ERf BENE MERE AREAE
% HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BETR  BETR  MBTR  BETR  BETR  BmTR  BETR
Trade and other payables R
HitEM IR - 175,787 - - - - 175,787 112,850
Borrowings &z 4.81% 756,979 1,043,301 2,100,992 551,497 326,711 4,779,480 4,236,119
Lease liabilities HEaE 5.00% - 52,708 112,162 117,133 2,134,733 2,416,736 1,135,788
Convertible notes issued RZIZ-h&
on 23 May 2019 TA-+=H
BEfT
ThREE 10.64% - 11,188 155,044 - - 166,232 132,644
932,766 1,107,197 2,368,198 668,630 2,461,444 7,538,235 5,617,401
Borrowings with a repayment on demand clause as at 31 N B ZHF+ZA=+—H EZE

KEZERIVERTALRTEEXR]
EREEMEN R _E_—_&E+_-H4
St+—B ERNEEEANBE
799,124,000t (Z&2Z—4% . B
741,705,0007T) ° 5t R AE BB KR
&ﬁﬁwfﬁfﬁ%&%ﬁﬂ%E@ﬁ&%’%%ﬁT\

BRERANGITERERERIRNE
fA°%$w%E?ﬁ{aﬁ\H SRBEMG

ETEZERREE - ZEERZ AR
iﬁﬁ%ﬁ%%@ﬁﬁ%n@%ﬂ%%s,ow,ooo
o (ZE - —4 1 B1756,979,0007T) ©
EBEN TR

Maturity Analysis - Borrowings with a repayment on demand clause base on schedule repayment

HH B - BitER A RERBERERBOER

Total Total
Within Over undiscounted carrying
1 year 1-3 years 3-5 years 5 years cash flows amount
RERRE
—ENR —-E=f ZELE AENE MERE MRmE(E
\HKVSB'OO_O HK$'000 ‘HK$’OO_O HK$'000 \HK$’OO_O HK$'000
BETT BT 8T BT BT AR
As at 31 December 2022 2T E+CR=1-H 85,552 752,629 4,313 25,523 868,077 799,124
As at 31 December 2021 2 -F+ZR=1-H 713,427 12,329 4,146 21,077 756,979 741,705
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HE_Z-__F+"B=+—HLLEE Forthe year ended 31 December 2022

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)
Credit risk

As at 31 December 2022 and 2021,
exposure to credit risk which will cause a financial loss to

the Group’s maximum

the Group due to failure to discharge an obligation by the
counterparties equals to the carrying amount of respective
financial assets as stated in the consolidated statement
of financial position. The Group’s credit risk is primarily
attributable to trade receivables and finance lease receivables.
Credit risk on other receivables is limited because there was
no historical default record has been made during the year and
the Directors expect that the general economic conditions will
not significantly changed for the 12 months after the reporting
date.

In order to minimise the credit risk, the management of the
Group has delegated a team responsible for determining of
credit limits, credit approvals and other monitoring procedures
to ensure that follow-up action is taken to recover overdue
In addition, the
management of the Group reviews the recoverable amount

debts (please refer to Notes 25 and 27).

of each individual receivable at the end of reporting period
to ensure that adequate allowance for ECL is made for
irrecoverable amounts. In this regard, the Directors of the
Company consider that the Group’s credit risk is significantly

reduced.

The Group applied the simplified approach to measure ECL on
trade receivables. Under the simplified approach, the Group
measures the loss allowance at an amount equal to lifetime
ECL, which is calculated using a provision matrix.

5.

MBERER @
EEAR

m:;__E&_v_—¢+ A
—t+—H AERERBEERARSHF
N Eh%Eﬁmeﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁ%
NEeEERBEENGSH BRI
KAPANSEcHMEENRERE K
EBZEERBEEREBWERERK
BEA SRR - RFUEEFENT
A EFHABREHABI2CEAR
BRERABIAGEEETAE WA
FHMERRENEERRERR

#»RENEEERE  AEENEERE
BEKEGKEEEEEERE 1]
Z R EMBZERRF > UHERERENR
EE R ER (F RMfsE255%27) © b5t
AERNEEENRSHRBEEMAE
Rl FE R 2 BT YR [B] = 26 > LUBE (R 0%
WRIEERIFLEN ZFRMEEHER
BeoBIEME  *EENEERER B E
EEZEERBRARER-

AERBERABEDAGFEBBERERZ
BHREEBE -REMGLEIN £&E
ERNERREHBERESEHEENEER
(RERERSE) sTEBIRERE
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B

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)
Credit risk (Continued)

To measure the ECL on trade receivables, based on forward-
looking economic information through the use of industry trend
and experienced credit judgement as well as past experience
including historical credit loss experience and current
expectations, the Group has collectively used a provision
matrix with 5% ECL rate on total carrying amount of trade
receivables from hotel operation, while used provision matrices
with different ECL rates separated based on different customer
segments or past due status on total carrying amount of trade
receivables from big data business, civil explosives business,
and industrial parks and property development and wellness
elderly care business.

To measure the ECL on finance lease receivables, finance lease
receivables have been grouped based on shared credit risk
characteristics. The Group has collectively applied provision
matrix with different ECL rates, which classified the credit risk
regarding finance lease receivables into 4 grades. ECL rates of
the Group’s finance lease receivables, which represent internal
credit risk ratings, are based on qualitative (such as lessee’s
operating conditions, financial positions, usage of finance lease
assets, etc.) and quantitative factors (mainly include past due
information of the finance lease receivables). The following
table provides information about the exposure to credit risk of
finance lease receivables and the provision matrix showing the
ECL as at 31 December 2022 and 2021.

CHINA INVESTMENTS HOLDINGS LIMITED v [ 8 3 £ B A B 23 ]
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ETET_F+"F=+—HLEEE For the year ended 31 December 2022

MBERER @
EHAR (&)

BEtERUEERZAREERE UE
BrTx#%REEBE AEERNERA
i BEEERRELERNBELR

RBESRERSEROAEEEEER
K%EE%—E%—@%@?%FZ
BURMBBEZADZEEREERS
%%%%ﬁﬁ@’ﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁ\ﬁ
RRFmES EXERDELERRK
REBEXH ZRUWIRNEERER
UAEBEESEIABRRIME DT
FIBVTREE R IRR BB AR -

B ERERERWRZEREES
B REEERERRENKEZEERAR
BEDE -~ERER—ERTREESR
EEBBXNEREERER FREEE

WM EERBRD SR - AEERE
HERWRZ BREEBEER BIAX
NBMEERBRTR DHEREM GIA

HALER R MBRR REHES
ERRE) AEE (TEOEREHEE

WM ERER) REME - T&RIE
R & H B B WGV & & A &
BRTAIR-_E__FR_F_—F+=
B=+—HREBGEEBEEXNERFE
BZBREN-
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FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued) 5.

Credit risk (Continued)

e A5 AR B e

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

B %5 L bR

SEE @

EERR (@)

31 December 2022

—E-_F#+_-"HA=+—H

FE+ZB=+—HIEEE For the year ended 31 December 2022

ECL rates Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Total
FEHAEE
E5iEE F—PEER B PEER B=PEER st
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
BT T BT T BT BT
Internal credit ratings REF{E S E4K
Grade 1 - Low risk F—Rh— KAk
- Government related  —mE (MEE1)
(note 1) 0.5% 1,963,454 - - 1,963,454
Grade 2 - Low risk FEHR—ERER
- Others (note 2) —H A (fF5E2) 1.3% 1,995,288 - - 1,995,288
Grade 3 — Medium risk =&k — T A
(note 3) (F5E3) 10% 29,969 - - 29,969
Grade 4 — Default FHHR—EDN
(note 4) (3 5E4) 100% - - 23,717 23,717
3,988,711 - 23,717 4,012,428
Less: allowance for B TREEEES
expected credit BERE
losses* (37,008) - (23,520)  (60,528)
Net carrying amount BREFE 3,951,703 - 197 3,951,900
* The loss allowance is calculated after detucting finance lease * BEREERIIMRMERER S EBGR

interest receivables and finance lease deposits received.

MEWREEEZRE -
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5. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued) 5. HERKEIRE =
Credit risk (Continued) EERE (&

31 December 2021
- —#+-A=+-H

ECL rates Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Total
FBHEE
[SEi=ES BB 5 _PEER FE=PEER iy
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
BT BT T BT T BIEF T
Internal credit ratings REF{E S E4K
Grade 1 - Low risk F—Rh— KAk
- Government related — M E (ff3E1)
(note 1) 0.5% 1,621,061 — — 1,621,061
Grade 2 — Low risk B — KAk
— Others (note 2) —HAth (5E2) 1.3% 1,637,404 - - 1,637,404
3,258,465 - - 3,258,465
Less: allowance for B TEEREEES
expected credit B E
losses* (28,058) - - (28,058)
Net carrying amount IREFE 3,230,407 - - 3,230,407

CHINA INVESTMENTS HOLDINGS LIMITED v [ 8 3 £ B A B 23 ]
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FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)

Credit risk (Continued)

Notes:

Grade 1 category is finance lease receivables which are
government related customers. Such customers are determined
to have low credit risk and related lease receivables have no past
due.

Grade 2 category is finance lease receivables which are the
customers without government relationship. Such customers are
determined to have low credit risk if the related finance lease
receivables have no past due.

Grade 3 category is the finance lease receivables with
customers’ credit profiles are acceptable.

Grade 4 category is the finance lease receivables that are past
due.

MBERER @
EHAR (&)
BysE -

1. F—REESERFEBNEFR
ERERWTR - LT R BERT R
EERBMEEMNEERERER
RERE B W REHT

2. BIBEERFBUTHEBEMNZTRER
BERERWTR - LR R BERT R
EERBMEEMNEERE RN
ERHRE R ARAE -

3. FoRETAMEEBERERMERE
FERRRAR/IER

4. BRI RERMOREHEE R
ERHREHERBR-
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5. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued) 5. HHERKRER »
Credit risk (Continued) FERRE &)
Movements in the accounts related to ECL/impairment loss BRARWERR S HhEUIERIE R E

BERKRNEREERE HERRE

in respect of trade receivables, other receivables and finance

lease receivables are summarised as follows: BB
Finance
Trade Other lease
receivables  receivables  receivables Total
MEHRE
FEWERT  HtmEkIE FE Yk 1Bz
(Note 27) (Note I) (Note 25)
(M zE27) (B zE1) (Pf5¥25)
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BT BT BT BETT
Balance as at 1 January 2021 AZ2Z-%—-HA—H 251 40,203 17,452 57,906
Allowance for expected credit losses/ BRAZBHEEERER/
impairment loss recognised RERL 499 - 9,847 10,346
Allowance for expected credit losses BHEEHEERE 2 0%
written back (5) - - (5)
Exchange differences [ERERE 17 1,330 759 2,106
Balance as at 1 January 2022 AT _F—H—H 762 41,533 28,058 70,353
Allowance for expected credit losses/ BRAZBHEEERR/
impairment loss recognised HEBL 276 2,329 35,669 38,274
Exchange differences fERER (67) (3,307) (3,199) (6,573)
Balance as at 31 December 2022 A S =
=+—H 971 40,555 60,528 102,054

CHINA INVESTMENTS HOLDINGS LIMITED b 2 8L 3% £ B 45 BR 23 5]
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5. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued) 5.

Credit risk (Continued)

Note:

In 2020, impairment loss was recognised in other receivables,
which represents consideration receivables amounted to
RMB33,850,000 in relation to the disposal of the Group’s
25% equity in Guangdong Financial Leasing Co., Limited* that
management consider was uncollectible in full.

Fair value

i) Fair values of financial assets
The following table provides an analysis of financial
assets that are measured at fair value subsequent to

initial recognition, grouped into Level 1 to 3 based on the
degree to which the input is observable:

HERAEEE @
EERAK (&
MisE :

EAfxfﬁi ?‘Ef’ﬂfﬂ&%’xlﬁqﬂﬁﬁ
MERK ILHIEEEEDRSH
Eftij%i;%%ﬂwﬂﬁﬂ EI‘E’/}E
Z25%RENAERERBARK
33,850,0007T £ 2 ZE UK [E] ©

QRE

) EHBEEZAAE
TR PP EEBEARRE
SAEZEMEEZD LD A

RO ANBEZIEREDES—
—V\‘&

As at 31 December 2022
RZE2--H+Z-H=+—H

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
F—& B4R B4R Ht
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
BAETT AT BAETT BETT
Recurring fair value EMAREHE
measurements:
Financial assets at fair value BARBERABRZ
through profit or loss: TREE
Unlisted equity investment FELETRHOBEE - - 1,977 1,977
Option granted for selling BY—RNBEAR
the 72% equity interest HEFIEERER
in a subsidiary to 2% RERVHRE
non-controlling interest - - 89,898 89,898
- - 91,875 91,875

*

For identification purpose only
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B

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued) 5. MEREKREIRE &
Fair value (Continued) DA (E)
i) Fair values of financial assets (Continued) i) ZTHEEZAAME (B
As at 31 December 2021
RZIEZ—F+°-A=+—H
Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
E— B Et imst
HK$'000 HK$’ 000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BT T BT BT BB
Recurring fair value REMARETE
measurements:
Financial assets at fair value BARESTABRZ
through profit or loss: ERMEE .
Unlisted equity investment FELTROBEE - - 8,187 8,187
Option granted for selling BY—RNEAR
the 72% equity interest HEFEERER
in a subsidiary to 2% RERI A
non-controlling interest - - 54,868 54,868
- - 63,055 63,055

There were no transfers between Level 1, Level 2 and

Level 3 during the year.

The Group’s financial assets are measured at fair value

at the end of each reporting period. The following

table gives information about how the fair value of the

financial asset is determined (in particular, the valuation
technique(s) and inputs used).

CHINA INVESTMENTS HOLDINGS LIMITED b 2 8L 3% £ B 45 BR 23 5]
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5. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued) 5.

Fair value (Continued)

0
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

BE_E__F+_A=+—HLHFE

Fair values of financial assets (Continued)

For the year ended 31 December 2022

HERAEEE @
ARME (4

) EHREEZAALMEE)

Fair value  Valuation technique and Significant unobservable
Financial asset Fair value as at hierarchy key inputs input(s)
ETHMEE RUTEENARE AREZFR HERTRIZEHARE EATTERBABE
2022 2021
—g-C B —F
HK$’000 HK$’000
BETTT BT
Unlisted equity
investment
FEMRMNEE
- Financial asset A - 1,309 Level 3 Asset Approach - The attributable net asset
—THEEA B4R BEEDNE value, adjusted to fair
value
— EEEEFE BEER
E
- Financial asset B - 4,155 Level 3 Asset Approach - The attributable net asset
—THMEEB B4R BEEDNE value, adjusted to fair
value
— EEEEFE BEER
E
- Financial asset C 1,977 2,723 Level 3 Income approach - discounted -  Discount rate: 13%
—EMEEC E=MH cash flow analysis (2021: 10.68%)
WA E-BERBERENT - Discount for lack of
marketability rate: 30%
(2021: 30%)
— BAERE 1 13%
(ZZFZ—% :10.68%)
— RZHGRBMTER
30%
(Z2ZT—%:30%)
Option granted for 89,898 54,868 Level 3 Binomial pricing model — - Volatility, determined by
selling the 72% B this approach, certain reference to historical

equity interest
in a subsidiary
to the non-
controlling
interest

BY—RNEAR
HETFIEER
HE72%85 1
B EARE

parameters determined by
management are input into
the binomial model to derive
the valuation of the option.
“EAEBERE-MBILE %
a@Fﬁm%EF*%ﬂ%
ZIENIRE DUEREAE
W%Eo
Certain parameters include:
- Risk-free rate 2.37%
(2021: 2.28%)
- Volatility 42.05%
(2021:36.37%)
ET2H8E:
— BEEREANE2.37%
(ZZZT—5:2.28%)
K 1842.05%
(ZZZ—%:36.37%)

CHINA INVESTMENTS TOLDINGS LIMITED j7]8 BUERE I A B2 ]
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5. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued) 5.

Fair value (Continued)

i) Fair values of financial assets (Continued)

Reconciliation of Level 3 fair value measurements

A 75 R

[EEIR

ARE #E)

) EHREEZAALMEGE

BZRAAEHEZHIR

2022 2021

=~ - BT %

HK$’000 HK$’000

BT T BT

As at 1 January w—A—H 63,055 77,524

Disposal HE (5,184) -
Increase/(decrease) in fair value of FFABRZERHEE S
financial assets at fair value through NAERN, G

profit or loss (Note a) (fF3%a) 39,907 (16,730)

Exchange differences PERZE%R (5,903) 2,261

As at 31 December R+ZB=+—H 91,875 63,055

Note:

(@)  Total fair value changes of financial assets at fair
value through profit or loss of HK$39,907,000 (2021:
HK$16,295,000) has been recognised in the consolidated
statement of profit or loss for the year, which the fair value
gain attributed to Level 3 financial assets amounted to
HK$39,907,000 (2021: fair value loss HK$16,730,000 and
the fair value loss attributed to other payables amounted to
HK$435,000).

CHINA INVESTMENTS HOLDINGS LIMITED v [ 8 3 £ B A B 23 ]
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FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)

Summary of financial assets and liabilities by category

The carrying amounts of the Group’s financial assets and
liabilities as recognised at the end of the reporting period are

F+ZRA=+—HLEE

5.

e A5 AR B e

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
For the year ended 31 December 2022

MERRERE @

RENBDSZEHEEREGEHE

FEBRRGEARIZEMEERE
TEEEETET&M"FQ‘EBU%‘JQ cER T A

categorised as follows. See Note 3 for explanations about DEHHEBHEZ X ERBAI2EMN
how the classification of financial instruments affects their 5E30
subsequent measurement.
2022 2021
—EFZZ BT
HK$’000 HK$’000
AT T AT
Financial assets ERMEE
Financial assets at fair value BRAMEFAB@mZ
through profit or loss EREE 91,875 63,055
Financial assets measured BEHENATEZ
at amortised cost: EREE
Rental deposits HEZE 5,668 5,855
Trade and other receivables FE WL BR = R E A
FE W R IE 106,232 108,604
Finance lease receivables == 3,951,900 3,230,407
Pledged bank deposit BIRHIRITER 24,956 349,418
Cash and bank balances & RIRITAS R 999,250 526,837
5,179,881 4,284,176
Financial liabilities o SR
Financial liabilities measured BEIH A E Y
at amortised cost: EHEE:
Convertible notes EIEYE S 143,833 132,644
Lease liabilities HEaE 1,062,634 1,135,788
Trade and other payables FEATBR A R E A
P& RIE 126,548 112,850
Borrowings &R 5,090,841 4,236,119
6,423,856 5,617,401
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ANNUAL REPORT 2022 44



222

e A5 AR B

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

HE_Z__F+_"_H=+—HILt Forthe year ended 31 December 2022

6. REVENUE 6.

Revenue represents the gross amounts received and receivable
for revenue arising on big data business, civil explosives
business, hotel operation, industrial parks and property
development, property investments and wellness elderly care
business, goods sold by and services rendered from the Group
to outside customers less return and allowances and gross

rental income, interest income generated from financial leasing

HZA

WATIEFRBABEEL RAR
VERmEB BIEEE EXBERMER
BR-MERBERKRBEEEET X &
EEiRERHESRMIEHRE L
HFREBE R0 E £ W A KB ERFR
EEZEWRERZ WAL BRE
HEPEEZH B WA KB SN UER

and consultancy fee income received from outsiders during the BHRBEE WA
year.
The amount of each significant category of revenue recognised FREEWRATHEINZSBEEHR
during the year is as follows: HEERAOT
2022 2021
—E-= —Eo
HK$’000 HK$'000
BT T BT T
Continuing operations FERE X
Revenue from contracts with RE—RERBEREN
customers recognised at a ZURATERD
point in time:
Construction of platform and operating AREIBEBBEETER
income from big data business EEIA 2,034 12,121
Consultancy service income from financial FRE &5 RFSUWA
leasing 101,305 62,817
Logistics income from civil explosives ERAIEEREREHWA
business 9,552 11,032
Operating income from industrial parks and EXERYELEREE
property development A 13,862 7,126
Operating income from wellness elderly AEEEEZEBESBENRA
care business (Note i) (Bfs 5%1) 56,229 32,103
Other income from hotel operation EE  EAEE WA 2,130 934
Sales of emulsion explosives THE A 1EVEEE 170,168 129,815
Sales of properties held for sales HEFEMEIWA 4,180 -
359,460 255,948
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BHE-_ZT-_HF+"HB=+—HIE Forthe year ended 31 December 2022
REVENUE (continued) 6. WA ®
2022 2021
—E-Z T4
HK$’000 HK$'000
BT BIEF T
Revenue from contracts with RE—FEREBETEEREEN
customers recognised over time: 2 ATERD :
Service income from hotel operation BIEEE WA 2,804 6,161
Service income from industrial parks and — EZE &Y # 2 RBRTS
property development A 4,673 1,149
Service income from wellness elderly care AEEEEEZEEERIEWA
business (Note ii) (B i) 66,229 45,651
Technical service income from big data KEIEZEFE M ARTS I A
business 11,014 19,937
Income on explosives engineering from RABRFRERRKEITRE
civil explosives business A 15,418 -
100,138 72,898
Revenue from other sources: Hhg A ZRIE
Rental income from hotel properties EEFE WA 4,796 5,036
Rental income from industrial parks and EXxERYMEZRES
property development WA 63,766 22,509
Rental income from investment properties B EYERSEY XA
and properties held for sale A 10,292 11,128
Interest income from financial leasing ZEMERAENH EWA 229,180 153,327
308,034 192,000
767,632 520,846
Notes: MIEE
It includes medical care service income, operating income from () HboiEBERBBA -EZREF
elderly care services platform and others. BEEWRAMEM-
i, It includes management service income, nursing care service i)y EFSESERBWA ZFERBW
income and service income from elderly care services platform. AT EBEBEZBRBEFESRBUA -

CHINA INVESTMENTS HOLDINGS LIMITED o [ B3 £ B A BR 2 6]
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E-E - _F+_"_F=+—HILE Forthe year ended 31 December 2022

SEGMENT INFORMATION

For management purposes, the Group is currently organised
into seven operating divisions — big data business, civil
explosives business, financial leasing, hotel operation, industrial
parks and property development, property investments and
wellness elderly care business. These divisions are the basis on
which the Group reports its primary segment information.

Principal activities are as follows:

Big data business — industrial internet platform
construction, smart city
construction and big data
operation and management

Civil explosives — manufacture and sale of emulsion
business explosives and explosive

engineering

Financial leasing — provision of finance lease consulting
services and financing services in
the PRC

Hotel operation — hotel ownership and management

Industrial parks — holding investment in the

and property development and construction of

development industrial parks

Property investments holding investment properties and

properties held for sale

Wellness elderly care comprehensive elderly care services

business

For the property investments, the management reviews the
financial information of each property investment, hence each
property investment constitutes a separate operating segment.
However, the property investments possess similar economic
characteristics, and are with similar development and selling
activities as well as similar customer bases. Therefore, all
property investments are aggregated into one reportable
segment for segment reporting purposes.

CHINA INVESTMENTS HOLDINGS LIMITED v [ 8 3 £ B A B 23 ]
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
HE_Z__F+_"_HB=+—HBIL Forthe year ended 31 December 2022

SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued) 7. DEEFE @

W-ZB—BER T-BOXOEB LI
Qo Y THMER Y 2REFEEE
4R IR RIS S 58 HE BTN

T-BOX® business was discontinued since year 2020. The
segment information reported below does not include any
amount for this discontinued operation, which is described in

more details in Note 11.

Segment information about these continuing operations

presented below:

EARK

Segment revenue

ERZEREFBEEZEB 2D
BERZ5WTF

Segment result

DEWA DEEE
2022 2021 2022 2021
—E-C B —F —E-C B —F
HK$°000 HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$'000
AT BB AT BT T
Big data business REBER 13,048 32,058 7,751 5,955
Civil explosives business ERBIERERS 195,138 140,847 11,882 (12,048)
Financial leasing RERE 330,485 216,144 127,447 85,187
Hotel operation BIEER 9,730 12,131 (7,507) (6,422)
Industrial parks and property EEXRRMELRE
development 82,301 30,784 30,536 3,859
Property investments MEKE 14,472 11,128 (695) 16,245
Wellness elderly care business ABEEEEE 122,458 77,754 (14,631) 2,876
Total 4t 767,632 520,846 154,783 95,652
Bank interest income RITFEUA 10,959 7,722
Increase/(decrease) in fair value of SPABmZEREEZA
financial assets at fair value through &0, Gai2b)
profit or loss 39,907 (16,295)
Finance costs (excluding interest on ~ B H (FEEHRES
lease liabilities) B2 E) (77,942) (51,831)
Interest income from wealth REEMERIFEWRA
management product - 284
Net central administration cost PRITERL AR 5 (36,212) (28,102)
Net exchange (loss)/gain FER (18K) /WamFEE (6,295) 389
Professional fee HEER (5,485) (5,920)
Share of profits of an associate LB E QB RA 4,727 25,361
Profit before taxation BRIt AT & A 84,442 27,260
Income tax expense FriSiifEs (41,615) (16,382)
Profit for the year from continuing FERE 2 AFERF
operations 42,827 10,878

CHINA INVESTMENTS HOLDINGS LIMITED o [ B3 £ B A BR 2 6]
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HE_Z__F+_"_H=+—HILt Forthe year ended 31 December 2022

SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued)

Segment revenue reported above represents revenue
generated from external customers. There were no inter-
segment sale in the current year (2021: Nil).

Segment result represents the profit generated by each
segment without allocation of bank interest income, increase/
(decrease) in fair value of financial assets at fair value through
profit or loss, finance costs (excluding interest on lease
liabilities), interest income from wealth management product,
professional fee, net central administration costs, net exchange
(loss)/gain and share of profit of an associate. This is the
measure reported to the Group’s management for the purposes
of resources allocation and performance assessment.

CHINA INVESTMENTS HOLDINGS LIMITED v [ 8 3 £ B A B 23 ]
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

HE_Z__"HF+"H=+—HIt Forthe year ended 31 December 2022
SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued) 7. AEEN @
Segment assets and liabilities DHEERER
2022 2021
—8-= -
HK$'000 HK$'000
BB T BT T
Segment assets PHEE
Continuing operations FFERE X5
Big data business REIEETS 25,577 24,098
Civil explosives business RABIFmER 417,423 444,366
Financial leasing MERE 4,002,208 3,260,087
Hotel operation BIEER 118,965 138,233
Industrial parks and property development EXERYEERE 2,403,858 2,479,546
Property investments MEKRE 285,596 355,306
Wellness elderly care business ABREEEER 113,435 31,414
Total segment assets Mo IEE 7,367,062 6,733,050
Pledged bank deposits BEFIRITER 24,956 349,418
Cash and bank balances R RSR1TAE BR 999,250 526,837
Interests in an associate REE A B E 517,219 556,026
Financial assets at fair value BAMNE ﬁ)\%ﬁ%ﬁz
through profit or loss THMEE 91,875 63,055
Other unallocated assets HihRkpEEEE 69,113 71,190
9,069,475 8,299,576
Assets relating to discontinued operation B&RIFESEIEY
BE 110 125
Consolidated assets REEE 9,069,585 8,299,701
Segment Liabilities nHaE
Continuing operations FERE X5
Big data business REURETS 10,285 19,186
Civil explosives business ERRERER 128,282 121,889
Financial leasing MEMRE 3,367,952 2,913,635
Hotel operation BIEER 2,097 2,648
Industrial parks and property development EXERYEER 2,103,397 1,844,354
Property investments MERE 84,348 110,370
Wellness elderly care business ABREEEER 110,682 37,548
Total segment liabilities wmoyIaE 5,807,043 5,049,630
Convertible notes O] 4 g ZR 48 143,833 132,644
Borrowings =R 969,060 877,706
Other unallocated liabilities HhxnE&E 55,771 46,163
6,975,707 6,106,143
Liabilities relating to discontinued BARIREXEE Y
operations =R 1,093 1,102
Consolidated liabilities REafl 6,976,800 6,107,245
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7.

s — am— —
g, ———

SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued)

Other segment information

2022

Continuing operations

F+"HB=+—HILt For the year ended 31 December 2022

7. HER @

Hitt D& E#H
—EZC

Industrial Wellness
Civil parks and elderly
Big data  explosives Financial Hotel property Property care
business business leasing operation development investments business Total
RABER EX£ER AER
AUEEH % MERE BEEH MEER MERE BEEY st
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
AR BT BETTT BB BETT BETT AR BETT
Depreciation of property plant and #%BERRZETE
equipment 1,382 17,117 834 9,289 8,557 2,502 2,854 42,535
Depreciation of right-of-use assets FREEERE - 67 - - 32,145 - - 32,212
Additions to property, plantand ~ ¥1%¥ \BERRERE
equipment 36 9,813 1,113 13 185,012 m 80,896 277,660
Loss on disposal of property, plant £ FE R&E 2
and equipment B% - 2,437 - 37 - 646 - 3,120
Allowance for expected credit ~ BERERUKTZBH
losses on finance lease EEEBEE
receivables - - 35,669 - - - - 35,669
2021 —_E—F
Continuing operations FBRE 2 275
Industrial Wellness
Civil parks and elderly
Big data explosives Financial Hotel property Property care
business business leasing operation  development  investments business Total
REBIER EXER AEE
RUEEH £% HERE AEER MEER NxERE BELH st
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BETR  BBTR  BMTR  BBTR  BMTR  BBTR  EmTR  #ETR
Depreciation of property plant and 1% BB & & &%
equipment 1,228 13,960 942 9,622 4,228 2,790 1,842 34,512
Depreciation of right-of-use assets fFREEERE - 176 - - 33,283 - - 33,459
Additions to property, plantand 1%\ BERBERE
equipment 2,233 42,533 1563 126 551,495 477 4,416 601,433
Loss on disposal of property, plant £ BER&E 2
and equipment g% - 8,971 - 56 - - - 9,027
Allowance for expected credit ~ REREREKZ 2 BH
losses on finance lease BEEBEE
receivables - - 9,847 - - - - 9,847
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
HE_Z__F+_"_HB=+—HBIL Forthe year ended 31 December 2022

SEGMENT INFORMATION (continuea)
Geographical segments

The Group’s big data business, civil explosives business,
financial leasing, hotel operation, industrial parks and property
development and wellness elderly care business are located in
the People’s Republic of China (the “PRC”), other than Hong
Kong.

Property investments are located in both the PRC and Hong
Kong.

The Group’s revenue from external customers by location of
operation and information about its non-current assets by
location of assets are detailed below:

DEEE @
R E D EE R

FEBZARBEEZF RRAEBEFRE
B RMEHE EEER EXERY
FERMARBEEEXBUNRPEA
REME (MhE) - FEEEE-

MEREHURHERER -

FEBEBIIBEL 2 WmBEEN
BN hEFRDEEREENES
DZER FHT ¢

Revenue from

external customers Non-current assets*

SMERE P Z SHE I3 FEREEE
2022 2021 2022 2021
>t I -F >t B F
HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$'000
BT T BEFIT AT BEFIT
The PRC FE 767,114 520,285 2,168,899 1,970,946
Hong Kong 58 518 561 18,504 19,505
767,632 520,846 2,187,403 1,990,451

Non-current assets excluded deductible value added tax,
deferred tax assets, financial assets at fair value through
profit or loss, finance lease receivables, goodwill, interests in
an associate, rental deposits, right-of-use assets and other
unallocated non-current assets.

Information about major customers

During the year, HK$145,052,000 out of the Group’s revenues
from continuing operations of HK$767,632,000 arising from
civil explosives business were contributed by a customer
accounted for approximately 19% of Group’s total revenue.
There were no other customers who contributed more than 5%
of the Group’s total revenue.

* FERPEEFBERGFRINEGER
EIERMBEE - BAREBEFAERZ
TREE MEASREE - BE -
ENEED HERE EHREEE
REMARDEIFREEE

FEEZREHN

RERN RERAERT67,632,0007T
REREREZEBNEEEXHENW
AFEBEERREREBEFRERNAER
145,052,000t M A ZRBEEH — I F
FoMmEEBZERFEENBAGLEER
CEEBALI% T REHEMERE
EERAEEEEE 5%
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HE_Z__F+_"_H=+—HILt Forthe year ended 31 December 2022

8. OTHER OPERATING INCOME

Other operating income included the following items: HME&EWABIEUTIER
2022 2021
—EZZ —ET—fF
HK$’000 HK$’000
AT T BT
Continuing operations FFERE X
Bank interest income RITH B UA 10,959 7,722
Compensation and government subsidies & U % 18 & B #8584
received
— Direct government grant — BN BEEmS 18,901 11,306
- Recognition of deferred income — IR U R T B 101,176 93,139
Dividend income from financial assets at A AEFF ABHZ &7
fair value through profit or loss BEEZREWA 580 959
Gain on disposal of financial assets at fair HEZAAETAEBEZ
value through profit or loss ETHMEEZWE 3,922 -
Income from lending of emulsion matrix REBHEILBEERIT X
and industrial detonation cords BIRREENIRA
production capacity 5,499 4,540
Effective interest income from rental REHERESNERMNE
deposits KA 278 271
Interest income from wealth management 2K B2 8 & @A WA
product = 284

CHINA INVESTMENTS HOLDINGS LIMITED b 2 8L 3% £ B 45 BR 23 5]
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HE_Z__F+_"_HB=+—HBIL Forthe year ended 31 December 2022

FINANCE COSTS 9. MHEXZH
2022 2021
- T4
HK$’000 HK$’000
BB T T BT
Continuing operations REKEZER
Handling fee FRE 3,350 -
Loan arrangement fee EREHE - 3,202
Interest on (Note): TEEBEZHE (i)
- Bank loans —IRITEM 49,963 25,195
- Convertible notes — Pk R 14,514 13,404
— Lease liabilities —HHEaRE 53,505 55,234
- Loan from immediate holding company —EZEIZR AT ZEMR 4,603 3,136
— Loan from non-controlling interest —JEEREm BN 1,382 2,677
- Other loans —HME® 4,130 4,217
128,097 103,863
131,447 107,065
Note: b 53

Interest on borrowings under finance costs is arrived at after
deducting capitalised interest of approximately HK$14,453,000 (2021:
approximately HK$10,629,000) and cost of borrowings from financial
leasing included in costs of sales and services of approximately
HK$150,603,000 (2021: approximately HK$105,490,000) from
total interest expenses recognised in the year of approximately
HK$293,153,000 (2021: approximately HK$219,982,000).

MHEZHBETHERANEDHERESR
ZHEAR B H49E1293,153,0007T (ZF
— I #97816219,982,0007T) KB E
KACF E LB H14,453,00078 (Z B - —
F B 10,629,0007) Rt ABER
REMRAZHKEMERAENERRELY
A 5150,603,0007T (ZEZ—£F | L9781
105,490,0007T) BFTEH °
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HE_Z__F+_"_H=+—HILt Forthe year ended 31 December 2022

10. INCOME TAX EXPENSE 10. FRIiEMRAX
2022 2021
—s-= —E=-—&
HK$’000 HK$’000
BT T BT T
Continuing operations FBREZER
Tax charges comprise: RIBMAZ B
Current tax: KERIE .
Provision for PRC Enterprises FRE TSRS
Income Tax (49,077) (27,234)
Under provision in previous year: BEFEREERRE !
PRC Enterprises Income Tax R TR (1,494) (1,339)
Deferred tax (Note 32): IRIEFRIE (FY5E32) -
Temporary differences arising KEZHERUHER
in current year 8,956 12,191
(41,615) (16,382)
Hong Kong profits tax is calculated at the rate of 16.5% REEGFERREFNEEFER

(2021: 16.5%) on the estimated assessable profits for the
year, except for the first HK$2,000,000 of a qualified entity’s
assessable profit which is calculated at 8.25% (2021: 8.25%),
in accordance with two-tiered profits tax rate regime with effect
from the year of assessment 2018/2019.

No provision for Hong Kong profits tax has been made as the
Group has no assessable profits in Hong Kong for the year
ended 31 December 2022 (2021: Nil).

PRC subsidiaries are subject to PRC Enterprise Income Tax at
25% for the year ended 31 December 2022 (2021: 25%).

CHINA INVESTMENTS HOLDINGS LIMITED v [ 8 3 £ B A B 23 ]
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10. INCOME TAX EXPENSE (Continued)

The tax charge for the year can be reconciled to the profit
before taxation per the consolidated statement of profit or loss
and other comprehensive income as follows:

10.

e A5 AR B e

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
HE_Z__F+_"_HB=+—HBIL Forthe year ended 31 December 2022

FRiFIRZ @)

RipGmGREmkEMEERRER FA
MIAST HP] B @A H AR > WEHMMT

2022 2021
s —ET—F
HK$’000 HK$'000
BETT BT
Profit before taxation PR Al & A 84,442 27,260
Tax at the rates applicable to profit in the IZBEBEERMNEBNEEZ
countries concerned MEFEZRIE (19,817) (7,123)
Tax effect of share of profit of an associate FELEIE AT EA] 2
MG E 1,003 6,940
Tax effect of non deductible expenses ENEEaE
MBEE (34,257) (53,167)
Tax effect of non taxable revenue 3!5%5%@4&7\2
MHET B 24,077 50,243
Tax effect of tax loss not recognised RIERMIBRIE 2
ML E (13,598) (12,166)
Effect of tax exemptions granted to PRC ~ #E#FHENE AT Z
subsidiaries MHBER 2,471 230
Under-provision of previous year BEEEZEHIR (1,494) (1,339)
Tax effect for the year KEEBEZRBERE (41,615) (16,382)
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11. DISCONTINUED OPERATION

The outbreak of COVID-19 has impacted the operating
environment of the Group’s T-BOX® business. In this regard,
the Board resolved to cease the Group’s T-BOX® business
(“discontinued operation”) on 1 July 2020 after considering the
difficult operation environment.

The results of the discontinued operation included in
the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income and consolidated statement of cash
flows for the year ended 31 December 2022 are set out below.

The comparative (loss)/gain and cash flows from discontinued
operation have been re-presented to include those operation

11. BARIEES

EZER

MR RS BEEHNT-BOXOE
BIRBENTE-FILMS > TR
BNEERE BEGREN ST
FLtA-—HRLEXREEMNT-BOX X
(TERLEEEZER)) -

BE_T_"_F+-RB=t+—HL#F
B st AGReBEm REMEER R ERK
HMERETRERZIERILEEEXEH
ES LA NI

REERIEREEB LR (BB
BIRREEREEEEY) UFRFE

classified as discontinued in the current year. BOEARNFEERIEKEER-
2022 2021
- Sl 5 T —F
HK$’000 HK$'000
AT T BEF T
Revenue WA = -
Cost of sales PHE A A - -
Gross profit EF - -
Other operating income HM&E WA 7 14
Administrative expenses TR (10) 5)
Finance costs B - -
(Loss)/profit before taxation from BRI EETS
discontinued operation FRIRAT (B8 &BF (3) 9
Income tax expense FriEi R~ - -
(Loss)/profit for the year from discontinued B 4& |F 4% 5%
operation and attributable to owners of KEE (518) B~
the Company A HEB ANFE
(518) /&7 (3) 9

CHINA INVESTMENTS HOLDINGS LIMITED v [ 8 3 £ B A B 23 ]
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operation was classified as held for sale.

REDERTHE-

11. DISCONTINUED OPERATION (Continued) 1. BRLEKEZER @
Profit/(loss) for the year from discontinued operation include the ERIEKCEEFAEERF (FH1B)
following: BEUTEIE:

2022 2021
k- oo B —F
HK$’000 HK$’000
BT T BT T
Auditor’s remuneration Z SN & - -
Depreciation e - -
Cash flows from discontinued operation BRIEREERRE T

2022 2021
- T4
HK$’000 HK$’000
BT BT

Net cash outflows from operating activities B &&EFFHIES
T R ER (5) 6)

Net cash inflows from investing activities RELEIHRS
TMAEER 7 14
Net cash inflows BEMAFEE 2 8
None of the assets nor liabilities related to the discontinued ERILEREEFHBE EELERBL

CHINA INVESTMENTS HOLDINGS LIMITED o [ B3 £ B A BR 2 6]
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HE_Z__F+_"_H=+—HILt Forthe year ended 31 December 2022

12. ZFEERF

2022 2021
—E”C — 2%
HK$’000 HK$’000
BB T T BT
Continuing operations FERE X
Profit for the year has been arrived at after AEEZEFE F0)
(charging)/crediting: A
Auditor’s remuneration Z S EMBN &
Audit service EEHIRT (1,900) (1,800)
Non-audit service JEBE TR (100) (100)
Depreciation of property, plant and ME- -BREREBEITE
equipment (45,036) (37,011)
Depreciation of right-of-use assets FTREEERE (32,212) (33,459)
Net loss on disposal of property, plant and HE¥ ¥ -BEKRZBHEZ
equipment Eﬁ?ﬁ@%ﬁ (3,098) (8,999)
Net exchange (loss)/gain EER (8% U 348 (6,295) 389
Operating lease charges KREMERS (997) (97)
Allowance for expected credit losses on FEWER R 2 FTERRE B /518
trade receivables e (276) (499)
Allowance for expected credit losses AR FEHRE E 18
written back on trade receivables e ALk - 5
Allowance for expected credit losses on MERERWBZEEE
finance lease receivables EEEEE (35,669) (9,847)
Allowance for expected credit losses on HmgEWIB FEAREE
other receivables B IE R E (2,329) -
Cost of borrowings from financial leasing 5t A $8% KBRS Al 245 2 Z&
included in costs of sales and services BRIEHEENERR A (150,603) (105,490)
Cost of inventories recognised as expense MR ARY 2 FE M (222,898) (179,360)
Impairment loss on properties held for sale —;’ELF%%Z/UHE?E?E - (1,900)
Cost of properties held for sale recognised MR ARS
as expense FEMEMRR (4,600) -
Total staff costs EE T A
Directors’ remuneration (Note 13) EEME (I5E13) (9,246) (8,938)
Other staff cost HtB8 TR A (182,780) (148,707)
Retirement benefit scheme contributions ~ Hth& T 2 BRIKEF] 5t
for other staffs HE (11,476) (8,295)
Termination benefits BRIEBHEF] (31) (43)
(203,533) (165,983)
Gross rental income from investment KREWMEZBHETWA
properties 74,058 29,593
Less: pEA
Direct operating expenses from FREHEBRAZKE
investment properties that generated MEZEEZKLESMAX
rental income during the year (1,012) (272)
Direct operating expenses from FREAERAZKE
investment properties that did not MEZBEEZEKLZSMAX
generate rental income during the year (2,150) (1,249)
70,896 28,072
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13. DIRECTORS’ AND EMPLOYEES’ 13. EERETIME
EMOLUMENTS
a. Directors’ emoluments a. EEME
The emoluments paid or payable to each of the eight ENHEMN\GE (CEZ—F N\
(2021: eight) Directors were as follows: 2)BEEEAZMESOT
2022 2021
—E== —E £
HK$’000 HK$’000
Fees i BT BT T
Executive directors BITESE
Mr. He Xiangming GIEEEEES - 120
Mr. Fu Weigiang RSB E - 30
Mr. You Guang Wu HERTE - 120
Mr. Huang Zhihe =mEMTE - 120
Ms. Wang Xin * ME=* - 120
Mr. Cheng Weidong BERLE - 120
Independent non-executive BIERITES
directors
Mr. Chan Kwok Wai PR 2 5 4 120 120
Mr. Chen Da Cheng BRZEMSE (W22
(Resigned on 23 June 2022) ANAZ+HZ=ZHED 60 120
Mr. Deng Hong Ping R 120 120
Mr. Peng Xinyu EMASE (WZEZ
(Appointed on 23 June 2022) NAZ+HZ=ZHESZME) 63 -
363 990
CHINA INVESTMENTS HOLDINGS LIMITED o8 B3 £ 1 75 12 24 7
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13. DIRECTORS’ AND EMPLOYEES’

EMOLUMENTS (Continuea)

Directors’ emoluments (Continued)

F+Z“B=+—HI1E For the year ended 31 December 2022

13. EERETIMNE @

a. EEME (&

2022 2021
—ZE-C —E £
HK$’000 HK$’000
Salaries and other benefits e R EMER BT T BT T
Executive directors WiTES
Mr. He Xiangming GIEEEEeS 600 600
Mr. Fu Weigiang RIERATE 600 150
Mr. You Guang Wu BERSTE 600 600
Mr. Huang Zhihe =&ML 420 420
Ms. Wang Xin * izt 420 420
Mr. Cheng Weidong BERLE 420 420
Independent non-executive BIAERITES
directors
Mr. Chan Kwok Wai Pek [ 122 5 4 - -
Mr. Chen Da Cheng BUZEMSE (RZEZ
(Resigned on 23 June 2022) ANAZ+=H&M - -
Mr. Deng Hong Ping B 7 T - -
Mr. Peng Xinyu EMARE (RZIEZZ
(Appointed on 23 June 2022) NAZ+=BEZMT - -
3,060 2,610

CHINA INVESTMENTS HOLDINGS LIMITED v [ 8 3 £ B A B 23 ]
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Notes to the Consohidated Financial Statements
BE_Z__F+_"_H=+—HI1t For the year ended 31 December 2022

13. DIRECTORS’ AND EMPLOYEES’ 13. EERETME =
EMOLUMENTS (Continuea)
a. Directors’ emoluments (Continued) a. EEME &
2022 2021
—E== —E £
Performance-based or BRAWH HK$’000 HK$ 000
discretionary bonus B91% 8% h =z TE4L BT T BT 7T
Executive directors WiTES
Mr. He Xiangming GIEEEEeS 936 936
Mr. Fu Weigiang RIERATE 936 237
Mr. You Guang Wu BERSTE 936 936
Mr. Huang Zhihe =&ML 655 655
Ms. Wang Xin F Mzt 655 655
Mr. Cheng Weidong BERLE 655 655
Independent non-executive BIAERITES
directors
Mr. Chan Kwok Wai Pek [ 122 5 4 - -
Mr. Chen Da Cheng BUZEMSE (RZEZ
(Resigned on 23 June 2022) ANAZ+=H&M - -
Mr. Deng Hong Ping B 7 T - -
Mr. Peng Xinyu EMARE (RZIEZZ
(Appointed on 23 June 2022) NAZ+=BEZMT - -
4,773 4,074
CHINA INVESTMENTS HOLDINGS LIMITED v [3 B 3 4% 18 45 | 24 )
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13. DIRECTORS’ AND EMPLOYEES’

EMOLUMENTS (Continuea)

Directors’ emoluments (Continued)

F+Z“B=+—HI1E For the year ended 31 December 2022

EERETME @

a. EEME (@)

2022 2021
- —ET—fF
Retirement benefits scheme HK$’000 HK$’000
contribution BRIAEH EH BRI BETT BT T
Executive directors BiTES
Mr. He Xiangming GIEEEES 197 304
Mr. Fu Weigiang fFEREY: 185 45
Mr. You Guang Wu FERTE 197 304
Mr. Huang Zhihe BHEMAE 160 232
Ms. Wang Xin F ML 160 232
Mr. Cheng Weidong BERLE 151 147
Independent non-executive BIFERITES
directors
Mr. Chan Kwok Wai BoR R 28 5 — -
Mr. Chen Da Cheng PREER A (RZE
(Resigned on 23 June 2022) NAZ+F=H#&MD - -
Mr. Deng Hong Ping B T - -
Mr. Peng Xinyu EHMASRE (W2
(Appointed on 23 June 2022) ANAZT=ZHEZD) -
1,050 1,264

Directors’ emoluments disclosed above include their
services in connection with the management of the affairs
of the Group. All of the executive directors waived their
directors fee of HK$720,000 for 2022. Save as disclosed
above, no other emoluments were paid or payable to any
director.

During the year ended 2022 and 2021, no emolument
had been paid by the Group to the Directors or the five
highest-paid individuals referred to in (d) below as an
inducement to join or upon joining the Group or as a
compensation for loss of office.

CHINA INVESTMENTS HOLDINGS LIMITED v [ 8 3 £ B A B 23 ]
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HE_Z__F+_"_HB=+—HBIL Forthe year ended 31 December 2022

13. DIRECTORS’ AND EMPLOYEES’
EMOLUMENTS (Continuea)

Directors’ material interests, transactions,
arrangements or contracts

No transaction, arrangement and contract of significance
to which the Group as a party and in which a director
of the Group had material interest, whether directly or
indirectly, subsisted at the end of the year or at any time
during the year.

Loans, quasi-loans and other dealings in favour of
directors

No loan, quasi-loan and other dealing in favour of
directors of the Group or body corporate controlled by
such directors, or entities connected with such directors,
subsisted at the end of the year or at any time during the
year.

Five highest-paid individual

During the year, the five individuals whose emoluments
were the highest in the Group for the year ended 31
December 2022 are directors whose emoluments are
reflected in the analysis presented in Note 13a. No
individual other than the directors has been included in
the five-higher-paid individuals.

EERETIME =

EENRB -RHASGHZEKR
e

rEEMEIUAERESFEE
YEBEEBEERETMIFRE
FREMFBNHAFBEZEAR
P ZHRGH

NEERZHAZER EER
REMZH

BMEUAERESATZEES
ER 2z fENZEESTRESR
BAZ@mAMRFERIFEREMA
REDAGTEZER EERK
HMRZ5 o

hamEHMAL

RERN ZEBRLZHILETE
T+ ZA=+T—HLEFER
SFMALTRAES HMEi
fisE13an o bR T EFZ 5N R
BERARNEMALIHAARLLERES
FBNA L
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B

EE""HF+"H=+—HIt For the year ended 31 December 2022

14. RETIREMENT BENEFIT SCHEME

The Group contributes to a defined contribution retirement
scheme which is available to Hong Kong permanent employees
under the Occupational Retirement Scheme Ordinance. This
retirement scheme is administered by independent trustees
with their assets held separately from those of the Group.
Contributions under the staff retirement scheme for each
year are based on a percentage of the eligible employees’
salaries and are charged to the consolidated statement of
profit or loss and other comprehensive income as incurred.
The total contribution to the scheme amounted to HK$114,689
(2021: HK$140,561) for the year and has been charged
to the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income. Forfeited employer contributions in
respect of former employees from the staff retirement scheme
before vesting period may be used by the Group to reduce
its ongoing employer contributions. There is no forfeited
contribution utilised during the year.

At the end of the reporting period, there is no balance of
forfeited contributions available to reduce the contribution
payable in the future years.

Since the introduction of the Mandatory Provident Fund (“MPF”)
Scheme in Hong Kong, the Group has also participated
in an approved MPF Scheme with Bank Consortium Trust
Company Limited effective 1 December 2001 to provide an
MPF Scheme to all employees. The contributions borne by the
Group are calculated at 5% of the salaries and wages (monthly
contribution is limited at 5% of HK$30,000 for each eligible
employee) as calculated under the MPF legislation. During
the year under review, the total amount contributed by the
Group to the MPF Scheme and charged to the consolidated
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income
amounted to HK$186,065 (2021: HK$223,642).

CHINA INVESTMENTS HOLDINGS LIMITED v [ 8 3 £ B A B 23 ]
ANNUAL REPORT 2022 4E#
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14. RETIREMENT BENEFIT SCHEME (Continued) 14.

15.

16.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

BE

TECTHF+TA=+—HL

The employees employed in the PRC subsidiaries are members

of the state-managed retirement benefits schemes operated

by the PRC government. The PRC subsidiaries are required to
contribute a certain percentage of their payroll to the retirement
benefits schemes to fund the benefits. The only obligation of

For the year ended 31 December 2022

EERKETE =)

TENBARZEESTREBMFES
PWEREERKRBHEEBNE - T E
WEABSARE T EMBEN—E LA
PR EN GBI LIE BB RIEA o A&
B R ARENFENE-—SERRE

the Group with respect to the retirement benefits schemes is to PR E B FRET & o
make the required contributions under the schemes.
DIVIDENDS 15. g8
The Directors do not recommend the payment of any dividend EEgRATERLEHREZS =
for the year ended 31 December 2022 (2021: Nil). F+ZRA=1t—HIEEFARKE (ZF
——F o
LOSS PER SHARE 16. SRE1E
() From continuing operations () REFEKEZER
The calculation of basic and diluted loss per share KRBBEEANEEZEREARK
attributable to owners of the Company is based on the BEBEBZHELERTIH
following data: B
2022 2021
—E-— -
HK$000 HK$000
BT BT
Loss for the year attributable to FEBERBEBAQT
owners wmE A
of the Company (21,535) (15,500)
Less: A
(Loss)/profit for the year from FERDRIEREER
discontinued operation (5518) &7 (3) 9
Loss for the purpose of basic BRErEFEREXEE
and diluted loss per share from SREARE SR
continuing operations (21,532) (15,509)

CHINA INVESTMENTS HOLDINGS LIMITED o [ B3 £ B A BR 2 6]
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16. LOSS PER SHARE (continued)

(ii)

From continuing and discontinued operations

The calculation of the basic and diluted loss per share
is based on the loss attributable to the owners of the
Company of approximately HK$21,535,000 (2021: loss
of approximately HK$15,500,000) and on the number
of 1,712,329,142 ordinary shares (2021: 1,712,329,142

F+"HB=+—HILt For the year ended 31 December 2022

16. FRE1E @

(ii)

REFBEEERHFRERILEES
E3 1

SREARBEFBLHRELRA
BB ANEEAEERIBABIE
21,535,000 (ZEZ—4& | {18
#)781815,500,0007T) RAFEEE
26971,712,8329,142E @R (&

ordinary shares) in issue during the year. ——£11,712,329,142Z @BAR)
T8

Number of shares RIPEE
2022 2021
—g=-= =
’000 000
T T

Number of ordinary shares for the ARsrBEEREABIEZ

purpose of basic loss per share TEREE 1,712,329 1,712,329

The denominators used are the same as those detailed
above for both the basic and diluted loss per share.

For the year ended 31 December 2022 and 2021, there
was no dilutive loss per share as the exercise of the
convertible bonds would have an anti-dilutive effect on
the basic loss per share.

CHINA INVESTMENTS HOLDINGS LIMITED v [ 8 3 £ B A B 23 ]
ANNUAL REPORT 2022 4E#
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HE_Z__F+_"_HB=+—HBIL Forthe year ended 31 December 2022

16. LOSS PER SHARE (continued) 16. EIREE @)

(iii) From discontinued operation (i) KESRILEEEER
Basic/diluted loss per share for the discontinued ERIEKREXERSRELR #
operation is HK0.0002 cents (2021: earnings per share EEEASRKRB0.00021L (=
HKO0.0005 cents) per share, based on the loss for the T BREFE0.0005
year from discontinued operation of HK$3,000 (2021: i) > THIRBEFEA BRI E X
profit of HK$9,000) and the denominators details above E518 813,000t (ZE - —% !
for both basic and diluted earnings per share. BF)AT9,0007T) REKRELAK

mERAMEMRFIL 2 D5
Ho
2022 2021
—EZZ —ET—fF
HK cents HK Cents
AL (L
Basic loss per share from continuing $HEZ B X555
operations HAEE (1.26) (0.91)
Basic earnings per share from RIFEEBEXBERER
discontinued operations BF) (MIEE16(ii)

(Note. 16 (iii)) - _

Total basic loss per share attributable <A T HIFH AEG
to the equity holders of the SREERER
Company (1.26) (0.91)

CHINA INVESTMENTS HOLDINGS LIMITED o [ B3 £ B A BR 2 6]
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INVESTMENT PROPERTIES

Notes to the Consohidated Financial Statements
BE_Z__F£+_"_H=+—HIt For the year ended 31 December 2022

17. REMYME

In the PRC  In Hong Kong
held under held under
medium-term medium-term
leases leases Total
FA AR X REBU
PHAEANEE PHEAEE FEk L]
HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$’000
BT BT BT
FAIR VALUE OF INVESTMENT REVMEZANRE
PROPERTIES
As at 1 January 2021 KNZEZ—%—F—H 330,558 19,500 350,058
Transfer from construction in progress ~ FA7EE T f2 &4 389,374 - 389,374
Increase/(decrease) in fair value RIEBERBER
recognised in profit or loss ARELI GhL) 17,679 (1,000) 16,679
Exchange differences R ELE 18,443 - 18,443
As at 31 December 2021 and RIEZ—F
1 January 2022 +-A=+—BkK
—E”_"_F#—HF—H 756,054 18,500 774,554
Transfer from construction in progress ~ FA7EiE T f2 & 361,643 - 361,643
Decrease in fair value recognised RiEmREI 2
in profit or loss NAERD (711) - (711)
Exchange differences ERELE (69,220) - (69,220)
As at 31 December 2022 RZEZZ
+ZB=+-—H 1,047,766 18,500 1,066,266

CHINA INVESTMENTS HOLDINGS LIMITED b 2 8L 3% £ B 45 BR 23 5]
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
HE_Z__F+_"_HB=+—HBIL Forthe year ended 31 December 2022

17. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (Continued)

All of the Group’s property interests held to earn rentals or
for capital appreciation purposes are measured using the fair
value model and are classified and accounted for as investment
properties.

During the year, the Group added an investment property
through transferred from construction in progress amounting to
HK$361,643,000 during the year.

The carrying amount of investment properties amounting to
HK$363,438,000 (2021: HK$392,543,000) have been pledged
to secure general banking facilities and mortgage loan granted
to the Group.

Investment properties were revalued at their open market value
at 31 December 2022 by Associated Surveyors & Auctioneers
Ltd., an independent firm of professional valuer, based on
direct comparison method and income capitalisation method.
The valuation gave rise to a revaluation deficit of HK$711,000
(2021: surplus of HK$16,679,000), which has been recognised
in profit or loss.

Associated Surveyors & Auctioneers Ltd is a member of
the Institute of Valuers of Hong Kong, and has appropriate
qualifications and recent experiences in the valuation of similar
properties in the relevant locations. The valuation, which
conforms to International Valuation Standards, was arrived at
by reference to market evidence of transaction prices for similar
properties.

As the industrial unit partially completed during the year, the
rental income of the industrial unit increased. The valuation
method was changed to the income capitalisation method.

There has been no change from the valuation technique used
in the prior year except for the industrial units in PRC. In
estimating the fair value of the properties, the highest and best
use of the properties is their current use.

The Group’s investment properties were classified under level 3
of the fair value hierarchy. There were no transfers into or out of
Level 3 during the year.

17.

REVE @)

FEBRMARFAEURNEZHIFER
HRERRZYERZIURAAEBRI
SFE  UNERARSREYE-

RER > BHE361,643,000 2 EY)
¥EHTEIREA-

L EY %2 IR E % 8 1363,438,000
7T (ZEZ—F  B1392,543,0007T)
BIRBUEREFTAEEZ —KRIIRBT
BB R IR AR o

BEYER _ T - _F+_/F=+—
B B8 1 F 2 5 (E 6 5 B E A
BETREBILEBRERKAERLE
MEEIER RAFESHRESE
711,000t Bt A EEBmR (T
T —F BEFABH16,679,0007T) ©

M EEREETARARD RS EEM
EMRgEE8 THEESBERKALR
AR AERUEZER A
RLENERBERGLGEERN RS ER
LMERZHERETE

HE I TEREMUNFRNRY TFEA
BUREE WAL - EEA IR
BAREE-

BRICHRBZ TREA EFEERZME
BEFRNEENREE -ELEYEN
ARER BRIEASMENRS RRE
Rk o

FEBZREVERDERAANES
MBS =R - R ERI EEFEALE
HE=He
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HE_Z__F+_"_H=+—HILt Forthe year ended 31 December 2022

17. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (Continued)

17. IR EYE »)

The following table gives information about how the fair values TRAREBNAGSNERENEZ AR
of the investment properties are determined (in particular, EER FRRGESERERZH A
the valuation techniques and inputs used), as well as the fair B) " URBEALABHUBRERREESD
value hierarchy into which the fair value measurements are BMEARBEFERFEANEEREE
categorised (Level 3) based on the degree to which the inputs (BB=4R)

to the fair value measurements is observable.

Fair value Valuation Relationship of unobservable
Hierarchy Techniques Significant unobservable inputs  inputs to fair value
NREER HEsR TEHRUBR 2 HE BUBEZHEERRENRR
Commercial unit Level 3 Direct comparison method  Estimated market unit sale price per  The increase/decrease in the market
located in Hong Kong square feet unit sale price would result in an
increase/decrease in the fair value of
the property
MR EBZBEEEM E=R BRELEE B MBBUETARER mBBIHEERIEM,HDTER
MEARBEN/HD
Commercial unit Level 3 Direct comparison method  Estimated market unit sale price per The increase/decrease in the market
located in PRC square feet unit sale price would result in an
increase/decrease in the fair value of
the property
IR RE 2 B E=R BB EEthEEUETAKERE mBBIHEBRILEN,HDTER
MEARBEN/HD
Industrial units Level 3 Income capitalisation Estimated market unit rent per square The increase/decrease in the market
located in PRC method feet unit rent would result in an increase/
decrease in the fair value of the
property
Rz THE E=R WAERIEE TR EUSTAKEE miBBAREEN AL ERYE
AREEM/HD

CHINA INVESTMENTS HOLDINGS LIMITED v [ 8 3 £ B A B 23 ]
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18. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

2022

e A5 AR B e

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
BE_Z__F+_"_H=+—HI1t For the year ended 31 December 2022

18. ME -BEKRKE

Furniture
equipment
Hotel Buildings and
property inHKand  Construction leasehold Plant and Motor
in the PRC the PRC in progress  improvements machinery vehicles Total
REBER R
RAERFEZ HEREZ RER BER
BIEME THRIEF EEIR BFEE e HE g
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BT BETT BETT BT BT BT BETT
COST AND VALUATION Fi&sRfhfa
At 1 January 2022 S
—-A-H 110,000 509,541 714,464 95,617 69,144 10,688 1,509,454
Additions* RE - - 269,237 6,373 382 1,684 271,676
Transfers/Reclassification &4 /#4948 - 13,517 (21,360) 3,763 3,996 84 -
Transfer to investment @ﬁ* RENE
property - - (361,643) - - - (361,643)
Disposals and write off  HE Kk - (825) - (3,598) (4,225) (709) (9,357)
Deficit on revaluation EhRE (10,000) - - - - - (10,000)
Exchange differences ~ EREE - (33,957) (52,549) (7,225) (5,401) (791) (99,923)
At31 December 2022  RZZE-"F
+-E=+-H 100,000 488,276 548,149 94,930 63,896 10,956 1,306,207
Comprising: (25
At cost kA& - 488,276 548,149 94,930 63,896 10,956 1,206,207
At valuation - 2022 e
-“Z°°F 100,000 - - - - - 100,000
100,000 488,276 548,149 94,930 63,896 10,956 1,306,207
DEPRECIATION g S
At 1 January 2022 S
—-A-H - 32,106 - 40,375 13,334 4,206 90,021
Provided for the year FERE 5,116 17,614 - 12,814 7,847 1,645 45,036
Eliminated on disposals 1 & R HIRE
and write off 6 - (92) - (1,999) (2,804) (703) (5,598)
Written back on REMEHHE
revaluation (5,116) - - - - - (5,116)
Exchange differences ~ ERZE - (1,982) - (3,146) (1,183) (282) (6,593)
At 31 December 2022 ~ MZE__E
+-B=1+-H - 47,646 - 48,044 17,194 4,866 117,750
CARRYING VALUES IRERE
At 31 December 2022 RZZ”_fF
+ZB=+-H 100,000 440,630 548,149 46,886 46,702 6,090 1,188,457

*.

Additions of construction in progess during the year include

capitalised interest of approximately HK$14,453,000 calculated
using the capitalisation rate of 3.60% to 4.30%.

CHINA INVESTMENTS HOLDINGS LIMITED v 15 B £ A R
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HE_Z - _F+_"HB=+—HIL1 Forthe year ended 31 December 2022

18. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

18. ME -BEKRKE @

(Continued)
2021 —ET—4
Furniture,
equipment
Hotel Buildings and
property in HK and Construction leasehold Plant and Motor
in the PRC the PRC in progress  improvements machinery vehicles Total
REER CSiN
ReEREZ HEREZ ZER HER
BENE THRETF TRIE @*”ﬂ e "E e
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
EETT BB BBt LW EETT AT BBt
COST AND VALUATION EEZISEszTE
At 1 January 2021 RIBZ-F
—-A-H 115,000 458,004 573,025 81,634 38,820 8,539 1,275,022
Additions* RE - 74 590,464 8,928 - 2,067 601,533
Transfers/Reclassification &4 /E #1748 - 45,831 (80,848) 4,045 30,204 768 -
Transfer to investment ~ EEZERENE
property - - (389,374) - - - (389,374)
Disposals and write off ~ HE Kl - (7,625) - (1,344) (1,691) (956) (11,616)
Deficit on revaluation EftRE (5,000) - - - - - (5,000)
Exchange differences ~ ERZE - 13,257 21,197 2,354 1,811 270 38,889
At 31 December 2021  RZZE-—%
+ZA=+-H 110,000 509,541 714,464 95,617 69,144 10,688 1,509,454
Comprising: i
At cost kA& - 509,541 714,464 95,617 69,144 10,688 1,399,454
At valuation - 2021 fhE-
5% 110,000 - - - - - 110,000
110,000 509,541 714,464 95,617 69,144 10,688 1,509,454
DEPRECIATION ik
At 1 January 2021 RIBZ-F
—-A-H - 18,205 - 30,059 7,041 3,569 58,874
Provided for the year FERE 5,111 13,620 - 10,628 6,352 1,305 37,011
Eliminated on disposals 7 & R HIIRE
and write off sy - (194) - (1,202) (402) (749) 2,547)
Eliminated on revaluation 7 E {4 B4 (5,111) - - - - - (5,111)
Exchange differences ~ ERZEE - 475 - 895 343 81 1,794
At31 December 2021  RZZZ—%
+ZA=1+-H° - 32,106 - 40,375 13,334 4,206 90,021
CARRYING VALUES  EREFME
At 31 December 2021 RZEZ—£
+ZA=1+-H° 110,000 477,435 714,464 55,242 55,810 6,482 1,419,433

*.

Additions of construction in progess during the year include

capitalised interest of approximately HK$10,629,000 calculated
using the capitalisation rate of 4.70% to 5.26%.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
HE_Z__F+_"_HB=+—HBIL Forthe year ended 31 December 2022

18. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

(Continued)

Fair value measurement of the property building

The Group’s hotel properties situated in the PRC were valued
on 31 December 2022 and 31 December 2021 by Associated
Surveyors & Auctioneers Ltd., an independent valuer not

related to the Group.

The fair value of the hotel property were determined based on
the combinations of direct comparison methods that reflects
recent transaction prices for similar properties, adjusted for
differences in the nature, location and condition of the buildings
under review. There has been no change to the valuation
technique during the year.

The Group’s hotel properties were classified under level 3 in the
fair value hierarchy. There were no transfer into or out of level 3
during the year.

In estimating the fair value of the properties, the highest and
best use of the properties is their current use.

If hotel properties had not been revalued, they would have
been included in these financial statements at historical cost
less accumulated depreciation of HK$53,842,000 (2021:
HK$56,677,000).

Fair Value
Hierarchy Valuation techniques
RAEER EARX

Hotel properties in PRC Level 3

RAPBEZEENE =R

Significant unobservable inputs

TEBUBRZHE

EELBE B REASTHKRER

18. ¥ -BERRZHE @)

EREFAAENE
FEERURPEZBAESYER -F
T THE+ZAZ=t+—HRIZEZ—F
TZA=+—HEBUFEXMGLENMR
BEERBETARAREMGE

BEYMZAREZRBEERELLBE
BBPTRRBIEEIRR 5B WE B
B BFRRERBERRUFLHAE

FARMGERD L EEE -
AEBZEHENERDBERARES

BB =R -NERNLEEAEALE
HE=MKe

R MEZRARER VEZESR
RFZBENDREZRFKEE

M ESEAEYE ABAEYER

¥ [FE 52 BY A R T EE 73 B 1863,842,0007T

(ZZ——% : B156,677,0007T) 5t
AGEMBRE

Relationship of
unobservable inputs to fair value

BUBRZBEAARENRE

Direct comparison method ~ Estimated market unit sale price per  The increase/decrease in the market
square metre

unit sale price would result in an
increase/decrease in the fair value of
the property

IR B EERIEM, L A E R
MEQAEEM/ AL
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

BE_Z__F£+_"_H=+—HIt For the year ended 31 December 2022
19. GOODWILL 19. BHE
HK$’000
BT 7T
COST (D%
At 1 January 2021 NWZ_Z2-_—%—F—H 132,151
Exchange difference PERE%R 4,379
RN_EZ-_—F+"A=+—H8BxK
At 31 December 2021 and 1 January 2022
Y —E-—f—F—H 136,530
Addition (Note) g (i EE) 1,452
Exchange difference ERE%R (10,698)
At 31 December 2022 N _E__F+"-A=+—H 127,284
ACCUMULATED IMPAIRMENT KEtiRE
At 1 January 2021, 31 December 2021 RZEZ—F—H—H-
and 1 January 2022 B2+ ”"B=+—HkK
—_E__&#—HF—H -
Impairment loss recognised WA REELK -
At 31 December 2022 RIEZZHF+"HA=+—H -
CARRYING VALUES IREFE
At 31 December 2022 W2 —_F#+-_A=+—H 127,284
At 31 December 2021 N2 _—F+"A=+—H 136,530
Note: BosE -
On May 2022, the Group’s non-wholly owned subsidiary, Guangdong RIZEZZFRR ARBIZIIEZEER
Tiannuo Investments Co., Limited (“Tiannuo”) acquired 51% equity WEABERRXEREBRAR (TXHL)
interest in Zhaoging Huaxin Blasting Engineering Co., Limited* MRERBEHOARME?,399,000 W B E E
(“Huaxin”) at cash consideration of approximately RMB7,399,000. MEFERIEBRAE (TFERFL) 251%
By considering the non-controlling interests at fair value of Huaxin of B -EFEBEEZEERETALEBA
approximately RMB5,911,000 and the total identifiable net assets at K 15,911,000 cMEER R REZ P #H
fair value of Huaxin of approximately RMB12,063,000, the goodwill BIFEEMLZEAR®12,063,0005t AU
arising on the acquisition of 51% equity interest in Huaxin was BEGINREMEENBEANARE

approximately RMB1,247,000 (equivalent to HK$1,452,000).

*  For identification purpose only

1,247,000t (BB HE R LA 1E1,452,0007T) °
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
HE_Z__F+_"_HB=+—HBIL Forthe year ended 31 December 2022

19. GOODWILL (continued)

For the impairment testing, goodwill acquired in business
combination was allocated to individual business segment
that management considers representing the Group’s separate
cash-generating unit (the “CGU”), which is the civil explosives
business.

The recoverable amount of the civil explosives business
CGU was based on its value in use and was determined
with the assistance of Peak Vision Appraisals Limited, an
independent firm of professional valuer. The calculation uses
cash flow projections based on financial budgets approved
by management covering a five-year period, and at discount
rate of 13.00% (2021: 10.68%). Cash flows after the five-year
period were extrapolated using a 2% (2021: 2%) growth rate in
considering the economic condition of the market. The growth
rate used to extrapolate cash flow projections beyond the five-
year period do not exceed the long-term average growth rate
for the industry.

Other key assumptions for the value in use calculations relate
to the estimation of cash inflows which include budgeted
sales and gross margin. Such estimation is based on the
industry information and management’s expectation of the
market development including the fluctuation in civil explosives
business in the current economic environment.

Management determines that there is no impairment of the
goodwill at the end of the year since the value in use of the civil
explosives CGU is higher than its carrying amount.

19.

BE @
ﬁﬁ@maﬁgvﬁﬁﬁﬁéﬁW%m
HECDOREEEERAREALE

BEMNFsEEEM MRABIELE
%o M BEEFDER -

EREUSEEHEMERIHERAE
BT RABERERZREELES
A ElEEE 2 DiREERE
BZEMET ZTEFEANEER
EEERERESHZRELFH
W FETEE K U18.00% (ZE - —F
10.68%) MITIRESTE - AFHMUEN
BERDE2% (T2 —F 12%) B
EHRE LIS RETRIELS KR =015

R A EHUANRS RBBER
FERZEEETEBBTENRNT
M EE o

HMARGEEREENEIERRY
REOEHERBEREMNNREAAE
sl AL ERITEEN R EERE
HHSERNPE GEEMNCERIE
TRABFEREBIKE -

BEERR ARRBBIFREHNIR
TELFEUZEREESNHAKEE"

HIt > BEEERTFERERK-
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
HE_Z__F+_"_H=+—HILt Forthe year ended 31 December 2022

20. INTERESTS IN AN ASSOCIATE 20. REE AT =
The movements in the Group’s interests in an associate, KEBNRAEEMGLHEAT 2 H R
(including goodwill), during the year are analysed as follows: (BEESE) E8omAT !
2022 2021
—E_C T4
HK$’000 HK$’000
BB T T BET T
A=

At1 January K—RA—H 556,026 569,674

Share of post-acquisition profits G E A de 4,727 25,361

Share of exchange differences BILERZER (43,534) 18,284

Distribution from post-acquisition profit Wig gz R B D - (57,293)

At 31 December W+-B=+—H 517,219 556,026

Details of each the Group’s material associate at the end of the RRESHEREAEFRRZE KRB Z QB

reporting period are as follows: IER I

Proportion of Proportion
Principal Class of ownership of voting rights
Form of Place of place of shares interest held held by Principal
Entity Name the entity incorporation operation held by the Group the Group activities
&M@
PSR FEBERE
BERELE EEHR Rt TEEERY FIRIER 3l ERELAH FTEEE
2022 2021 2022 2021
—§--fF ~“Z--%& CZBI”Ff C"Z_—#

Nanhai Changhai Incorporated ~ PRC PRC Paid up capital 31.875% 31.875% 31.875% 31.875% Generation and sale
Power Company of electricity and
Limited* (Note (a)) heated steam

FERSHE AL FEAR FEAR BAREAR BEREEREA
BRAF HAE HAE fiifE

(Fiz2(a))

*

For identification purpose only
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
HE_Z__F+_"_HB=+—HBIL Forthe year ended 31 December 2022

20. INTERESTS IN AN ASSOCIATE (continued)

Notes:

(@)

On 18 March 2019, the Group entered into a capital increment
agreement with another controlling shareholder in which the
registered capital of Nanhai Changhai Power Company Limited*
(“Nanhai Changhai”) would be increased from USD31,132,460
to USD32,235,446. The transaction was completed on 11
October 2019. The Group did not subscribe for additional
shareholding and, accordingly, the equity interest held by the
Group in Nanhai Changhai decreased from 32.636% to 31.875%
on completion of the transaction. Deemed disposal of an
associate amounted to HK$3,993,000 was recognised in the
Group’s interest in Nanhai Changhai as at 31 December 2019.

Summarised financial information in respect of the Group’s

associate is set out below. The summarised financial

20. REtEATI#ERE @)

RZZE—AF=B+/\B xEH
NMEEREZEARLAA (MER
B1) ZEMEARERRS31,132,460%
TTIE NN E32,235,4463= 70 81 55 — @ 4%
BRET L TIEERZ LRSI
E—NE+A+—HEM AEEL
REBREEEIMR R > UL R B3R 5 FE AR
B AEEREEREMEEZRE
FH32.636% FPEZE31.875% R4
7B 13,093,000t iR A HE — R 5
EABBR _E—hE+A=+—
BrAEEREBRSZ #m T UE

=
B ©

ERA-EBRZBEARN U BERE
SHEINM T - UTHHEMEEZZ5)5

information below represents amounts shown in the associate’s MEANBZMBRERZEER BERRE
financial statements prepared in accordance with HKFRSs. B RS ZERARS
Nanhai Changhai Power Company Limited* HMERBEBERRAF

2022 2021

—EZZ —ET—fF

HK$’000 HK$’000

AT AT TT

Current assets MENE B 888,737 1,024,979

Non-current assets ERBEE 2,143,584 2,127,734

Current liabilities mEas (523,265) (581,560)

Non-current liabilities ERBEE (829,675) (827,583)

Net asset value BE T 1,679,381 1,743,570

*

For identification purpose only
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B

20. INTERESTS IN AN ASSOCIATE (continued)

Nanhai Changhai Power Company Limited* (Continued)

E-E - _F+_"_F=+—HILE Forthe year ended 31 December 2022

20.

REZE TR @

ABRBEBRERAR (&

2022 2021

—E-= B

HK$’000 HK$’000

BT T BT TT

Revenue WA 1,592,547 1,665,465

Profit for the year KEERF 15,920 80,273

Exchange differences for the year FEEREL (132,348) 55,595

Total comprehensive (loss)/income FE2AE BX)

for the year W 4B 5E (116,428) 135,868

Reconciliation of the above summarised financial information to RiFEa M BERRTERBE AR

the carrying amount of the interest in the associate recognised

in the consolidated financial statements:

ZHREERE FHMHER A NER

2022 2021
—E_-C BT —F
HK$’000 HK$’000
BT BT
Net assets of the associate BENB 2 EE SRR 1,679,381 1,743,570
Proportion of the Group’s ownership KEEREEERES
interest in Nanhai Changhai Power BERRREZ
Company Limited* %ﬁ’%%ff& i PTG
BOX 31.875% 31.875%
Carrying amount of the Group’s interest rEEREERE
in Nanhai Changhai Power Company BEHRERE
Limited* (Note) w2 BREE
(MI5%) 517,219 556,026
Note: MIEE
On 22 March 2019, the Group’s ownership interest in Nanhai Changhai RZIE—hAhE=ZBZ+H &AxEEAR

Power Company Limited* decreased from 32.636% to 31.875%. There
was undistributed profit attributable to the Group prior to the dilution
of the Group’s ownership interest in Nanhai Changhai Power Company

Limited*.

Therefore the carrying amount of the Group’s interest in

Nanhai Changhai Power Company Limited* as at 31 December 2022
and 2021 cannot be directly calculated by multiplying its net assets
with the proportion of the Group’s ownership interest.

*

For identification purpose only
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

BE_Z__F+_"_H=+—HI1t For the year ended 31 December 2022
21. FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE 1. BAREFAEEZEME
THROUGH PROFIT OR LOSS B
2022 2021
—s=-= =
HK$’000 HK$'000
BETT BT
Analysed as: DA
Non-current e B
Unlisted equity investment (Note a) FELETRMOEE
(MfzEa) 1,977 8,187
Option granted for selling the 72% BEY—HERBREIHE
equity interest in a subsidiary to FIEFERE R 72% /1
non-controlling interest (Note b) B EAtE (FY5tb) 89,898 -
91,875 8,187
Current Vi)
Option granted for selling the 72% BEY—HERBREIHE
equity interest in a subsidiary to FIEER R 72% M 1
non-controlling interest (Note b) BHEARE (FI5EDb) - 54,868
91,875 63,055

Movement of financial assets at fair value through profit or loss

is analysed as follows:

ZZD"F.

2022 2021

—s=-= =

HK$’000 HK$'000

BETT BT

At 1 January *—H—H 63,055 77,524

Disposal HE (5,184) -
Increase/(decrease) in fair value of financial st AEZZ £ REE

assets at fair value through profit or loss ~ ZAREEM, GEb 39,907 (16,730)

Exchange differences PERZE%R (5,903) 2,261

At 31 December W+ZB=+—H 91,875 63,055

CHINA INVESTMENTS HOLDINGS LIMITED o [ B3 £ B A BR 2 6]
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21. FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE
THROUGH PROFIT OR LOSS (continued)

Notes:

The fair value of the financial assets was approximately HK$91,875,000
HK$63,055,000) as valued by Peak Vision Appraisals Limited,
an independent firm of professional valuer.

(2021:

(@)

The unlisted equity investments represent equity interests issued

by unlisted entities in the PRC.

(i)

(i)

On 30 October 2019, the Group acquired 33% equity
interest in Foshan Baihualin Investment Management
Co. Ltd.*, a company established in PRC and engaged
in providing capital investments and funds management
services. As at 31 December 2022, the equity investment
was disposed of during the year (2021: fair value of equity
interest HK$1,309,000).

On 22 November 2019, the Group acquired 12.6% equity
interest in Shenzhen Waicheng Investment Partnership
(Limited Partnership)*, a company established in PRC and
engaged in investment holding,. As at 31 December 2022,
the equity interest was disposed of during the year (2021:
fair value of equity interest HK$4,155,000).

On 31 August 2020, the Group acquired an additional
2% equity interests in Guangdong Tiannuo Investments
Co., Limited (“Tiannuo”), an associate of the Company.
Upon the completion of acquisition, the Group was
deemed to have controlling power on Tiannuo. Thus,
Tiannuo was deemed as a non-wholly owned subsidiary
of the Company. Tiannuo held 7.16% equity interest in
Guangdong United Civil Explosives Co., Ltd.* (BE &
BB FR/AT), a company established in PRC and engaged
in agent services for the sale of emulsion explosives and
industrial detonating cords. As at 31 December 2022,
the fair value of the equity investment was approximately
HK$1,977,000 (2021: HK$2,723,000).

*

For identification purpose only
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F+"HB=+—HILt For the year ended 31 December 2022

21. RAREFT AR

(&)

i}

=103

M2 EREE

SHEEZAAEHBIUSEGEM SR
P EE R BEEAI A 91,875,000t (=
=TT —4F  #B163,055,0007T) °

a. RFLHROREERENEREF
EHZERETHREES

(i)

(ii)

RIE—AFE+A=+HB> %
ERKBEAEMEEEERR
AT (—ERARER A B
ﬁéi%fﬁ:ﬁﬂﬁ&éﬁ%%?ﬂ%
BR75) 2 33% MR A HE %5 o
2RI CF+ZA=+— E’
ZRMDBENFEABHE CF
T EFE I ROBEAAEAY
#181,309,0007T) ©

RZIE2E—h&F+—AZ+Z
B> AEBKRBE RN TERE
EEBLE BREE (—HER
FEAT REBEREZERNA
B]) Z12.6 %M AEm B E
ZEZFE+ZRA=+—8>
ZRMDBENFEABHE CF
T EFE I ROGBEAAEAY
HE4,155,0007T) ©

R_EEFENA=+—8">
NEBMBE—BHEATER
XAREBRAR (TRK#]) 5B
Sh 2% B HE - SER B N EE 1B
AREBRBRANEG#E A
IERERBEABDNIEZE T
M EAR KEER ERK
EREBRAE (—REFH
B BN IR E AL VEEE
REIBERHNAE) 7.16% MR
AEFZ - BE_Z__F£+_
A=+—H RBRABRZZAAR
BEAHBE1,977,000T (ZF
——4F :2,723,0007T) °
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
HE_Z__F+_"_HB=+—HBIL Forthe year ended 31 December 2022

21. FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE
THROUGH PROFIT OR LOSS (continued)

22,

Notes: (Continued)

(o)

This represents the Group’s has the right to sell the partial or all
of the equity interest in the Company’s subsidiary, Guangdong
Sino Rock Tyco Construction Co., Limited* (B E =R 2%
FfR/AE]), to the non-controlling interest. In April 2022, the Group
has entered into an supplementary agreement to extend the
maturity date of option to April 2025. As at 31 December 2022,
the fair value of the sale option was HK$89,898,000 (2021:
HK$54,868,000).

Details of the fair value measurement of the financial assets for
the year ended 31 December 2022 are set out in Note 5.

RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS AND LEASE

21. EAREFAR
()

M2 EREE

MisE (43

b. ERIEAEEEEREFOIFERER
HEXRBZHBABERTES R
BRERABDZEHMH A IRE R
202247 AEBMEBT T MRz
RIEHAED I B IERE2025548 o
BE_Z-__F+_-_FA=+—H'4
E#HE 2 QB 75 B 1589,898,0007T
(ZZZ—% . B¥54,868,0007T) °

BE_T_"_F+-RB=+—HL#F
ETMEEZ AABFEZFBEHT
PEMIEES

22 FHEEEREEGR

LIABILITIES
Right-of-use assets FEREEE
2022 2021
—E-= o
HK$’000 HK$'000
BETT BT
At 1 January *—HA—H 1,016,208 1,014,500
Additions g 668 69
Depreciation provided during the year FREHRITE (32,212) (33,459)
Early termination RATARLE (54) -
Adjustment on rental deposit HEERE
TEE BB E - 2,063
Exchange difference PER =% (78,424) 33,035
At 31 December R+-B=+—H 906,186 1,016,208

The right-of-use assets represent the Group’s rights to

EREEEREAERRRE

42.—\—.
KERE

use underlying leased premises under operating lease
arrangements over the lease terms, which are stated at cost
less accumulated depreciation and accumulated impairment
losses, and adjusted for any remeasurement of the lease

liabilities.

FREEHANEERERBEEME
R HU AR RSHTE R REHRIE
BX (AERIEEEEERFETYU
R FBR o

CHINA INVESTMENTS HOLDINGS LIMITED o [ B3 £ B A BR 2 6]
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HE_Z__F+_"_H=+—HILt Forthe year ended 31 December 2022

22. RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS AND LEASE 2. FHEEERBEAR @
LIABILITIES (continued)
Lease liabilities HEaR
2022 2021
—E-C T4
HK$’000 HK$’000
BT T BT T
Maturity analysis EHR 3 A
— Contractual undiscounted cash flows: —BHERIRIRE
ME
Within one year S —FER 51,910 52,708
Over one year but less than two years BiEm—FBLORmE 52,035 56,099
Over two years but less than M EEI R =F
three years 52,276 56,063
Over three year but less than five years BiEm=FEI0REF 111,428 117,133
Over five years i A E 1,924,037 2,134,733
Total undiscounted lease liabilities at the — RERZKRLIREE
end of the year BE4EEE 2,191,686 2,416,736
Less: total future interest expenses A ﬂi?ﬁﬂ BRI 4% (1,129,052) (1,280,948)
1,062,634 1,135,788
Analysed as: DR
Current BPEA 51,910 52,708
Non-current JEBNER 1,010,724 1,083,080
At 31 December R+_B=+—H 1,062,634 1,135,788
The Group recognised rental expenses from short-term leases RER> REBEREHEEZHEH
of approximately HK$997,000 (2021: HK$97,000) during the S HABIE997,000T (ZEZ—F 1 &
year. 7B #£97,0007T) °
260 CHINA INVESTMENTS HOLDINGS LIMITED #fB8 $1L 3 P i 45 12 23 i)
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22. RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS AND LEASE

LIABILITIES (continued)

Lease liabilities (Continued)

Amounts recognised in the consolidated statement of

financial position

e A5 AR B e

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

HERRE @&

BE_Z__F+_"_H=+—HI1t For the year ended 31 December 2022

22 FHEEERHAEESR @

RS BRREANEEZ 2

2022 2021

—E== —E £

HK$’000 HK$’000

BETIT BT T

At 1 January w—A—H 1,135,788 1,092,676
Additions during the year F AT 668 69
Interest charged to profit or loss SFAERNAE 53,505 55,234
Payment during the year KEBNE (38,168) (48,515)
Early termination R4 1E (54) -
Exchange difference fERZE%R (89,105) 36,324
At 31 December R+_-_B=+—H 1,062,634 1,135,788

CHINA INVESTMENTS HOLDINGS LIMITED v |5 BU¥E PEB A BUA W)
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261



262

)

ke W5 R B

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

HE_Z__"HF+"_H=+—HIt Forthe year ended 31 December 2022

22. RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS AND LEASE

LIABILITIES (continued)

Lease liabilities (Continued)

Amounts recognised in consolidated statement of profit
or loss and other comprehensive income

HESE @)

22. FREEEKREEGR @

RiFeRm REMEH K m RS

ZH

2022 2021

—g=-= —E-—f

HK$’000 HK$’000

BETIT BT T

Interest on lease liabilities HEEEZFE 53,505 55,234

Depreciation e 32,212 33,459
Amounts recognised in the consolidated statement of R ERERNERERZEEE

cash flows

2022 2021

ZEZCZHF T —F

HK$’000 HK$’000

BETT BT T

Total cash outflow for leases HEZRERHERE 38,168 48,515

23. PROPERTIES HELD FOR SALE

The cost of properties held for sale incurred and recognised
as expenses for the year ended 31 December 2022 is
HK$4,600,000. (2021: nil).

All properties held for sale were sold out during the year.

CHINA INVESTMENTS HOLDINGS LIMITED v [ 8 3 £ B A B 23 ]
ANNUAL REPORT 2022 4E#
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
HE_Z__F+_"_HB=+—HBIL Forthe year ended 31 December 2022

24. INVENTORIES 24. 78
2022 2021
- -
HK$’000 HK$’000
BB T T BET T
Raw materials [FE 4 #4
Chemicals for manufacturing emulsion IEVFEREIRE
explosives and industrial detonating S EREEREN
cord 2,975 4,622
Fuels AR 30 81
Finished goods X
Emulsion explosives and industrial FAEVFREREIRR
detonating cords 2,430 2,480
Food, beverages and hotel supplies B B B s
HIEm 829 868
Health smart devices REEERE 245 35
Medical supplies B R 982 820
Pharmaceuticals B 1,278 994
8,769 9,900
The cost of inventories recognised as expenses and included in HE_E-_“F+"HA=+—HIHF
cost of sales amounted to HK$222,898,000 for the year ended B rRlAalRXwst A Bm 2 FER4
31 December 2022 (2021: HK$179,360,000). 7 A5 16222,898,00070 (ZE2Z—F 1 &

#179,360,0007T) °

The Directors considered the provision for inventory EERABENBAENESIRAE
obsolescence is not required. (2021: Nil). BECZZ—F .8\
CHINA INVESTMENTS HOLDINGS LIMITED o[ BUSE £ 1 5 1 43 7] 263
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
HE_Z__F+_"_H=+—HILt Forthe year ended 31 December 2022

25. FINANCIAL LEASE RECEIVABLES 25. FLETH & UL
2022 2021
—EF BT %
HK$’000 HK$’000
ABET T BT 5T
Analysed as: DEA
Current Yk 1,067,858 777,069
Non-current JERE 2,884,042 2,453,338
At the end of the year REXR 3,951,900 3,230,407
Minimum lease Present value of
payments lease payments
RIEFAEL® REMHEMZZRE
2022 2021 2022 2021
—E-C BT —fF —E-C R —F
HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$'000
BAETT BT AETT BT
Finance lease receivables comprise: ~ BB HEEWREIE
Within one year R—%FR 1,296,733 967,370 1,067,858 777,069
Over one year but less than BB —FETBBWE
two years 1,244,705 1,038,634 1,076,433 902,321
Over two years but less than HBEWFEFBBRF
five years 2,005,456 1,702,841 1,868,137 1,672,212
Over five years BRAEF - 7,046 - 6,863
4,546,894 3,715,891 4,012,428 3,258,465
Less: unearned finance income B RBREA) WA (534,466) (457,426) N/A N/A
Present value of minimum lease U RERAECTHZRE
payment receivables 4,012,428 3,258,465 4,012,428 3,258,465
Less: Allowance for expected B TEERE B IRRE
credit losses (60,528) (28,058) (60,528) (28,058)
3,951,900 3,230,407 3,951,900 3,230,407
CHINA INVESTMENTS HOLDINGS LIMITED o 5 L3 £ 15 45 | 43 7
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25. FINANCIAL LEASE RECEIVABLES (continveaq)  25.

Movements of allowance for expected credit losses on finance
lease receivables are as follows:

For the year ended 31 December 2022

MEREEWE @

BMERERNR B EEEREE
BEEBNT

Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Total
FEE EHRE FRE o
HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$’000
Allowance for expected credit losses ~ FEHA(EEREERE BRI BRI AETT AR
At 1 January 2022 RZE__&—HA—H 28,058 - - 28,058
Movement within stages: P ER PRy 23 |
Move to stage 3 (i) BEEMEE (D) (337) - 337 -
Charged for the year KEFHE 11,464 - 24,205 35,669
Exchange differences EREB (2,177) - (1,022) (3,199)
At 31 December 2022 RZB-—&
+-A=+—H 37,008 - 23,520 60,528
Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Total
B BT BT fast
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
Allowance for expected credit losses ~ TAHAfE ER5ERHE BT BT BT BT
At 1 January 2021 RZIE2Z—&—F—H 17,452 - - 17,452
Charged for the year REFR 9,847 - - 9,847
Exchange differences ERER 759 - - 759
At 31 December 2021 RIBZ—&
+-A=+-8 28,058 - - 28,058
(i) It was caused by a worsening credit-impaired receivable from Mzx: EEBEBEE_ZEZ__&£+_H

the finance lease customer who was subject to a reorganisation
process during the year ended 31 December 2022.

All leases are denominated in RMB. The term of finance leases
ranged from less than 1 year to 5 years (2021: 1 to 6 years).
The effective interest rates of the finance leases ranged from
4.98% to 11.30% per annum (2021: 4.98% to 11.50% per
annum).

—t+-—BLEFE-LREEERR
ETEHEREF HEeEERERK
MIEEBIEFRE -

FIBERENMUAREE FTIIMEMR
EZHEBENFELR—FEREE (ZTF
T —EXRF  -MEEAEZER
FEMENF498%FE11.30% (ZFE_—
£ EFEL498%F11.50%) °
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25. FINANCIAL LEASE RECEIVABLES (Continued)

There was no unguaranteed residual value in connection with
finance lease arrangements or contingent lease arrangements
that needed to be recorded as at the end of the reporting
period.

The finance lease receivables are secured by the leased assets,
mainly plant and machinery. The Group is not permitted to
sell or repledge the collaterals of the finance lease receivables
without consent from the lessee in the absence of default by
the lessee.

Estimates of fair value of collaterals are made during the
credit approval process. These estimates of valuations are
made at the inception of finance lease, and generally not
updated except when the receivable is individually impaired.
When a finance lease receivable is identified as impaired,
the corresponding fair value of collateral of that receivable
is updated by reference to market value such as recent
transaction price of the assets.

As at 31 December 2022,
receivables amounted to approximately HK$2,782,574,000
(2021: HK$2,643,168,000).

the pledged finance lease

Security deposits received from customers represent finance
lease deposits received from customers, which will be
repayable at the end of the lease period of the respective
finance leases. As at 31 December 2022, deposits of
HK$167,493,000 (2021: HK$132,625,000) have been received
by the Group, in which deposits of HK$2,715,000 (2021:
HK$11,626,000) were classified as current liabilities and the
balances were classified as non-current liabilities, based on the
final lease installment due date stipulated in the finance lease
agreements. All deposits are non-interest bearing.

At the end of the reporting period, one of the finance lease
receivables with the carrying amount of approximately
HK$23,520,000 was past due. Such finance lease receivable
is categorised in stage 3. Details of impairment assessment for
the year ended 31 December 2022 are set out in Note 5.

CHINA INVESTMENTS HOLDINGS LIMITED v [ 8 3 £ B A B 23 ]
ANNUAL REPORT 2022 4E#
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25 FiEHEEWRE @
RIRSEF T EAMRMERERRNHA
ETH Y KBRS EEAR

REHERBAIUBESEFRT 25
R R e EABALEEGNBRT
AEABAARR AEBFARSEEXBRE
HREHERRRZIERM-

RiEEFHBRES  HIXHFRZANEED
fhet e ZEMEZGESINRIBEEER
R WBE RN EEH  FRIFEURRIE R IR
1858 E R 1E B 5 © 'S 7% & 78 B B8 WOk A
B 7R ER > ZEWRBIERRER AR
BER2ETHEE WEELHRZER &
#ro

A —

A TE T TE+"A=+—H BiEERE
THEEWHRAE2 782,574,00070 (&
——4F : #B¥2,643,168,0007T) ©

Euﬁgﬁﬁ%ﬁ?&@%%auﬁz@ﬁ%Eiéffrﬂ‘*
e RBREmEHEERBREREE
RIEZZF+ZB=+—H> z!s%le
Wik & B 1167,493,0000 (ZE - —F .
B 1132,625,00070) P EFERBEaHEAE
#2,715,000c 2 e (ZE - —4 : B
11,626,0007T) A B RIEM BB EHZE T
Sz RAHESBNRIBESBEARD
B8E HMGREIEAFERDHEBE 25’
EFATERE

REBESHAR RE-FRABOEE
23,520,0007_5E@%ﬁiﬁ%ﬂ‘*ﬁ@&?’xa‘iﬁﬂ°Jtt
MEHERBREEINES =R -BE
T+ A=+—HLBIEESF Ia
B MIEES o



26.

27.

DEDUCTIBLE VALUE ADDED TAX

Deductible value added tax (“VAT”) mainly represents the input
VAT relating to purchase of property, plant and equipment,
which is deductible from output VAT. Those expected to be
deducted within one year is presented in other receivables.

TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES

The Group’s trading terms with its customers are mainly on
credit, except for new customers, where payment in advance is
normally required. The Group allows an average credit period of
90 days to its customers.

The following is an aging analysis of the Group’s trade and
other receivables after deducting the impairment loss allowance
presented based on invoice dates at the end of the reporting
period:

/> & =3
e MR b T
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

HE_Z__F+_"_HB=+—HBIL Forthe year ended 31 December 2022

26. FFIRMBER

FHRNEERETEEIANIENHEER
RERNERBENE BEKRRHEN
EIRIR(ER - FRETE—FRBIBIIEE
MEFEHMBURIE

27. FEURARTR B EL fth FE UL TR IR

PR E R BERBRNRIN AEEA
ERZZBIHEREBUEEET &KE
EiGTHERTH0RZEERH-

AERRRSPHRREZZAHZY
Z FEWAR MR R B FE W - IB A 0 TR AR
EEHREEEZREDNINT

2022 2021
—E-C TET—4F

HK$’000 HK$’000

AT T BT

0-60 days 0ZF60H 51,634 33,719
61-90 days 61ZE90H 7,148 3,217
91-120 days 91ZE120H 5,175 3,277
Over 120 days #B3E120H 15,140 6,620
Trade receivables FE IS BR =X 79,097 46,833
Other receivables (Note) Hhpelsria (fesh) 87,526 96,931
166,623 143,764

Note: It mainly includes deductible value added tax of HK$24,505,000
and interest receivables from financial leasing business
of HK$26,305,000 (2021: deductible value added tax of
HK$4,641,000, dividend receivables of HK$40,917,000
and interest receivables from financial leasing business of
HK$20,051,000).

B 5

It EZQEARMNIEAERBE
24,505,000t R REMERE X
B9 FE U F) B 38 1526,305,0007T (Z &
Z—&F  olR IS ER B 14,641,000
T FEWR AR BB 140,917,0007T &
REMEHEEFNERAEBE
20,051,0007T) °
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27. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES 27. FEWER AU B FE YR FRIE (=

(Continued)

The Group does not hold any collateral or other credit
enhancements over these balances.

At as 31 December 2022, trade receivables over 90 days
amounted to HK$20,315,000 (2021: HK$9,897,000) were past
due but not impaired as the balances related to debtors with
sound repayment history and no recent history of default.

An aging analysis of trade receivables that were past due but

AEBRTERZFEHFTE T AER
mAHMAEEE R

W_E__HF+-_B=+—H 88
90 [ BY & W BR ® <& 3878 120,315,000
7T (ZE - —4 | #1£9,897,0007T) &
i ERPEREBEABRIFZAM
SCER R AT BB M 0 A0 B 0 BRI AR 1F HH OB
Ee

BHRBARIRE 2 RN ARRBIBRES IO T ¢

not impaired:
2022 2021
—E-C TET—4F
HK$’000 HK$’000
AEFT BT
91-120 days 91E120H 5,175 3,277
Over 120 days #8iB120H 15,140 6,620
20,315 9,897

The Group’s largest trade receivables balance amounted to
HK$20,093,000 (2021: HK$10,470,000) at the end of the year.
Moreover, the Group’s five largest trade receivables balances
amounted to HK$43,049,000 (2021: HK$29,350,000) in total at
the end of the year.

CHINA INVESTMENTS HOLDINGS LIMITED v [ 8 3 £ B A B 23 ]
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27. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES

(Continued)

Movements of allowance for expected credit losses on trade

receivables are as follows:

F+_HB=+—H1E

27.

e A5 AR B e

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
For the year ended 31 December 2022

FE S Bl R e EL At FE UL TR I ()

AR R E E G RRE RN E

LI

2022 2021

—E-C —ET—fF

HK$’000 HK$’000

BT BT

Balance at the beginning of the year R ER 4 R 762 251
Allowance for expected credit losses R EAEERR

recognised B 276 499
Allowance for expected credit losses FEHGEEEREE .

written back o] #% - (5)

Exchange differences fEREER (67) 17

Balance at the end of the year RERGEER 971 762

Details of impairment assessment of trade receivables for the
years ended 31 December 2022 and 31 December 2021 are

set out in Note 5.

As at 31 December 2022, none of the other receivables was
past due (2021: Nil). Allowance for expected credit losses on

other receivables amounted to HK$2,329,000 (2021:

recognised during the year.

Nil) was

EWEZEE_ET__F+=A°
=t+—BERZE-_—F+_A=+—
HiIEEEREGHFBEHEN M S

KRB _H+"RB=+—H">Hfth

& Wi R

RIRREELEAR (TT - —
FIE) FREEIDHEMEBER

HZ

TEERE BB #H 388 2,329,000

%

T (ZF

) o
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28. CASH AND BANK BALANCES AND
PLEDGED BANK DEPOSITS

(a)

Cash and bank balances comprise:

28. /ERIRT
1TER

THEER B B R R IR

(a) BRERIRITEREE !

2022 2021

—=E-— B

HK$’000 HK$’000

BT T BT 7T

Cash at bank and on hand R1T R IRE AR 1,024,206 876,255
Less: pledged bank deposits B BIREIRITER 24,956 349,418
Cash and bank balances B & KMIRTT4EER 999,250 526,837

Cash and bank balances comprise cash at bank and on
hand held by the Group and bank time deposits.

Bank balances are interest bearing at respective saving
deposits rate in the Hong Kong and PRC, and the
effective interest rates of the Group’s bank balances
range from 0.01% to 5.00% per annum in Hong Kong
and from 0.25% to 3.80% per annum in PRC. (2021:
0.01% to 2.50% per annum in Hong Kong and 0.3% to
2.63% per annum in PRC).

Pledged bank deposits represent deposits pledged to
banks to secure banking facilities granted to the Group.
Deposits amounting to approximately HK$24,956,000
(2021: HK$349,418,000) have been pledged to secure
a bank borrowing and is therefore separately presented
under current asset.

CHINA INVESTMENTS HOLDINGS LIMITED v [ 8 3 £ B A B 23 ]
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28. CASH AND BANK BALANCES AND
PLEDGED BANK DEPOSITS (continued)

(a)

Cash and bank balances comprise: (Continued)

The carrying amounts of cash and bank balances are
denominated in the following currencies:

28. /ERIRT
TEFH®

THEER B B R R IR

RERIRITHEREE (@)

RERBRITEGFNREZEUT
P EHEEHE

2022 2021

—®-C =

HK$’000 HK$’000

BT T BT T

Hong Kong Dollars i 28,768 14,259
Renminbi AR 962,391 512,469
United States Dollars ET 8,091 109
999,250 526,837

As at 31 December 2022, the Group’s cash and bank
balances with an aggregate amount of approximately
HK$968,539,000 (2021: HK$518,735,000) were
denominated in RMB which is not a freely convertible
currency in the international market. The government of
the PRC has implemented foreign exchange control and
the remittance of these funds out of the PRC is subject to
exchange restrictions imposed by the government of the
PRC.

RZIEZZHF+ZAHA=+—
HrAEBEUAREBFEZR
ERIBTEBRBEBEOA B
968,539,0007t (ZE - —%F | &
#518,735,0007T) & IEEE T I5
FAERRBRNEE i EBUY
EEMIEEF MEELES
PE AP ZEE TP EBUN B R
& 2 Rl
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28. CASH AND BANK BALANCES AND
PLEDGED BANK DEPOSITS (continued)

(b) Reconciliation of liabilities arising from financing

activities

28. /ERIRT
TEFH®

(b)

THEER B B R R IR

METBAMEENEEHER

Interest
from Convertible Lease
Borrowings borrowings notes liabilities Total
fam famFl s ARRERE HEaR ok
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$°000 HK$’000
BETT BETT BETT ABETT BT
At 1 January 2022 WZ_E-__&#—HA—H 4,236,119 8,128 132,644 1,135,788 5,512,679
Changes from financing REREREH .
cash flows:
Proceeds from borrowings BRFMBHIE 3,532,239 - - - 3,532,239
Repayment of borrowings BEER (2,382,794) - - - (2,382,794)
Interest paid BAFE - (50,038) (3,325) - (53,363)
Interest element of lease BENHEEREZ
rentals paid FEHH - - - (38,168) (38,168)
5,385,564 (41,910) 129,319 1,097,620 6,570,593
Other changes: HEthgs .
Additions i - - - 668 668
Early termination REL&IE - - - (54) (54)
Exchange differences ERELE (294,723) - - (89,105) (383,828)
Interest expense FIERZ - 60,078 14,514 53,505 128,097
At 31 December 2022 RZB-_#+_A
=+—H 5,090,841 18,168 143,833 1,062,634 6,315,476

CHINA INVESTMENTS HOLDINGS LIMITED b 2 8L 3% £ B 45 BR 23 5]
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28. CASH AND BANK BALANCES AND 28. RERIRITHEBR R BIEIRIERE
PLEDGED BANK DEPOSITS (Continued) TER®
Reconciliation of liabilities arising from financing (b) FEITENFFELENERBHIER (&
activities (Continued)
Interest
from Convertible Lease
Borrowings borrowings notes liabilities Total
&7 BIFE TR EE HEaR ek
HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$’'000 HK$'000 HK$’'000
BT BT BETT BETT BT
At 1 January 2021 A ZE-_—-E—F—H 2,555,945 4,836 122,565 1,092,676 3,776,022
Changes from financing miﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁ@l :
cash flows:
Proceeds from borrowings BRFMBHIE 2,380,354 - - - 2,380,354
Repayment of borrowings BEER (788,833) - - - (788,833)
Interest paid BAFE - (31,939) (3,325) - (35,258)
Interest element of lease BENHEEREZ
rentals paid FEEH - - - (48,515) (48,515)
4,147,466 (27,097) 119,240 1,044,161 5,283,770
Other changes: HEthgs .
Additions i - - - 69 69
Exchange differences ERER 88,653 - - 36,324 124,977
Interest expense FEMZ - 35,225 13,404 55,234 103,863
At 31 December 2021 ZZZ-5+ZAH
=+—H 4,236,119 8,128 132,644 1,135,788 5,612,679
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29. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES 29. AR R ELth P& FR IR
The credit period granted by the Group’s suppliers range from AERRFHEBZEEHN FI0H
30 days to 90 days. FO0H-

The following is an aging analysis of the Group’s trade payables KREBERRSHER BREZHPET
based on the invoice date at the end of the reporting period: FESIRRRZEBREC DT T -
2022 2021
—E_C T4
HK$’000 HK$’000
BETIT BT
0-60 days 0&60H 18,376 32,680
61-90 days 61290H 935 330
91-120 days 91&120H 389 1,329
Over 120 days BiB120H 13,025 6,290
Trade payables FEfTBRER 32,725 40,629
Other payables HME=IE 183,188 135,158
215,913 175,787
Other payables included the following items: HiENHIESE TYIER !
2022 2021
—E_C T4
HK$’000 HK$'000
BETT BT
Contract liabilities (Note iii) aras s 289 588
Rental deposits received from customers BWEAHEERE 26,866 23,929
Receipts in advance from financial leasing R BB EHEMFEIRIRR 22,411 14,954
Other tax payable (Note i) HMEARIE (I 55) 35,831 19,162
Staff salaries and welfare BT #HETKER 50,962 45,196
Provision for termination benefits BIESHEREE 8,350 9,057
Others (Note i) EAth (B 5 38,479 22,272
183,188 135,158

CHINA INVESTMENTS HOLDINGS LIMITED v [ 8 3 £ B A B 23 ]
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29. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES (continued)

Notes:

Other tax payable mainly includes value added tax payables.

29.

For the year ended 31 December 2022

FE 17 BR 7k e HL fth & {1 7R 18
Mo sE -

() HMECREIZGOERMCEER-

i Others include interest payables, accrued expenses and other iy HtBEECHE -BNERBRAEM
temporary receipts. B UK o
ii.  Movements of contract liabilities are as follows: iy BHNEBEEZLEWT
2022 2021
== T
HK$’000 HK$’000
BT BT T
At 1 January w—B—H 588 4,224
Decrease in contract liabilities as a result of FEANRDURER
recognising revenue during the year that sHaERD
was included in the contract liabilities at the ECHH%D FAEHNEAE
beginning of the period (638) (4,581)
Increase in contract liabilities during the year ~ ERER &L EFEE N 377 928
Exchange difference ERER (38) 17
At 31 December ®»+ZBE=+—H 289 588

Typical payment terms which impact the amount of contract liabilities
recognised are as follows:

The Group receives advances from certain customers in connection
with the service income from wellness elderly care business. These
advances are recognised as contract liabilities until the performance
obligations are completed.

The Group has financial risk management policies in place to
ensure that all payables are paid within the credit timeframe.

CHINA INVESTMENTS HOLDINGS LIMITED o [ B3 £ B A BR 2 6]
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B

30. BORROWINGS

EE""HF+"H=+—HIt For the year ended 31 December 2022

30. &%

2022 2021
== B
HK$’000 HK$’000
BB T T BT T
Asset-backed Securities (Note a) BEEXFHES (MsFa) 339,367 471,225
Bank loans (Note b) RITEE (FIsEo) 4,003,204 3,180,632
Loan from immediate holding company BEEERABZER
(Note ¢) (Ff35Fc) 136,000 136,000
Loan from non-controlling interests (Note d) JE1Z=RE#E & &
(MI5Ed) 29,260 31,655
Other bonds (Note e) HhEs (fiste) 339,366 147,239
Other loans (Note f) H &= (f5Ef) 243,644 269,368
5,090,841 4,236,119
Secured =Eiigi 4,092,658 3,654,972
Unsecured mIKE 998,183 581,147
5,090,841 4,236,119
Carrying amount repayable: FEEZEREE -
Within one year S —FR 1,923,318 1,610,078
Over one year but less than two years Bia—FEEREE
R 1,273,783 758,706
Over two years, but not more than BiEmEERBIE
five years hE 1,283,068 1,632,250
Over five years BilhE 610,672 235,085
5,090,841 4,236,119
Analysed as: DEEA
Current mEnaE 1,923,318 1,610,078
Non-current ERBEE 3,167,523 2,626,041
5,090,841 4,236,119

During the year, the Group settled borrowings amounting to
HK$2,382,794,000 (31 December 2021: HK$788,833,000).
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HE_Z__F+_"_HB=+—HBIL Forthe year ended 31 December 2022

30. BORROWINGS (continued)

Notes:

(@)

At 31 December 2022, Asset-backed Securities (“ABS”)
amounted to HK$339,367,000 (2021: HK$471,225,000) are fixed
rate borrowings which carry effective interest rates ranged from
6.05% to 6.07% (2021: from 6.05% to 6.07%) per annum.

At 31 December 2022, bank loans amounted to
HK$2,170,767,000 (2021: HK$2,646,377,000) are variable-
rate borrowings which carry effective interest rates ranged
from 1.25% to 5.75% (2021: 1.42% to 6.18%) per annum. The
remaining bank loans amounted to HK$1,832,437,000 (2021:
HK$534,255,000) are fixed rate borrowings which carry effective
interest rates ranged from 3.55% to 5.5% (2021: from 4.05% to
7.50) per annum.

At 31 December 2022, loan from immediate holding company
amounted to HK$136,000,000 (2021: HK$136,000,000) are fixed
rate borrowings which carry effective interest rates ranged from
3% to 4% (2021: from 3% to 4%) per annum.

At 31 December 2022, loan from non-controlling interests
amounted to HK$28,280,000 (2021: HK$30,675,000) are
variable rate borrowings which carry effective interest rate of
4.75% (2021: 4.75%) per annum. The remaining loan from non-
controlling interests amounted to HK$980,000 (31 December
2021: HK$980,000) are interest free (31 December 2021: Nil).

30. f&

GER

(@)

= .
e

RZE__F#+-_/A=+—H" &
EXEEHB16339,367,0007T (Z
E-—F+-_H=Z+—H:BK
471,225,00070) AEEFEER  H
BRENZAENF6.05EZE6.07E (Z

——F+ZHB=+—H :6.06EE
6.07/E) °

RZE-__F#+-H=+—H" IR
TERB2,170,767,00075 (=
T —F+ZAHA=+—H:BE
2,646,377,00070) % A B F] KAE R
HERFNEANF1.256EFES.75
E(ZTEZ—F+= E +—8:
1.42BE6.18E) ° IRITEFE
#1,832,437,0007C (_ —_—F+=
B=+—H : #B8#534,255,0007T) &
EEFEMER HEERFENEAH3.55
EE55E (T2 Z—F+ZHA=+—
H :4.05E%E7.50) °

A_E__HE+-A=+—H H#
ERAT 2 ERHE136,000,0007T
2+ "-RB=+—H: &
#136,000,0007T) & E EFIZXE R
HEBRENERANFIBELE (T
T—H+ZHA=+—H:3EZE4E) -

RZE__—_F#+-/B=+—H"3
TREZENBIE28,280,0007T
TEZ—F+ZHA=+—H B
30,675,0007T) &R S| EEH > HE
B’KE%‘JT%475J_(_7_—EE+_
B=+—8 :4.75[E) o HERIFZERE
& ERB15980,0007T (_7:—55
+ZHA=+—H : B¥980,0007T) &
REER ( CEZ—F+ZHA=+—
B:M®o
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30. BORROWINGS (continued) 30.

Notes: (Continued)

(e) At 31 December 2022, other bond amounted to
HK$339,366,000 (2021: HK$147,239,000) is fixed rate
borrowing which carries effective interest rate of 6% to 6.50%
(2021: 6%) per annum.

) At 31 December 2022, several loans of other loans amounted
to HK$45,249,000 (2021: HK$49,080,000) are variable-rate
borrowings which carry effective interest rate of 5.23% (2021:
5.23%) per annum. The remaining loans of other loans amounted
to HK$198,395,000 (2021: HK$220,288,000) are fixed rate
borrowings which carry effective interest rates ranged from
4.75% to 6% (2021: from 5.73% to 6.30%) per annum.

At 31 December 2022 and 31 December 2021, certain
borrowings of the Group are secured by investment properties,
property, plant and equipment, pledged bank deposit, pledged
lease receivables, pledged paid-up capital of a non-wholly
owned subsidiary and future rental receivables. For the details
of the pledge of assets, please refer to Note 39 to the financial
statements.

The Group’s borrowings denominated in the following

Bk =

Mizk : (#8)

) MIEHF+-HA=+—H>Hf
{535 41£339,366,0007T (ZB_-—4#
+ZRA=+—08 : #1147,239,000
7T AEEMEER HEREANE
NFeEZE650E (ZTE2EZ—F+ZAH
=+—H:6E)-°

H MITEF+"HB=+—H>Hf
Btz 8in ERB1645,249,0007T
2+ -"RB=+—H: &
#49,080,0007T) 7 a] & F) A& >
HEREMNRAS 2B (T - —4F
+ZB=+—H8:523E) cHME
T FERE B 198,395,0007T
ZE—F+ZHA=+—8:#B
szo 288,0007T) BEEFEER
BEREFNENF475BZE6E (Z
%:—EEJr_)%_wL H:573E=
6.30E) °

N B _FRIZEZ—F+ZA
—t+—H AEEETERULEDY
(- ME-BERZE BIRFRITE
FoBIERRERERK  BIERIE
%ﬁﬁﬁ%@ﬂziﬁi%&ﬁzk&ﬂ%%%u&
e ARBEERFZHB F2HH
R R MIEE39 0

EBZEMUMTHERSHE !

currencies:
2022 2021
—E-= s
HK$’000 HK$'000
BT T BT T
Hong Kong Dollars o 233,010 212,017
Renminbi AR #E 4,154,737 3,357,433
UsD ETT 703,094 666,669
5,090,841 4,236,119

2 CHINA INVESTMENTS HOLDINGS LIMITED v 2] 8 3¢ £ B A5 B 23 )
78 ANNUAL REPORT 2022 4E#



e A5 AR B e

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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31. CONVERTIBLE NOTES

On 12 March 2019, in accordance with the terms and condition
of the 2014 CB, the Company entered into the extension deed
with the holder of the 2014 CB, Prize Rich Inc. (“Prize Rich”)
to extend the maturity date of the outstanding 2014 CB in
the principal amount of HK$166,232,000 by 5 years from 13
October 2019 to 13 October 2024 (the “Extended CB Maturity
Date”), with all the terms and conditions of the outstanding
2014 CB unchanged. On 23 May 2019, after passing the
ordinary resolution to approve the extension deed by the
shareholders at the special general meeting, the extension
deed became effective. The 2014 CB was redeemed and new
convertible notes with the same terms and the Extended CB
Maturity Date (the “2019 CB”) was issued.

The 2019 CB in the principal amount of HK$166,232,000
(of which its fair value at the issuance date is approximately
HK$109,616,000) bears coupon rate at 2% per annum and is
convertible into shares of the Company at a conversion price
of HK$0.76 per share at any time following the issue date up
to the maturity date. At any time prior to the maturity date of
the 2019 CB, the Company is entitled to redeem in whole or in
part of the 2019 CB. Unless previously redeemed, converted or
purchased and cancelled, the 2019 CB will be redeemed on 13
October 2024. The 2019 CB carries interest, which is payable
annually in arrears or upon the conversion or redemption of the
notes.

31.

R EE
A ZE-NF=F+H > R#E2014
PR ERE 2B R E  &~A T H

20140] # g R ¥R 5 B APrize Rich Inc.
STALEHEARR MG LU M R EIE P IR 2R
BZHBHHRIE-AE+A+= EI
EAFE—ZNE+A+=8"
KREZBEZ2014 MR IR Z FTBIRR
REHEAREZE R E—NERBA-+=
B BREREREFNAE HBEBEER
BRI RE R LK IERX
EW2014F AR ER DD I 5%
TEEEREREIEERRKREEE
HBEZHTBREREE (2019 KE
1) o

& A HE166,232,00075220197]
BREE (EAAEBRETHOARAE
#109,616,00070) 2 R EE B E2E
B URETREMEEEEZHNEH
EARERESRABK.7T6TERS
EN/NET 30 oﬁA2019‘H§1ExK¢F§UHﬂ
HAEAER > A BB #ER 2
Z 20197 R ZE ¥k o Bfalz%aueﬁﬁ
[o] ~ B ol B8 B R s 8 » B AJ20190
KRERFR _Z_NF+A+=HHE
Ele 2019 MR EHR M ESFXR
EREIRIER RS o
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31. CONVERTIBLE NOTES (continuead) 31. IR ERE =
The convertible notes contain two components, liability, and MR EEEEMIY S ERER
equity components. The equity component is presented in o EmB o 2N ERET Z AR
equity under heading “convertible note equity reserve’. The CERBERGDHEE BB RERI D
fair values of the liability component and the equity conversion HWARERETESRKETE -

component were determined at the issuance of the notes.

Movements of liability component of the notes for the year are EREEH DN AREZEHHINT
set out below:

HK$'000
BET T
At 1 January 2021 N B2 —F—HF—H 122,565
Interest charged at an effective interest rate of RERFIZF10.64EstE 2 B
10.64% 13,404
Interest paid BENFHE (3,325)
At 31 December 2021 and 1 January 2022 HRIZE-—H+”"“A=+—HK
—E-_"#£—H—H 132,644
Interest charged at an effective BERFE10.64E
interest rate of 10.64% SEZMEMX 14,514
Interest paid BEHE (3,325)
At 31 December 2022 R-E__#+”"A=+—H 143,833
2022 2021
—EZZ “ET—fF
HK$’000 HK$’000
AT T BT
Analysed as: DR
Amount due after one year shown under  FEREMNE BB FFI-
non-current liabilities R—F%EHPZ
TR 143,833 132,644
The fair value of the liability component of the convertible notes IMREEEES P 22 EUR
is calculated using cash flows discounted at market interest 10.642 (:7: F10.648E) 25
rate of 10.64% (2021: 10.64%). MERRZIVEREGTE
) CHINA INVESTMENTS HOLDINGS LIMITED #1[ BUSE 2 2 4 B 43 7]
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32. DEFERRED TAX ASSETS/(LIABILITIES)
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
HE_Z__F+_"_HB=+—HBIL Forthe year ended 31 December 2022

32. FEMEEE (BR)

The following are the deferred tax assets and liabilities UTARE RBTFEBERR
recognised and movements thereon during the current and EREESEMEBENEEE) .
prior years:
Recognised
in the
consolidated
As at  statement of Exchange
1 January  profit or loss difference 31 December
RizEEER »w+=A
®—B—H HR ERELE =+—H
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$’'000 HK$'000
BT T BT T BT T BT
2022 —EBICE
Deferred tax assets: FIERIBEE .
Allowance for expected credit RERERRZZ
losses on finance lease receivable FRHEEHERS 7,014 8,917 (799) 15,132
Deferred tax liabilities: RIERIESE .
Undistributed profits of an associate ~ ¥i& /AT~ KD FL & (15,162) (944) 1,210 (14,896)
Revaluation, net of related BN ERITE
depreciation (43,073) 983 3,333 (38,757)
(58,235) 39 4,543 (53,653)
(51,221) 8,956 3,744 (38,521)
2021 —EZ—-F
Deferred tax assets: RIERIEEE ©
Allowance for expected credit REREERRZZ
losses on finance lease receivable TREEEBBERE - 6,888 126 7,014
Deferred tax liabilities: EERIEEE
Undistributed profits of an associate B AT 2 KD EEF) (17,559) 2,843 (446) (15,162)
Revaluation, net of related B INRIERITE
depreciation (44,118) 2,460 (1,415) (43,073)
(61,677) 5,303 (1,861) (58,235)
(61,677) 12,191 (1,735) (51,221)
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32. DEFERRED TAX ASSETS/(LIABILITIES) 32.
(Continued)

The following is the analysis of the deferred tax balances for
financial reporting purposes:

RERIBBEE (B8R @

MU AEERIBL R Z D UIER TS
R~ A :

2022 2021
—s=-= =
HK$’000 HK$’000
BT BT 5T
Analysed as: ﬁ*ﬁj—h}r :
Deferred assets RIETRIEE =
Non-current JETRED 15,132 7,014
Deferred tax liabilities RIERIEEE
Current TRE) 38,757 43,073
Non-current JER BN 14,896 15,162
53,653 58,235

No deferred tax has been provided in respect of the valuation
surplus relating to the hotel properties for the year as the
carrying amount does not exceed the total investment cost
and the Directors considered that there is no taxable economic
benefits flow to the Group.

At the end of the reporting period, the Group has unused tax
losses of HK$54,392,000 (2021: HK$48,664,000) available
for offset against future profits. No deferred tax asset has
been recognised in respect of these tax losses due to the
unpredictability of future profit streams.

CHINA INVESTMENTS HOLDINGS LIMITED v [ 8 3 £ B A B 23 ]
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AEETENAENERBZGER
BRETIREIER IR T ABE Y E BV RE
BTEBEBKREBRRESTI/ER
EEMES W ERE LAVEE -

AT CF+ZRA=+—H &&EH
FAMIBEE A B 154,392,0007T (=
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HE_Z__F+_"_HB=+—HBIL Forthe year ended 31 December 2022

32. DEFERRED TAX ASSETS/(LIABILITIES)

(Continued)

Pursuant to the PRC Enterprise Income Tax Law, dependent
upon the nationality and domicile of the foreign investors, a
5% to 10% withholding tax is levied on dividends declared
to foreign investors from the foreign investment enterprises
established in Mainland China. The requirement has become
effective from 1 January 2008 and applies to earnings after
31 December 2007. A lower withholding tax rate may be
applied if there is a tax treaty between Mainland China and
the jurisdiction of the foreign investors. For the Group, the
applicable rates range from 5% to 10%.

Under the Enterprise Income Tax Law of PRC, withholding tax
is imposed on dividends declared in respect of profits earned
by PRC subsidiaries from 1 January 2008 onwards. Deferred
taxation has not been provided for in the consolidated financial
statements in respect of temporary differences attributable
to accumulated profits of the PRC subsidiaries as the Group
is able to control the timing of the reversal of the temporary
differences and it is probable that the temporary differences will
not reverse in the foreseeable future.

With regard to the Group’s investment properties in Hong
Kong, as none of them is held under a business model whose
objective is to consume substantially all of the economic
benefits embodied in the investment properties over time,
rather than through sale, the Group has not recognised any
deferred taxes on changes in fair value of the investment
properties as the Group is not subject to any income taxes on
disposal of its investment properties in Hong Kong.

32.

RERIBBEE (B8R @

RBEREEEMERE SINEREE
BB R AR EPERIVINERE
EEEEMKTIIEREENRET
BUE% E10N B BIFF1FIR - %R E B
“EENF-RB—HEMKREBEBRARZ
ERLFE+"A=+—HZEM fHH
AR REEMBZEERERER
SRR B R BB BEEZRIR
MK AEBNBRAREDBE%E10%

REFEATEMSRZEZ BZSSNEF
—RA—BiE> AR EWE A S T HRE
BANEIkZREABMIEAINR - BHItA
EEA BRI TR ER R m
EREREEENRAIBERZRRTE
BRIt ER GRS M BREA T
B Bff /3§ A B 2 R 5t i F P FE 15 2 B By
MERARZRIERBFLER-

BRAAEREREBZREYFE ARnE
BB 0 3F LABE & B SR P B B KA B W
D EREREVERARSBEEN R
FEATHA MIEBBHE  ARE
EEHEERBEYEL RNFHER
TS *EBITREINEEZREA
MERLRERENERRIERE
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33.

34.

SHARE CAPITAL 33. g7
Number of shares Nominal value
IR &E S
2022 2021 2022 2021
—EZC B —fF Bz T —F
HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$'000
AETT BEFT BETT BEFT
Authorised: EERAE
Ordinary shares of HK$0.1 each SREEBKOITZ
ZER 3,000,000,000 3,000,000,000 300,000 300,000
Issued and fully paid: EZFTRHERE .
At beginning of year and R EER
the end of year 1,712,329,142 1,712,329,142 171,233 171,233
SHARE OPTION SCHEME 34. BERHESTE
A share option scheme was adopted by shareholders of the KRBRER_E—=ZFEOA =+

Company at the annual general meeting held on 26 April 2013
(the “Scheme”).

The purpose of the Scheme is to provide the Company with a
flexible means of giving incentive to, rewarding, remuneration,
compensating and/or providing benefits to the participants
for their contribution or future contribution to the Group
and to strengthen the many long-term relationships that the
participants may have with the Group. Eligible participants
means any person falling within any of the following classes (a)
any employee; (b) any business associate of the Company or
any subsidiary; (c) any other group or classes of participants
which the board, in its absolute discretion, considers to have
contributed or will contribute, whether by way of business
alliance or other business arrangement, to the development
and growth of the Group. The Scheme became effective on 26
April 20183 and, will remain in force for 10 years.

CHINA INVESTMENTS HOLDINGS LIMITED v [ 8 3 £ B A B 23 ]
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34. SHARE OPTION SCHEME (continued)

The total number of shares which may be issued upon exercise
of all options to be granted under the New Scheme and other
share option schemes of the Company shall not in aggregate
exceed 10 per cent of the total number of shares in issues as
at the date of adoption of the New Scheme (i.e. 118,832,914
Shares of the Company) unless the Company obtain a fresh
approval from the shareholders.

No option shall be granted to any participant such that the total
number of shares issued and to be issued upon exercise of the
options granted and to be granted to such participant under
the Scheme and any other option schemes of the Company
(including exercised, cancelled and outstanding options) in the
12-month period up to and including the date of such grant
shall exceed 1 per cent. of the total number of shares in issue.

Under the Scheme, where the Board proposes to grant any
option to a participant who is a substantial shareholder or
an independent non-executive director of the Company,
or any of their respective associates, which would result
in the shares issued and to be issued upon exercise of all
options already granted and to be granted (including options
exercised, cancelled and outstanding) to him or her under the
Scheme and any other option schemes of the Company in the
12-month period up to and including the date of such grant; (i)
representing in aggregate more than 0.1 per cent. of the total
number of Shares in issue; and (ii) having an aggregate value,
based on the closing price of the Shares at the date of each
grant, in excess of HK$5,000,000, such proposed grant of
options must be approved by the shareholders of the Company
in general meeting with all connected persons of the Company
abstaining from voting (except that any connected persons may
vote against the relevant resolution at such general meeting
provided that his intention to do so is stated in the circular
to the shareholders of the Company). Any vote taken at the
meeting to approve the grant of such options must be taken on
a poll.

34. BIGEEE @)

RBESHEI P REZBREFS RZK
MBE RIFERERARRRELLE
BRT BEHMBRESZMNETRT
BBEAABNRKRMZAEEHESHT
B1h210% (BN118,832,914K A5 &
7)) ~FERETEREFEEEHS A
EREmBERER R —(ERESMmE
BRiERNZPEzEEZ—BEHR-

EEAN2EEFEHERE FERER
HERLHE (8F%AB) L+Z@A
Ao RBEERESERAATSERAA
HEREAIERFTRAR TZ2H
EzERE (BESTE BEHE Ak
RITHEZBEBRRE) BITEMET RS
TZzRMBHEBBEETROHEHR
%o

HMEEGEZRABARLBFTERE
BUFRTESIARESBZHMEA
Z2AERHAMBRE BREZNE
ERHHE (8F%B) E+ZEAA
RIFEREST R R R E MRS
BEETFEREETFTEZFBERE (8
BEEOE -EFErERTHEZBR
) ETEMETRFETZRG ()&
HBA BB TIRDEEH0.1%; KR
EHHBERAWMERE ZRERBSE
%ﬁ% 000,0007c > BIFHEER #E 2 12
NBRKRANBIRRERREAG it
/E ﬁ'ﬁzl: Tﬁﬁ*ﬁ‘ﬁﬂﬂ%ﬁ@/\ii’JT
L ERBEA LTI RN IREAE £
REBBAER (@Hﬁﬁé%&zﬁ;%za_
RAPHMEFHIERZER) - EES
M ZEERRETAGTLERURER
FRFRARLL E LIS o
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EE""HF+"H=+—HIt For the year ended 31 December 2022

34. SHARE OPTION SCHEME (continued)

An offer shall be deemed to have been accepted and the
option to which the offer relates shall be deemed to have
been granted when the duplicate letter comprising acceptance
of the offer, duly signed by the grantee with the number of
share in respect of which the offer is accepted clearly stated
therein, together with a remittance in favour of the Company
of HK$1.00 by way of consideration for the grant thereof is
received by the Company within 1 month from the offer date.

The subscription price of share options granted under the New
Scheme shall be a price solely determined by the Board and
notified to a participant in the offer letter and shall be at least
the highest of (a) the closing price of the shares as stated in the
Stock Exchange’s daily quotation sheet on the offer date; (b) a
price being the average of the closing prices of the shares as
stated in the Stock Exchange’s daily quotation sheets for the 5
business days immediately preceding the offer date; and (c) the
nominal value of a share on the offer date.

The maximum number of shares which may be issued upon
exercise of all outstanding options granted and yet to be
exercised under the New Scheme and any other share options
schemes of the Company shall not exceed 30 per cent. (or
such higher percentage as may be allowed under the Listing
Rules) of the total number of shares in issue from time to time.

No option has been granted under the Scheme since its
adoption. The number of options available for grant under
the Scheme at the beginning and the end of the year 2022 is
118,832,914 shares of the Company.

CHINA INVESTMENTS HOLDINGS LIMITED v [ 8 3 £ B A B 23 ]
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B

35. DEFERRED INCOME

35. IRIEW =

2022 2021

—=E-— —E-—fF

HK$’000 HK$’000

BT T BT T

At 1 January w—A—H 214,154 82,272

Additions g 119,299 231,443

Recognised in profit or loss (Note a) Wa s AR (MfsTa) (101,176) (104,621)

Exchange difference B EEE (17,228) 5,060

At 31 December R+=—B=+—H 215,049 214,154
Analysed as: DEEA

Current-liabilities TRED - -

Non-current iabilities JER BN 215,049 214,154

215,049 214,154

Deferred income represents the government grants received

by the subsidiaries incorporated in the PRC in connection

with certain constructions and income-generating projects.

There are no unfulfiled conditions and other contingencies

attaching to these grants. Deferred income of approximately
HK$101,176,000 (2021: HK$104,621,000) was recognised in
the consolidated statement of profit or loss and included in

“Other operating income”.

Note:

(@ Included government grants amounting to HK$Nil (2021:
HK$11,482,000), which were recognised in the profit or loss as a
deduction of the relevant costs or expenses during the year.

BREFFERINEDR

AR SIE WY 5 2 45 S R B AR 37 B9 Y /B A B
RBFESERARE TESRMAIWIE
Bz 2SS/ BEHE T
AR mEN RGN EMK AT IRE

FHHHBHE101,176,00070 (ZBZ—
£ B1104,621,0007T) BEREEIE
mARPHER WA E R TE A S WAL

LU0 6 AE B AR

ARERNBGEY cEAE (CE
—— @ #1811,482,0007T) °
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36. NON-CONTROLLING INTERESTS

The table below shows details of the non-wholly owned

subsidiaries of the Company that has material non-controlling

36. JEHERR

TR AQATDEAEEANFEREDR
NIEFEEEZERNB AT ZEFIE

interests:
Place of Total comprehensive
incorporation Proportion of Proportion of (expenses)/income
and principal ownership interests voting right held by allocated to
Name of place of held by non-controlling non-controlling non-controlling Accumulated
subsidiary business interests interests interests non-controlling interests
SRR K R FFiERER FERIEERERR
WEARSRE TEEEHE FiE #E LAl iR LA 2@ (%) k& BB ER
2022 2021 2022 2021 2022 2021 2022 2021
¥ C"B_-§% CZB_”Ff "B_-§ C%-f _"B_-% B _"E_-f§
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BETR  EMTR  BETR AnTR
Guangdong Sino Rock Tyco PRC 28% 28% 28% 28% (16,543) 13,679 308,942 325,486
Construction Co., Ltd.*
BRPERHERERAR FEARAE
Canton Greengold Financial Leasing PRC 38.95% 42.17% 38.95% 4217% 10,139 38,593 583,414 482,124
Limited*
ERGEHEREERAR FEARAE
Guangdong Tiannuo Investments Co.,  PRC 49% 49% 49% 49% (10,331) 1,564 186,047 194,021
Limited*
BRRARERRAT FEARAME

Summarised financial information in respect of the Company’s

subsidiaries that have material non-controlling interests are

set out below. The summarised financial information below

represents amounts after fair value adjustments and before

intragroup eliminations.

For identification purposes only
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36. NON-CONTROLLING INTERESTS (Continued)

Guangdong Sino Rock Tyco Construction Co., Ltd.*

e A5 AR B e

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

36. JEEEREDS @)

F+"H=+—HI1E Forthe year ended 31 December 2022

BRPEHRHNERAMRAE (MhER

(“Sino Rock”) )
2022 2021
k- oo B —F
HK$’000 HK$’000
BT T BT
Current assets BB E 357,136 540,558
Non-current assets ERBEE 2,854,994 2,466,714
Current liabilities mEAaE (54,603) (94,024)
Non-current liabilities ERBEE (2,048,794) (1,750,797)

Equity attributable to owners KRBEE A

of the Company FE(L R = 798,288 836,965
Non-controlling interests JEER RS 310,445 325,486
Revenue** A 82,555 31,093
Profit for the year KEERF 38,094 11,379

*

For identification purposes only

*k

In which revenue from external customers for the year amounted
to HK$82,301,000 (2021: HK$30,784,000).

v RFERBIINEEFERZN D SEE
82,301,000 (Z&EZ—&F : B

30,784,0007T) °
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

BE_Z__F£+_"_H=+—HIt For the year ended 31 December 2022

36.

NON-CONTROLLING INTERESTS (Continued) 36.

Guangdong Sino Rock Tyco Construction Co., Ltd.*

(“Sino Rock”) (Continued)

FRIERRiED @

JﬁﬁcF'E%%ﬂE%EEF A8 (ThES

2022 2021
—ZE-C —E £
HK$’000 HK$’000
BT T BT T
Profit for the year attributable to: FERMES
Owners of the Company KABHEEB A 27,428 8,193
Non-controlling interests of Sino Rock hERMZIFZERER 10,666 3,186
38,094 11,379
Other comprehensive (expenses)/income, EMamE (i) Ui
net of income tax: FRintE
Exchange difference arising on translation & BN EFER
of foreign operations: EXCERELE:
Owners of the Company KRABEB A (66,104) 26,721
Non-controlling interests of Sino Rock RERRZIEERER (25,707) 10,393
(91,811) 37,114
Total comprehensive (expenses)/income FE2E B Wa
attributable to: MR .
Owners of the Company ZiN/NETEZZ =N (38,676) 34,914
Non-controlling interests of Sino Rock RERMZIFERER (15,041) 13,579
(563,717) 48,493
Net cash inflow from operating activities WESEBIRS AR 341,661 233,220
Net cash outflow from investing activites B EEZBIRS AL S48 (611,992) (541,498)
Net cash inflow from financing activities MEEHIRERA TR 294,388 111,355
Net cash inflow/(outflow) WERA (i) 288 24,057 (196,923)

For identification purposes only

ANNUAL REPORT 2022 4E#

CHINA INVESTMENTS HOLDINGS LIMITED b 2 8L 3% £ B 45 BR 23 5]




g —

Canton Greengold Financial Leasing Limited* (“Greengold

Leasing”)

36. NON-CONTROLLING INTERESTS (Continued)

e A5 AR B e

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

36. JEEEREDS @)

F+"H=+—HI1E Forthe year ended 31 December 2022

ERGEMEVERRAE (MgEf

&)

2022 2021

k- oo B —F

HK$’000 HK$’000

BT T BT T

Current assets BB E 1,949,563 1,885,716

Non-current assets ERBEE 2,902,110 2,465,676

Current liabilities mEAaE (1,249,353) (1,103,395)

Non-current liabilities ERBEE (2,212,061) (2,096,632)
Equity attributable to owners of the KRBEE A

Company FE(L R = 806,845 669,241

Non-controlling interests JEER RS 583,414 482,124

Revenue** A 335,737 223,574

Profit for the year KEERF 111,267 72,106

Profit for the year attributable to: FERANERES

Owners of the Company KRABHEB A 61,053 44,179
Non-controlling interests of Greengold SEHEZ

Leasing IR R 50,214 27,927

111,267 72,106

For identification purposes only

*x

In which revenue from external customers for the year amounted

to HK$330,485,000 (2021: HK$216,144,000).

* AFEREINBEFEREZWEAEBE
330,485,0005Tc (Z&E = —4F | B

216,144,0007T) ©
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B

EE""HF+"H=+—HIt For the year ended 31 December 2022

36. NON-CONTROLLING INTERESTS (Continued)

Canton Greengold Financial Leasing Limited* (“Greengold

Leasing”) (Continued)

36. JEIERRERS @)

BERGEMEVERRAE (Mg

8 #

2022 2021
—E== —E £
HK$’000 HK$’000
BT T BT T
Other comprehensive (expenses)/income, HEM&mE i) U
net of income tax: PRiRt
Exchange difference arising on translation & BN EFKERF
of foreign operations: EXCERELE:
Owners of the Company KRBHEEB A (35,348) 19,431
Non-controlling interests of Greengold mEHEZ
Leasing SRIER (40,075) 10,666
(75,423) 30,097
Total comprehensive income FEZ2EKZ
attributable to: MRS .
Owners of the Company KABHEE A 25,705 63,610
Non-controlling interests of Greengold MEHEZ
Leasing JEERER 10,139 38,593
35,844 102,203
Dividend paid to non-controlling interest AFFEREDEZ M ZRE 24,251 23,651
Net cash outflow from operating activities & EBIRS R L B4 (697,351) (1,280,412)
Net cash inflow from investing activities KEEBIRERAFEE 14,410 2,237
Net cash inflow from financing activities B REIRE MAFRE 798,651 1,564,371
Net cash inflow REMAFEE 115,710 286,196

*

For identification purpose only
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Notes to the Consohidated Financial Statements
BE_Z__F+_"_H=+—HI1t For the year ended 31 December 2022

NON-CONTROLLING INTERESTS (Continued) 36. JEIERRERDS @

Guangdong Tiannuo Investments Co., Limited* BERXERERRAR (X))
(“Tiannuo”)
2022 2021
—®-= =
HK$’000 HK$’000
BB T T BET T
Current assets MENE E 125,402 101,400
Non-current assets ERBEE 249,543 280,187
Current liabilities mENEE (75,139) (66,293)
Non-current liabilities ERBEE (53,143) (55,594)
Equity attributable to owners of the RABEE AEL#ER
Company 122,171 182,447
Non-controlling interests JEER RS 124,492 127,253

For identification purposes only
It did not include the goodwill. b LR BEEE-

CHINA INVESTMENTS HOLDINGS LIMITED v |5 BU¥E PEB A BUA W)
ANNUAL REPORT 2022 4F

293



294

e A5 AR B

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

BE_Z__F£+_"_H=+—HIt For the year ended 31 December 2022

36. NON-CONTROLLING INTERESTS (Continued)

Guangdong Tiannuo Investments Co., Limited*

(“Tiannuo”) (Continued)

36. JEHERRE D &

BERXHREARAR (TXH1) (@)

2022 2021

—E_C —E £

HK$’000 HK$’000

BT T BT T

Revenue ON 195,138 140,847

Profit/(loss) for the year REERF, (BI8) 9,876 (9,643)
Profit/(loss) for the year attributable to: EERF, (BB H8 .

Owners of the Company KNBIHER A 4,814 (4,918)

Non-controlling interests of KAEMB AR Z

Tiannuo’s subsidiary JEIERE 223 -

Non-controlling interests JEPERR = 4,839 (4,725)

9,876 (9,643)

For identification purposes only
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Notes to the Consohidated Financial Statements
BE_Z__F+_"_H=+—HI1t For the year ended 31 December 2022

36. NON-CONTROLLING INTERESTS (Continued) 36. JEIERRERDS @

Guangdong Tiannuo Investments Co., Limited* ERXHBREFRAT (FX&#HL) (&)
(“Tiannuo”) (Continued)

2022 2021
—ZE-C —E £
HK$’000 HK$’000
BB T T BT T
Other comprehensive (expense)/income,  EM&mE i) U
net of income tax: PRiRt
Exchange difference arising on translation & BN EFEREESE
of foreign operations: ZERERE
Owners of the Company KABHEE A (14,985) 6,302
Non-controlling interests of XERBREZ
Tiannuo’s subsidiary JEER R (126) -
Non-controlling interests JEERR R (15,267) 6,289
(30,378) 12,591
Total comprehensive (expense)/income 2@ (BX) W&E
attributable to: MAREERE
Owners of the Company ZIK’A}T}?EEA (10,171) 1,384
Non-controlling interests of KEWB A
Tiannuo’s subsidiary 3F?:Hy7f%ﬁﬁ 97 -
Non-controlling interests JEERER (10,428) 1,564
(20,502) 2,948
Dividend paid to non-controlling interest AFFERERS NI ZRE 4,563 -
Net cash inflow from operating activities KEEHREMARER 381 5,251
Net cash outflow from investing activities R EEHIRE ML TR (7,389) (39,639)
Net cash inflow/(outflow) from REEERE
financing activities WA CRY) FE8 278 (8,346)
Net cash outflow BE M B (2,167) (42,734)

*

For identification purpose only.
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HE_Z__F+_"_H=+—HILt Forthe year ended 31 December 2022

37. OPERATING LEASE ARRANGEMENTS

The Group as lessor

The Group’s property rental income earned during the year was
approximately HK$78,854,000 (2021: HK$38,673,000). All of
the properties held have committed tenancies 1 to 19 years
(2021: 1 to 20 years).

At the end of the reporting period, the Group had contracted
with tenants for the following future minimum lease payments:

EERNRH
AEE A HEA

AREEBRFARYERESHASWADN
75 1878,854,0007T (ZEZ—4F | B
38,673,0007T) © FTIFEB 2 W2 R 2K
—E+AFECE—F . —FE+5)
HERTHNEE-

Hiﬁ%ﬂ%ﬁﬂ? :

2022 2021

—E-Z T4

HK$’000 HK$’000

BT BT

Within one year R—FR 72,593 73,400
In the second year RE & 66,187 65,856
In the third yea RE=4F 54,349 62,963
In the fourth year REYE 40,146 55,683
In the fifth year RERE 16,252 37,480
Over five years RELE 60,616 78,692
310,143 374,074

CHINA INVESTMENTS HOLDINGS LIMITED v [ 8 3 £ B A B 23 ]
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
HE_Z__F+_"_HB=+—HBIL Forthe year ended 31 December 2022

38. COMMITMENTS 38. Eif
2022 2021
- T4
HK$’000 HK$’000
BT T BT
Commitments for the acquisition of the BAVME -BE&
property, plant and equipment R IR 190,154 7,196
Commitments for the investment cost of B IZ FA TR B/ A&
establishment of subsidiary AR 46,024 348,378
Commitments for the investment cost of ERERMMEXRZE
development of industry Park in Danzao B AR 7 i 183,578 305,505
Commitments for the investment cost of A REF AT
acquisition of financial asset at fair value = £RBEWEMR A&
through profit or loss FRIE - 2,863
PLEDGED OF ASSETS 39. EEIKER

39.

Assets with the following carrying amounts have been pledged
to secure general banking facilities to the Group or borrowings
of the Group (see Note 30):

AEAENTREENEESERMLUER

RYAERN—RIR

S (M5E30) :

MENAEER

2022 2021

—E-C —EZ—fF

HK$’000 HK$’000

BETT BT

Investment properties (Note) ‘wE = M) 363,438 392,543

Property, plant and equipment I EN =Y 402,749 439,604

Pledged bank deposit BIRRIRITER 24,956 349,418

Pledged lease receivables BRI ER SRR 2,782,574 2,643,168
Pledged paid-up capital of a non-wholly BIRRIEEENE

owned subsidiary NEZEBBHER 229,638 249,080

Note: The future rental receivables from several properties are pledged
for a loan facility of RMB285,000,000 in total from China
Development Bank.

MEE: BHOMENRKERESEER
MEXFERT BRENRETER
# N R 1285,000,0007T °
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40. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTION

A)

B)

On 5 December 2017, the Group obtained a three-year
loan amounting to HK$90,000,000 from the Group’s
immediate holding company, Prize Rich Inc., which
is unsecured and with a fixed interest rate at 3% per
annum. On 3 December 2020, the Group entered into
the Supplemental Loan Agreements with Prize Rich
Inc., in which the loan repayment period for the loan
was extended by two years to December 2022. On
29 September 2022, the Group entered into another
Supplemental Loan Agreements with Prize Rich Inc., in
which the loan repayment period for the loan was further
extended by three years to December 2025. Interest rates
and all other terms and conditions of the loans remained
unchanged.

In October 2021, the Group obtained another three year
loan amounting to HK$46,000,000 from Prize Rich Inc.,
which is unsecured and with a fixed interest rate at 4%
per annum.

The Group incurred total effective loan interests to Prize
Rich Inc. of approximately HKD 4,603,000 during the year
ended 31 December 2022.

On 28 February 2019,
amounting to HK$980,000 from a non-controlling interest,

the Group obtained a loan

T-Box Union (China) Financial Holdings Investments
Limited (“T-Box Union (China)”).

CHINA INVESTMENTS HOLDINGS LIMITED v [ 8 3 £ B A B 23 ]
ANNUAL REPORT 2022 4E#

F+"HB=+—HILt For the year ended 31 December 2022

40. R 5

A)

B)

R ZE—tHF+ZRAHEB K&
EamAEBRZZEEZERRD
Prize Rich Inc.» BRI§—ZF A=
F B A 190,000,000 E R ° %
B i’jﬂtﬁ#’ﬁfzﬂfﬁjtfﬁ
3% RZEZEF+ZH=H"
Muﬂﬁﬁm%’ BRZEM
Eﬁﬁfﬁﬁi_giiﬁﬂL_ﬁ )
M 2= R A 171 EL At 6 7R S 4 B A 15
FEE-RZEZ_ZFALAZ+A
H > A& B EPrize Rich Inc. B¢
S—mETHE ZENE—F
EH=FZ"FT_HE+-8>
2 R A ] EL AR =0 B 4 Bl 46 15

Nigho

W ZEZ—F+ A AERMB
Prize Rich Inc.» R85 —% A
—FE B 46,000,000t ER
ZETAERT BEMNEAS
F4% o

BE_ZE__HF+-FB=+—H
IEEE > AEEEPrize Rich Inc.
EXNERMNEBRBENAEBE
4,603,0007z °

A ZE-AFZAZ+NEH R
EER—EFEERER SR
(q:‘ﬂ)%ﬂ%.&ﬁ}“kﬁ@
rE (T28 (FE) ) BBER
£ 3848 1980,0007T ©
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
HE_Z__F+_"_HB=+—HBIL Forthe year ended 31 December 2022

40. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTION (continued)

C)

D)

E)

In 2021,
to RMB25,000,000 (equivalent to approximately
HK$28,281,000) from a non-controlling interest,
(“Nanhai
Chemical Factory”), with a loan period of two years. The

the Group obtained a loan, amounting

Guangdong Nanhai Chemical Factory Co., Ltd.*

effective interest rate of the loan is 4.75% per annum.

The interest on loan from Nanhai Chemical Factory during
the year was approximately HK$1,382,000, which has
been included in the finance costs of the Group.

The Group’s non-wholly owned subsidiary, Foshan
Foshan Nanhua Logistics Co., Limited, signed lease
agreements for office space and parking lot with Nanhai
Chemical, with lease terms from December 2018 to
November 2023 and from December 2022 to November

2025, respectively.

Compensation of key management personnel

The remuneration of Directors and other members of key
management during the year was as follows:

40. B 5 @

C)

D)

E)

RZEZ—F > AEBMBAEH
B T4 MR E S — %/\EW
25,000,0007T (HER N B 1K
28,281,00070) B ERERAM
> BRMERFENEIRA4.75%

FEEEBLIERMERNERN
BB 382,0007T ) Bt A
KEBZHMHEIZH-

EENEL2ERBENTRE—H
LWhmmtERnsRAaiEfmsE
EIETMAEMEFEEIFHEE
% HEM D AIA20185F128
F2023FE11 B M2022F 128 &
2025118 ©

TEEEABFHM

EEhEMETFEEEASNER
ZEEINE

2022 2021

—®-= =

HK$’000 HK$’000

BB TIT BET T

Short-term employee benefits RHESER 8,197 7,674
Post-employment employee benefits B K {E EEF 1,049 1,264
9,246 8,938

The remuneration of Directors and key management EENEMFTEEEAS ZEHH

personnel is proposed by the remuneration committee
having regard to the performance of individuals and
market trends.

For identification purpose only.

mENEEE2ZENNALTZE
RrHiEBBEEZ-
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
HE_Z__F+_"_H=+—HILt Forthe year ended 31 December 2022

41. PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES 41. FEMRBAE
Particulars of the Group’s principal subsidiaries at 31 KRB ZFTENBRBENK -
December 2022 and 2021 are as follows: 2 —F+Z E +—HZ#1E
Wwr:
Place of
incorporation or
registration/ Issue of shares
Name of subsidiary operation (Ordinary shares) Paid up capital Percentage held Principal activity
ARAIIER/ BETREHE
HEA4HE 2ENY (BER) BARRE REAM IEEH
2022 2021 2022 2021 2022 2021
k- St Z3I-F k- S ZET-F k- S ZET-F
Direct subsidiary
ERHELF
China Investments Limited Hong Kong 200 200 HK$1,000 HK$1,000 100 100 Investment holding
PERERHERAT EE #%1,0007 1,007 RERR
Indirect subsidiaries
HEHEAR
Canton Greengold Financial Leasing Limited ~ PRC N/A N/A RMB RMB 61.05 57.83  Financial leasing
(Note 2) 1,193,042,475 864,645,944
ERREREREFRAT (W) e FER TER AEH AEKE HEHE
1,193,042,4757 864,645,94470
China Industrial Development Limited Hong Kong 2 2 HKS$2 HK§2 100 100 Investment holding
PEIZERERAT &% Alor Elon B et
CIH Finance Investments Holdings Limited Hong Kong 4 4 HK$4 HK$4 100 100 Financial Investment
PEEXEREERRAT &% Alkor #on SREE
Greenswood Property Limited Hong Kong 2 2 HKS$2 HK$2 100 100 Property investment
BAINZERAA &k Alkor Elon HESE
Guangdong Sino Rack Tyco Construction PRC N/A N/A RMB910,000,000 RMB910,000,000 73 72 Investment in the
Co., Ltd* (Note2) development and
construction of
industrial park
BRPERNREBRAF (M32) e FER TER AEH ARKE BRERZELR
910,000,007 910,000,007 IRE
Guangdong Sinsing Technology Limited* PRC N/A N/A RMB5,000,000 RMBS5,000,000 100 100 Big data business
(Note 3)
EREENRERLF (W33) e FER TER AEH ARKE REBEH
5,000,00077 5,000,007
Guangdong Yibajian Comprehensive Health PRC N/A N/A RMB10,000,000 RMB10,000,000 100 100 Comprehensive service
Technology Ltd* (Note 3) elderly care
ERSREARRNEERAR (W3) e FER TER AEH AEKE EZLRARE
10,000,007 10,000,007
Guilin Plaza Hotel (Note 1) PRC N/A N/A USD10,400,000 USD10,400,000 100 100 Hotel operations
EHELER (1) e FER TER 10,400,000£ 7% 10,400,000 72 BEER
Jofra Company Limited Hong Kong 1,000 1,000 HK$1,000 HK$1,000 100 100 Investment holding
B2 AH1,0007 #0007 RELR
Foshan City Nanhai Jia Shun Timber PRC N/A N/A RMB42,187,829 RMB42,187,829 100 100 Manufacturing and
Company Limited* (Note 1) trading of medium
denstty fibreboards
BUTEELRAZERAT (W) e FER TER AE® N RENEERERE
42,187,82970 42,187,897 EE
3 O O CHINA INVESTMENTS HOLDINGS LIMITED v [ 8L 3% 5 1 75 B 24 W)
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e A5 AR B e

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

M. FEWBELE @

HE_Z__F+_"_HB=+—HBIL Forthe year ended 31 December 2022

Place of
incorporation or
registration/ Issue of shares
Name of subsidiary operation (Ordinary shares) Paid up capital Percentage held Principal activity
SRR/ BETREZHE
HEAE4HE 2ENY (BiER) YRR REAMM IBEH
2022 2021 2022 2021 2022 2021
k- Junfed IRI-f - St ZEI-F k- St ZEI-F
Foshan City Nanhai Kang Sheng Timber Company PRC N/A N/A RMB96,013,777 RMB77,838,731 100 100 Investment holding
Limited” (Note 1)
BUTEEREALERAT (W) 1@ FER TEE  ABBGO3TTIT  ARE77838731% Bt
Foshan City Nanhai Canmanage Investments ~ PRC N/A N/A RMB54,289,600 RMB37,547,100 100 100 Property investment
Holdings Limited* (Note 2)
BUTBRERERRAF (M32) HE FER TER AEH AEE WERE
54,289,607 37,547,1007C
Kingsgrand Developments Limited Hong Kong 10,000 10,000 HK$10,000 HK$10,000 100 100 Property trading
BRERERAR &% 710,007 10,0007 ESEH
Natural View Enterprises Limited Hong Kong 10,000 10,000 HK$100,000 HK$100,000 100 100 Property trading
RREXERAE &k 715100,0007 7#1100,0007 NEEE
Sabrina Limited British Virgin Islands/ 1 1 Uss$1 USS1 100 100 Investment holding
Hong Kong
EBRyEE/ 1% %7 BERk
&k
Southern Limited Hong Kong 10,000 10,000 HK$10,000 HK$10,000 100 100 Investment holding and
property investment
BAERAF &% #1510,0007 #1000070 RERRENERE
Taily International Traders Limited Hong Kong 8,000 8,000 HK$800,000 HK$800,000 100 100 Property trading
AHERERERAT &% #1%800,0007 #1800,0007 HESEE
Zhong Chuang Xing Ke (Shenzhen) Investments  PRC N/A N/A RMB150,000,000 RMB150,000,000 100 100 Investment holding
Company Limited (Note 3)
HRIER (R REBRAT (H33) i FER TER AE® N BEL
150,000,007 150,000,007
Guangdong Taoyuan Comprehensive Health PRC N/A N/A RMB50,000,000 RMB33,684,068 100 100 Comprehensive elderly
QOperation Company Limited* (Note 3) care service
ERNEARREZBEERAG (3)  +& FER TER AE® N EZRARE
50,000,0007¢ 33,684,06870
Foshan City Nanhai District Taoyuan Nursing HomePRC N/A N/A RMB100,000 RMB100,000 100 100 Comprehensive elderly
Company Limited” (Note 3) care service
BUTEEBHERERERAS (H:3) & FER TER A %100,0007 AE100,00070 BERARE
Foshan City Nanhai District Taoyuan Welfare PRC N/A N/A RMB5,000,000 RMBS5,000,000 100 100 Comprehensive elderly
Center Co., Ltd" (Note 3) care services
BUREERHERATOERAS (H3) hE FER TER  AE®5000000%  ARH5,0000007 BZLARE
Foshan City Nanhai District Taoyuan Rehabilitation PRC N/A N/A RMB100,000 RMB100,000 100 100 Comprehensive elderly
Hospital Co., Limited" (Note 3) care services
BUTEEBHEREERERAR (3s) & FER TER B %100,0007 AE100,00070 BERARE
Foshan City Xianhuwan Development Co. Ltd"  PRC N/A N/A RMB203,000,000 RMB203,000,000 72 72 Property investment
(Note 3)
BUFLHEEZERAT (:H3) HE FER TER AEH ARE WERE
203,000,0007 203,000,007
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41. PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES (Continued)

M. FEWBELE @

Place of
incorporation or
registration/ Issue of shares
Name of subsidiary operation (Ordinary shares) Paid up capital Percentage held Principal activity
SRR/ BETREZHE
HEAE4HE 2ENY (BiER) YRR REAMM IBEH
2022 2021 2022 2021 2022 2021
- S et k- J “EC-f k- J “EC-f
Guangdong Tiannuo Investments PRC N/A N/A RMB102,040,863 RMB102,040,863 51 51 Manufacture and sale of
Co., Limited* (Note 3) emulsion industrial
detonating cord
ERXEREERAF (M3H3) e FER TER  ARE102040863T AEH102,0408637 HERFEALIEN
TXE3%
Foshan Nanhua Logistics Co., Limited* (Note 3) PRC N/A N/A RMB500,000 RMB500,000 51 51 Transportation and
carriage services
for general and
hazardous goods
BUBLEEERAE () e FER TER B 500,000 AE500,0001 EHREREER
ERENES
Guangdong Nanhong Chemical Co., Limited* ~ PRC N/A N/A RMBS50,000,000 RMBA50,000,000 51 51 Manufacture and sale of
(Note 3) emulsion industrial
detonating cord
ERBILIERAT (H:3) e FER TER AE® ARH HERBELLIEEN
50,000,007 50,000,007 T2EEZ
Foshan Xianhuwan Hotel Management PRC N/A N/A RMBS,000,000 RMB3,000,000 72 72 Hotel management and
Co., Limited* (Note 3) services and catering
BULHEREERERRE (Wi3) HE FER TER AEH ARE BEEERENRY
5,000,0007 3,000,007
Guangdong Province Fu Neng Power Co., PRC N/A N/A RMB8,000,000 RMBS,000,000 72 72 Generation and sale of
Limited™ (Note 3) electricity
EREHETNERLE (:3) e FER TER AE® AEH SERHERN
8,000,007 8,000,007
Foshan City Shangyi Intelligent Technology Co.,  PRC N/A N/A RMB300,000 RMB300,000 51 51 Comprehensive elderly
Limited” (Note 3) care services
Gum L ERENEERRE () HE FER TER AE 300,000 AE300,0007 BERARE
Zhaoging Huaxin Blasting Engineering Co., PRC N/A N/A RMB10,000,000 N/A 51 N/A - Explosive engineering
Limited™ (Note 3)
EETERBRIRERAG: (i) 1@ FER TER  ARE10,000,0007 TER BRIR
Note 1: The subsidiary is wholly foreign owned enterprise established fisE1 B AT AN F RN E IS
in the PRC. Bz
Note 2: The subsidiary is registered as Sino-foreign equity/joint 32 . ZMB AT RN FHFMATINEE
venture company in the PRC. S EER#E
Note 3: The subsidiary is wholly owned or non-wholly owned 53 (M B AT AN FHKILIGE D
enterprise established in the PRC. JEEBEAE b
Note 4: The subsidiary is foreign owned enterprise established in the Mz B AR AR PEKIINIIGEE
PRC. B
A The subsidiary was set up during the reporting period n ZWB AT NSRRI

* The subsidiary was acquired during the reporting period

For identification purpose only
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41.

42,

43.

e A5 AR B e

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
HE_Z__F+_"_HB=+—HBIL Forthe year ended 31 December 2022

PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES (Continued)

None of the subsidiaries had any debt securities outstanding at
the end of the year or at any time during the year.

The above table lists the subsidiaries of the Company which, in
the opinion of the Directors, principally affected the results or
assets of the Group. To give details of other subsidiaries would,
in the opinion of the Directors, result in particulars of excessive
length.

COMPARATIVE FIGURES

Certain comparative figures have been reclassified to conform
with the current year’s presentation of the consolidated
financial statements.

EVENTS AFTER REPORTING PERIOD

On 9 January 2023, Canton Greengold Financial Leasing
Limited (“Greengold Leasing”), a non-wholly-own subsidiary,
entered into finance leases with limited liability companies
incorporated in the PRC, independent third parties, to acquire
the ownership of the assets from these companies for an
aggregate consideration of RMB250,000,000 (equivalent to
approximately HK$286,250,000), which would be leased back
to these companies for their own use and possession for a
term of 5 years. Further details of the finance leases are set out
in the Company’s announcement dated 9 January 2023.

On 16 January 2023, Greengold Leasing entered into a
finance lease with a limited liability company incorporated in
the PRC, an independent third party, to acquire the ownership
of the assets from this company for a consideration of
RMB50,000,000 (equivalent to approximately HK$58,250,000),
which would be leased back to this company for its own use
and possession for a term of 5 years. Further details of the
finance lease are set out in the Company’s announcement
dated 17 January 2023.

41.

42,

43.

FENBLTE =

BB AR MEERNNERNFERNE
AR BINAREEZEHES -

ERFAINEDEZIREETEBZE
BNEEREEXEZARIWEAL
Bl -EZARFINEMMBAT ZEMN
RENRRBR IR

b T

ETHEBREFEENDE UNEERF
EZHEGHMBREREIN TN

BEHRER

RIEZ=F—ANB BERGgSHE
HMEEAR (BeHEE))  —BIEEE
MEBABSRPFENIIZERETAT

BIUFE=ZH) FTUBEHEE > UAER
B AR #250,000,0007T FEHERLH
#%286,250,0007T) BEZE A Bl EE
EZFER WEEERREATZEA
B HEEFRARGE HARARF
BRI ERMEREEZE—PEBIEH
RAEBERRA_SE _=4—8NH

AN

RZZE_=F—RB+nB &xHE
B—ERRBENIIZAREERR (08
YE=ZR)IURERE UBRE
AR %50,000,0007c (1HZ R4 H B
58,250,0007T) BZ A B WEEEZFR
B LWFEEREBATFRAF HK
ERAREE BRSO F BRAILER
BHEZE—FPHBIENAERH
HAR_E_=—F—-—B+ttRHzr&E-
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

B

E-E - _F+_"_F=+—HILE Forthe year ended 31 December 2022

43. EVENTS AFTER REPORTING PERIOD

(Continued)

On 28 March 20283, Greengold Leasing entered into a finance
lease with a limited liability company incorporated in the
PRC, an independent third party, to acquire the ownership
of the assets from this company for a consideration of
RMB30,000,000 (equivalent to approximately HK$34,320,000),
which would be leased back to this company for its own use
and possession for a term of 5 years. Further details of the
finance lease are set out in the Company’s announcement
dated 23 March 2023.

On 29 March 2023, Greengold Leasing entered into finance
leases with limited liability companies incorporated in the PRC,
independent third parties, to acquire the ownership of the
assets from these companies for an aggregate consideration of
RMB60,000,000 (equivalent to approximately HK$68,520,000),
which would be leased back to these companies for their own
use and possession for a term of 5 years. Further details of
the finance leases are set out in the Company’s announcement
dated 31 March 2023.

The Board announces the following changes of the
composition of the Board and the board committees:

(@) With effect from 1 April 2023, Mr. Huang Zhihe, Ms.
Wang Xin and Mr. Cheng Weidong resigned as executive
directors of the Company due to job allocation and they
remain as the deputy general managers of the Company;

(b)  Mr. Deng Hong Ping will retire by rotation as an INED and
will not offer himself for re-election at the forthcoming
2023 annual general meeting (“AGM”);

CHINA INVESTMENTS HOLDINGS LIMITED v [ 8 3 £ B A B 23 ]
ANNUAL REPORT 2022 4E#
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RIEZ=F=ZAZ+=H &<
Eiﬁi—ﬁaﬁﬁ:EPEE)Z_LZEBEfE@T
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B AR #30,000,0007t (FBE R LB
34,320,0007t) B A BIWEEE 2 P
B LEEEFRBTZAR  HE
FRAKRGE ARBAF BRLILER
BHEZE—PHBIHENETEEH
A E=F=B+=Hzn&o

RIZEZ=F=ZRAZ+hH &
EREPFERIZBRETAR (B
UE=ZR)IUMERE MBRE
AR #60,000,0007t (HHHFRA B
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IEEMEREZE—PHEBINHENE
EBEBEBRAE_=4=A=+—H
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@ BZE_=ZFME—HiEE &%
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ATERERERATNITE
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E;
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BERA HEEREBASHERIEM
FTERBRT 26K
RIEFAE FBEEET;
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
HE_Z__F+_"_HB=+—HBIL Forthe year ended 31 December 2022

43. EVENTS AFTER REPORTING PERIOD
(Continued)

(c) The Board has proposed to appoint Ms. Lin Junxian as an
INED for the Shareholders’ approval at the 2023 AGM;

(d) Mr. Peng Xinyu, an existing INED, will be appointed as
the chairman of the Remuneration Committee after Mr.
Deng Hong Ping has ceased to act as the chairman of the
Remuneration Committee; and

(e) The Board has also proposed to appoint Mr. Shi Xuguang
as a NED of the Company for the Shareholders’ approval
at the 2023 AGM.

Further details of the changes are set out in the Company’s
announcement dated 3 April 2023.

(©

43. IJREHEEIE @

EECCEESAIMEEL LA
BUIFERITEE UERERZ
- FRBBEFRG LHE

RERFREFTBEEFMES
EXFR REBUFNTES
CTHBEREREZERFNES
BIF &

EXQTEREELENEER
RRABERITES  UFRER
_EFREBEFARG L#HE
/ﬁo

ERILELEEH 2 E—FFBIHENK
EEAHA-Z_=ZFHBE=HAZA

==2pY

=
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Notes to the Consohidated Financial Statements
BE_Z__F£+_"_H=+—HIt For the year ended 31 December 2022

44. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION AND 44. AT BB IR L #EE
RESERVES OF THE COMPANY

2022 2021
—=E-= B
NOTES HK$’000 HK$’000
Bt 5% BT T BT T
Non-current asset ERENEE
Investment in subsidiaries RWE AR ZKRE 23,607 23,607
Current assets MEIEE
Amounts due from subsidiaries FEW B B A B FIE 1,341,005 1,333,856
Pledged bank deposits EIRHIRITER 6,959 11,942
Cash and bank balances HERIREEEY 8,293 289
Other receivables HAuhEWIE 52 233
1,356,309 1,346,320
Current liabilities mENBE
Bank loan EEN 703,094 666,669
Other payables HMMENRIE 6,899 1,408
Loan from immediate holding company EHiZFZERAT ZEMR  40a - 90,000
709,993 758,077
Net current assets MENBEEFE 646,316 588,243
Total assets less current liabilities 2B ERRHEE 669,923 611,850
Capital and reserve f% 25 Rz & 4
Share capital [N 171,233 171,233
Reserves B 264,857 307,973
Equity attributable to owners KABHEE A
of the Company FE(L 1 i 436,090 479,206
Non-current liabilities ERENEE
Loan from immediate holding company EiZZER AT Z B  40a 90,000 -
Convertible notes AR iR 31 143,833 132,644
233,833 132,644
669,923 611,850

FRBUBRRKEN T _=F=
B=t+HESEFaHEREENE I
HUTEFAEREE !

The Company’s statement of financial position was approved
and authorised for issue by the Board of Directors on 30 March
2023 and are signed on its behalf by:

HE XIANGMING FU WEIQIANG
{a1 =1 B T E58
Director Director
BZE BZE
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Notes to the Consohidated Financial Statements
BE_Z__F+_"_H=+—HI1t For the year ended 31 December 2022

44. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION AND 44. xAGI BRI REEE @
RESERVES OF THE COMPANY (Continued)

Movement in the Company’s reserves EREHEZES
Convertible
Share note equity Accumulated
Premium reserve losses Total
AR ER
IR E e REtEE st
HK$'000 HK$’'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BT T BT T BT T BT T
At 1 January 2021 NW_E - —-F—H—H 725,199 56,616 (436,978) 344,837
Loss for the year REEEIE - - (36,864) (36,864)
At 31 December 2021 and N_E-—F
1 January 2022 +ZB=+—Hk
—E-_"F—HF—H 725,199 56,616 (473,842) 307,973
Loss for the year rEEFIE - - (43,116) (43,116)
At 31 December 2022 e S
+=B=+—8 725,199 56,616 (516,958) 264,857
CHINA INVESTMENTS HOLDINGS LIMITED v 13 U £ 18 7 R 23 )
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

S —

45. NATURE AND PURPOSE OF RESERVES

(i)

(i)

(iii)

Share premium

Share premium represents premium arising from the issue
of shares at a price in excess of their par value per share
and is not attributable but may be applied in paying up
unissued shares of the Company to be issued to the
shareholders of the Company as fully paid bonus shares
or in providing for the premiums payable on repurchases
of shares.

Statutory reserves

Statutory reserve represents general reserve and
enterprise expansion fund which are set up by
subsidiaries established and operated in the People’s
Republic of China (“PRC”) by way of appropriation from
the profit after taxation in accordance with the relevant
laws and regulations in the PRC. The rate of appropriation
of the general reserve and enterprise expansion fund
is subject to the decision of the board of Directors of
the PRC subsidiaries, but the minimum appropriation
rate for the general reserve is 10% of the profit after
taxation for the each year, until when the accumulated
balance reaches 50% of the total registered capital of the
subsidiary. Pursuant to the relevant laws and regulations
of the PRC,
government authorities, the general reserve can be used

if approvals are obtained from the relevant

in setting off accumulated losses or to increase the
capital, and the enterprise expansion fund can be used to
increase the capital.

Hotel properties revaluation reserve

Hotel properties are revalued annually based on
independent professional valuations on an open market
value basis. Changes in the values of hotel properties are
dealt with as movement in the hotel properties revaluation
reserve. If the reserve is insufficient to cover a revaluation
deficit, the excess of the deficit is changed to the profit
and loss account.

CHINA INVESTMENTS HOLDINGS LIMITED v [ 8 3 £ B A B 23 ]
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F+"HB=+—HILt For the year ended 31 December 2022

45. EBZMEEREN

(i)

(i)

(iii)

B 15 i 8

KRosEBERNZBESEREEZ
BRETROMMEEZ HE &
FnBATRIK ERXRTTH
RZFRE e 4 AT H# U
BRARTEABARRABRRET
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FEEAEBEEREESRBESR
BES EHETEMIKEE
ZWE LB REBEREEREA
FERBRE  BRREBRM P
EREMBZIL - FEEESRDE
FRES ZBANLRERER H
BB ABlzEEEETE  EH
HREEZRERERLEEREFR
MEBAI0% BEERBEERE
Iz B R 2 5T MEARS0%
7 Lo IRIE P B A B E B KRR
RE ENSEBARFTE B
B RRER ST AERME RS
BENEMEERA MEXERERE
TR B ME A

BIEYIEE A
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45. NATURE AND PURPOSE OF RESERVES
(Continued)

(iv)

(v)

(vi)

(vii)

Exchange reserve

The exchange reserve comprises all foreign exchange
differences arising from the translation of the financial
statements of the foreign subsidiaries of the Company
whose reporting currency is not Hong Kong dollars. The
reserve is dealt with in accordance with the accounting
policies of foreign currencies set out in Note 3 to the
consolidated financial statements.

Convertible notes equity reserve

Convertible notes equity reserve represents the value of
the unexercised equity component of convertible notes
issued by the Company recognised in accordance with
the accounting policy of Convertible notes set out in Note
3 to the consolidation financial statements.

Capital reserve

Capital reserve represented additional contributions made
by the shareholders of the Company’s subsidiaries and,
in case of an acquisition of an additional non-controlling
interest of a subsidiary, the difference between the cost of
acquisition and the non-controlling interest acquired.

Other reserve

Other reserve comprises of gain on partial disposal of
interest in a non-wholly owned subsidiary, Sino Rock.

e A5 AR B e

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
HE_Z__F+_"_HB=+—HBIL Forthe year ended 31 December 2022

45. FEZHEERBEN @

(iv)

(v)

(vi)

(vii)

BER A

ERREECEMERBRELQAT
DUOFBEE 258985 F RE M
BRMELEZEREZE ZHEE
RIEFGVBREMEIFIZ

MBS B SRR IE o
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DR EEEDEEIE S AN
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Py sESE P £ R T A e g
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ERNE RN NS
ERZEINEE » R EWE—RE
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TR B2

Five Years Financial Summary

Year ended 31 December

BE+ZA=+—-HLEE

2018 2019 2020 2021 2022
—N\E & _E_EFE _EC—F —E-C
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$’000
BETT BETT BETT BT BT
(Restated)
(E7)
RESULTS A
Revenue HER 79,550 161,065 293,555 520,846 767,632
Profit/(loss) for the year REEEN/ (58) 55,815 81,428 (65,500) 10,878 42,827
Discontinued operation BRIEREER
(loss)/profit for the year REE (B1B) /BF - (1,516) (530) 9 (3)
(Loss)/profit for the year KEEANRERA
attributable to owners FEAS (6518 /&7 42,383 68,612 (83,871) (15,500) (21,535)
(Loss)/earnings per share 55 (58 /&
From continuing and REFELER
discontinued operations BRILEE
Basic =N HK2.48 cents  HK4.01 cents  (HK4.90 cents) (HK0.91 cents) (HK1.26 cents)
B 481l B4 (BE490M) (B9l (HE¥1.261L)
Diluted s HK2.48 cents  HK4.01 cents  (HK4.90 cents) (HK0.91 cents) (HK1.26 cents)
B 481l B4 (BE4.90M)  (BR0.91ML)  (HE¥1.261l)
Year ended 31 December
HE+_B=1+—-HLEE
2018 2019 2020 2021 2022
—N\E ks “ECEE “E-—F —E-C
HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$’000
BETT BETT BT BT AT
ASSETS AND LIABILITIES BEREE
Total assets BEBE 3,460,537 5,147,666 6,105,371 8,299,701 9,069,585
Total liabilities BEEE (2,129,217 (3,441,696) (4,117,039) (6,107,245)  (6,976,800)
Non-controlling interests IS (338,205) (600,764) (843,935) (1,003,167) (1,079,754)
Equity contributable to owners ~ KNAR BB AELER 993,115 1,105,206 1,144,397 1,189,289 1,013,031

*

operation.

CHINA INVESTMENTS HOLDINGS LIMITED b 2 8L 3% £ B 45 BR 23 5]
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Particulars of Major Properties

Particulars of major properties held by the Group as at 31 December WKW _Z__F+_HA=+—H ' &x~EBFAE

2022 are as follows: ZEEMEENFMUT :
Total gross
Effective Category floor area Expected year
Name/Location % held of lease Type on completion Stage of completion
ERFE TREZ L
218/ 8 At HEER i BEEmE  ERBR  TREH
(sg.m.)
(EH R
Hotel properties
BIEYE
Guilin Plaza, 20 Li Jiang Lu 100 Medium Hotel 29,746 Existing N/A
Guilin, Guangxi,
The PRC.
w4 EEAR TR K 100 #H IR 20746  HE TiEA
205 EEMEDE B IR
Properties for own use
BRENF
Unit No.1, 14 & 15 on 5th Floor, 100 Medium Commercial 429 Existing N/A
Wing On Plaza,
62 Mody Road,
Tsimshatsui,
Kowloon.
NEeRpE 100 EES 429  HAE NEm
B3 586257
KEZBEH5E
1 14R15%
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Particulars of Major Properties

Total gross
Effective Category floor area Expected year
Name/Location % held of lease Type on completion Stage of completion
ERER RREZ L
218/ e At HEER i BEEmE  ERBR  THER
(sg.m.)
SN
Properties for own use (Continued)
HEYE (£)
12th to 13th Floor of 100 Medium Commercial 3,048 Existing N/A
Phase 1
Guangdong - Hong Kong
Finance & Technology Park
Guicheng Street,
6 Jinke Road,
Nanhai District
Foshan City,
Guangdong Province,
The PRC
HEERE 100  HH BE 3,048 HE el
LT EEE
ERAE D RK6H
BECRBREIE
12-131%

CHINA INVESTMENTS HOLDINGS LIMITED v [ 8 3 £ B A B 23 ]
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Name/Location

Bt/ e

Effective
% held
ERER
BAL

Category
of lease

AELEH

Type

#E

Total gross
floor area

on completion
RREZ
BEEEA
(sg.m.)
SN

Stage

ERER

Particulars of Major Properties

Expected year
of completion
ikt
SERER

Properties for own use (Continued)

HE#WZE (&)

Block AB and F,

Xianhuwan Commercial Plaza
3 Yangguang Road,

Danzao Xianhu Resort Area,
Nanhai District, Foshan City,
Guangdong Province,

The PRC

hEERE

LT EER

FHE LR E R E

5 e 5 3%%

filh 2 7 % 5 AB K F e

Zhen An Village, Luo Le Village,
Li Zhi Village,

Lian Tang Town,

Gao Yao District, Zhaoging City,
Guangdong Province,

The PRC

hEERE

EETRER

ERE

HEZH - BON - B

72

72

51

51

Medium

P

Medium

o

Commercial

Industrial

T%

16,218

16,218

466,165

466,165

Existing

RE

Existing

RE

N/A

TiEm

N/A

NiEm
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Particulars of Major Properties

Effective Category
Name/Location % held of lease Type
ERFE
218/ Btk HAEER i

Total gross
floor area

on completion
RREZ
BEEEA
(sg.m.)
SN

Stage

ERER

Expected year
of completion
ikt
SERER

Investment properties

RENZE

17th Floor 100 Medium Commercial
Sing-Ho Finance Building,

166/168 Gloucester Road,

Hong Kong.

Bk 100 GES
ELE

166/168%%

EMHBAEITE

1st to 11th Floor of 100 Medium Commercial
Phase 1

Guangdong - Hong Kong

Finance & Technology Park

Guicheng Street,

6 Jinke Road,

Nanhai District

Foshan City,

Guangdong Province

The PRC

mEERE 100  HH [GE
LT EEE

ERAE D RK6H

BECRBREIE

11148

3 14 CHINA INVESTMENTS HOLDINGS LIMITED v [ 8 3 £ B A B 23 ]
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112

15,818

15,818

Existing

RA

Existing

RE

N/A

Ti#Em

N/A

TiEm



Particulars of Major Properties

Total gross
Effective Category floor area Expected year
Name/Location % held of lease Type on completion Stage of completion
ERFE RREZ L
218/ e At HEER i BEEmE  ERBR  THER
(sg.m.)
SN
Investment properties (Continued)
REWF ()
Block C, D and E, 72 Medium Commercial 12,335 Existing N/A
Xianhuwan Commercial Plaza
3 Yangguang Road,
Danzao Xianhu Resort Area,
Nanhai District, Foshan City,
Guangdong Province,
The PRC
hEERE 72 GES 12,335 BE TEA
GAliREapicdES
FHE LR E R E
5 e 5 3%%

fll# & 7 % FH5C, DREE
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Particulars of Major Properties

Total gross
Effective Category floor area Expected year
Name/Location % held of lease Type on completion Stage of completion
ERFE RREZ L
218/ e At HEER i BEEmE  ERBR  THER
(sg.m.)
SN
Investment properties (Continued)
REWF (&)
C1-C12, D1-D13, E1-E9, Research 72 Medium Commercial 298,929 Existing N/A
Tower 1-2, and
block 1 of Dan Qing Garden
8 Li zhong Road,
Danzao Logistics Center,
Danzao Town,
Nanhai District,
Foshan City,
Guangdong Province,
The PRC
hEERE 72 HH BE 298,929 HAE iEm
LT EER
FHt
FHBR A L

T 7 85
C1-C12, D1-D13, E1-E9, W E1£1-2,
YR ERE R
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